

Reports and Research

Table of Contents

June 15, 2017 Board Meeting

Federal Data and Reports

- County by County Analysis of Current Projected Insurer Participation in Health Insurance Exchanges – Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services June 13, 2017
- The Health Insurance Exchanges Trends Report: High Premiums and Disruptions in Coverage Lead to Decreased Enrollment in the Health Insurance Exchanges – Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services June 12, 2017
- Health Insurance Coverage: Early Release of Estimates From the National Health Interview Survey, 2016 – National Center for Health Statistics May 1, 2017

Reports Regarding the American Health Care Act (AHCA)

- How might premium costs differ within states under the ACA and AHCA ? National Academy for State Health Policy June 8, 2017
- How ACA Repeal and Replace Proposals Could Affect Coverage and Premiums for Older Adults and Have Spillover Effects for Medicare – Kaiser Family Foundation June 5, 2017
- State Flexibility to Address Health Insurance Challenges under the American Health Care Act, H.R. 1628 – **Kaiser Family Foundation** June 5, 2017
- Gaps in Coverage Among People With Pre-Existing Conditions Kaiser Family Foundation May 17, 2017

- Premium Tax Credits Tied to Age Versus Income and Available Premiums: Differences by Age, Income, and Geography – Urban Institute May 17, 2017
- New Analysis: Potential Impact of Defunding CSR Payments Oliver Wyman May 12, 2017
- Effect of the Affordable Care Act on Health Care Access The Commonwealth Fund May 8, 2017

Other Reports and Research

- The Effects of Premiums and Cost Sharing on Low-Income Populations: Updated Review of Research Findings – **Kaiser Family Foundation** June 1, 2017
- Three-Year Impacts Of The Affordable Care Act: Improved Medical Care And Health Among Low-Income Adults – Health Affairs May 17, 2017
- Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Treatment Indices—Part 1: Spending and Price – Health Care Cost Institute May 15, 2017



Home > Newsroom > Media Release Database > Press releases > County by County Analysis of Current Projected Insurer Participation in Health Insurance Exchanges

County by County Analysis of Current Projected Insurer Participation in Health Insurance Exchanges

| Date | 2017-06-13 |
|---------|---|
| Title | County by County Analysis of Current Projected Insurer Participation in Health Insurance Exchanges |
| Contact | press@cms.hhs.gov |

County by County Analysis of Current Projected Insurer Participation in Health Insurance Exchanges

The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) is releasing a <u>county-level map</u> of 2018 projected Health Insurance Exchanges participation based on the known issuer participation public announcements through June 9, 2017. This map shows that insurance options on the Exchanges continue to disappear. Plan options are down from last year and, in some areas, Americans will have no coverage options on the Exchanges, based on the current data.

"This is yet another failing report card for the Exchanges. The American people have fewer insurance choices and in some counties no choice at all. CMS is working with state departments of insurance and issuers to find ways to provide relief and help restore access to healthcare plans, but our actions are by no means a long-term solution to the problems we're seeing with the Insurance Exchanges," said CMS Administrator Seema Verma.

The CMS map displays point in time data and is expected to fluctuate as issuers continue to make announcements on exiting or entering specific states and counties. It currently shows that nationwide 47 counties are projected to have no insurers, meaning that Americans in these counties could be without coverage on the Exchanges for 2018. It's also projected that as many as 1,200 counties - nearly 40% of counties nationwide – could have only one issuer in 2018. Currently, for 2018 at least 35,000 active Exchange participants live in the counties projected to be without coverage in 2018, and roughly 2.4 million Exchange participants are projected to have one issuer.^[1] It's expected that the number of consumers with no coverage choices will rise.

CMS continues to work with state departments of insurance and issuers to address bare counties, exploring all options available under current law to provide Americans with access to coverage.

Qualified Health Plan submissions for the Federally-facilitated Exchanges will be accepted by states and CMS through June 21, 2017.

The Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) is committed to doing everything permitted under current law to provide patients with immediate relief from damage the Exchanges has done to the individual and small group health insurance markets. HHS actions are intended to stabilize the markets, increase choices, and lower costs. You can learn more by visiting <u>hhs.gov/relief</u>.

^[1] Data as of January 31, 2017.

###

Get CMS news at oms.gov/newsroom, sign up for CMS news via email and follow CMS on Twitter @CMSgovPress



A federal government website managed and paid for by the U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. 7500 Security Boulevard, Baltimore, MD 21244



County by County Analysis of Current Projected Insurer Participation in Health Insurance Exchanges



2 Carriers

3 Carriers

> 3 Carriers



June 12, 2017

The Health Insurance Exchanges Trends Report:

High Premiums and Disruptions in Coverage Lead to Decreased Enrollment in the Health Insurance Exchanges

This brief presents an analysis of consumers who canceled or terminated Health Insurance Exchange coverage in 2017. Specifically, it examines enrollment as it relates to affordability, financial assistance and plan choice. The analysis shows that lack of affordability, increased premiums and insurance coverage disruptions are factors that determine whether consumers will purchase and maintain health coverage on the Health Insurance Exchanges (Exchanges).

Key Highlights

High costs and lack of affordability are the most common factors that lead consumers to cancel coverage.

- Consumers with higher premiums were more likely to terminate or cancel coverage.
- Consumers listed lack of affordability as one of the most common reasons for not paying for the first month's coverage.
- Disruptions in coverage options lead to fewer consumers retaining their coverage.
- Consumers without financial assistance were more likely to terminate or cancel coverage.

I. BACKGROUND

Consumers have seen individual market insurance premiums rise significantly since 2013.¹ When comparing the average premiums found in 2013 Medical Loss Ratio (MLR) data and 2017 CMS Multidimensional Information and Data Analytics System (MIDAS) data, the average premiums in the 39 states using HealthCare.gov in 2017 increased from \$232 in 2013 to \$476 in 2017, a 105 percent increase.² See figure 1. Of those 39 states, 62 percent had 2017 average exchange premiums at least double their 2013 average premium.³

Figure 1. Increase in Individual Market Monthly Premiums in Healthcare.gov States⁴

| 2013 (MLR) | 2017 (Healthcare.gov) | Raw Increase | Percent Increase |
|------------|-----------------------|--------------|------------------|
| \$232 | \$476 | \$244 | 105% |

II. HIGH COSTS AND LACK OF AFFORDABILITY ARE THE MOST COMMON FACTORS LEADING CONSUMERS TO CANCEL HEALTH COVERAGE

A. Financial Assistance and Premiums

Based on 2017 enrollment data, consumers who enrolled through HealthCare.gov and canceled or terminated⁵ coverage were less likely to have financial assistance⁶ than those who have maintained coverage through April 25, 2017, or gained coverage through a special enrollment period. Enrollment data also show that consumers who canceled or terminated coverage had higher premiums than those who maintained coverage since the end of the 2017 open enrollment period (OEP) or gained coverage through a special enrollment period.⁷ On average, consumers who chose to end their coverage (1.5 million) paid

¹ Individual Market Premium Changes: 2013 – 2017. ASPE Data Point. June 2017.

⁵ Individuals who select a plan may not always effectuate their enrollment, or pay their first month's premium. These individuals are considered to have canceled their plans, or have had their plans canceled by the insurers. If an individual effectuates their enrollment, by paying the first month's premium, but ends their coverage after that first month, they are considered to have terminated their plan.

⁶ Consumers without Advanced Premium Tax Credits (APTC) at the end of OE4 were 2.4 times more likely to cancel or terminate their coverage than those with APTC between the close of OE4 (1/31/2017) and 4/25/2017 (31.9% vs. 13.1%, respectively). MIDAS data April, 25th, 2017. Consumers without cost sharing reductions at the end of OE4 were 1.7 times more likely cancel or terminate their coverage compared to those with cost-sharing reductions (CSR) between the close of OE4 (1/31/2017) and 4/25/2017 (20.9% vs. 12.7%, respectively). MIDAS data as of April 25, 2017.

⁷ Consumers who left the Exchanges (1.5 million) between the close of OE4 (1/31/2017) and 4/25/2017 have higher average net premiums. On average, consumers who canceled or terminated coverage between 1/31/2017 and 4/25/2017 paid \$209 a month in net premiums compared to \$153 a month for all consumers who had an active plan selection at the end of OE4 (9.2 million). MIDAS data as of April 25, 2017.

https://aspe.hhs.gov/system/files/pdf/256751/IndividualMarketPremiumChanges.pdf.

² Ibid.

³ Ibid.

⁴ Ibid. MLR data represent the entire individual market – including on- and off-Exchange plans, as well as Affordable Care Act (ACA)-compliant and non-ACA-compliant plans. HealthCare.gov calculations are based on enrollee plan selections during the annual Open Enrollment Periods from 2014 to 2017. These data do not take into account premium tax credits.

\$209 a month compared to \$150 a month for all consumers (8.1 million) who had an active plan selection as of April 25, 2017.⁸ See figure 2.



Figure 2. Average Sticker Price, Net Premium, and Subsidy Compared to End of Open Enrollment Baseline

B. Consumer Exit Survey Data

Since August 2016, CMS has collected online survey data from consumers who left the Exchanges. Participation in the survey is voluntary. Consumers who are signed up to receive emails are invited to take the survey within 30 days of leaving the Exchanges. The sample is weighted by the consumer exit category to the population of individuals who left the Exchanges. From August 2016 to April 2017, a total of 18,212 individuals who responded had terminated or canceled coverage; of those, 14,332 initially paid for their plan and then stopped paying premiums and 3,880 selected a plan but never paid their first premium.

Consumers who canceled coverage prior to paying their first premium indicated that high costs and lack of affordability were the most common factors for canceling their coverage, or not paying the first month's premium. Nearly 60 percent of consumers who terminated coverage after paying premiums for at least one month indicated that they obtained employer sponsored coverage. The exit survey data show:

- Approximately 46 percent of consumers who canceled their coverage prior to paying first month's premium cited cost as the reason for cancellation
 - 20 percent of those who canceled their coverage due to cost cited premium increases (for example over the previous year or their previous plan) as the reason
 - 17 percent cited ineligibility for financial assistance
- 49 percent of consumers who terminated their plans after paying for at least one month's premium said they gained other coverage elsewhere:
 - Approximately 58 percent of those indicated that they obtained employer sponsored coverage

⁸ Ibid.

- 22 percent of those indicated that they had become eligible for Medicare as the reason for terminating their coverage
- 27 percent of consumers who terminated coverage cited cost or affordability as the reason for terminating coverage.
- •

III. ISSUER EXITS CAN LEAD TO FEWER CONSUMERS RETAINING THEIR COVERAGE

The enrollment data also show that a higher proportion of individuals who experienced an issuer leaving the Exchanges choose not to maintain coverage. Figure 3 shows that individuals who still had their 2016 issuer available (5.02 million) were more likely to purchase and maintain coverage (77 percent) than individuals who did not have plans offered by their 2016 issuer (1.95 million, 70 percent). In total, 75 percent of the consumers who had coverage in 2016 (6.96 million), chose to select a plan, pay for, and maintain their coverage.⁹



Figure 3: Retention Rates Among Consumers with Coverage at the end of 2016

Note: Numbers above columns may not add to the total column due to rounding.

IV. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, higher premiums and ineligibility for financial assistance combined with limited health plan choices caused some consumers to cancel or terminate coverage. However, other consumers including those with and without financial assistance, left the Exchanges for other reasons, including obtaining a job with an offer of employer sponsored insurance. The report shows that individuals who are personally responsible for more of their premium and have higher out-of-pocket costs, are most affected by premium increases. In addition, consumers whose insurance carriers choose to cancel plan options or

⁹ MIDAS Data, April 25, 2017

no longer offer coverage in the Exchanges are also less likely to select, purchase, and maintain their health coverage.

This communication was printed, published, or produced and disseminated at U.S. taxpayer expense.



Health Insurance Coverage: Early Release of Estimates From the National Health Interview Survey, 2016

by Robin A. Cohen, Ph.D., Emily P. Zammitti, M.P.H., and Michael E. Martinez, M.P.H., M.H.S.A Division of Health Interview Statistics, National Center for Health Statistics

What's new?

• This report provides health insurance estimates for 45 selected states using 2016 National Health Interview Survey data.

Highlights

- In 2016, 28.6 million (9.0%) persons of all ages were uninsured at the time of interview—20.0 million fewer persons than in 2010 and no change from 2015.
- In 2016, among adults aged 18–64, 12.4% were uninsured at the time of interview, 20.0% had public coverage, and 69.2% had private health insurance coverage. In 2016, among children aged 0–17 years, 5.1% were uninsured, 43.0% had public coverage, and 53.8% had private coverage.
- Among adults aged 18–64, 69.2% (136.4 million) were covered by private health insurance plans at the time of interview in 2016. This includes 4.7% (9.4 million) covered by private health insurance plans obtained through the Health Insurance Marketplace or statebased exchanges.
- The percentage of persons under age 65 with private insurance enrolled in a high-deductible health plan (HDHP) increased, from 36.7% in 2015 to 39.4% in 2016.

Introduction

This report from the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) presents selected estimates of health insurance coverage for the civilian noninstitutionalized U.S. population based on data from the 2016 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), along with comparable estimates from previous calendar years. Estimates for 2016 are based on data for 97,459 persons.

Three estimates of lack of health insurance coverage are provided: (a) uninsured at the time of interview, (b) uninsured at least part of the year prior to interview (which includes persons uninsured for more than 1 year), and (c) uninsured for more than 1 year at the time of interview. Estimates of public and private coverage, coverage through exchanges, and enrollment in highdeductible health plans (HDHPs) and consumer-directed health plans (CDHPs) are also presented. Detailed appendix tables at the end of this report show estimates by selected demographics. Definitions are provided in the Technical Notes at the end of this report.

This report is updated quarterly and is part of the NHIS Early Release (ER) Program, which releases updated selected estimates that are available from the NHIS website at:

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis.htm.

Estimates for each calendar quarter, by selected demographics, are also available as a separate set of tables through the ER Program. For more information about NHIS and the ER Program, see Technical Notes and Additional Early Release Program Products at the end of this report.





NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 1997–2016, Family Core component.

Results

In 2016, the percentage of persons of all ages who were uninsured at the time of interview was 9.0% (28.6 million). There was no significant change from the 2015 uninsured rate of 9.1% (28.6 million). Twenty million fewer persons lacked health insurance coverage in 2016 compared with 2010 (48.6 million or 16.0%).

Long-term trends

In 2016, among adults aged 18–64, 12.4% were uninsured at the time of interview, 20.0% had public coverage, and 69.2% had private health insurance coverage (Figure 1). From 1997 through 2013, the percentage of adults aged 18– 64 who were uninsured at the time of interview generally increased. More recently, the percentage of uninsured adults aged 18–64 decreased, from 20.4% in 2013 to 12.4% in 2016. During this 4year period, corresponding increases were seen in both public and private coverage among adults aged 18–64.

In 2016, among children aged 0–17 years, 5.1% were uninsured, 43.0% had public coverage, and 53.8% had private coverage (Figure 2). The percentage of children who were uninsured generally decreased, from 13.9% in 1997 to 5.1% in 2016. From 1997 through 2012, the percentage of children with private coverage generally decreased, and the percentage of children with public coverage generally increased. However, more recently, the percentage of children with public or private coverage has leveled off. From 2011 through 2016, public coverage for children ranged between 41.0% and 43.0%. The percentage of children with private coverage remained stable from 2011 (53.3%) through 2016 (53.8%).

Short-term trends, by age

In 2016, adults aged 25–34 were almost twice as likely as adults aged 45– 64 to lack health insurance coverage (16.5% compared with 8.9%) (Figure 3). The uninsured rates for adults aged 18–24 was 13.7% and was 14.4% for those aged 35–44.

The rate of uninsurance at the time of interview remained relatively stable from 2010 through 2013 for all age Figure 2. Percentage of children aged 0–17 years who were uninsured or had private or public coverage at the time of interview: United States, 1997–2016



NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 1997–2016, Family Core component.



Figure 3. Percentage of adults aged 18–64 who were uninsured at the time of interview, by age group: United States, 2010–2016

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

groups except adults aged 18–24 (Figure 3). Among adults aged 18–24, the percentage of those who were uninsured decreased, from 31.5% in 2010 to 25.9% in 2011, and then remained stable through 2013. For all age groups, the percentage who were uninsured decreased significantly from 2013 through 2016. The magnitude of the decreases ranged from –6.5 percentage points for adults aged 35–44 and those aged 45–64 to –10.7 percentage points for adults aged 18–24. For adults aged 18–24, 25–34, 35–44, and 45–64, the rates of uninsurance at the time of interview did not change significantly between 2015 and 2016.

Short-term trends, by poverty status

In 2016, among adults aged 18-64, 26.2% of those who were poor, 23.2% of those who were near poor, and 7.2% of those who were not poor lacked health insurance coverage at the time of interview (Figure 4). A decrease was noted in the percentage of uninsured adults from 2010 through 2016 among all three poverty status groups. However, the greatest decreases in the uninsured rate since 2013 were among adults who were poor or near poor. More recently, among adults who were poor, near poor, and not poor, there was no significant change in the percentage uninsured between 2015 and 2016.

In 2016, among children aged 0–17 years, 6.5% of those who were poor, 6.9% of those who were near poor, and 3.5% of those who were not poor lacked health insurance coverage at the time of interview (Figure 5). A general decrease in the percentage of uninsured children was observed among the poor, near poor, and not poor from 2010 through 2015. More recently, among children who were near poor and not poor, there was no significant change in the percentage uninsured between 2015 and 2016. Among poor children, the percentage who were uninsured increased from 4.4% in 2015 to 6.5% in 2016.

Figure 4. Percentage of adults aged 18–64 who were uninsured at the time of interview, by poverty status: United States, 2010–2016



NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.





NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Short-term trends, by race and ethnicity

In 2016, 25.0% of Hispanic, 15.0% of non-Hispanic black, 8.6% of non-Hispanic white, and 7.5% of non-Hispanic Asian adults aged 18-64 lacked health insurance coverage at the time of interview (Figure 6). Significant decreases in the percentage of uninsured adults were observed between 2013 and 2016 for Hispanic, non-Hispanic black, non-Hispanic white, and non-Hispanic Asian adults. Hispanic adults had the greatest percentage point decrease in the uninsured rate between 2013 (40.6%) and 2016 (25.0%). For all groups shown in Figure 6, the rates of uninsurance at the time of interview did not significantly change between 2015 and 2016.

Periods of noncoverage

Among adults aged 18–64, the percentage of those who were uninsured at the time of interview decreased, from 22.3% (42.5 million) in 2010 to 12.4% (24.5 million) in 2016 (Figure 7). The percentage of adults who were uninsured for at least part of the past year decreased, from 26.7% (51.0 million) in 2010 to 17.0% (33.4 million) in 2016. The percentage of adults who were uninsured for more than 1 year decreased, from 16.8% (32.0 million) in 2010 to 7.6% (14.9 million) in 2016.

More recently, the observed changes in the percentage of adults aged 18–64 who were uninsured at the time of interview between 2015 and 2016 was not significant. However, the decreases in the percentage of adults who were uninsured for more than a year between 2015 (9.1%) and 2016 (7.6%) and for at least part of the year between 2015 (18.1%) and 2016 (17.0%) were significant.

Figure 6. Percentage of adults aged 18–64 who were uninsured at the time of interview, by race and ethnicity: United States, 2010–2016



NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Figure 7. Percentage of adults aged 18–64 without health insurance, by three measures of uninsurance: United States, 2010–2016



NOTES: In 2016, answer categories for those who were currently uninsured concerning the length of noncoverage were modified. Therefore, 2016 estimates of "uninsured for at least part of the past year" and "uninsured for more than 1 year" may not be completely comparable with previous years. For more information on this change, see Technical Notes. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Private exchange coverage

Among persons under age 65, 65.0% (175.9 million) were covered by private health insurance plans at the time of interview in 2016. This includes 4.1% (11.2 million) covered by private plans obtained through the Health Insurance Marketplace or state-based exchanges. There was a significant increase in the percentage of persons under age 65 who were enrolled in exchange plans, from 3.4% (9.1 million) in the fourth quarter of 2015 to 4.3% (11.6 million) in the fourth quarter of 2016 (Figure 8).

Among adults aged 18-64, 69.2% (136.4 million) were covered by private health insurance plans at the time of interview in 2016. This includes 4.7% (9.4 million) covered by private health insurance plans obtained through the Health Insurance Marketplace or statebased exchanges. The percentage of adults aged 18-64 covered by exchange plans increased from the fourth quarter of 2015 (3.9% or 7.8 million) to the fourth quarter of 2016 (4.8% or 9.4 million) (Figure 8). The percentage of persons aged 18-64 who were enrolled in exchange plans has remained relatively stable from the first quarter of 2016 (4.7% or 9.2 million) through the fourth quarter of 2016 (4.8% or 9.4 million) (Figure 8).

Among children aged 0–17 years, 53.8% (39.6 million) were covered by private health insurance at the time of interview in 2016. This includes 2.5% (1.8 million) covered by plans obtained through the Health Insurance Marketplace or state-based exchanges. The percentage of children enrolled in exchange plans increased from 1.9% (1.4 million) in the fourth quarter of 2015 to 3.0% (2.2 million) in the fourth quarter of 2016 (Figure 8). However, the observed increase in the percentage of children who were enrolled in exchange plans from the first quarter of 2016 (2.2% or 1.6 million) to the fourth quarter of 2016 (3.0% or 2.2 million) was not significant.

Figure 8. Percentage of persons under age 65 with private health insurance obtained through the Health Insurance Marketplace or state-based exchanges, by age group and quarter: United States, January 2014–December 2016



NOTES: Includes persons who had purchased a private health insurance plan through the Health Insurance Marketplace or state-based exchanges that were established as part of the Affordable Care Act of 2010 (PL. 111–148, PL. 111–152). 2014 is the first year that all states had exchange-based coverage are considered to have private health insurance. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2014–2016, Family Core component.





NOTES: For 2013 and 2014, there were 26 Medicaid expansion states. For 2015, there were 29 Medicaid expansion states. For 2016, there were 32 Medicaid expansion states. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2013–2016, Family Core component.

Health insurance coverage, by state Medicaid expansion status

Under provisions of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) of 2010, states have the option to expand Medicaid coverage to those with low income. In 2016, adults aged 18–64 residing in Medicaid expansion states were less likely to be uninsured than those residing in nonexpansion states (Figure 9). In Medicaid expansion states, the percentage of uninsured adults decreased, from 18.4% in 2013 to 9.2% in 2016. In nonexpansion states, the percentage of uninsured adults decreased, from 22.7% in 2013 to 17.9% in 2016. In both Medicaid expansion states and nonexpansion states, the percentage of adults aged 18–64 who were uninsured or had private or public coverage did not change significantly between 2015 and 2016.

Health insurance coverage, by state Health Insurance Marketplace type

Under provisions of ACA, each state has the option to set up and operate its own Health Insurance Marketplace, rely on a Federally Facilitated Marketplace operated solely by the federal government, or have a hybrid partnership Marketplace that is operated by the federal government but where the state runs certain functions and makes key decisions. In 2016, adults aged 18–64 in states with a Federally Facilitated Marketplace were more likely to be uninsured than those in states with a state-based Marketplace (Figure 10).

Among adults aged 18–64, decreases were seen in the uninsured rates between 2013 and 2016 in states with a state-based Marketplace, a partnership Marketplace, and a Federally Facilitated Marketplace. For all three state Health Insurance Marketplace types, the rates of uninsurance and private coverage at the time of interview among adults aged 18–64 did not change significantly between 2015 and 2016 (Figure 10).

Estimates of enrollment in HDHPs and CDHPs

In 2016, 39.4% of persons under age 65 with private health insurance were enrolled in an HDHP, including 15.5% who were enrolled in a CDHP (an HDHP with a health savings account [HSA]) and 23.9% who were enrolled in an HDHP without an HSA (Figure 11) (see Technical Notes for definitions of HDHP, CDHP, and HSA). Among those with private insurance, enrollment in HDHPs has generally increased since 2010. The percentage who were enrolled in an HDHP increased more than 14 percentage points, from 25.3% in 2010 to 39.4% in 2016. More recently, the percentage who were enrolled in an HDHP increased, from 36.7% in 2015 to 39.4% in 2016. The percentage who were enrolled in a CDHP doubled, from 7.7% in 2010 to 15.5% in 2016. More recently. the percentage who were enrolled in a CDHP increased, from 13.3% in 2015 to 15.5% in 2016.

Figure 10. Percentage of adults aged 18–64 who were uninsured or had private coverage at the time of interview, by year and state Health Insurance Marketplace type: United States, 2013–2016



NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population SOURCE: NCHS. National Health Interview Survey. 2013–2016. Family Core component.

Figure 11. Percentage of persons under age 65 enrolled in a high-deductible health plan without a health savings account or in a consumer-directed health plan, among those with private health insurance coverage: United States, 2010–2016



NOTES: CDHP is consumer-directed health plan, which is a high-deductible health plan (HDHP) with a health savings account (HSA). HDHP no HSA is a high-deductible health plan without an HSA. The individual components of HDHPs may not add up to the total due to rounding. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Health insurance coverage in selected states

State-specific health insurance estimates for persons aged 18-64 in 2016 are presented for 45 states (Figure 12). Among these 45 states presented for 2016, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii, Illinois, Iowa, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Washington, and Wisconsin had significantly lower percentages of uninsured adults than the national average (12.4%). Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Louisiana, Mississippi, New Mexico, North Carolina, Oklahoma, and Texas had significantly higher percentages of uninsured adults than the national average. Among the 45 states presented in this report, only California had a significant decrease in the percentage of adults aged 18-64 who were uninsured between 2015 (11.1%) and 2016 (9.5%).





NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2016, Family Core component.

References

- 1. U.S. Government Accountability Office. Consumer-directed health plans: Early enrollee experiences with health savings accounts and eligible health plans. GAO-06-798. Washington, DC. 2006.
- 2. National Cancer Institute. Joinpoint Regression Program (Version 4.0.1) [computer software]. 2013.
- Lamison-White L. Poverty in the United States: 1996. U.S. Bureau of the Census. Current Population Reports, P60–198. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 1997.
- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD, Lee CH. Income, poverty, and health insurance coverage in the United States: 2004. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–229. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2005.
- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD, Smith JC. Income, poverty, and health insurance coverage in the United States: 2009. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–238. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2010.
- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD, Smith JC. Income, poverty, and health insurance coverage in the United States: 2010. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–239. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2011.
- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD, Smith JC. Income, poverty, and health insurance coverage in the United States: 2011. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–243. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2012.
- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD, Smith JC. Income, poverty, and health insurance coverage in the United States: 2012. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–245. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2013.
- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD. Income and poverty in the United States: 2013. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–249. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2014.

- DeNavas-Walt C, Proctor BD. Income and poverty in the United States: 2014. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60–252. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2015.
- Proctor BD, Semega JL, Kollar MA. Income and poverty in the United States: 2015. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Reports, P60– 256. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. 2016.
- 12. National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2015: With Special Feature on Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities. Hyattsville, MD. 2016. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/ hus15.pdf.
- 13. Holahan J, Buettgens M, Carroll C, Dorn S. The cost and coverage implications of the ACA Medicaid expansion: National and state-bystate analysis. Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured. 2012. Available from: http://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files. wordpress.com/2013/01/8384.pdf.
- 14. Clarke TC, Ward BW, Norris T, Schiller JS. Early release of selected estimates based on data from the January–September 2016 National Health Interview Survey. National Center for Health Statistics. February 2017. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/ releases.htm.
- 15. Blumberg SJ, Luke JV. Wireless substitution: Early release of estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, January–June 2016. National Center for Health Statistics. December 2016. Available from:

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/ releases.htm.

Technical Notes

The National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) is releasing selected estimates of health insurance coverage for the civilian noninstitutionalized U.S. population based on data from the 2016 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), along with comparable estimates from previous calendar years.

To reflect different policy-relevant perspectives, three measures of lack of health insurance coverage are provided: (a) uninsured at the time of interview, (b) uninsured for at least part of the year prior to interview (which also includes persons uninsured for more than 1 year), and (c) uninsured for more than 1 year at the time of interview. The three time frames are defined as:

- Uninsured at the time of interview provides an estimate of persons who, at the given time, may have experienced barriers to obtaining needed health care.
- Uninsured for at least part of the past year provides an annual caseload of persons who may experience barriers to obtaining needed health care. This measure includes persons who have insurance at the time of interview but who had a period of noncoverage in the year prior to interview, as well as those who are currently uninsured and who may have been uninsured for a long period of time.
- Uninsured for more than 1 year provides an estimate of those with a persistent lack of coverage who may be at high risk of not obtaining preventive services or care for illness and injury.

These three measures are not mutually exclusive, and a given individual may be counted in more than one of the measures. Estimates of enrollment in public and private coverage are also provided.

Persons who were uninsured at the time of interview were asked the following question (HILAST): Not including Single Service Plans, about how long has it been since [you/Alias] last had health care coverage? In 2016, the answer categories for the HILAST questions were modified to align NHIS responses to those of other national federal surveys. Therefore, 2016 estimates of "uninsured for at least part of the past year" and "uninsured for more than 1 year" may not be completely comparable to previous years. Prior to 2016, the answer categories for the HILAST question were: 6 months or less; More than 6 months, but not more than 1 year ago; More than 1 year, but not more than 3 years ago; More than 3 years; and Never. Beginning in 2016, the answer categories for the HILAST question are: 6 months or less; More than 6 months, but less than 1 year; 1 year; More than 1 year, but less than 3 years; 3 years or more; and Never.

This report also includes estimates for three types of consumer-directed private health care. Consumer-directed health care may enable individuals to have more control over when and how they access care, what types of care they use, and how much they spend on health care services. National attention to consumer-directed health care increased following enactment of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (P.L. 108-173), which established tax-advantaged health savings accounts (HSAs) (1). In 2007, three questions were added to the health insurance section of NHIS to monitor enrollment in consumerdirected health care among persons with private health insurance. Estimates are provided for enrollment in highdeductible health plans (HDHPs), plans with high deductibles coupled with HSAs (i.e., consumer-directed health plans or CDHPs), and being in a family with a flexible spending account (FSA) for medical expenses not otherwise covered. For a more complete description of consumer-directed health care, see "Definitions of selected terms."

The 2016 health insurance estimates are being released prior to final data editing and final weighting to provide access to the most recent information from NHIS. Differences between estimates calculated using preliminary data files and final data files are typically less than 0.1 percentage point. However, preliminary estimates of persons without health insurance coverage are generally 0.1–0.3 percentage points lower than the final estimates due to the editing procedures used for the final data files.

Estimates for 2016 are stratified by age group, sex, race and ethnicity, poverty status, marital status, employment status, region, and educational attainment.

Data source

NHIS is a multistage probability sample survey of the civilian noninstitutionalized population of the United States and is the source of data for this report. The survey is conducted continuously throughout the year by NCHS through an agreement with the U.S. Census Bureau.

NHIS is a comprehensive health survey that can be used to relate health insurance coverage to health outcomes and health care utilization. It has a low item nonresponse rate (about 1%) for the health insurance questions. Because NHIS is conducted throughout the year—yielding a nationally representative sample each month—data can be analyzed monthly or quarterly to monitor health insurance coverage trends.

A new sample design was implemented with the 2016 NHIS. Sample areas were reselected to take into account changes in the distribution of the U.S. population since 2006, when the previous sample design was first implemented. Commercial address lists were used as the main source of addresses, rather than field listing; and the oversampling procedures for black, Hispanic, and Asian persons that were a feature of the previous sample design were not implemented in 2016. Some of the differences between estimates for 2016 and estimates for earlier years may be attributable to the new sample design. Visit the NCHS website at

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis.htm for more information on the design, content, and use of NHIS.

The data for this report are derived from the Family Core component of the 1997–2016 NHIS, which collects information on all family members in each household. Data analyses for the 2016 NHIS were based on 97,459 persons in the Family Core.

Data on health insurance status were edited using a system of logic

checks. Information from follow-up questions, such as plan name(s), were used to reassign insurance status and type of coverage to avoid misclassification. The analyses excluded persons with unknown health insurance status (about 1% of respondents each year).

Data points for all figures can be found in the detailed appendix tables at the end of this report, appendix tables from previous reports, and quarterly tables available separately through the Early Release (ER) program.

Estimation procedures

NCHS creates survey weights for each calendar quarter of the NHIS sample. The NHIS data weighting procedure is described in more detail at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr _02/sr02_165.pdf. Estimates were calculated using NHIS survey weights, which are calibrated to census totals for sex, age, and race and ethnicity of the U.S. civilian noninstitutionalized population. Weights for 2010 and 2011 were derived from 2000 census-based population estimates. Beginning with 2012 NHIS data, weights were derived from 2010 census-based population estimates.

Point estimates and estimates of their variances were calculated using SUDAAN software (RTI International, Research Triangle Park, N.C.) to account for the complex sample design of NHIS, taking into account stratum and primary sampling unit (PSU) identifiers. The Taylor series linearization method was chosen for variance estimation.

Trends in coverage were generally assessed using Joinpoint regression (2), which characterizes trends as joined linear segments. A Joinpoint is the year where two segments with different slopes meet. Joinpoint software uses statistical criteria to determine the fewest number of segments necessary to characterize a trend and the year(s) when segments begin and end. Trends from 2010 through 2016 were also evaluated using logistic regression analysis.

State-specific health insurance estimates are presented for 45 states for persons of all ages, persons under age 65, and adults aged 18–64. State-specific estimates are presented for 36 states for children aged 0–17 years. Estimates are not presented for all 50 states and the District of Columbia due to considerations of sample size and precision. States with fewer than 1,000 interviews for persons of all ages are excluded. In addition, estimates for children in states that did not have at least 300 children with completed interviews are not presented.

For the 10 states with the largest populations (California, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Michigan, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Texas), standard errors (SEs) were calculated using SUDAAN. Because of small sample size and limitations of the NHIS design, similarly estimated SEs for other states could be statistically unstable or negatively biased. Consequently, for states other than the largest 10 states, an estimated design effect was used to calculate SEs. For this report, the design effect, *deff*, of a percentage is the ratio of the sampling variance of the percentage (taking into account the complex NHIS sample design) to the sampling variance of the percentage from a simple random sample (SRS) based on the same observed number of persons.

Therefore, for each health insurance measure and domain, SEs for smaller states were calculated by multiplying the SRS SE by A, where A is the average value of the square root of *deff* over the 10 most populous states. Values of A ranged from 1.53 for children aged 0–17 who were uninsured to 2.52 for persons under 65 with private coverage.

Unless otherwise noted, all estimates shown meet the NCHS standard of having less than or equal to 30% relative standard error (RSE). Unless otherwise noted, differences between percentages or rates were evaluated using two-sided significance tests at the 0.05 level. All differences discussed are significant unless otherwise noted. Lack of comment regarding the difference between any two estimates does not necessarily mean that the difference was tested and found to be not significant.

Definitions of selected terms

Private health insurance coverage—Includes persons who had any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

Public health plan coverage— Includes Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), statesponsored or other governmentsponsored health plans, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

Uninsured—A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan at the time of interview. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

Directly purchased coverage— Private insurance that was originally obtained through direct purchase or other means not related to employment.

Employment-based coverage— Private insurance that was originally obtained through a present or former employer, union, or professional association.

Exchange-based coverage—A private health insurance plan purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or state-based exchanges that were established as part of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) of 2010 (P.L. 111–148, P.L. 111–152). In response to ACA, several questions were added to NHIS to capture health care plans obtained through exchange-based coverage.

In general, if a family member is reported to have coverage through the exchange, that report is considered accurate unless there is other information (e.g., plan name or information about premiums) that clearly contradicts that report. Similarly, if a family member is not reported to have coverage through the exchange, that report is considered accurate unless other information clearly contradicts that report. For a more complete discussion of the procedures used in classifying exchange-based coverage, see https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/ insurance.htm.

Based on these classification procedures, an average of 4.1% (standard error [SE] 0.13) of persons under age 65, 4.7% (SE 0.15) of adults aged 18-64, 2.5% (SE 0.17) of children under age 18 years, and 3.2% (SE 0.16) of adults aged 19–25 had exchange-based private health insurance coverage in 2016. This equates to 11.2 million persons under age 65, 9.4 million adults aged 18-64, 1.8 million children, and 1.0 million adults aged 19-25. If these procedures had not been used and reports of coverage through the exchanges (or lack thereof) had been taken at face value, the estimates would have been higher. For example, an average of 5.2% (14.1 million) of persons under age 65 would have been reported to have obtained their coverage through exchanges in 2016.

High-deductible health plan (HDHP)—For persons with private health insurance, a question was asked regarding the annual deductible of each private health insurance plan. HDHP was defined in 2015 and 2016 as a private health plan with an annual deductible of at least \$1,300 for self-only coverage or \$2,600 for family coverage. The deductible is adjusted annually for inflation. For 2013 and 2014, the annual deductible was \$1,250 for self-only coverage and \$2,500 for family coverage. For 2010 through 2012, the annual deductible was \$1,200 for self-only coverage and \$2,400 for family coverage.

Consumer-directed health plan (**CDHP**)—An HDHP with a special account to pay for medical expenses. Unspent funds are carried over to subsequent years. For plans considered to be HDHPs, a follow-up question was asked regarding these special accounts. A person is considered to have a CDHP if there is a "yes" response to the following question: With this plan, is there a special account or fund that can be used to pay for medical expenses? The accounts are sometimes referred to as Health Savings Accounts (HSAs), Health Reimbursement Accounts (HRAs), Personal Care accounts, Personal Medical funds, or Choice funds, and are different from Flexible Spending Accounts.

Health savings account (HSA)-A tax-advantaged account or fund that can be used to pay medical expenses. It must be coupled with an HDHP. The funds contributed to the account are not subject to federal income tax at the time of deposit. Unlike FSAs, HSA funds roll over and accumulate year to year if not spent. HSAs are owned by the individual. Funds may be used to pay qualified medical expenses at any time without federal tax liability. HSAs may also be referred to as Health Reimbursement Accounts (HRAs), Personal Care Accounts, Personal Medical funds, or Choice funds. The term "HSA" in this report includes accounts that use these alternative names.

Flexible spending account (FSA) for medical expenses—Persons are considered to be in a family with an FSA if there is a "yes" response to the following question: [Do you/Does anyone in your family] have a Flexible Spending Account for health expenses? These accounts are offered by some employers to allow employees to set aside pretax dollars of their own money for their use throughout the year to reimburse themselves for their out-ofpocket expenses for health care. With this type of account, any money remaining in the account at the end of the year, following a short grace period, is lost to the employee.

The measures of HDHP enrollment, CDHP enrollment, and being in a family with an FSA for medical expenses are not mutually exclusive; a person may be counted in more than one measure.

Medicaid expansion status— Under provisions of ACA, states have the option to expand Medicaid eligibility to cover adults who have income up to and including 138% of the federal poverty level. There is no deadline for states to choose to implement the Medicaid expansion, and they may do so at any time. As of October 31, 2013, 26 states and the District of Columbia were moving forward with Medicaid expansion. As of January 1, 2016, 32 states and the District of Columbia were moving forward with Medicaid expansion.

Health Insurance Marketplace— A resource where individuals, families,

and small businesses can learn about their health coverage options; compare health insurance plans based on cost, benefits, and other important features; choose a plan; and enroll in coverage. The Marketplace also provides information on programs that help people with lowto-moderate income and resources pay for coverage. There are three types of Health Insurance Marketplaces: (a) a state-based Marketplace set up and operated solely by the state; (b) a hybrid partnership Marketplace in which the state runs certain functions, makes key decisions, and may tailor the Marketplace to local needs and market conditions, but which is operated by the federal government; and (c) the Federally Facilitated Marketplace operated solely by the federal government.

Education—Categories are based on the years of school completed or highest degree obtained for persons aged 18 and over.

Employment—Employment status is assessed at the time of interview and is obtained for persons aged 18 and over. In this report, it is presented only for persons aged 18–64.

Hispanic or Latino origin and **race**—Hispanic or Latino origin and race are two separate and distinct categories. Persons of Hispanic or Latino origin may be of any race or combination of races. Hispanic or Latino origin includes persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central and South American, or Spanish origin. Race is based on the family respondent's description of his or her own racial background, as well as the racial background of other family members. More than one race may be reported for a person. For conciseness, the text, tables, and figures in this report use shorter versions of the 1997 Office of Management and Budget terms for race and Hispanic or Latino origin. For example, the category "Not Hispanic or Latino, black or African American, single race" is referred to as "non-Hispanic black, single race" in the text, tables, and figures. Estimates for non-Hispanic persons of races other than white only, black only, and Asian only, or of multiple races, are combined into the "Other races and multiple races" category.

Poverty status—Poverty categories are based on the ratio of the

family's income in the previous calendar year to the appropriate poverty threshold (given the family's size and number of children), as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau for that year (3–11). Persons categorized as "Poor" have a ratio less than 1.0 (i.e., their family income is below the poverty threshold); "Nearpoor" persons have incomes of 100% to less than 200% of the poverty threshold; and "Not-poor" persons have incomes that are 200% of the poverty threshold or greater. The remaining group of respondents is coded as "Unknown" with respect to poverty status. The percentage of respondents with unknown poverty status (19.1% in 1997, 28.9% in 2005, 12.2% in 2010, 11.5% in 2011, 11.4% in 2012, 10.2% in 2013, 8.8% in 2014, 8.8% in 2015, and 7.8% in 2016) is disaggregated by age and insurance status in Tables IV, V, and VI.

For more information on unknown income and unknown poverty status, see the NHIS Survey Description documents for 1997–2015 (available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/quest _data_related_1997_forward.htm).

NCHS imputes income for approximately 30% of NHIS records. The imputed income files are released a few months after the annual release of NHIS microdata and are not available for the ER updates. Therefore, ER health insurance estimates stratified by poverty status are based on reported income only and may differ from similar estimates produced later (e.g., in *Health, United States* [12]) that are based on both reported and imputed income.

Region—In the geographic classification of the U.S. population, states are grouped into the following four regions used by the U.S. Census Bureau:

| Region | States included |
|-----------|---|
| Northeast | Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Vermont |
| Midwest | Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, |

Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio, South Dakota, and Wisconsin

- South Alabama, Arkansas, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia West Alaska, Arizona, California,
- Colorado, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming

Expanded regions—Based on a subdivision of the four regions into nine divisions. For this report, the nine Census divisions were modified by moving Delaware, the District of Columbia, and Maryland into the Middle Atlantic division. This approach was used previously by Holahan et al. (13).

Additional Early Release Program Products

Two additional periodical reports are published through the NHIS ER Program. Early Release of Selected Estimates Based on Data From the National *Health Interview Survey* (14) is published quarterly and provides estimates of 15 selected measures of health, including insurance coverage. Other measures of health include estimates of having a usual place to go for medical care, obtaining needed medical care, influenza vaccination, pneumococcal vaccination, obesity, leisure-time physical activity, current smoking, alcohol consumption, HIV testing, general health status, personal care needs, serious psychological distress, diagnosed diabetes, and asthma episodes and current asthma.

Wireless Substitution: Early Release of Estimates From the National Health Interview Survey (15) is published semiannually and provides selected estimates of telephone coverage in the United States.

Other ER reports and tabulations on special topics are released on an as-needed basis; see https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/releases. htm.

In addition to these reports, preliminary microdata files containing selected NHIS variables are produced as part of the ER Program. For each data collection year (January through December), these variables are made available four times approximately 5–6 months following the completion of data collection. NHIS data users can analyze these files through the NCHS Research Data Centers (https://www.cdc.gov/rdc/) without having to wait for the final annual NHIS microdata files to be released.

New measures and products may be added as work continues and in response to changing data needs. Feedback on these releases is welcome (nhislist@cdc.gov).

Announcements about ERs, other new data releases, and publications, as well as corrections related to NHIS, will be sent to members of the HISUSERS electronic mailing list. To join, visit the CDC website at: https://www.cdc.gov/ nchs/products/nchs_listservs.htm, click on the "National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) researchers" button, and follow the directions on the page.

Suggested Citation

Cohen RA, Zammitti EP, Martinez ME. Health insurance coverage: Early release of estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, 2016. National Center for Health Statistics. May 2017. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/ releases.htm.

Table I. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage at the time of interview, for at least part of the past year, and for more than 1 year, by age group and selected years: United States, 1997–2016

| Age group and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Uninsured ¹ for at least part of the past year ² | Uninsured ¹ for more than 1 year ² |
|--------------------|---|--|---|
| All ages | | | |
| 1997 | 15 4 (0 21) | 195 (0 24) | 10.4 (0.18) |
| 2005 | 14.2 (0.21) | 17.6 (0.23) | 10.0 (0.18) |
| 2005 | 16.0 (0.27) | 19.8 (0.29) | 11 7 (0 22) |
| 2010 | 15.1 (0.25) | 19.3 (0.29) | 11.2 (0.22) |
| 2017 | 14.7 (0.23) | 18.6 (0.27) | 11.2 (0.21) |
| 2012 | 14.4 (0.26) | 17.8 (0.27) | 10.7 (0.23) |
| 2013 | 11 5 (0.23) | 16.5 (0.25) | 84(019) |
| 2015 | 9 1 (0 19) | 13.2 (0.23) | 6.2 (0.15) |
| 2015 | 9.0 (0.27) | 12.5 (0.29) | 5.2 (0.13) |
| Linder 65 years | 9.0 (0.27) | 12.3 (0.29) | 5.2 (0.25) |
| 1007 | 17.4 (0.24) | 21.0 (0.28) | 11.8 (0.21) |
| 1997 | 17.4 (0.24) | 21.9 (0.28) | 11.8 (0.21) |
| 2005 | 16.0 (0.24) | 19.9 (0.26) | 11.3 (0.21) |
| 2010 | 17.2 (0.30) | 22.5 (0.33) | 13.3 (0.24) |
| 2011 | 17.3 (0.29) | 21.8 (0.33) | 12.7 (0.25) |
| 2012 | 16.9 (0.27) | 21.3 (0.31) | 12.7 (0.24) |
| 2013 | 16.6 (0.30) | 20.4 (0.32) | 12.4 (0.27) |
| 2014 | 13.3 (0.26) | 19.0 (0.29) | 9.7 (0.22) |
| 2015 | 10.5 (0.22) | 15.3 (0.27) | 7.2 (0.17) |
| 2016 | 10.4 (0.31) | 14.5 (0.33) | 6.1 (0.26) |
| 0–17 years | | | |
| 1997 | 13.9 (0.36) | 18.1 (0.41) | 8.4 (0.29) |
| 2005 | 8.9 (0.29) | 12.6 (0.33) | 5.3 (0.24) |
| 2010 | 7.8 (0.32) | 11.6 (0.37) | 4.5 (0.23) |
| 2011 | 7.0 (0.27) | 10.9 (0.36) | 3.7 (0.19) |
| 2012 | 6.6 (0.27) | 10.4 (0.35) | 3.7 (0.19) |
| 2013 | 6.5 (0.26) | 10.0 (0.33) | 3.6 (0.20) |
| 2014 | 5.5 (0.27) | 9.4 (0.40) | 3.0 (0.19) |
| 2015 | 4.5 (0.24) | 7.7 (0.32) | 2.3 (0.16) |
| 2016 | 5.1 (0.31) | 8.0 (0.31) | 2.2 (0.22) |
| 18–64 years | | | |
| 1997 | 18.9 (0.23) | 23.6 (0.26) | 13.3 (0.21) |
| 2005 | 18.9 (0.26) | 22.8 (0.28) | 13.8 (0.23) |
| 2010 | 22.3 (0.35) | 26.7 (0.37) | 16.8 (0.30) |
| 2011 | 21.3 (0.34) | 26.0 (0.37) | 16.3 (0.31) |
| 2012 | 20.9 (0.31) | 25.5 (0.34) | 16.2 (0.29) |
| 2013 | 20.4 (0.37) | 24.4 (0.38) | 15.7 (0.34) |
| 2014 | 16.3 (0.31) | 22.6 (0.34) | 12.3 (0.27) |
| 2015 | 12.8 (0.27) | 18.1 (0.33) | 9.1 (0.22) |
| 2016 | 12.4 (0.36) | 17.0 (0.38) | 7.6 (0.31) |
| 19–25 years | | | |
| 1997 | 31.4 (0.63) | 39.2 (0.67) | 20.8 (0.51) |
| 2005 | 31.2 (0.65) | 37.9 (0.68) | 21.6 (0.54) |
| 2010 | 33.9 (0.73) | 41.7 (0.78) | 24.1 (0.61) |
| 2011 | 27.9 (0.71) | 36.1 (0.77) | 20.1 (0.61) |
| 2012 | 26.4 (0.72) | 33.0 (0.72) | 19.6 (0.62) |
| 2013 | 26.5 (0.71) | 31.3 (0.79) | 19.8 (0.61) |
| 2014 | 20.0 (0.65) | 26.9 (0.73) | 14.2 (0.56) |
| 2015 | 15.8 (0.58) | 22.2 (0.68) | 10.2 (0.43) |
| 2016 | 14.7 (0.71) | 20.1 (0.78) | 7.7 (0.61) |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²In references to "part of the past year" and "more than 1 year," 1 year is defined as the 12 months prior to interview. In 2016, answer categories concerning the length of noncoverage were modified for those who were currently uninsured. Therefore, 2016 estimates of "uninsured for at least part of the past year" and "uninsured for more than 1 year" may not be completely comparable to previous years. For more information on this change, see Technical Notes.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table II. Numbers (in millions) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage at the time of interview, for at least part of the past year, and for more than 1 year, by age group and selected years: United States, 1997–2016

| Age group and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Uninsured ¹ for at least part of the past year ² | Uninsured ¹ for more than 1 year ² |
|--------------------|---|--|---|
| All ages | | | |
| 1997 | 41.0 | 51.9 | 27.7 |
| 2005 | 41.2 | 51.3 | 29.2 |
| 2010 | 48.6 | 60.3 | 35.7 |
| 2011 | 46.3 | 58.7 | 34.2 |
| 2012 | 45.5 | 57.5 | 34.1 |
| 2013 | 44.8 | 55.4 | 33.4 |
| 2014 | 36.0 | 51.6 | 26.3 |
| 2015 | 28.6 | 41.7 | 19.6 |
| 2016 | 28.6 | 39.9 | 16.7 |
| Under 65 years | | | |
| 1997 | 40.7 | 51.4 | 27.6 |
| 2005 | 41.0 | 50.9 | 29.0 |
| 2010 | 48.2 | 59.6 | 35.4 |
| 2011 | 45.9 | 58.0 | 33.9 |
| 2012 | 45.2 | 56.8 | 33.9 |
| 2013 | 44.3 | 54.7 | 33.1 |
| 2014 | 35.7 | 50.8 | 26.1 |
| 2015 | 28.4 | 41 1 | 19.4 |
| 2016 | 28.2 | 39 3 | 16.5 |
| 0–17 years | 2012 | 52.5 | 10.5 |
| 1997 | 9.9 | 12.9 | 6.0 |
| 2005 | 65 | 93 | 3.9 |
| 2010 | 5.8 | 87 | 3.4 |
| 2010 | 5.0 | 8.1 | 27 |
| 2011 | 1.9 | 77 | 2.7 |
| 2012 | 1.9 | 7.7 | 2.7 |
| 2013 | 4.0 | 69 | 2.0 |
| 2015 | | 5.7 | 1 7 |
| 2015 | 2.0 | 5.7 | 1.7 |
| 18 64 years | 5.0 | 5.5 | 1:0 |
| 1007 | 20.9 | 20 5 | 21 7 |
| 2005 | 24.5 | 58.5 41 7 | 21.7 |
| 2005 | 54.5 42.5 | 41.7 | 23.2 |
| 2010 | 42.5 | 31:0 | 32.0 |
| 2011 | 40.7 | 49.9 | 21.2 |
| 2012 | 40.3 | 49.2 | 31.2 |
| 2013 | 39.0 | 47.4 | 30.5 |
| 2014 | 31./ | 44.0 | 23.9 |
| 2015 | 25.1 | 35.5 | 17.8 |
| 2016 | 24.5 | 33.4 | 14.9 |
| 19–25 years | | 07 | F 4 |
| 1997 | /./ | 9./ | 5.1 |
| 2005 | 8.8 | 10./ | 6.1 |
| 2010 | 10.0 | 12.3 | 7.1 |
| 2011 | 8.4 | 10.8 | 6.0 |
| 2012 | 7.9 | 9.9 | 5.9 |
| 2013 | 8.0 | 9.5 | 6.0 |
| 2014 | 6.0 | 8.1 | 4.3 |
| 2015 | 4.8 | 6.7 | 3.1 |
| 2016 | 4.4 | 6.0 | 2.3 |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²In references to "part of the past year" and "more than 1 year," 1 year is defined as the 12 months prior to interview. In 2016, answer categories concerning the length of noncoverage were modified for those who were currently uninsured. Therefore, 2016 estimates of "uninsured for at least part of the past year" and "uninsured for more than 1 year" may not be completely comparable to previous years. For more information on this change, see Technical Notes.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population. SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 1997, 2005, and 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Table III. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and selected years: United States, 1997–2016

| Age group a | ind year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|-------------|----------|--|---|--|
| All age | 25 | | | |
| 1997 | | 15.4 (0.21) | 23.3 (0.27) | 70.7 (0.32) |
| 2005 | | 14.2 (0.21) | 26.4 (0.30) | 67.3 (0.37) |
| 2010 | | 16.0 (0.27) | 31.4 (0.39) | 60.2 (0.48) |
| 2011 | | 15.1 (0.25) | 32.4 (0.37) | 60.1 (0.48) |
| 2012 | | 14.7 (0.23) | 33.4 (0.35) | 59.6 (0.43) |
| 2013 | | 14.4 (0.26) | 33.8 (0.36) | 59.5 (0.49) |
| 2014 | | 11.5 (0.23) | 34.6 (0.37) | 61.8 (0.45) |
| 2015 | | 9.1 (0.19) | 35.6 (0.42) | 63.2 (0.46) |
| 2016 | | 9.0 (0.27) | 36.8 (0.36) | 62.5 (0.44) |
| Under 65 | years | | | |
| 1997 | | 17.4 (0.24) | 13.6 (0.25) | 70.8 (0.35) |
| 2005 | | 16.0 (0.24) | 16.8 (0.29) | 68.4 (0.39) |
| 2010 | | 18.2 (0.30) | 22.0 (0.38) | 61.2 (0.50) |
| 2011 | | 17.3 (0.29) | 23.0 (0.37) | 61.2 (0.51) |
| 2012 | | 16.9 (0.27) | 23.5 (0.37) | 61.0 (0.47) |
| 2013 | | 16.6 (0.30) | 23.8 (0.35) | 61.0 (0.52) |
| 2014 | | 13.3 (0.26) | 24.5 (0.36) | 63.6 (0.46) |
| 2015 | | 10.5 (0.22) | 25.3 (0.43) | 65.6 (0.50) |
| 2016 | | 10.4 (0.31) | 26.3 (0.41) | 65.0 (0.48) |
| 0–17 ye | ars | | | |
| 1997 | | 13.9 (0.36) | 21.4 (0.48) | 66.2 (0.57) |
| 2005 | | 8.9 (0.29) | 29.9 (0.56) | 62.4 (0.60) |
| 2010 | | 7.8 (0.32) | 39.8 (0.73) | 53.8 (0.75) |
| 2011 | | 7.0 (0.27) | 41.0 (0.74) | 53.3 (0.76) |
| 2012 | | 6.6 (0.27) | 42.1 (0.72) | 52.8 (0.73) |
| 2013 | | 6.5 (0.26) | 42.2 (0.70) | 52.6 (0.76) |
| 2014 | | 5.5 (0.27) | 42.2 (0.65) | 53.7 (0.68) |
| 2015 | | 4.5 (0.24) | 42.2 (0.79) | 54.7 (0.78) |
| 2016 | | 5.1 (0.31) | 43.0 (0.65) | 53.8 (0.71) |
| 18–64 ye | ears | | | |
| 1997 | | 18.9 (0.23) | 10.2 (0.20) | 72.8 (0.30) |
| 2005 | | 18.9 (0.26) | 11.5 (0.22) | 70.9 (0.36) |
| 2010 | | 22.3 (0.35) | 15.0 (0.30) | 64.1 (0.46) |
| 2011 | | 21.3 (0.34) | 15.9 (0.29) | 64.2 (0.45) |
| 2012 | | 20.9 (0.31) | 16.4 (0.29) | 64.1 (0.42) |
| 2013 | | 20.4 (0.37) | 16.7 (0.30) | 64.2 (0.47) |
| 2014 | | 16.3 (0.31) | 17.7 (0.32) | 67.3 (0.43) |
| 2015 | | 12.8 (0.27) | 18.9 (0.36) | 69.7 (0.43) |
| 2016 | | 12.4 (0.36) | 20.0 (0.38) | 69.2 (0.41) |
| 19–25 ye | ears | | | |
| 1997 | | 31.4 (0.63) | 11.2 (0.46) | 58.4 (0.71) |
| 2005 | | 31.2 (0.65) | 12.9 (0.51) | 56.5 (0.79) |
| 2010 | | 33.9 (0.73) | 15.7 (0.55) | 51.0 (0.84) |
| 2011 | | 27.9 (0.71) | 16.8 (0.60) | 56.2 (0.85) |
| 2012 | | 26.4 (0.72) | 17.5 (0.59) | 57.2 (0.85) |
| 2013 | | 26.5 (0.71) | 16.1 (0.54) | 58.1 (0.84) |
| 2014 | | 20.0 (0.65) | 19.1 (0.64) | 61.9 (0.88) |
| 2015 | | 15.8 (0.58) | 19.5 (0.68) | 65.7 (0.81) |
| 2016 | | 14.7 (0.71) | 21.9 (0.79) | 64.7 (0.88) |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table IV. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by poverty status and selected years: United States, 1997–2016

| P | Poverty status ¹ and year | Uninsured ² at time of interview | Public health plan coverage³ | Private health insurance coverage ⁴ |
|--------|--------------------------------------|---|---------------------------------|---|
| | Poor (< 100% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | | 32.7 (0.80) | 46.1 (1.01) | 22.9 (0.93) |
| 2005 | | 28.4 (0.78) | 50.6 (0.98) | 22.1 (0.89) |
| 2010 | | 29.5 (0.83) | 56.0 (0.98) | 15.5 (0.70) |
| 2011 | | 28.2 (0.66) | 56.2 (0.82) | 16.6 (0.77) |
| 2012 | | 28.3 (0.65) | 57.1 (0.83) | 16.1 (0.83) |
| 2013 | | 27.3 (0.68) | 59.0 (0.81) | 14.7 (0.72) |
| 2014 | | 22.3 (0.66) | 62.1 (0.80) | 16.6 (0.69) |
| 2015 | | 17.2 (0.63) | 65.6 (0.87) | 18.5 (0.78) |
| 2016 | | 18.7 (0.94) | 66.8 (1.01) | 16.2 (0.71) |
| Near p | oor (≥ 100% and < 200% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | | 30.4 (0.70) | 18.2 (0.56) | 53.5 (0.80) |
| 2005 | | 28.6 (0.63) | 30.0 (0.72) | 43.2 (0.89) |
| 2010 | | 32.3 (0.69) | 36.2 (0.63) | 33.2 (0.77) |
| 2011 | | 30.4 (0.58) | 37.7 (0.73) | 33.5 (0.75) |
| 2012 | | 29.5 (0.56) | 37.1 (0.66) | 35.2 (0.75) |
| 2013 | | 29.3 (0.70) | 39.1 (0.77) | 33.4 (0.79) |
| 2014 | | 23.5 (0.60) | 41.1 (0.74) | 37.3 (0.81) |
| 2015 | | 18.2 (0.51) | 45.1 (0.77) | 39.1 (0.77) |
| 2016 | | 17.6 (0.63) | 49.2 (0.89) | 35.4 (0.85) |
| | Not poor (≥ 200% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | | 8.9 (0.22) | 5.3 (0.19) | 87.6 (0.27) |
| 2005 | | 9.1 (0.22) | 7.4 (0.22) | 84.7 (0.30) |
| 2010 | | 10.7 (0.24) | 9.7 (0.28) | 81.0 (0.36) |
| 2011 | | 10.1 (0.25) | 9.9 (0.26) | 81.4 (0.36) |
| 2012 | | 9.8 (0.23) | 10.3 (0.33) | 81.3 (0.39) |
| 2013 | | 9.6 (0.24) | 10.5 (0.29) | 81.2 (0.39) |
| 2014 | | 7.6 (0.20) | 9.9 (0.28) | 83.7 (0.36) |
| 2015 | | 6.6 (0.19) | 10.6 (0.31) | 84.1 (0.38) |
| 2016 | | 6.4 (0.23) | 11.2 (0.21) | 83.9 (0.32) |
| | Unknown | | | |
| 1997 | | 21.6 (0.59) | 13.2 (0.49) | 66.7 (0.71) |
| 2005 | | 18.5 (0.48) | 16.4 (0.48) | 66.2 (0.68) |
| 2010 | | 22.7 (0.95) | 21.0 (0.69) | 57.3 (1.08) |
| 2011 | | 21.0 (0.64) | 26.2 (0.95) | 53.9 (1.09) |
| 2012 | | 20.4 (0.73) | 28.8 (0.89) | 52.1 (1.00) |
| 2013 | | 20.5 (0.76) | 24.2 (0.94) | 56.8 (1.24) |
| 2014 | | 15.0 (0.80) | 22.2 (0.91) | 64.1 (1.24) |
| 2015 | | 11.9 (0.80) | 24.4 (1.16) | 64.9 (1.20) |
| 2016 | | 13.2 (1.01) | 27.0 (1.04) | 61.6 (1.26) |

¹FPL is federal poverty level, based on family income and family size, using the U.S. Census Bureau's poverty thresholds. "Poor" persons are defined as those with incomes below the poverty threshold; "Near poor" persons have incomes of 100% to less than 200% of the poverty threshold; and "Not poor" persons have incomes of 200% of the poverty threshold; or greater. For more information on the "Unknown" poverty status category, see Technical Notes. Estimates may differ from estimates that are based on both reported and imputed income.

²A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan at the time of interview. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

³Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table V. Percentages (and standard errors) of adults aged 18–64 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by poverty status and selected years: United States, 1997–2016

| Poverty status ¹ and year | Uninsured ² at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ³ | Private health insurance coverage⁴ |
|---|---|---|---------------------------------------|
| Poor (< 100% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | 40.2 (0.88) | 34.3 (0.93) | 26.8 (1.09) |
| 2005 | 38.5 (0.95) | 35.6 (0.98) | 26.8 (1.03) |
| 2010 | 42.2 (0.99) | 38.8 (0.97) | 19.6 (0.89) |
| 2011 | 40.1 (0.92) | 39.6 (0.93) | 21.2 (1.02) |
| 2012 | 40.1 (0.90) | 40.8 (0.94) | 20.2 (1.09) |
| 2013 | 39.3 (1.00) | 42.4 (0.95) | 19.0 (0.97) |
| 2014 | 32.3 (0.93) | 46.6 (0.95) | 21.9 (0.92) |
| 2015 | 25.2 (0.90) | 51.7 (1.08) | 24.3 (1.04) |
| 2016 | 26.2 (1.31) | 53.7 (1.29) | 21.6 (0.92) |
| Near poor (\geq 100% and < 200% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | 34.9 (0.71) | 14.6 (0.51) | 52.6 (0.76) |
| 2005 | 36.6 (0.73) | 20.0 (0.61) | 45.0 (0.85) |
| 2010 | 43.0 (0.74) | 23.7 (0.55) | 34.7 (0.74) |
| 2011 | 40.1 (0.72) | 25.9 (0.69) | 35.4 (0.75) |
| 2012 | 39.2 (0.68) | 25.2 (0.57) | 37.2 (0.74) |
| 2013 | 38.5 (0.84) | 26.6 (0.78) | 36.4 (0.78) |
| 2014 | 30.9 (0.72) | 29.6 (0.76) | 41.2 (0.81) |
| 2015 | 24.1 (0.62) | 34.2 (0.80) | 43.8 (0.79) |
| 2016 | 23.2 (0.76) | 38.5 (0.91) | 40.3 (0.95) |
| Not poor (≥ 200% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | 9.9 (0.22) | 5.0 (0.18) | 87.1 (0.26) |
| 2005 | 10.7 (0.24) | 6.2 (0.20) | 84.4 (0.29) |
| 2010 | 12.6 (0.27) | 8.1 (0.27) | 80.8 (0.36) |
| 2011 | 12.0 (0.28) | 8.3 (0.23) | 81.1 (0.35) |
| 2012 | 11.4 (0.26) | 8.7 (0.29) | 81.3 (0.38) |
| 2013 | 11.4 (0.27) | 8.9 (0.26) | 81.2 (0.37) |
| 2014 | 8.9 (0.23) | 8.5 (0.26) | 83.9 (0.35) |
| 2015 | 7.6 (0.22) | 9.1 (0.27) | 84.7 (0.33) |
| 2016 | 7.2 (0.25) | 9.6 (0.22) | 84.6 (0.29) |
| Unknown | | | |
| 1997 | 22.9 (0.58) | 10.1 (0.41) | 68.6 (0.65) |
| 2005 | 21.2 (0.52) | 11.3 (0.36) | 68.7 (0.61) |
| 2010 | 27.1 (1.10) | 15.6 (0.63) | 58.4 (1.11) |
| 2011 | 25.6 (0.77) | 17.6 (0.73) | 58.1 (0.96) |
| 2012 | 25.7 (0.88) | 18.9 (0.76) | 56.9 (0.92) |
| 2013 | 24.3 (0.87) | 17.6 (0.77) | 59.5 (1.11) |
| 2014 | 17.2 (0.88) | 17.2 (0.81) | 67.0 (1.20) |
| 2015 | 13.8 (0.82) | 19.6 (0.94) | 67.7 (1.09) |
| 2016 | 14.6 (0.90) | 21.6 (0.91) | 65.6 (1.03) |

¹FPL is federal poverty level, based on family income and family size, using the U.S. Census Bureau's poverty thresholds. "Poor" persons are defined as those with incomes below the poverty threshold; "Near poor" persons have incomes of 100% to less than 200% of the poverty threshold; and "Not poor" persons have incomes of 200% of the poverty threshold or greater. For more information on the "Unknown" poverty status category, see Technical Notes. Estimates may differ from estimates that are based on both reported and imputed income.

²A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan at the time of interview. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

³Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table VI. Percentages (and standard errors) of children aged 0–17 years who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by poverty status and selected years: United States, 1997–2016

| | Poverty status ¹ and year | Uninsured ² at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ³ | Private health insurance coverage⁴ |
|------|--------------------------------------|---|---|---------------------------------------|
| | Poor (< 100% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | | 22.4 (0.99) | 62.1 (1.31) | 17.5 (1.09) |
| 2005 | | 13.0 (0.92) | 73.3 (1.32) | 15.0 (1.10) |
| 2010 | | 10.2 (0.96) | 82.0 (1.22) | 9.2 (0.70) |
| 2011 | | 8.1 (0.62) | 84.4 (0.87) | 8.9 (0.72) |
| 2012 | | 7.5 (0.58) | 85.9 (0.80) | 8.8 (0.78) |
| 2013 | | 7.8 (0.62) | 86.1 (0.88) | 7.7 (0.69) |
| 2014 | | 5.9 (0.52) | 87.3 (0.72) | 8.0 (0.62) |
| 2015 | | 4.4 (0.47) | 87.9 (0.86) | 9.1 (0.81) |
| 2016 | | 6.5 (0.70) | 88.0 (0.97) | 7.4 (0.71) |
| Near | poor (≥ 100% and < 200% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | | 22.8 (0.96) | 24.3 (0.93) | 55.0 (1.15) |
| 2005 | | 14.7 (0.79) | 47.3 (1.21) | 40.0 (1.31) |
| 2010 | | 12.6 (0.73) | 59.2 (1.16) | 30.5 (1.18) |
| 2011 | | 11.5 (0.69) | 60.8 (1.17) | 29.9 (1.07) |
| 2012 | | 10.1 (0.70) | 61.0 (1.30) | 31.1 (1.18) |
| 2013 | | 10.6 (0.72) | 64.4 (1.16) | 27.3 (1.17) |
| 2014 | | 8.6 (0.65) | 64.3 (1.23) | 29.4 (1.19) |
| 2015 | | 6.7 (0.59) | 66.4 (1.17) | 29.8 (1.14) |
| 2016 | | 6.9 (0.62) | 69.9 (1.11) | 26.0 (1.01) |
| | Not poor (≥ 200% FPL) | | | |
| 1997 | | 6.1 (0.33) | 6.3 (0.32) | 88.9 (0.43) |
| 2005 | | 4.6 (0.30) | 10.7 (0.47) | 85.6 (0.52) |
| 2010 | | 4.6 (0.29) | 14.9 (0.57) | 81.4 (0.61) |
| 2011 | | 4.0 (0.27) | 15.0 (0.55) | 82.1 (0.58) |
| 2012 | | 4.5 (0.31) | 15.2 (0.62) | 81.3 (0.64) |
| 2013 | | 4.0 (0.28) | 15.6 (0.62) | 81.2 (0.65) |
| 2014 | | 3.6 (0.28) | 14.4 (0.56) | 83.1 (0.58) |
| 2015 | | 3.3 (0.26) | 15.5 (0.69) | 82.1 (0.74) |
| 2016 | | 3.5 (0.27) | 16.5 (0.52) | 81.5 (0.58) |
| | Unknown | | | |
| 1997 | | 18.3 (0.90) | 21.4 (0.97) | 61.7 (1.18) |
| 2005 | | 11.0 (0.66) | 30.8 (1.05) | 59.3 (1.16) |
| 2010 | | 8.8 (0.89) | 38.1 (1.71) | 53.7 (1.74) |
| 2011 | | 10.4 (0.76) | 45.9 (1.70) | 44.5 (1.66) |
| 2012 | | 8.2 (0.77) | 51.8 (1.50) | 41.2 (1.49) |
| 2013 | | 9.2 (1.00) | 43.7 (2.16) | 48.6 (2.20) |
| 2014 | | 8.0 (1.41) | 37.9 (2.01) | 54.8 (2.05) |
| 2015 | | 6.3 (1.36) | 37.9 (2.33) | 56.6 (2.24) |
| 2016 | | 8.9 (2.13) | 43.6 (2.36) | 49.3 (2.86) |

¹FPL is federal poverty level, based on family income and family size, using the U.S. Census Bureau's poverty thresholds. "Poor" persons are defined as those with incomes below the poverty threshold; "Near poor" persons have incomes of 100% to less than 200% of the poverty threshold; and "Not poor" persons have incomes of 200% of the poverty threshold or greater. For more information on the "Unknown" poverty status category, see Technical Notes. Estimates may differ from estimates that are based on both reported and imputed income.

²A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicarid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan at the time of interview. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

³Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

| Age group and sex | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|-------------------|---|---|---|
| Age group (years) | | | |
| All ages | 9.0 (0.27) | 36.8 (0.36) | 62.5 (0.44) |
| Under age 65 | 10.4 (0.31) | 26.3 (0.41) | 65.0 (0.48) |
| 0–17 | 5.1 (0.31) | 43.0 (0.65) | 53.8 (0.71) |
| 18–64 | 12.4 (0.36) | 20.0 (0.38) | 69.2 (0.41) |
| 18–24 | 13.7 (0.58) | 23.4 (0.76) | 64.1 (0.82) |
| 25–34 | 16.5 (0.50) | 19.8 (0.59) | 64.6 (0.59) |
| 35–44 | 14.4 (0.56) | 16.6 (0.57) | 69.9 (0.64) |
| 45–64 | 8.9 (0.32) | 20.4 (0.43) | 73.0 (0.45) |
| 65 and over | 0.8 (0.10) | 95.9 (0.22) | 48.3 (0.91) |
| 19–25 | 14.7 (0.71) | 21.9 (0.79) | 64.7 (0.88) |
| Sex | | | |
| Male | | | |
| Allages | 10.2 (0.30) | 34.4 (0.37) | 63.0 (0.41) |
| Under age 65 | 11.8 (0.34) | 24.6 (0.40) | 65.4 (0.46) |
| 0–17 | 5.0 (0.31) | 42.9 (0.67) | 54.1 (0.76) |
| 18–64 | 14.4 (0.42) | 17.4 (0.38) | 69.8 (0.41) |
| 18–24 | 16.1 (0.70) | 18.6 (0.76) | 66.5 (0.92) |
| 25–34 | 20.0 (0.59) | 15.1 (0.64) | 65.8 (0.66) |
| 35–44 | 16.9 (0.75) | 13.9 (0.64) | 70.0 (0.83) |
| 45-64 | 9.7 (0.43) | 19.7 (0.52) | 72.9 (0.51) |
| 65 and over | 0.7 (0.12) | 95.3 (0.33) | 48.7 (0.94) |
| 19–25 | 17.3 (0.77) | 16.4 (0.77) | 67.6 (0.94) |
| Female | | | |
| All ages | 7.7 (0.28) | 39.1 (0.43) | 61.9 (0.52) |
| Under age 65 | 9.1 (0.33) | 27.9 (0.49) | 64.6 (0.55) |
| 0–17 | 5.3 (0.40) | 43.0 (0.77) | 53.6 (0.86) |
| 18–64 | 10.5 (0.36) | 22.5 (0.45) | 68.6 (0.48) |
| 18–24 | 11.3 (0.80) | 28.1 (1.04) | 61.8 (1.18) |
| 25–34 | 13.2 (0.57) | 24.4 (0.83) | 63.4 (0.86) |
| 35–44 | 12.1 (0.54) | 19.2 (0.68) | 69.8 (0.80) |
| 45–64 | 8.1 (0.30) | 21.1 (0.49) | 73.1 (0.52) |
| 65 and over | 0.8 (0.13) | 96.4 (0.21) | 48.0 (1.00) |
| 19–25 | 12.1 (0.92) | 27.4 (1.08) | 61.9 (1.28) |

Table VII. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and sex: United States, 2016

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan at the time of interview. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2016, Family Core component.

Table VIII. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by race and ethnicity and year: United States, 2010–2016

| | Race and ethnicity and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|------|--|---|---|---|
| | Hispanic or Latino | | | |
| 2010 | | 31.9 (0.72) | 32.0 (0.78) | 36.6 (0.81) |
| 2011 | | 31.1 (0.68) | 33.6 (0.74) | 36.1 (0.82) |
| 2012 | | 30.4 (0.71) | 34.0 (0.71) | 36.4 (0.74) |
| 2013 | | 30.3 (0.66) | 33.4 (0.62) | 37.0 (0.76) |
| 2014 | | 25.2 (0.59) | 34.6 (0.78) | 41.2 (0.89) |
| 2015 | | 20.8 (0.56) | 36.2 (0.84) | 43.8 (0.81) |
| 2016 | | 19.3 (0.93) | 37.1 (1.02) | 44.9 (1.02) |
| | Non-Hispanic white, single race | | | |
| 2010 | | 13.7 (0.30) | 16.4 (0.42) | 71.4 (0.57) |
| 2011 | | 13.0 (0.32) | 17.1 (0.39) | 71.4 (0.55) |
| 2012 | | 12.7 (0.28) | 17.3 (0.39) | 71.5 (0.51) |
| 2013 | | 12.1 (0.29) | 17.9 (0.38) | 71.6 (0.53) |
| 2014 | | 9.8 (0.25) | 18.1 (0.41) | 73.6 (0.50) |
| 2015 | | 7.4 (0.21) | 18.9 (0.48) | 75.4 (0.54) |
| 2016 | | 7.5 (0.24) | 19.8 (0.40) | 74.5 (0.42) |
| | Non-Hispanic black, single race | | | |
| 2010 | | 20.8 (0.63) | 36.3 (0.79) | 44.6 (0.84) |
| 2011 | | 19.0 (0.51) | 36.9 (0.83) | 45.6 (0.85) |
| 2012 | | 17.9 (0.50) | 38.2 (0.77) | 45.4 (0.79) |
| 2013 | | 18.9 (0.51) | 37.5 (0.92) | 44.9 (1.01) |
| 2014 | | 13.5 (0.49) | 40.3 (0.76) | 47.7 (0.86) |
| 2015 | | 11.2 (0.48) | 39.2 (1.01) | 51.3 (1.02) |
| 2016 | | 11.7 (0.55) | 40.0 (1.18) | 50.1 (1.04) |
| | Non-Hispanic Asian, single race | | | |
| 2010 | | 16.8 (0.76) | 14.9 (0.98) | 69.1 (1.17) |
| 2011 | | 16.0 (0.89) | 17.6 (1.14) | 67.0 (1.40) |
| 2012 | | 16.4 (0.93) | 16.6 (0.85) | 67.5 (1.24) |
| 2013 | | 13.8 (0.81) | 17.5 (1.00) | 69.4 (1.27) |
| 2014 | | 10.6 (0.61) | 16.7 (0.86) | 73.4 (1.01) |
| 2015 | | 6.7 (0.51) | 18.0 (1.34) | 75.9 (1.44) |
| 2016 | | 6.3 (0.60) | 18.9 (1.26) | 75.3 (1.18) |
| Non- | Hispanic, other races and multiple races | | | |
| 2010 | | 22.4 (4.83) | 30.3 (2.14) | 48.7 (3.83) |
| 2011 | | 19.1 (1.78) | 32.5 (1.60) | 50.6 (1.89) |
| 2012 | | 16.4 (1.33) | 35.8 (1.77) | 50.8 (2.16) |
| 2013 | | 16.0 (1.17) | 35.9 (1.75) | 50.1 (1.97) |
| 2014 | | 12.8 (1.30) | 36.2 (1.69) | 52.7 (2.01) |
| 2015 | | 11.1 (1.00) | 37.0 (1.86) | 53.7 (1.99) |
| 2016 | | 12.6 (0.97) | 37.3 (1.87) | 52.7 (2.04) |
| | | | | |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table IX. Percentages (and standard errors) of adults aged 18–64 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by race and ethnicity and year: United States, 2010–2016

| Hispanic or Latino 43.2 (0.91) 16.3 (0.64) 41.1 (0.85) 2010 43.2 (0.89) 18.1 (0.63) 40.3 (0.82) 2012 41.3 (0.89) 19.0 (0.64) 40.4 (0.73) 2013 40.6 (0.88) 18.0 (0.62) 42.1 (0.70) 2014 33.7 (0.76) 20.6 (0.73) 46.4 (0.86) 2015 27.7 (0.72) 23.0 (0.84) 50.0 (0.85) 2016 25.0 (1.20) 24.9 (1.15) 51.4 (1.08) Non-Hispanic white, single race 2010 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 72.5 (0.48) 2011 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 72.5 (0.42) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 72.7 (0.46) 2013 14.5 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 72.7 (0.47) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 75.3 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 77.3 (0.47) 2016 20.2 (0.55) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2011 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 | | Race and ethnicity and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ | |
|--|--|---|---|---|---|-------------|
| 2010 43.2 (0.91) 16.3 (0.64) 41.1 (0.85) 2011 42.2 (0.89) 18.1 (0.63) 40.3 (0.82) 2012 41.3 (0.89) 19.0 (0.64) 40.4 (0.73) 2013 40.6 (0.88) 18.0 (0.62) 42.1 (0.70) 2014 33.7 (0.76) 22.6 (0.73) 46.4 (0.86) 2015 27.7 (0.72) 23.0 (0.84) 50.0 (0.85) 2016 25.0 (1.20) 24.9 (1.15) 51.4 (1.08) 2011 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 7.2 (0.46) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 7.27 (0.49) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 7.5 (0.47) 2015 8.6 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.7 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.7 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.7 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.6 (0.38) 2012 2.6 (5.7) 5.5 (0.79) 5.0 (0.7) 2014 12.6 (0.75) 5.0 5 (0.79) 2012 | | Hispanic or Latino | | | | |
| 2011 42.2 (0.89) 18.1 (0.63) 40.3 (0.82) 2012 41.3 (0.89) 19.0 (0.61) 40.4 (0.73) 2013 40.6 (0.88) 18.0 (0.62) 42.1 (0.70) 2014 33.7 (0.76) 20.6 (0.73) 46.4 (0.86) 2015 22.7 (0.72) 23.0 (0.84) 50.0 (0.85) 2016 23.0 (0.82) 24.1 (0.72) 23.0 (0.84) 2017 15.5 (0.35) 12.8 (0.34) 7.2 (0.52) 2011 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 7.2 (0.46) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 7.2 (0.49) 2014 14.6 (0.35) 15.7 (0.42) 7.7 (0.49) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.7 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 7.0 (0.47) 2011 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 5.9 (0.7) 2012 25.0 (0.61) 27.0 (0.7) 5.0 (0.7) 2012 25.0 (0.61) 27.0 (0.8) 5.0 (0.7) 2012 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 5.9 (0.7) 2014 24.9 (0.62) 26.0 (0.80) 0.0 (0.91) | 2010 | • | 43.2 (0.91) | 16.3 (0.64) | 41.1 (0.85) | |
| 2012 41,3 (0.89) 190 (0.64) 40.4 (0.73) 2013 40.6 (0.88) 180 (0.62) 42.1 (0.70) 2014 33.7 (0.76) 20.6 (0.73) 46.4 (0.86) 2015 27.7 (0.72) 23.0 (0.84) 50.0 (0.85) 2016 25.0 (1.20) 24.9 (1.5) 51.4 (1.08) Mon-Hispanic white, single race V 2010 16.4 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 7.2.7 (0.49) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 7.2.7 (0.49) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 7.5 (0.47) 2015 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.38) 7.7 (0.49) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 7.6 (0.60) 2017 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2018 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 7.6 (0.60) 20.7 (0.75 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 20.8 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 20.8 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2.8 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) | 2011 | | 42.2 (0.89) | 18.1 (0.63) | 40.3 (0.82) | |
| 2013 40.6 (0.88) 18.0 (0.62) 42.1 (0.70) 2014 33.7 (0.76) 20.6 (0.73) 464 (0.86) 2015 27.7 (0.72) 23.0 (0.84) 50.0 (0.85) 2016 25.0 (1.20) 24.9 (1.15) 51.4 (1.08) 2017 23.0 (0.84) 72.2 (0.52) 2011 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 72.7 (0.46) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 72.7 (0.49) 2013 14.5 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 72.7 (0.49) 2014 16.0 (2.9) 14.6 (0.36) 73.3 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 77.3 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 76.6 (0.38) Non-Hispanic black, single race 27.2 (0.75) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2014 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 23.6 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 58.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) <td>2012</td> <td></td> <td>41.3 (0.89)</td> <td>19.0 (0.64)</td> <td>40.4 (0.73)</td> | 2012 | | 41.3 (0.89) | 19.0 (0.64) | 40.4 (0.73) | |
| 2014 33,7 (0,76) 20,6 (0,73) 46,4 (0,86) 2015 23,0 (0,84) 50,0 (0,85) 2016 23,0 (1,20) 24,9 (1,15) 51,4 (1,08) Non-Hispanic white, single race 2010 15,6 (0,35) 13,4 (0,31) 72,5 (0,48) 2011 15,6 (0,35) 13,4 (0,31) 72,7 (0,49) 2012 15,1 (0,31) 13,7 (0,33) 72,7 (0,49) 2014 11,6 (0,29) 14,6 (0,36) 73,3 (0,47) 2015 8,7 (0,25) 15,7 (0,42) 73,3 (0,47) 2016 8,6 (0,25) 16,6 (0,34) 76,6 (0,38) Non-Hispanic black, single race Non-Hispanic black, single race Non-Hispanic black, single race V V Non-Hispanic black, single race V V <td cols<="" td=""><td>2013</td><td></td><td>40.6 (0.88)</td><td>18.0 (0.62)</td><td>42.1 (0.70)</td></td> | <td>2013</td> <td></td> <td>40.6 (0.88)</td> <td>18.0 (0.62)</td> <td>42.1 (0.70)</td> | 2013 | | 40.6 (0.88) | 18.0 (0.62) | 42.1 (0.70) |
| 2015 27,7 (0,72) 23,0 (0,84) 50,0 (0,85) 2016 25,0 (1,20) 24,9 (1,15) 51,4 (1,08) 2010 16,4 (0,35) 12,8 (0,34) 7,2,2 (0,52) 2011 15,6 (0,35) 13,4 (0,31) 7,2,7 (0,46) 2012 15,1 (0,31) 13,7 (0,33) 7,2,7 (0,49) 2013 14,5 (0,34) 14,4 (0,32) 7,7,3 (0,47) 2015 8,7 (0,25) 15,7 (0,42) 7,7 (3,047) 2016 8,7 (0,25) 15,7 (0,42) 7,7 (3,047) 2017 24,8 (0,65) 25,3 (0,70) 49,3 (0,81) 2018 27,2 (0,75) 25,3 (0,70) 49,3 (0,81) 2019 24,8 (0,65) 26,2 (0,75) 50,5 (0,79) 2012 24,6 (0,61) 27,0 (0,68) 50,0 (0,9) 2013 24,9 (0,62) 26,6 (0,80) 50,0 (0,9) 2014 17,7 (0,60) 35,0 (0,73) 53,4 (0,84) 2015 14,4 (0,57) 29,7 (0,84) 57,8 (0,90) 2016 15,0 (0,62) 11,2 (0,72) 70,2 (1,05) 2014 15,0 (0,62) 13,6 (0,87) 68,0 (1,27) | 2014 | | 33.7 (0.76) | 20.6 (0.73) | 46.4 (0.86) | |
| 2016 25.0 (1.20) 24.9 (1.15) 51.4 (1.08) Non-Hispanic white, single race | 2015 | | 27.7 (0.72) | 23.0 (0.84) | 50.0 (0.85) | |
| Non-Hispanic white, single race 12.8 (0.34) 7.2.2 (0.52) 2010 16.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 7.2.5 (0.48) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 7.2.7 (0.46) 2013 14.5 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 7.2.7 (0.49) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 7.5.3 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.7.3 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 15.6 (0.34) 7.6 (0.38) 2017 24.8 (0.65) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2018 24.8 (0.65) 25.6 (0.75) 5.5 (0.79) 2012 24.8 (0.65) 26.6 (0.80) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.9 (0.91) 2014 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.9 (0.91) 2014 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.8 (0.75) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 2016 12.0 (0.7) 68.0 (1.27) 68.0 (1.27) <td>2016</td> <td></td> <td>25.0 (1.20)</td> <td>24.9 (1.15)</td> <td>51.4 (1.08)</td> | 2016 | | 25.0 (1.20) | 24.9 (1.15) | 51.4 (1.08) | |
| 2010 16.4 (0.35) 12.8 (0.34) 72.2 (0.52) 2011 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 72.5 (0.48) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 72.7 (0.46) 2013 14.5 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 72.7 (0.46) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 75.3 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 77.3 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 76.6 (0.38) Non-Hispanic black, single race 2010 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 23.6 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 2016 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.66) 56.7 (0.95) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 2016 19.5 (0.92) 11.2 (0.72) 70.2 (1.05) 2014 19. | | Non-Hispanic white, single race | | | | |
| 2011 15.6 (0.35) 13.4 (0.31) 7.2 5 (0.48) 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 7.27 (0.46) 2013 14.6 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 7.27 (0.49) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 75.3 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 77.3 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 15.6 (0.34) 76.6 (0.38) Non-Hispanic black, single race 2010 27.2 (0.75) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2011 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 23.6 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 2016 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.06) 56.7 (0.95) 2011 18.8 (0.96) 13.6 (0.87) 68.0 (1.27) 2012 19.1 (0.92) 13.2 (0.83) 68.2 (1.15) 2013 16 | 2010 | | 16.4 (0.35) | 12.8 (0.34) | 72.2 (0.52) | |
| 2012 15.1 (0.31) 13.7 (0.33) 7.27 (0.46) 2013 14.5 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 7.27 (0.49) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 7.53 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.73 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 7.73 (0.47) 2017 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 20.66 (0.38) 2011 24.8 (0.65) 25.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 23.6 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.66) 56.7 (0.95) 2016 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.66) 56.7 (0.95) 2011 18.8 (0.96) 13.5 (0.87) 68.0 (1.27) 2012 19.1 (0.92) 13.2 (0.83) 68.2 (1.15) 2013 16.3 (0.88) 14.1 (0.91) 70.4 (1.28) 2014 12.5 (0.65) 13.7 (0.84) 74.5 (1.01) <td>2011</td> <td></td> <td>15.6 (0.35)</td> <td>13.4 (0.31)</td> <td>72.5 (0.48)</td> | 2011 | | 15.6 (0.35) | 13.4 (0.31) | 72.5 (0.48) | |
| 2013 14.5 (0.34) 14.4 (0.32) 72.7 (0.49) 2014 11.6 (0.29) 14.6 (0.36) 75.3 (0.47) 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 77.3 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 76.6 (0.38) Non-Hispanic black, single race 2010 27.2 (0.75) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2011 23.6 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 2016 15.7 (0.49) 57.8 (0.90) 20.6 (0.87) 58.4 (0.90) 2016 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 20.6 (0.82) | 2012 | | 15.1 (0.31) | 13.7 (0.33) | 72.7 (0.46) | |
| 201411.6 (0.29)14.6 (0.36)75.3 (0.47)2015.8.7 (0.25).15.7 (0.42).77.3 (0.47)2016.8.6 (0.25).16.6 (0.34).76.6 (0.38)Non-Hispanic black, single race2010.27.2 (0.75).25.3 (0.70).49.3 (0.81)2011.24.8 (0.65).26.2 (0.75).50.5 (0.79)2012.23.6 (0.61).27.0 (0.68).50.8 (0.75)2013.24.9 (0.62).26.6 (0.80).50.0 (0.91)2014.17.7 (0.60).30.5 (0.73).53.4 (0.84)2015.14.4 (0.57).29.7 (0.84).57.8 (0.90)2016.50.0 (0.2).29.9 (1.66).57.8 (0.90)2017.15.0 (0.62).29.9 (1.66).57.8 (0.90)2018.15.0 (0.62).29.9 (1.66).57.8 (0.90)2019.19.2 (0.72).70.2 (1.05).57.8 (0.90)2011.18.8 (0.96).13.6 (0.87).68.0 (1.27)2012.19.1 (0.92).13.2 (0.83).68.2 (1.15)2013.16.3 (0.88).14.1 (0.91).70.4 (1.28)2014.25 (0.65).13.7 (0.84).74.5 (1.01)2015.79 (0.58).15.5 (1.16).72.2 (1.27)2016.27.9 (0.58).15.5 (1.16).72.2 (1.27)2017.26.8 (5.76).20.6 (1.94).48.5 (4.77)2018.29.9 (1.78).26.1 (1.62).20.0 (2.24)2019.29.8 (1.64).25.2 (1.51).56.9 (1.88)2010.28.8 (5.76).26.8 (1.84).16.6 (2.26)2011.27.1 (2.01 | 2013 | | 14.5 (0.34) | 14.4 (0.32) | 72.7 (0.49) | |
| 2015 8.7 (0.25) 15.7 (0.42) 77.3 (0.47) 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 76.6 (0.38) Non-Hispanic black, single race 77.2 (0.75) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2011 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 23.6 (0.61) 27.7 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.9 (1.66) 56.7 (0.95) 2016 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.66) 56.7 (0.95) 2011 18.8 (0.96) 13.6 (0.87) 68.0 (1.27) 2012 19.1 (0.92) 13.2 (0.83) 68.2 (1.15) 2013 16.3 (0.88) 14.1 (0.91) 70.4 (1.28) 2014 12.5 (0.65) 13.7 (0.84) 74.5 (1.01) 2015 7.9 (0.58) 15.5 (1.16) 77.2 (1.27) 2016 7.5 (0.67) 16.2 (1.9) 76.8 (1.07) 2015 7.9 (0.58) 15.5 (1.16) 77 | 2014 | | 11.6 (0.29) | 14.6 (0.36) | 75.3 (0.47) | |
| 2016 8.6 (0.25) 16.6 (0.34) 76.6 (0.38) Non-Hispanic black, single race 2010 27.2 (0.75) 25.3 (0.70) 49.3 (0.81) 2011 24.8 (0.65) 26.2 (0.75) 50.5 (0.79) 2012 23.6 (0.61) 27.0 (0.68) 50.8 (0.75) 2013 24.9 (0.62) 26.6 (0.80) 50.0 (0.91) 2014 17.7 (0.60) 30.5 (0.73) 53.4 (0.84) 2015 14.4 (0.57) 29.7 (0.84) 57.8 (0.90) 2016 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.06) 56.7 (0.95) 2011 18.8 (0.96) 13.6 (0.87) 68.0 (1.27) 2012 19.1 (0.92) 13.2 (0.83) 68.2 (1.15) 2013 16.3 (0.88) 14.1 (0.91) 70.4 (1.28) 2014 12.5 (0.65) 13.7 (0.84) 74.5 (1.01) 2015 79.0 (0.58) 15.5 (1.16) 77.2 (1.27) 2016 79.0 (0.58) 15.5 (1.16) 77.2 (1.27) 2016 79.0 (0.58) 15.5 (1.16) 77.2 (1.27) 2016 79.0 (0.58) 15.5 | 2015 | | 8.7 (0.25) | 15.7 (0.42) | 77.3 (0.47) | |
| Non-Hispanic black, single race 2 2010 27,2 (0,75) 25,3 (0,70) 49,3 (0,81) 2011 24,8 (0,65) 26,2 (0,75) 50,5 (0,79) 2012 23,6 (0,61) 27,0 (0,68) 50,8 (0,75) 2013 24,9 (0,62) 26,6 (0,80) 50,0 (0,91) 2014 17,7 (0,60) 30,5 (0,73) 53,4 (0,84) 2015 29,7 (0,84) 57,8 (0,90) 56,7 (0,95) 2016 15,0 (0,62) 29,9 (1,06) 56,7 (0,95) 2017 15,0 (0,62) 29,9 (1,06) 56,7 (0,95) 2018 14,0 (0,57) 29,9 (1,06) 56,7 (0,95) 2019 18,8 (0,96) 13,6 (0,87) 68,0 (1,27) 2011 18,8 (0,96) 13,6 (0,87) 68,2 (1,15) 2012 19,1 (0,92) 13,2 (0,83) 68,2 (1,15) 2013 16,3 (0,88) 14,1 (0,91) 70,4 (1,28) 2014 12,5 (0,65) 13,7 (0,84) 74,5 (1,01) 2015 75,0 (6,7) 16,2 (1,19) 76,8 (1,07) 2016 | 2016 | | 8.6 (0.25) | 16.6 (0.34) | 76.6 (0.38) | |
| 201027.2 (0.75)25.3 (0.70)49.3 (0.81)201124.8 (0.65)26.2 (0.75)50.5 (0.79)201223.6 (0.61)27.0 (0.68)50.8 (0.75)201324.9 (0.62)26.6 (0.80)50.0 (0.91)201417.7 (0.60)30.5 (0.73)53.4 (0.84)201514.4 (0.57)29.7 (0.84)57.8 (0.90)201615.0 (0.62)29.9 (1.06)56.7 (0.95)Non-Hispanic Asian, single raceV201019.5 (0.92)11.2 (0.72)70.2 (1.05)201118.8 (0.96)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | | Non-Hispanic black, single race | | | | |
| 201124.8 (0.65)26.2 (0.75)50.5 (0.79)201223.6 (0.61)27.0 (0.68)50.8 (0.75)201324.9 (0.62)26.6 (0.80)50.0 (0.91)201417.7 (0.60)30.5 (0.73)53.4 (0.84)201514.4 (0.57)29.7 (0.84)57.8 (0.90)201615.0 (0.62)29.9 (1.06)56.7 (0.95)Non-Hispanic Asian, single race201019.5 (0.92)11.2 (0.72)70.2 (1.05)201119.5 (0.92)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)201720.6(7)16.2 (1.19)70.4 (1.28)201820.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201927.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201427.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201520.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)20.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) <td>2010</td> <td></td> <td>27.2 (0.75)</td> <td>25.3 (0.70)</td> <td>49.3 (0.81)</td> | 2010 | | 27.2 (0.75) | 25.3 (0.70) | 49.3 (0.81) | |
| 201223.6 (0.61)27.0 (0.68)50.8 (0.75)201324.9 (0.62)26.6 (0.80)50.0 (0.91)201417.7 (0.60)30.5 (0.73)53.4 (0.84)201514.4 (0.57)29.7 (0.84)57.8 (0.90)201615.0 (0.62)29.9 (1.06)56.7 (0.95)Non-Hispanic Asian, single race201019.5 (0.92)11.2 (0.72)70.2 (1.05)201118.8 (0.96)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)201721.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201822.1 (2.17)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201923.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201123.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201223.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201323.8 (1.66)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (1.88)201516.1 (1.42)20.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201619.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201423.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201516.1 (1.42)20.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) <td>2011</td> <td></td> <td>24.8 (0.65)</td> <td>26.2 (0.75)</td> <td>50.5 (0.79)</td> | 2011 | | 24.8 (0.65) | 26.2 (0.75) | 50.5 (0.79) | |
| 201324.9 (0.62)26.6 (0.80)50.0 (0.91)201417.7 (0.60)30.5 (0.73)53.4 (0.84)201514.4 (0.57)29.7 (0.84)57.8 (0.90)201615.0 (0.62)29.9 (1.66)56.7 (0.95)Non-Hispanic Asian, single race201019.5 (0.92)11.2 (0.72)70.2 (1.05)201118.8 (0.96)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)201632.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2012 | | 23.6 (0.61) | 27.0 (0.68) | 50.8 (0.75) | |
| 201417.7 (0.60)30.5 (0.73)53.4 (0.84)201514.4 (0.57)29.7 (0.84)57.8 (0.90)201615.0 (0.62)29.9 (1.06)56.7 (0.95)Non-Hispanic Asian, single race201019.5 (0.92)11.2 (0.72)70.2 (1.05)201118.8 (0.96)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201423.8 (1.65)52.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2013 | | 24.9 (0.62) | 26.6 (0.80) | 50.0 (0.91) | |
| 201514.4 (0.57)29.7 (0.84)57.8 (0.90)201615.0 (0.62)29.9 (1.06)56.7 (0.95)Non-Hispanic Asian, single race201019.5 (0.92)11.2 (0.72)70.2 (1.05)201118.8 (0.96)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201422.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple racesU201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201423.8 (1.66)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2014 | | 17.7 (0.60) | 30.5 (0.73) | 53.4 (0.84) | |
| 2016 15.0 (0.62) 29.9 (1.06) 56.7 (0.95) Non-Hispanic Asian, single race - </td <td>2015</td> <td></td> <td>14.4 (0.57)</td> <td>29.7 (0.84)</td> <td>57.8 (0.90)</td> | 2015 | | 14.4 (0.57) | 29.7 (0.84) | 57.8 (0.90) | |
| Non-Hispanic Asian, single race 70.2 (1.05) 2010 19.5 (0.92) 11.2 (0.72) 70.2 (1.05) 2011 18.8 (0.96) 13.6 (0.87) 68.0 (1.27) 2012 19.1 (0.92) 13.2 (0.83) 68.2 (1.15) 2013 16.3 (0.88) 14.1 (0.91) 70.4 (1.28) 2014 12.5 (0.65) 13.7 (0.84) 74.5 (1.01) 2015 7.9 (0.58) 15.5 (1.16) 77.2 (1.27) 2016 7.5 (0.67) 16.2 (1.19) 76.8 (1.07) Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races 2010 32.8 (5.76) 20.6 (1.94) 48.5 (4.77) 2011 27.1 (2.01) 23.6 (1.53) 52.1 (2.17) 2012 24.9 (1.78) 26.1 (1.62) 52.0 (2.24) 2013 23.8 (1.66) 26.8 (1.84) 51.6 (2.26) 2014 19.5 (1.65) 25.2 (1.51) 56.9 (2.06) 2013 23.8 (1.66) 26.8 (1.84) 51.6 (2.26) 2014 19.5 (1.65) 25.2 (1.51) 56.9 (2.06) 2015 16.1 (1.42) | 2016 | | 15.0 (0.62) | 29.9 (1.06) | 56.7 (0.95) | |
| 201019,5 (0,92)11,2 (0,72)70.2 (1,05)201118,8 (0,96)13,6 (0,87)68.0 (1,27)201219,1 (0,92)13,2 (0,83)68.2 (1,15)201316,3 (0,88)14,1 (0,91)70.4 (1,28)201412,5 (0,65)13,7 (0,84)74,5 (1,01)20157,9 (0,58)15,5 (1,16)77,2 (1,27)20167,5 (0,67)16,2 (1,19)76,8 (1,07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032,8 (5,76)20,6 (1,94)48,5 (4,77)201127,1 (2,01)23,6 (1,53)52,1 (2,17)201224,9 (1,78)26,1 (1,62)52,0 (2,24)201323,8 (1,66)26,8 (1,84)51,6 (2,26)201419,5 (1,65)25,2 (1,51)56,9 (2,06)201516,1 (1,42)29,0 (1,76)56,9 (1,88)201617,6 (1,29)28,9 (1,64)55,5 (2,13) | | Non-Hispanic Asian, single race | | | | |
| 201118.8 (0.96)13.6 (0.87)68.0 (1.27)201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2010 | | 19.5 (0.92) | 11.2 (0.72) | 70.2 (1.05) | |
| 201219.1 (0.92)13.2 (0.83)68.2 (1.15)201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2011 | | 18.8 (0.96) | 13.6 (0.87) | 68.0 (1.27) | |
| 201316.3 (0.88)14.1 (0.91)70.4 (1.28)201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2012 | | 19.1 (0.92) | 13.2 (0.83) | 68.2 (1.15) | |
| 201412.5 (0.65)13.7 (0.84)74.5 (1.01)20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2013 | | 16.3 (0.88) | 14.1 (0.91) | 70.4 (1.28) | |
| 20157.9 (0.58)15.5 (1.16)77.2 (1.27)20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2014 | | 12.5 (0.65) | 13.7 (0.84) | 74.5 (1.01) | |
| 20167.5 (0.67)16.2 (1.19)76.8 (1.07)Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races32.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201032.8 (5.76)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2015 | | 7.9 (0.58) | 15.5 (1.16) | 77.2 (1.27) | |
| Non-Hispanic, other races and multiple races201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2016 | | 7.5 (0.67) | 16.2 (1.19) | 76.8 (1.07) | |
| 201032.8 (5.76)20.6 (1.94)48.5 (4.77)201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | Non | -Hispanic, other races and multiple races | | | | |
| 201127.1 (2.01)23.6 (1.53)52.1 (2.17)201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2010 | | 32.8 (5.76) | 20.6 (1.94) | 48.5 (4.77) | |
| 201224.9 (1.78)26.1 (1.62)52.0 (2.24)201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2011 | | 27.1 (2.01) | 23.6 (1.53) | 52.1 (2.17) | |
| 201323.8 (1.66)26.8 (1.84)51.6 (2.26)201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2012 | | 24.9 (1.78) | 26.1 (1.62) | 52.0 (2.24) | |
| 201419.5 (1.65)25.2 (1.51)56.9 (2.06)201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2013 | | 23.8 (1.66) | 26.8 (1.84) | 51.6 (2.26) | |
| 201516.1 (1.42)29.0 (1.76)56.9 (1.88)201617.6 (1.29)28.9 (1.64)55.5 (2.13) | 2014 | | 19.5 (1.65) | 25.2 (1.51) | 56.9 (2.06) | |
| 2016 17.6 (1.29) 28.9 (1.64) 55.5 (2.13) | 2015 | | 16.1 (1.42) | 29.0 (1.76) | 56.9 (1.88) | |
| | 2016 | | 17.6 (1.29) | 28.9 (1.64) | 55.5 (2.13) | |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table X. Percentages (and standard errors) of adults aged 18–64 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by selected demographic characteristics: United States, 2016

| Selected characteristic | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|---|---|---|--|
| Race and ethnicity | | | |
| Hispanic or Latino Non-Hispanic: | 25.0 (1.20) | 24.9 (1.15) | 51.4 (1.08) |
| White, single race Black single race | 8.6 (0.25) 15 0 (0.62) | 16.6 (0.34) 29 9 (1.06) | 76.6 (0.38) 56 7 (0.95) |
| Asian, single race | 7.5 (0.67) | 16.2 (1.19) | 76.8 (1.07) |
| Other races and multiple races | 17.6 (1.29) | 28.9 (1.64) | 55.5 (2.13) |
| Region | | | |
| Northeast | 7.7 (0.62) | 21.6 (0.71) | 72.7 (1.04) |
| Midwest | 9.5 (0.36) | 18.5 (0.60) | 73.6 (0.73) |
| South | 17.8 (0.70) | 17.5 (0.55) | 66.1 (0.79) |
| West | 10.5 (0.36) | 23.8 (0.85) | 67.2 (0.81) |
| Education | | | |
| Less than high school | 29.1 (1.07) | 37.1 (0.99) | 35.2 (0.98) |
| High school diploma or GED ⁴ | 16.6 (0.47) | 25.8 (0.53) | 59.4 (0.56) |
| More than high school | 7.5 (0.27) | 14.4 (0.35) | 79.6 (0.35) |
| Employment status | | | |
| Employed | 11.4 (0.35) | 11.6 (0.29) | 77.9 (0.37) |
| Unemployed | 32.3 (1.41) | 38.1 (1.35) | 30.3 (1.17) |
| Not in workforce | 11.6 (0.51) | 44.4 (0.71) | 47.9 (0.65) |
| Poverty status⁵ | | | |
| < 100% FPL | 26.2 (1.31) | 53.7 (1.29) | 21.6 (0.92) |
| ≥ 100% and ≤ 138% FPL | 24.6 (1.19) | 44.8 (1.50) | 32.6 (1.43) |
| > 138% and ≤ 250% FPL | 19.9 (0.59) | 28.0 (0.62) | 54.0 (0.65) |
| > 250% and ≤ 400% FPL | 10.1 (0.50) | 13.4 (0.44) | 78.2 (0.61) |
| > 400% FPL | 4.0 (0.21) | 5.9 (0.25) | 91.4 (0.25) |
| Unknown | 13.2 (0.85) | 18.7 (0.78) | 69.7 (0.99) |
| Marital status | | | |
| Married | 9.4 (0.37) | 14.0 (0.37) | 78.3 (0.43) |
| Widowed | 13.2 (1.43) | 37.1 (1.78) | 53.2 (1.99) |
| Divorced or separated | 14.8 (0.69) | 30.5 (0.91) | 56.8 (1.07) |
| Living with partner | 19.5 (0.72) | 26.1 (1.15) | 55.5 (1.10) |
| Never married | 15.0 (0.45) | 25.2 (0.56) | 61.0 (0.59) |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴GED is General Educational Development high school equivalency diploma.

⁵FPL is federal poverty level, based on family income and family size, using the U.S. Census Bureau's poverty thresholds. The percentage of respondents with "Unknown" poverty status for this five-level categorization is 8.9%. This value is greater than the corresponding value for the three-level poverty categorization of poor, near poor, and not poor, because of greater uncertainty when assigning individuals to more detailed poverty groups. For more information on poverty status, see Technical Notes. Estimates may differ from estimates that are based on both reported and imputed income.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2016, Family Core component.

Table XI. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 with private health insurance coverage who were enrolled in a high-deductible health plan, in a high-deductible health plan without a health savings account, and in a consumer-directed health plan, and who were in a family with a flexible spending account for medical expenses, by year: United States, 2010–2016

| Year | Enrolled in high-deductible health plan (HDHP) ¹ | Enrolled in HDHP without health savings account (HSA) ² | Enrolled in consumer-directed health plan (CDHP) ³ | In family with flexible spending account (FSA) for medical expenses |
|------|---|--|---|---|
| 2010 | 25 3 (0 54) | 17.6 (0.46) | 77(033) | 20.4 (0.50) |
| 2010 | 29.0 (0.54) | 19 9 (0 41) | 9.2 (0.35) | 20.4 (0.50) |
| 2017 | 31 1 (0 57) | 20 3 (0.42) | 10.8 (0.34) | 21.4 (0.35) |
| 2012 | 33.9 (0.68) | 22.2 (0.48) | 11.7 (0.43) | 21.6 (0.48) |
| 2014 | 36.9 (0.77) | 23.6 (0.52) | 13.3 (0.47) | 21.2 (0.49) |
| 2015 | 36.7 (0.68) | 23.4 (0.50) | 13.3 (0.42) | 21.7 (0.51) |
| 2016 | 39.4 (0.65) | 23.9 (0.49) | 15.5 (0.51) | 22.1 (0.40) |
| | | | | |

¹HDHP was defined in 2016 as a health plan with an annual deductible of at least \$1,300 for self-only coverage and \$2,600 for family coverage. The deductible is adjusted annually for inflation. Deductibles for previous years are included in the Technical Notes.

²HSA is a tax-advantaged account or fund that can be used to pay for medical expenses. It must be coupled with an HDHP.

³CDHP is an HDHP coupled with an HSA.

NOTES: The measures of HDHP enrollment, CDHP enrollment, and being in a family with an FSA for medical expenses are not mutually exclusive. Therefore, a person may be counted in more than one measure. The individual components of HDHPs may not add up to the total due to rounding. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Table XII. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 with private health insurance coverage who were enrolled in a high-deductible health plan, by year and source of coverage: United States, 2010–2016

| Year | Employment based ¹ | Directly purchased ² |
|------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| 2010 | 23.3 (0.54) | 48.0 (1.48) |
| 2011 | 26.9 (0.53) | 52.4 (1.49) |
| 2012 | 29.2 (0.60) | 54.7 (1.61) |
| 2013 | 32.0 (0.67) | 56.4 (1.50) |
| 2014 | 36.2 (0.73) | 54.1 (1.43) |
| 2015 | 36.6 (0.72) | 50.9 (1.50) |
| 2016 | 39.6 (0.69) | 51.9 (1.38) |

¹Private insurance that was originally obtained through a present or former employer or union, or through a professional association.

²Private insurance that was originally obtained through direct purchase or other means not related to employment.

NOTES: For persons under age 65, approximately 8% of private health plans were directly purchased from 2010 through 2013. In 2014 through 2016, approximately 10% of private plans were directly purchased. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

Table XIII. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group, state Medicaid expansion status, and year: United States, 2010–2016

| Age group, state Medicaid expansion status, and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|--|---|---|---|
| Under 65 years | | | |
| Medicaid expansion states ⁴ | | | |
| 2010 | 16.4 (0.42) | 21.8 (0.54) | 63.1 (0.70) |
| 2011 | 15.3 (0.35) | 23.1 (0.56) | 62.9 (0.72) |
| 2012 | 15.0 (0.34) | 23.1 (0.50) | 63.3 (0.63) |
| 2013 | 14.9 (0.40) | 24.1 (0.48) | 62.3 (0.68) |
| 2014 | 10.9 (0.29) | 25.6 (0.49) | 64.9 (0.59) |
| 2015 | 8.2 (0.23) | 26.7 (0.57) | 66.4 (0.64) |
| 2016 | 7.8 (0.24) | 27.7 (0.53) | 66.3 (0.60) |
| Non-Medicaid expansion states ⁵ | 7.0 (0.2.1) | 27.17 (0.00) | |
| 2010 | 20.3 (0.48) | 22 1 (0 51) | 59.0 (0.76) |
| 2011 | 19.6 (0.50) | 22.7 (0.50) | 591 (0.78) |
| 2012 | 19.2 (0.45) | 24.0 (0.55) | 58 3 (0 75) |
| 2012 | 18 4 (0 48) | 23 4 (0 51) | 59.6 (0.80) |
| 2013 | 16.0 (0.44) | 23.2 (0.57) | 62 1 (0.76) |
| 2015 | 14.0 (0.41) | 23.2 (0.52) | 64 4 (0 78) |
| 2015 | 14.7 (0.56) | 23.9 (0.58) | 62.8 (0.84) |
| 2010 | 14.7 (0.50) | 23.9 (0.50) | 02.0 (0.04) |
| 0−17 years Medicaid expansion states ⁴ | | | |
| 2010 | 6.7 (0.46) | 38.2 (1.05) | 56.5 (1.06) |
| 2011 | 5.9 (0.33) | 40.2 (1.11) | 55.4 (1.09) |
| 2012 | 5.3 (0.32) | 40.4 (1.00) | 55.9 (1.07) |
| 2013 | 5.6 (0.33) | 41.3 (0.86) | 54.5 (0.95) |
| 2014 | 4.3 (0.33) | 41.0 (0.84) | 56.2 (0.88) |
| 2015 | 3.8 (0.28) | 41.1 (0.99) | 56.7 (1.00) |
| 2016 | 4.1 (0.33) | 42.0 (0.92) | 56.1 (0.97) |
| Non-Medicaid expansion states ⁵ | | ζ, γ | |
| 2010 | 9.0 (0.47) | 41.7 (0.99) | 50.7 (1.08) |
| 2011 | 8.3 (0.46) | 42.0 (1.02) | 50.9 (1.11) |
| 2012 | 8.0 (0.46) | 43.9 (1.11) | 49.4 (1.07) |
| 2013 | 7.5 (0.40) | 43.1 (1.12) | 50.5 (1.23) |
| 2014 | 6.7 (0.43) | 43.5 (1.06) | 51.0 (1.11) |
| 2015 | 5.5 (0.42) | 43.7 (1.27) | 52.0 (1.26) |
| 2016 | 6.7 (0.52) | 44.4 (1.02) | 50.3 (1.20) |
| | | | |
| 18–64 years Medicaid expansion states⁴ | | | |
| 2010 | 20.1 (0.47) | 15.5 (0.40) | 65.6 (0.62) |
| 2011 | 18.9 (0.41) | 16.6 (0.41) | 65.8 (0.61) |
| 2012 | 18.5 (0.39) | 16.7 (0.38) | 66.0 (0.53) |
| 2013 | 18.4 (0.49) | 17.7 (0.44) | 65.2 (0.65) |
| 2014 | 13.3 (0.34) | 19.9 (0.46) | 68.1 (0.56) |
| 2015 | 9.8 (0.28) | 21.5 (0.49) | 70.0 (0.56) |
| 2016 | 9.2 (0.25) | 22.5 (0.41) | 70.0 (0.49) |
| Non-Medicaid expansion states⁵ | | | |
| 2010 | 24.8 (0.58) | 14.4 (0.45) | 62.2 (0.70) |
| 2011 | 24.1 (0.60) | 15.1 (0.42) | 62.3 (0.71) |
| 2012 | 23.7 (0.54) | 16.1 (0.44) | 61.8 (0.69) |
| 2013 | 22.7 (0.59) | 15.6 (0.41) | 63.2 (0.69) |
| 2014 | 19.6 (0.54) | 15.3 (0.41) | 66.5 (0.69) |
| 2015 | 17.5 (0.52) | 14.9 (0.44) | 69.4 (0.67) |
| 2016 | 17.9 (0.69) | 15.7 (0.50) | 67.8 (0.78) |
| | . , | · · · | · · · · |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes
plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴For 2010 through 2014, states moving forward with Medicaid expansion included: AZ, AR, CA, CO, CT, DE, DC, HI, IL, IA, KY, MD, MA, MI, MN, NV, NJ, NM, NY, ND, OH, OR, RI, VT, WA, and WV (as of October 31, 2013). Beginning with 2015, three additional states were included as expansion states: IN, NH, and PA. Beginning with 2016, three additional states were included as expansion states: AK, LA, and MT.

⁵For 2010 through 2014, states not moving forward with Medicaid expansion included: AL, AK, FL, GA, ID, IN, KS, LA, ME, MS, MO, MT, NE, NH, NC, OK, PA, SC, SD, TN, TX, UT, VA, WI, and WY (as of October 31, 2013). Beginning with 2015, three states have been removed from this grouping: IN, NH, and PA. Beginning with 2016, three additional states have been removed from this grouping: AK, LA, and MT.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Table XIV. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group, state Health Insurance Marketplace type, and year: United States, 2010–2016

| Age group, state Health Insurance Marketplace type, and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|---|---|---|---|
| Under 65 vears | | | |
| State-based Marketplace states ⁴ | | | |
| | 163(046) | 21.6 (0.66) | 63 2 (0 80) |
| 2010 | 15.9 (0.46) | 21.0 (0.00) | 61.8 (0.88) |
| 2011 | 15.9 (0.40) | 23.0 (0.70) | 61.9 (0.88) |
| 2012 | 15.2 (0.45) | 24.2 (0.00) | 61.0 (0.83) |
| 2013 | 13.2 (0.46) | 25.0 (0.50) | 62 7 (0.79) |
| 2014 | 7 7 (0.20) | 20.4 (0.03) | 65.4 (0.02) |
| 2015 | 7.7 (0.30) | 28.1 (0.80) | 65 9 (0.72) |
| 2010 Partnorshin Markotolaco statos ⁵ | 7.5 (0.27) | 20.4 (0.70) | 05.9 (0.72) |
| | 147(097) | 22 5 (1 15) | 64 9 (1 72) |
| 2010 | 14.7 (0.07) | 22.3 (1.13) | 64.5 (1.73) |
| 2011 | 14.5 (0.71) | 22.7 (1.20) | 04.3 (1.72) 66 7 (1.53) |
| 2012 | 14.1 (0.70) | 20.0 (1.12) | 00.7 (1.55) 65.6 (1.42) |
| 2015 | 14.2 (0.65) | 21.0 (1.07) | 67.2 (1.29) |
| 2014 | 10.2 (0.57) | 24.4 (1.00) | 07.2 (1.20) 67.7 (1.42) |
| 2015 | 8.0 (0.59) | 20.1 (1.20) | 67.7 (1.42) |
| 2010 | 7.0 (0.48) | 20.3 (1.27) | 08.8 (1.00) |
| rederally Facilitated Marketplace states" | 20.1 (0.40) | 22.1 (0.50) | 50.1 (0.70) |
| 2010 | 20.1 (0.48) | 22.1 (0.50) | 59.1 (0.70) |
| 2011 | 18.8 (0.45) | 22.6 (0.47) | 60.0 (0.71) |
| 2012 | 18.6 (0.41) | 23.6 (0.50) | 59.3 (0.67) |
| 2013 | 17.9 (0.44) | 23.3 (0.49) | 60.2 (0.74) |
| 2014 | 15.3 (0.40) | 23.3 (0.50) | 62.8 (0.69) |
| 2015 | 12.8 (0.33) | 23.4 (0.54) | 65.3 (0.66) |
| 2016 | 13.1 (0.45) | 24.8 (0.51) | 63.6 (0.69) |
| 0–17 years | | | |
| State-based Marketplace states ⁴ | | | |
| 2010 | 6.7 (0.50) | 38.0 (1.32) | 56.4 (1.31) |
| 2011 | 6.4 (0.47) | 40.9 (1.43) | 54.2 (1.39) |
| 2012 | 5.4 (0.43) | 42.2 (1.37) | 53.9 (1.46) |
| 2013 | 5.7 (0.37) | 42.8 (1.05) | 52.6 (1.18) |
| 2014 | 4.2 (0.40) | 42.0 (1.11) | 54.9 (1.13) |
| 2015 | 3.1 (0.34) | 42.4 (1.32) | 55.8 (1.41) |
| 2016 | 3.6 (0.38) | 42.7 (1.19) | 55.8 (1.26) |
| Partnership Marketplace states ⁵ | | | |
| 2010 | 4.1 (0.78) | 40.7 (2.21) | 57.9 (2.31) |
| 2011 | 4.2 (0.53) | 39.6 (2.44) | 58.0 (2.39) |
| 2012 | 3.6 (0.69) | 38.5 (2.20) | 59.9 (2.26) |
| 2013 | 4 2 (0 53) | 38 4 (1 95) | 59.2 (2.08) |
| 2014 | 3 2 (0 51) | 40.8 (1.88) | 58 4 (1 99) |
| 2015 | 4 3 (0 73) | 40.3 (2.53) | 57 5 (2 34) |
| 2016 | 20(040) | 40.4 (2.54) | 60 5 (2.49) |
| Federally Facilitated Marketplace states ⁶ | 2.0 (0.10) | 10.1 (2.3 1) | 00.5 (2.15) |
| | 9.2 (0.48) | 40.7 (0.91) | 51 3 (0 97) |
| 2010 | 8.0 (0.40) | 40.7 (0.91) A1 A (0.93) | 51.8 (1.01) |
| 2011 | 79(0/11) | ער (0.25) ער דער (1.00) | 50.8 (0.98) |
| 2012 | 7.5 (0.41) | 42.6 (1.00) | 51 3 (1 11) |
| 2013 | 66 (0 41) | 42.6 (0.04) | 52 0 (1 00) |
| 2017 | 5 2 (0 25) | 42.0 (0.94) | 52.6 (1.00) |
| 2013 | 5.5 (0.55) 6.6 (0.45) | 42.4 (1.00) 42.6 (0.07) | 55.0 (1.0 4) 51.5 (0.07) |
| 2010 | 0.0 (0.45) | 45.0 (0.07) | 51.5 (0.97) |

Table XIV. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons under age 65 who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age, state Health Insurance Marketplace type, and year: United States, 2010–2016—Continued

| Age group, state Health Insurance Marketplace type, and year | Uninsured ¹ at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ² | Private health insurance coverage ³ |
|---|--|---|--|
| 18–64 years | | | |
| State-based Marketplace states ⁴ | | | |
| 2010 | 19.9 (0.52) | 15.3 (0.48) | 65.9 (0.68) |
| 2011 | 19.5 (0.53) | 17.1 (0.52) | 64.7 (0.75) |
| 2012 | 18.8 (0.50) | 17.7 (0.49) | 64.7 (0.69) |
| 2013 | 18.7 (0.60) | 18.4 (0.52) | 64.1 (0.80) |
| 2014 | 13.6 (0.45) | 20.6 (0.57) | 67.0 (0.75) |
| 2015 | 9.4 (0.37) | 22.9 (0.69) | 68.9 (0.81) |
| 2016 | 8.6 (0.30) | 23.4 (0.58) | 69.5 (0.58) |
| Partnership Marketplace states⁵ | | | |
| 2010 | 18.9 (1.12) | 15.3 (0.90) | 67.6 (1.59) |
| 2011 | 18.4 (0.92) | 15.9 (0.87) | 67.1 (1.52) |
| 2012 | 18.1 (0.85) | 13.9 (0.79) | 69.3 (1.36) |
| 2013 | 17.9 (0.98) | 15.7 (0.91) | 68.0 (1.29) |
| 2014 | 12.8 (0.68) | 18.2 (0.98) | 70.5 (1.22) |
| 2015 | 9.4 (0.74) | 20.8 (0.95) | 71.5 (1.26) |
| 2016 | 8.8 (0.59) | 21.3 (0.88) | 71.8 (1.41) |
| Federally Facilitated Marketplace states ⁶ | | | |
| 2010 | 24.5 (0.56) | 14.7 (0.43) | 62.2 (0.66) |
| 2011 | 23.0 (0.54) | 15.1 (0.39) | 63.3 (0.64) |
| 2012 | 22.8 (0.48) | 16.1 (0.41) | 62.7 (0.61) |
| 2013 | 22.0 (0.54) | 15.9 (0.41) | 63.6 (0.64) |
| 2014 | 18.6 (0.49) | 15.8 (0.41) | 66.9 (0.63) |
| 2015 | 15.7 (0.42) | 16.0 (0.43) | 69.9 (0.57) |
| 2016 | 15.7 (0.54) | 17.4 (0.46) | 68.5 (0.63) |

¹A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

²Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

³Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴State-based Marketplace states: CA, CO, CT, DC, HI, ID, KY, MD, MA, MN, NV, NM, NY, OR, RI, VT, and WA (as of October 31, 2013).

⁵Partnership Marketplace states: AR, DE, IL, IA, MI, NH, and WV (as of October 31, 2013).

⁶Federally Facilitated Marketplace states: AL, AK, AZ, FL, GA, IN, KS, LA, ME, MS, MO, MT, NE, NJ, NC, ND, OH, OK, PA, SC, SD, TN, TX, UT, VA, WI, and WY (as of October 31, 2013).

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2010–2016, Family Core component.

Table XV. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and expanded region: United States, 2016

| Age group and expanded region ¹ | Uninsured ² at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ³ | Private health insurance coverage⁴ |
|--|---|---|---------------------------------------|
| All ages | | | |
| All regions | 9.0 (0.27) | 36.8 (0.36) | 62.5 (0.44) |
| New England | 4.0 (0.50) | 39.0 (1.56) | 67.3 (1.01) |
| Middle Atlantic | 6.2 (0.55) | 37.1 (0.57) | 66.1 (0.99) |
| East North Central | 6.5 (0.31) | 36.9 (0.89) | 67.2 (1.06) |
| West North Central | 7.4 (0.63) | 30.8 (1.17) | 71.5 (1.28) |
| South Atlantic | 11.9 (0.38) | 36.4 (0.98) | 59.2 (0.82) |
| East South Central | 9.2 (0.81) | 41.6 (1.08) | 57.9 (1.89) |
| West South Central | 17.0 (1.29) | 33.8 (0.77) | 55.0 (1.28) |
| Mountain | 9.7 (0.52) | 37.2 (1.55) | 60.1 (1.21) |
| Pacific | 7.0 (0.29) | 39.0 (1.09) | 60.6 (1.18) |
| Under 65 years | | | |
| All regions | 10.4 (0.31) | 26.3 (0.41) | 65.0 (0.48) |
| New England | 4.7 (0.58) | 27.3 (1.85) | 70.6 (1.02) |
| Middle Atlantic | 7.2 (0.65) | 26.0 (0.87) | 68.6 (1.29) |
| East North Central | 7.6 (0.38) | 25.6 (0.88) | 68.7 (1.11) |
| West North Central | 8.7 (0.70) | 18.9 (1.24) | 74.3 (1.35) |
| South Atlantic | 14.0 (0.46) | 24.7 (1.06) | 62.5 (0.93) |
| East South Central | 10.7 (0.94) | 31.9 (1.67) | 59.7 (1.90) |
| West South Central | 19.3 (1.39) | 24.5 (0.66) | 57.4 (1.27) |
| Mountain | 11.0 (0.58) | 27.9 (1.45) | 62.7 (1.37) |
| Pacific | 8.0 (0.38) | 29.9 (1.31) | 63.6 (1.29) |
| 0–17 years | | | |
| All regions | 5.1 (0.31) | 43.0 (0.65) | 53.8 (0.71) |
| New England | 1.3 (0.37) | 41.6 (3.38) | 61.0 (3.24) |
| Middle Atlantic | 5.1 (0.88) | 39.5 (1.79) | 57.5 (1.83) |
| East North Central | 3.3 (0.54) | 38.2 (1.45) | 60.9 (1.90) |
| West North Central | 4.9 (0.80) | 33.1 (2.77) | 64.4 (2.40) |
| South Atlantic | 5.3 (0.79) | 46.4 (1.58) | 49.2 (1.62) |
| East South Central | 3.0 (0.65) | 52.0 (2.56) | 47.4 (2.58) |
| West South Central | 9.6 (1.08) | 48.6 (1.04) | 43.3 (1.24) |
| Mountain | 6.2 (0.95) | 41.9 (1.38) | 53.6 (1.43) |
| Pacific | 4.2 (0.60) | 44.8 (2.03) | 52.9 (2.06) |
| 18–64 years | | | |
| All regions | 12.4 (0.36) | 20.0 (0.38) | 69.2 (0.41) |
| New England | 5.9 (0.69) | 22.6 (1.70) | 73.7 (0.90) |
| Middle Atlantic | 8.0 (0.69) | 21.2 (0.58) | 72.6 (1.16) |
| East North Central | 9.2 (0.39) | 20.9 (0.75) | 71.6 (0.87) |
| West North Central | 10.1 (0.82) | 13.4 (0.91) | 78.1 (1.24) |
| South Atlantic | 17.2 (0.66) | 16.8 (0.92) | 67.4 (0.79) |
| East South Central | 13.6 (1.18) | 24.4 (1.34) | 64.3 (1.71) |
| West South Central | 23.3 (1.58) | 14.4 (0.75) | 63.3 (1.43) |
| Mountain | 13.0 (0.56) | 22.0 (1.46) | 66.6 (1.29) |
| Pacific | 9.4 (0.38) | 24.5 (1.05) | 67.4 (1.02) |

¹The New England region includes CT, ME, MA, NH, RI, and VT. The Middle Atlantic region includes: DE, DC, MD, NJ, NY, and PA. The East North Central region includes: IL, IN, MI, OH, and WI. The West North Central region includes: IA, KS, MN, MO, NE, ND, and SD. The South Atlantic region includes: FL, GA, NC, SC, VA, and WV. The East South Central region includes: AR, LA, OK, and TX. The Mountain region includes: AZ, CO, ID, MT, NV, NM, UT, and WY. The Pacific region includes: AK, CA, HI, OR, and WA.

²A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

³Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2016, Family Core component.

Table XVI. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and selected states: United States, 2016

| Age group and selected states ¹ | Uninsured ² at Public health Age group and selected states ¹ time of interview coverag | | Private health insurance coverage ⁴ |
|--|--|-------------|---|
| All ages | | | |
| All states ⁵ | 9.0 (0.27) | 36.8 (0.36) | 62.5 (0.44) |
| Alabama | 10.0 (1.46) | 35.5 (2.43) | 61.2 (3.18) |
| Arizona | 11.0 (1.43) | 41.5 (2.36) | 54.8 (3.07) |
| Arkansas | 7.1 (1.28) | 43.3 (2.59) | 58.9 (3.31) |
| California | 7.1 (0.27) | 39.5 (1.39) | 58.7 (1.44) |
| Colorado | 7.7 (1.17) | 39.7 (2.25) | 59.4 (2.91) |
| Connecticut | 3.9 (0.92) | 41.6 (2.44) | 62.2 (3.09) |
| Delaware | 3.6 (0.95) | 45.3 (2.67) | 67.1 (3.24) |
| Florida | 13.8 (0.58) | 38.4 (1.38) | 55.0 (1.45) |
| Georgia | 12.9 (1.24) | 31.8 (2.01) | 60.2 (2.70) |
| Hawaii | 2.7 (0.69) | 41.6 (2.21) | 66.8 (2.72) |
| Idaho | 11.2 (1.39) | 35.3 (2.20) | 61.4 (2.88) |
| Illinois | 5.7 (0.87) | 34.9 (2.17) | 70.5 (2.03) |
| Indiana | 7.8 (1.14) | 34.1 (2.10) | 67.2 (2.68) |
| lowa | 3.7 (0.84) | 37.0 (2.26) | 68.5 (2.80) |
| Kansas | 7.9 (1.29) | 33.0 (2.35) | 69.4 (2.96) |
| Kentucky | 6.8 (1.25) | 46.0 (2.59) | 57.2 (3.31) |
| Louisiana | 13.1 (1.70) | 40.8 (2.59) | 52.3 (3.39) |
| Maine | 7.7 (1.47) | 42.0 (2.84) | 60.3 (3.63) |
| Maryland | 5.6 (1.13) | 35.8 (2.45) | 69.0 (3.04) |
| Massachusetts | *2.6 (0.80) | 41.2 (2.56) | 68.4 (3.11) |
| Michigan | 6.7 (0.71) | 38.4 (2.84) | 66.4 (2.71) |
| Minnesota | 5.0 (0.90) | 24.4 (1.87) | 79.7 (2.25) |
| Mississippi | 12.3 (1.62) | 43.4 (2.55) | 51.8 (3.31) |
| Missouri | 9.4 (1.47) | 32.9 (2.48) | 67.7 (3.17) |
| Montana | 9.3 (1.48) | 44.7 (2.65) | 55.7 (3.41) |
| Nebraska | 10.2 (1.35) | 27.1 (2.08) | 72.6 (2.68) |
| Nevada | 11.0 (1.36) | 34.6 (2.17) | 60.0 (2.87) |
| New Hampshire | 7.2 (1.37) | 33.6 (2.62) | 72.7 (3.18) |
| New Jersey | 7.2 (1.07) | 37.1 (2.08) | 64.4 (2.66) |
| New Mexico | 11.3 (1.55) | 51.6 (2.55) | 43.9 (3.26) |
| New York | 5.4 (0.49) | 37.2 (0.42) | 65.8 (0.82) |
| North Carolina | 11.4 (1.07) | 34.3 (2.34) | 61.5 (2.92) |
| Ohio | 6.3 (0.79) | 40.2 (1.38) | 63.7 (1.72) |
| Oklahoma | 16.5 (1.71) | 37.3 (2.33) | 52.9 (3.09) |
| Oregon | 8.3 (1.22) | 36.4 (2.21) | 64.4 (2.83) |
| Pennsylvania | 7.2 (1.23) | 37.1 (1.43) | 66.0 (2.06) |
| Rhode Island | 4.2 (0.91) | 27.1 (2.10) | 77.9 (2.53) |
| South Carolina | 10.0 (1.42) | 40.8 (2.43) | 59.8 (3.11) |
| Tennessee | 8.9 (1.32) | 42.1 (2.39) | 58.6 (3.07) |
| Texas | 18.7 (1.65) | 31.2 (0.59) | 55.4 (2.16) |
| Utah | 7.1 (1.04) | 17.8 (1.61) | 80.7 (2.14) |
| Virginia | 9.3 (1.14) | 35.7 (1.96) | 64.1 (2.53) |
| Washington | 5.7 (1.02) | 38.6 (2.22) | 66.5 (2.77) |
| West Virginia | 6.2 (1.16) | 46.8 (2.50) | 58.1 (3.19) |
| Wisconsin | 6.5 (1.05) | 35.8 (2.12) | 68.9 (2.63) |

Table XVI. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and selected states: United States, 2016 — *Continued*

| Age group and selected states ¹ | Uninsured ² at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ³ | Private health insurance coverage ⁴ |
|--|---|---|---|
| Under 65 years | | | |
| All states ⁵ | 10.4 (0.31) | 26.3 (0.41) | 65.0 (0.48) |
| Alabama | 11.6 (1.69) | 25.7 (2.47) | 64.5 (3.50) |
| Arizona | 12.9 (1.69) | 30.4 (2.50) | 58.3 (3.47) |
| Arkansas | 8.3 (1.52) | 32.4 (2.78) | 61.5 (3.74) |
| California | 8.1 (0.37) | 30.9 (1.58) | 62.1 (1.61) |
| Colorado | 8.6 (1.32) | 32.4 (2.37) | 61.1 (3.20) |
| Connecticut | 4.6 (1.10) | 30.2 (2.60) | 65.8 (3.47) |
| Delaware | 4.4 (1.19) | 32.5 (2.90) | 66.1 (3.80) |
| Florida | 16.8 (0.68) | 24.8 (1.46) | 59.4 (1.60) |
| Georgia | 14.8 (1.37) | 21.5 (1.98) | 64.6 (3.06) |
| Hawaii | 3.2 (0.84) | 28.7 (2.33) | 69.7 (3.06) |
| Idaho | 12.9 (1.59) | 25.3 (2.22) | 64.2 (3.17) |
| Illinois | 6.7 (0.97) | 23.3 (1.51) | 71.8 (2.30) |
| Indiana | 9.1 (1.33) | 23.7 (2.11) | 68.7 (2.98) |
| lowa | 4.4 (1.01) | 25.4 (2.30) | 71.5 (3.09) |
| Kansas | 9.2 (1.50) | 22.6 (2.33) | 70.1 (3.30) |
| Kentucky | 8.0 (1.48) | 36.1 (2.82) | 57.6 (3.75) |
| Louisiana | 15.5 (2.01) | 30.2 (2.74) | 55.7 (3.83) |
| Maine | 9.6 (1.83) | 27.5 (2.99) | 65.4 (4.13) |
| Maryland | 6.3 (1.31) | 25.0 (2.52) | 69.9 (3.47) |
| Massachusetts | 3.2 (0.96) | 30.3 (2.72) | 70.7 (3.48) |
| Michigan | 7.8 (0.83) | 27.6 (2.67) | 67.2 (3.13) |
| Minnesota | 5.7 (1.04) | 13.5 (1.65) | 82.3 (2.39) |
| Mississippi | 14.4 (1.89) | 33.5 (2.73) | 53.9 (3.74) |
| Missouri | 11.2 (1.76) | 19.5 (2.38) | 71.8 (3.50) |
| Montana | 11.4 (1.82) | 31.7 (2.86) | 58.9 (3.91) |
| Nebraska | 12.0 (1.58) | 14.8 (1.86) | 74.7 (2.95) |
| Nevada | 12.4 (1.54) | 26.6 (2.22) | 63.1 (3.14) |
| New Hampshire | 8.7 (1.70) | 18.3 (2.50) | 75.7 (3.58) |
| New Jersey | 8.3 (1.22) | 27.9 (2.14) | 66.1 (2.93) |
| New Mexico | 13.3 (1.82) | 43.0 (2.84) | 45.3 (3.70) |
| New York | 6.3 (0.61) | 25.9 (0.57) | 69.6 (0.94) |
| North Carolina | 13.0 (1.28) | 24.1 (2.50) | 64.4 (3.21) |
| Ohio | 7.5 (0.93) | 28.3 (1.59) | 66.1 (1.71) |
| Oklahoma | 19.2 (1.98) | 26.9 (2.40) | 55.8 (3.48) |
| Oregon | 9.7 (1.41) | 26.8 (2.27) | 65.6 (3.16) |
| Pennsylvania | 8.6 (1.44) | 25.0 (1.50) | 68.4 (2.53) |
| Rhode Island | 4.8 (1.06) | 15.3 (1.91) | 82.6 (2.60) |
| South Carolina | 12.1 (1.71) | 28.8 (2.56) | 61.4 (3.56) |
| Tennessee | 10.5 (1.55) | 32.6 (2.55) | 60.2 (3.44) |
| Texas | 20.9 (1.81) | 22.6 (0.67) | 57.4 (2.24) |
| Utah | 7.9 (1.14) | 9.5 (1.34) | 83.0 (2.22) |
| Virginia | 10.9 (1.33) | 25.1 (1.99) | 65.4 (2.83) |
| Washington | 6.8 (1.21) | 27.3 (2.31) | 68.9 (3.10) |
| West Virginia | 7.6 (1.43) | 34.9 (2.77) | 60.0 (3.68) |
| Wisconsin | 7.8 (1.24) | 23.9 (2.13) | 69.7 (2.97) |

Table XVI. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and selected states: United States, 2016 — *Continued*

| 0-17 years | Age group and selected states ¹ | Uninsured ² at group and selected states ¹ time of interview | | Private health insurance coverage ⁴ |
|---|--|---|-------------|--|
| All states ⁵ 5.1 (0.31) 43.0 (0.65) 53.8 (0.71) Alabama *2.8 (1.38) 47.4 (4.38) 52.1 (5.00) Arizona 12.6 (2.56) 40.8 (3.98) 47.2 (4.61) California 4.3 (0.56) 46.5 (2.23) 50.7 (2.36) Colorado *2.4 (1.11) 49.4 (3.81) 51.0 (4.35) Connecticut * 45.2 (4.38) 54.7 (5.01) Florida 7.5 (1.02) 48.0 (2.30) 45.1 (2.19) Georgia 5.8 (1.58) 44.8 (3.17) 50.2 (4.06) Hawaii * 43.3 (3.77) 56.7 (4.30) Idaho 5.2 (1.53) 45.9 (3.59) 50.8 (4.11) Illinois *1.1 (0.54) 36.6 (3.49) 64.4 (3.50) Indiana *3.7 (1.46) 34.6 (3.49) 55.2 (4.56) Kansas *3.7 (1.46) 41.4 (3.99) 58.0 (4.57) Kentucky *3.6 (1.62) 49.7 (4.55) 47.5 (5.19) Michigan 3.4 (1.01) 36.5 (3.96) 63.2 (3.77) Minnesota *3.7 (1.22) 18.4 (3.07) <td>0_17 years</td> <td></td> <td>_</td> <td></td> | 0_17 years | | _ | |
| Alabama *2.8 (1.38) 47.4 (4.38) 52.1 (5.00) Arizona 12.6 (2.56) 40.8 (3.98) 47.2 (4.61) California 4.3 (0.56) 46.5 (2.23) 50.7 (2.36) Colorado *2.4 (1.11) 49.4 (3.81) 51.0 (4.35) Connecticut * 45.2 (4.38) 54.7 (5.01) Florida 7.5 (1.02) 48.0 (2.30) 45.1 (2.19) Georgia 5.8 (1.58) 44.8 (3.17) 50.2 (4.06) Hawaii * 43.3 (3.77) 56.7 (4.30) Idaho 5.2 (1.53) 45.9 (3.59) 50.8 (4.11) Illinois *1.1 (0.54) 36.6 (3.49) 64.4 (3.50) Indiana *3.7 (1.36) 38.5 (3.65) 59.5 (4.20) Iowa * 45.8 (4.00) 55.2 (4.56) Kansas *3.7 (1.46) 41.4 (3.99) 58.0 (4.57) Kentucky *3.6 (1.62) 49.7 (4.55) 47.5 (5.19) Michigan 3.4 (1.01) 36.5 (3.96) 63.2 (3.77) Minnesota *2.7 (1.22) 18.4 (3.07) 80.3 (3.59) Mississippi *4.1 (1.60) 60.1 (4.16) | All states ⁵ | 5.1 (0.31) | 43.0 (0.65) | 53.8 (0.71) |
| Arizona126 (2.56)408 (3.98)47.2 (4.61)California4.3 (0.56)46.5 (2.23)50.7 (2.36)Colorado*2.4 (1.11)49.4 (3.81)51.0 (4.35)Connecticut*45.2 (4.38)54.7 (5.01)Florida7.5 (1.02)48.0 (2.30)45.1 (2.19)Georgia5.8 (1.58)44.8 (3.17)50.2 (4.06)Hawaii*43.3 (3.77)56.7 (4.30)Idaho5.2 (1.53)45.9 (3.59)50.8 (4.11)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)Nevada6.3 (1.83)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Alabama | *2.8 (1.38) | 47 4 (4 38) | 52 1 (5 00) |
| NationalNationalNationalCalifornia4.3 (0.56)46.5 (2.23)50.7 (2.36)Colorado*2.4 (1.11)49.4 (3.81)51.0 (4.35)Connecticut*45.2 (4.38)54.7 (5.01)Florida7.5 (1.02)48.0 (2.30)45.1 (2.19)Georgia5.8 (1.58)44.8 (3.17)50.2 (4.06)Hawaii*43.3 (3.77)56.7 (4.30)Idaho5.2 (1.53)45.9 (3.59)50.8 (4.11)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Arizona | 12.6 (2.56) | 40.8 (3.98) | 47.2 (4.61) |
| Colorado*2.4 (1.11)49.4 (3.81)51.0 (4.35)Connecticut*45.2 (4.38)54.7 (5.01)Florida7.5 (1.02)48.0 (2.30)45.1 (2.19)Georgia5.8 (1.58)44.8 (3.17)50.2 (4.06)Hawaii*43.3 (3.77)56.7 (4.30)Idaho5.2 (1.53)45.9 (3.59)50.8 (4.11)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | California | 4.3 (0.56) | 46.5 (2.23) | 50.7 (2.36) |
| Connecticut*45.2 (4.38)54.7 (5.01)Florida7.5 (1.02)48.0 (2.30)45.1 (2.19)Georgia5.8 (1.58)44.8 (3.17)50.2 (4.06)Hawaii*43.3 (3.77)56.7 (4.30)Idaho5.2 (1.53)45.9 (3.59)50.8 (4.11)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Colorado | *24(111) | 49.4 (3.81) | 51.0 (4.35) |
| Florida 7.5 (1.02) 48.0 (2.30) 45.1 (2.19) Georgia 5.8 (1.58) 44.8 (3.17) 50.2 (4.06) Hawaii * 43.3 (3.77) 56.7 (4.30) Idaho 5.2 (1.53) 45.9 (3.59) 50.8 (4.11) Illinois *1.1 (0.54) 36.6 (3.49) 64.4 (3.50) Indiana *3.7 (1.36) 38.5 (3.65) 59.5 (4.20) Iowa * 45.8 (4.00) 55.2 (4.56) Kansas *3.7 (1.46) 41.4 (3.99) 58.0 (4.57) Kentucky *3.6 (1.62) 49.7 (4.55) 47.5 (5.19) Michigan 3.4 (1.01) 36.5 (3.96) 63.2 (3.77) Minesota *2.7 (1.22) 18.4 (3.07) 80.3 (3.59) Mississippi *4.1 (1.60) 60.1 (4.16) 37.5 (4.69) Missouri *6.5 (2.13) 34.7 (4.30) 61.5 (5.02) Nebraska 8.9 (2.09) 27.8 (3.44) 66.0 (4.15) New Jersey *4.1 (1.35) 45.2 (3.53) 53.3 (4.04) New Mexico *4.6 (1.73) 65.1 (4.11) 31.9 (4.59) New York *3.7 (1.26) 36.2 (1.47)< | Connecticut | * | 45.2 (4.38) | 54.7 (5.01) |
| Georgia5.8 (1.58)44.8 (3.17)50.2 (4.06)Hawaii*43.3 (3.77)56.7 (4.30)Idaho5.2 (1.53)45.9 (3.59)50.8 (4.11)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Florida | 7.5 (1.02) | 48.0 (2.30) | 45.1 (2.19) |
| Hawaii*43.3 (3.77)56.7 (4.30)Idaho5.2 (1.53)45.9 (3.59)50.8 (4.11)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Georgia | 5.8 (1.58) | 44.8 (3.17) | 50.2 (4.06) |
| Idaho 5.2 (1.53) 45.9 (3.59) 50.8 (4.11) Illinois *1.1 (0.54) 36.6 (3.49) 64.4 (3.50) Indiana *3.7 (1.36) 38.5 (3.65) 59.5 (4.20) Iowa * 45.8 (4.00) 55.2 (4.56) Kansas *3.7 (1.46) 41.4 (3.99) 58.0 (4.57) Kentucky *3.6 (1.62) 49.7 (4.55) 47.5 (5.19) Michigan 3.4 (1.01) 36.5 (3.96) 63.2 (3.77) Minnesota *2.7 (1.22) 18.4 (3.07) 80.3 (3.59) Mississippi *4.1 (1.60) 60.1 (4.16) 37.5 (4.69) Missouri *6.5 (2.13) 34.7 (4.30) 61.5 (5.02) Nebraska 8.9 (2.09) 27.8 (3.44) 66.0 (4.15) Nevada 6.3 (1.83) 44.8 (3.92) 52.5 (4.50) New Jersey *4.1 (1.35) 45.2 (3.53) 53.3 (4.04) New Mexico *4.6 (1.73) 65.1 (4.11) 31.9 (4.59) New York *3.7 (1.26) 36.2 (1.47) 62.2 (1.99) | Hawaii | * | 43.3 (3.77) | 56.7 (4.30) |
| Idirobit (1.57)bit (1.57)bit (1.57)Illinois*1.1 (0.54)36.6 (3.49)64.4 (3.50)Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Idaho | 5 2 (1 53) | 45 9 (3 59) | 50.8 (4.11) |
| Indiana*3.7 (1.36)38.5 (3.65)59.5 (4.20)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Illinois | *1 1 (0 54) | 36.6 (3.49) | 64 4 (3 50) |
| Instant45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Iowa*45.8 (4.00)55.2 (4.56)Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Indiana | *3.7 (1.36) | 38.5 (3.65) | 59.5 (4.20) |
| Kansas*3.7 (1.46)41.4 (3.99)58.0 (4.57)Kentucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | lowa | * | 45.8 (4.00) | 55.2 (4.56) |
| Kantucky*3.6 (1.62)49.7 (4.55)47.5 (5.19)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Missisppi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Kansas | *3.7 (1.46) | 41.4 (3.99) | 58.0 (4.57) |
| Nichtacky3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Michigan3.4 (1.01)36.5 (3.96)63.2 (3.77)Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Kentucky | *3.6 (1.62) | 49.7 (4.55) | 47.5 (5.19) |
| Minnesota*2.7 (1.22)18.4 (3.07)80.3 (3.59)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Michigan | 3.4 (1.01) | 36.5 (3.96) | 63.2 (3.77) |
| MinifestionHint (112)Hor (101)Good (101)Mississippi*4.1 (1.60)60.1 (4.16)37.5 (4.69)Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Minnesota | *2.7 (1.22) | 18.4 (3.07) | 80.3 (3.59) |
| Missouri*6.5 (2.13)34.7 (4.30)61.5 (5.02)Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Mississioni | *4.1 (1.60) | 60.1 (4.16) | 37.5 (4.69) |
| Nebraska8.9 (2.09)27.8 (3.44)66.0 (4.15)Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Missouri | *6.5 (2.13) | 34.7 (4.30) | 61.5 (5.02) |
| Nevada6.3 (1.83)44.8 (3.92)52.5 (4.50)New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Nebraska | 8.9 (2.09) | 27.8 (3.44) | 66.0 (4.15) |
| New Jersey*4.1 (1.35)45.2 (3.53)53.3 (4.04)New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | Nevada | 6.3 (1.83) | 44.8 (3.92) | 52.5 (4.50) |
| New Mexico*4.6 (1.73)65.1 (4.11)31.9 (4.59)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99)New York*3.7 (1.26)36.2 (1.47)62.2 (1.99) | New Jersev | *4.1 (1.35) | 45.2 (3.53) | 53.3 (4.04) |
| New York *3.7 (1.26) 36.2 (1.47) 62.2 (1.99) | New Mexico | *4.6 (1.73) | 65.1 (4.11) | 31.9 (4.59) |
| | New York | *3.7 (1.26) | 36.2 (1.47) | 62.2 (1.99) |
| North Carolina 4.1 (0.95) 45.9 (4.40) 51.1 (4.19) | North Carolina | 4.1 (0.95) | 45.9 (4.40) | 51.1 (4.19) |
| Ohio *3.7 (1.12) 40.6 (3.67) 58.4 (4.35) | Ohio | *3.7 (1.12) | 40.6 (3.67) | 58.4 (4.35) |
| Oklahoma 9.9 (2.20) 51.0 (3.85) 41.2 (4.33) | Oklahoma | 9.9 (2.20) | 51.0 (3.85) | 41.2 (4.33) |
| Oregon *5.5 (1.79) 34.5 (3.92) 62.0 (4.57) | Oregon | *5.5 (1.79) | 34.5 (3.92) | 62.0 (4.57) |
| Pennsylvania 7.9 (2.01) 38.7 (2.50) 55.8 (3.45) | Pennsylvania | 7.9 (2.01) | 38.7 (2.50) | 55.8 (3.45) |
| Rhode Island * 19.4 (3.41) 82.8 (3.72) | Rhode Island | * | 19.4 (3.41) | 82.8 (3.72) |
| South Carolina *5.2 (1.78) 47.8 (4.22) 48.9 (4.82) | South Carolina | *5.2 (1.78) | 47.8 (4.22) | 48.9 (4.82) |
| Tennessee * 53.1 (4.32) 48.4 (4.94) | Tennessee | * | 53.1 (4.32) | 48.4 (4.94) |
| Texas 10.9 (1.39) 46.0 (1.17) 44.1 (2.08) | Texas | 10.9 (1.39) | 46.0 (1.17) | 44.1 (2.08) |
| Utah *3.8 (1.15) 14.9 (2.25) 81.3 (2.81) | Utah | *3.8 (1.15) | 14.9 (2.25) | 81.3 (2.81) |
| Virginia *2.6 (1.12) 43.5 (3.65) 54.4 (4.19) | Virginia | *2.6 (1.12) | 43.5 (3.65) | 54.4 (4.19) |
| Washington * 42.7 (4.32) 60.0 (4.88) | Washington | * | 42.7 (4.32) | 60.0 (4.88) |
| Wisconsin 5.9 (1.74) 38.9 (3.76) 57.5 (4.35) | Wisconsin | 5.9 (1.74) | 38.9 (3.76) | 57.5 (4.35) |

| Age group and selected states ¹ | Uninsured ² at time of interview | Public health plan coverage ³ | Private health insurance coverage⁴ |
|--|---|---|---------------------------------------|
| 18–64 years | | | |
| All states ⁵ | 12.4 (0.36) | 20.0 (0.38) | 69.2 (0.41) |
| Alabama | 15.0 (2.03) | 17.6 (2.04) | 69.2 (3.23) |
| Arizona | 13.0 (1.87) | 25.9 (2.30) | 63.0 (3.31) |
| Arkansas | 11.0 (1.86) | 23.0 (2.36) | 67.2 (3.44) |
| California | 9.5 (0.37) | 25.2 (1.28) | 66.4 (1.30) |
| Colorado | 11.1 (1.62) | 25.6 (2.13) | 65.0 (3.04) |
| Connecticut | 6.0 (1.34) | 24.8 (2.32) | 69.8 (3.21) |
| Delaware | 5.4 (1.39) | 27.2 (2.59) | 69.3 (3.50) |
| Florida | 20.0 (0.88) | 16.7 (0.97) | 64.4 (1.34) |
| Georgia | 18.5 (1.57) | 11.7 (1.96) | 70.6 (3.04) |
| Hawaii | 3.6 (0.99) | 22.6 (2.09) | 75.2 (2.81) |
| Idaho | 16.7 (2.00) | 14.9 (1.81) | 70.9 (3.00) |
| Illinois | 8.6 (1.30) | 18.8 (1.02) | 74.3 (2.08) |
| Indiana | 11.3 (1.60) | 17.6 (1.82) | 72.4 (2.78) |
| lowa | 5.8 (1.26) | 17.1 (1.91) | 78.2 (2.73) |
| Kansas | 11.7 (1.84) | 14.1 (1.89) | 75.6 (3.04) |
| Kentucky | 9.6 (1.73) | 31.1 (2.58) | 61.3 (3.54) |
| Louisiana | 19.0 (2.32) | 19.8 (2.23) | 62.3 (3.53) |
| Maine | 11.4 (2.10) | 22.2 (2.60) | 68.5 (3.79) |
| Maryland | 6.8 (1.45) | 20.1 (2.18) | 74.4 (3.09) |
| Massachusetts | 4.0 (1.13) | 25.8 (2.41) | 73.5 (3.17) |
| Michigan | 9.5 (0.94) | 24.3 (2.44) | 68.6 (3.03) |
| Minnesota | 6.7 (1.19) | 11.9 (1.46) | 82.9 (2.21) |
| Mississippi | 18.8 (2.33) | 22.0 (2.34) | 60.9 (3.58) |
| Missouri | 13.0 (2.06) | 13.4 (1.97) | 75.9 (3.22) |
| Montana | 13.6 (2.10) | 23.4 (2.45) | 65.3 (3.60) |
| Nebraska | 13.3 (1.84) | 9.0 (1.46) | 78.5 (2.73) |
| Nevada | 14.5 (1.78) | 20.1 (1.91) | 66.8 (2.92) |
| New Hampshire | 10.0 (1.87) | 15.1 (2.11) | 78.0 (3.18) |
| New Jersey | 9.9 (1.46) | 21.0 (1.88) | 71.1 (2.73) |
| New Mexico | 16.9 (2.19) | 34.0 (2.62) | 50.8 (3.61) |
| New York | 7.2 (0.69) | 22.7 (0.47) | 71.9 (0.88) |
| North Carolina | 16.2 (1.82) | 16.1 (2.08) | 69.3 (3.08) |
| Ohio | 8.9 (1.02) | 23.6 (1.22) | 69.0 (1.26) |
| Oklahoma | 23.6 (2.40) | 15.3 (1.92) | 62.8 (3.36) |
| Oregon | 11.1 (1.60) | 24.2 (2.06) | 66.9 (2.95) |
| Pennsylvania | 8.9 (1.42) | 19.4 (1.37) | 73.6 (2.38) |
| Rhode Island | 6.1 (1.25) | 14.0 (1.71) | 82.5 (2.45) |
| South Carolina | 15.0 (2.06) | 20.6 (2.21) | 66.7 (3.35) |
| Tennessee | 13.3 (1.83) | 25.5 (2.22) | 64.2 (3.19) |
| Texas | 25.3 (2.12) | 12.5 (0.70) | 63.2 (2.41) |
| Utah | 10.0 (1.46) | 6.6 (1.14) | 83.9 (2.20) |
| Virginia | 13.7 (1.57) | 18.9 (1.69) | 69.1 (2.60) |
| Washington | 8.3 (1.39) | 22.6 (2.00) | 71.6 (2.81) |
| West Virginia | 9.5 (1.65) | 28.9 (2.40) | 63.5 (3.33) |
| Wisconsin | 8.5 (1.40) | 18.1 (1.83) | 74.4 (2.70) |

Table XVI. Percentages (and standard errors) of persons who lacked health insurance coverage, had public health plan coverage, and had private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by age group and selected states: United States, 2016 — *Continued*

* Estimates are considered unreliable. Data preceded by an asterisk have a relative standard error (RSE) greater than 30% and less than or equal to 50% and should be used with caution. Data not shown have an RSE greater than 50% or could not be shown due to considerations of sample size.

¹Estimates are presented for fewer than 50 states and the District of Columbia due to considerations of sample size and precision.

²A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care.

³Includes Medicaid, CHIP, state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁴Includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, or purchased through local or community programs. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories.

⁵Includes all 50 states and the District of Columbia.

NOTE: Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2016, Family Core component.

Table XVII. Change in percentages (and standard errors) of adults aged 18–64 who lacked health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by selected states: United States, 2013–2016

| State | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | Difference between 2013 and 2016 (percentage points) | Difference between 2015 and 2016 (percentage points) |
|-------------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|--|--|
| | 2010 | | | | (percentage points) | (percernage perns) |
| All states ¹ | 20.4 (0.29) | 16.3 (0.26) | 12.8 (0.27) | 12.4 (0.36) | ⁺−8.0 | -0.4 |
| Alabama | 17.3 (2.14) | 14.8 (2.05) | 14.3 (2.27) | 15.0 (2.03) | -2.3 | 0.7 |
| Alaska | * | 24.6 (1.69) | 21.0 (2.61) | * | •••• | |
| Arizona | 23.4 (1.26) | 19.5 (1.01) | 13.8 (1.92) | 13.0 (1.87) | +-10.4 | -0.8 |
| Arkansas | 27.5 (2.40) | 15.6 (2.50) | 15.7 (2.38) | 11.0 (1.86) | ⁺ –16.5 | -4.7 |
| California | 23.7 (0.73) | 16.7 (0.67) | 11.1 (0.67) | 9.5 (0.37) | ⁺ –14.2 | ⁺ –1.6 |
| Colorado | 18.3 (1.59) | 13.3 (1.43) | 8.5 (1.54) | 11.1 (1.62) | ⁺ –7.2 | 2.6 |
| Connecticut | 13.2 (2.44) | 10.0 (2.55) | 7.6 (1.60) | 6.0 (1.34) | ⁺ –7.2 | -1.6 |
| Delaware | 13.8 (2.56) | *6.0 (2.23) | 8.3 (1.65) | 5.4 (1.39) | ⁺ -8.4 | -2.9 |
| District of Columbia | *4.7 (1.80) | * | 4.5 (1.26) | * | | ••• |
| Florida | 29.1 (1.21) | 23.0 (1.34) | 18.7 (1.18) | 20.0 (0.88) | ⁺ –9.1 | 1.3 |
| Georgia | 27.2 (2.10) | 20.2 (2.21) | 15.9 (2.24) | 18.5 (1.57) | ⁺ –8.7 | 2.6 |
| Hawaii | * | * | 6.1 (1.55) | 3.6 (0.99) | | -2.5 |
| Idaho | 24.3 (2.92) | 21.9 (1.81) | 18.2 (2.36) | 16.7 (2.00) | ⁺ -7.6 | -1.5 |
| Illinois | 17.8 (1.16) | 15.0 (1.26) | 9.9 (1.49) | 8.6 (1.30) | ⁺ –9.2 | -1.3 |
| Indiana | 19.0 (2.29) | 18.3 (2.09) | 14.8 (1.97) | 11.3 (1.60) | ⁺ -7.7 | -3.5 |
| lowa | 11.3 (1.91) | 8.4 (1.51) | 7.1 (1.42) | 5.8 (1.26) | ⁺ –5.5 | -1.3 |
| Kansas | 19.5 (2.60) | 13.9 (1.87) | 13.0 (1.85) | 11.7 (1.84) | ⁺ -7.8 | -1.3 |
| Kentucky | 24.1 (2.19) | 15.6 (2.00) | 8.4 (1.48) | 9.6 (1.73) | ⁺ –14.5 | 1.2 |
| Louisiana | 19.8 (2.33) | 18.9 (2.16) | 15.5 (2.17) | 19.0 (2.32) | -0.8 | 3.5 |
| Maine | 15.9 (1.84) | 16.9 (0.95) | 13.3 (1.96) | 11.4 (2.10) | -4.5 | -1.9 |
| Maryland | 16.4 (2.21) | 12.3 (2.13) | 9.3 (1.72) | 6.8 (1.45) | ⁺ –9.6 | -2.5 |
| Massachusetts | *6.0 (2.12) | *3.8 (1.84) | *3.0 (0.99) | 4.0 (1.13) | -2.0 | 1.0 |
| Michigan | 15.8 (1.38) | 11.6 (1.30) | 8.4 (0.96) | 9.5 (0.94) | ⁺ –6.3 | 1.1 |
| Minnesota | 9.7 (1.72) | 8.0 (1.52) | 6.4 (1.38) | 6.7 (1.19) | -3.0 | 0.3 |
| Mississippi | 24.2 (1.74) | 22.4 (1.57) | 16.2 (2.31) | 18.8 (2.33) | -5.4 | 2.6 |
| Missouri | 20.1 (2.03) | 16.9 (1.97) | 13.9 (2.18) | 13.0 (2.06) | ⁺ –7.1 | -0.9 |
| Montana | * | 18.0 (1.81) | 16.7 (2.34) | 13.6 (2.10) | | -3.1 |
| Nebraska | 18.5 (2.87) | 16.9 (2.14) | 16.1 (2.22) | 13.3 (1.84) | -5.2 | -2.8 |
| Nevada | 29.3 (2.32) | 20.4 (1.86) | 15.1 (1.96) | 14.5 (1.78) | ⁺ –14.8 | -0.6 |
| New Hampshire | 16.1 (2.27) | 11.6 (2.07) | 8.3 (1.63) | 10.0 (1.87) | ⁺ –6.1 | 1.7 |
| New Jersey | 17.5 (1.90) | 12.9 (1.44) | 10.2 (1.45) | 9.9 (1.46) | ⁺ -7.6 | -0.3 |
| New Mexico | * | 18.7 (2.36) | 15.7 (2.11) | 16.9 (2.19) | | 1.2 |
| New York | 13.6 (0.87) | 12.9 (0.90) | 7.0 (0.73) | 7.2 (0.69) | [†] –6.4 | 0.2 |
| North Carolina | 25.6 (1.80) | 22.5 (1.84) | 19.5 (1.84) | 16.2 (1.82) | ⁺ –9.4 | -3.3 |
| North Dakota | * | 9.3 (1.92) | 9.7 (1.79) | * | | |
| Ohio | 16.3 (1.09) | 10.9 (0.91) | 9.3 (0.82) | 8.9 (1.02) | ⁺ -7.4 | -0.4 |
| Oklahoma | 28.3 (2.26) | 26.6 (1.78) | 21.5 (2.42) | 23.6 (2.40) | -4.7 | 2.1 |
| Oregon | 20.4 (2.35) | 13.3 (2.00) | 11.7 (1.91) | 11.1 (1.60) | ⁺ –9.3 | -0.6 |
| Pennsylvania | 16.4 (1.43) | 11.9 (1.20) | 10.9 (1.00) | 8.9 (1.42) | ⁺ -7.5 | -2.0 |
| Rhode Island | 13.1 (2.23) | 9.0 (1.75) | 6.3 (1.40) | 6.1 (1.25) | ⁺ -7.0 | -0.2 |
| South Carolina | 23.2 (2.15) | 21.0 (2.03) | 19.7 (2.53) | 15.0 (2.06) | ⁺ -8.2 | -4.7 |
| South Dakota | * | 13.4 (1.32) | 11.9 (2.00) | * | | |
| Tennessee | 16.2 (2.26) | 14.8 (2.10) | 13.7 (1.97) | 13.3 (1.83) | -2.9 | -0.4 |
| Texas | 28.4 (1.32) | 25.7 (1.03) | 22.5 (1.09) | 25.3 (2.12) | -3.1 | 2.8 |
| Utah | 20.7 (2.04) | 16.2 (1.78) | 13.2 (1.71) | 10.0 (1.46) | ⁺ –10.7 | -3.2 |
| Vermont | * | 9.1 (1.24) | *4.2 (1.34) | * | | |
| Virginia | 16.0 (1.72) | 15.2 (1.66) | 12.4 (1.64) | 13.7 (1.57) | -2.3 | 1.3 |
| Washington | 23.4 (1.77) | 13.3 (1.77) | 11.1 (1.65) | 8.3 (1.39) | ⁺ –15.1 | -2.8 |
| West Virginia | 28.8 (2.17) | 12.2 (2.05) | 8.9 (1.65) | 9.5 (1.65) | ⁺ –19.3 | 0.6 |
| Wisconsin | 11.1 (2.06) | 8.7 (1.91) | 6.0 (1.52) | 8.5 (1.40) | -2.6 | 2.5 |
| Wyoming | * | 15.2 (1.63) | 17.5 (2.27) | * | | |

⁺ Significant difference between years (p < 0.05).

* Estimates are considered unreliable. Data preceded by an asterisk have a relative standard error (RSE) greater than 30% and less than or equal to 50% and should be used with caution. Data not shown have an RSE greater than 50% or could not be shown due to considerations of sample size.

... Category not applicable.

¹Includes all 50 states and the District of Columbia.

NOTES: A person was defined as uninsured if he or she did not have any private health insurance, Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, or military plan. A person was also defined as uninsured if he or she had only Indian Health Service coverage or had only a private plan that paid for one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. These health insurance estimates are being released prior to final data editing and final weighting to provide access to the most recent information from the National Health Interview Survey. The resulting estimates for persons without health insurance are generally 0.1–0.3 percentage points lower than those based on the editing procedures used for the final data files. Occasionally, due to decisions made for the final data editing and weighting, estimates based on preliminary editing procedures may differ by more than 0.3 percentage points from estimates based on final files. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2013–2016, Family Core component.

Table XVIII. Change in percentages (and standard errors) of adults aged 18–64 who had public health plan coverage at the time of interview, by selected states: United States, 2013–2016

| State | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | Difference between 2013 and 2016 (percentage points) | Difference between 2015 and 2016 (percentage points) |
|-------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------|---------------------------|---|--|--|
| All states ¹ | 16 7 (0 25) | 177(0.29) | 18.9 (0.36) | 20.0 (0.38) | †3 3 | † 1 1 |
| Allahama | 18.6 (1.97) | 20.7 (2.46) | 10.9 (0.50) | 20.0 (0.38) | _1.0 | -1 / |
| Alaska | * | 14 2 (2 05) | 17.0 (2.37) | * | 1.0 | 1.7 |
| Arizona | 18 9 (1 89) | 77.2(2.03) | 26.0 (2.28) | 25 9 (2 30) | †7 0 | -0.1 |
| Arkansas | 17.8 (1.96) | 17 7 (2 31) | 18 4 (2 57) | 23.0 (2.36) | 5.2 | 4.6 |
| California | 16.6 (0.67) | 20.4 (0.77) | 24.6 (1.23) | 25.0 (2.50) | [†] 8.6 | 4.0 |
| Colorado | 14 7 (1 74) | 12 3 (1 74) | 173(212) | 25.6 (2.13) | [†] 10.9 | *8 3 |
| Connecticut | 19.6 (1.96) | 20.5 (2.35) | 19.6 (2.12) | 23.0 (2.13) | 5.2 | 5.2 |
| Delaware | 17.8 (2.15) | 20.2 (2.35) | 19.0 (2.45) | 27.2 (2.52) | [†] 9.4 | *8.2 |
| District of Columbia | 22 3 (2 13) | 27.1 (2.63) | 20 1 (2 49) | * | у.т | 0.2 |
| Florida | 17.0 (1.08) | 16.9 (1.20) | 167(124) | 16 7 (0 97) | -0.3 | 0.0 |
| Georgia | 15.0 (1.00) | 16.5 (1.28) | 13.9 (1.69) | 11 7 (1 96) | _3 3 | -2.2 |
| Hawaii | * | 22.0 (2.56) | 20.3 (2.65) | 22.6 (2.09) | 5.5 | 2.2 |
| Idaho | 10.8 (1.83) | 104(171) | 16.8 (2.32) | 14 9 (1 81) | 4 1 | _1 9 |
| Illinois | 14.9 (1.10) | 17 4 (1 49) | 18.0 (1.14) | 18.8 (1.02) | † 3 0 | 0.8 |
| Indiana | 15.0 (1.16) | 13 9 (1 84) | 13 7 (1 93) | 17.6 (1.82) | 26 | 3.9 |
| lowa | 14 1 (1 79) | 13.1 (1.71) | 12.2 (1.84) | 17.0 (1.02) | 3.0 | 49 |
| Kansas | 11.0 (1.66) | 12 8 (1 71) | 93 (162) | 14 1 (1.91) | 3.0 | 4.9 |
| Kentucky | 20.7 (2.03) | 29.5 (2.35) | 32.8 (2.55) | 31 1 (2 58) | [†] 10.4 | -1 7 |
| Louisiana | 18 4 (1 95) | 20.0 (2.55) | 16.0 (2.23) | 19.8 (2.23) | 14 | 3.8 |
| Maine | 19 7 (2 27) | 18 4 (2 11) | 22 2 (2 44) | 22 2 (2 60) | 25 | 0.0 |
| Maryland | 17.2 (1.90) | 18 7 (2.11) | 22.2 (2.44) | 20.1 (2.18) | 2.5 | -0.7 |
| Marsachusetts | 25 5 (1.90) | 73.7 (2.23) | 20.0 (2.+5) | 25.8 (2.41) | 0.3 | -0.7 |
| Michigan | 25.5 (1.55) 15 / (1.13) | 10 0 (1 82) | 25.5 (1.86) | 23.3 (2.41) | 18 Q | _1 2 |
| Minnesota | 15 7 (1.15) | 13.5 (1.86) | 23.3 (1.60) | 24.3 (2.44) 11 0 (1 46) | _3.8 | -1.2 |
| Miniesola | 20.8 (2.04) | 17.0 (7.80) | 9.7 (1.09) 10 7 (2 53) | 11.9 (1. 4 0) 22.0 (2.34) | -5.8 | 2.2 |
| Missouri | 20.0 (2.04) 1 <i>1 1</i> (1.77) | 17.0 (2.14) | 12.0 (2.03) | 13 / (1 07) | -1.0 | 2.5 1 / |
| Montana | * | 199(255) | 19.7 (2.53) | 73.4 (7.57) | 1.0 | 3.7 |
| Nebraska | 11 9 (1 89) | 10.4 (1.69) | 8 2 (1 68) | 90(146) | -29 | 0.8 |
| Nevada | 13 1 (1 76) | 15.0 (1.94) | 21.8 (2.29) | 20 1 (1 91) | [†] 7 0 | -1 7 |
| New Hampshire | 10 3 (1 72) | 94 (163) | 17.8 (2.20) | 15 1 (2 11) | 4.8 | -2.7 |
| New Jersey | 12 5 (1 31) | 11 9 (1 47) | 13.2 (1.65) | 21.0 (1.88) | +.0 †8 5 | 2.7 †7.8 |
| New Mexico | 12.3 (1.31) | 27.6 (2.65) | 34 5 (2 79) | 34.0 (2.62) | 0.5 | -0.5 |
| New York | 24.6 (1.40) | 25.1 (1.42) | 24.6 (1.19) | 22 7 (0 47) | _1 9 | -1.9 |
| North Carolina | 14 5 (1 31) | 16.9 (1.70) | 17.5 (2.16) | 16 1 (2.08) | 1.5 | _1.9 |
| North Dakota | * | 87(161) | 10.1 (1.85) | * | 1.0 | 1.7 |
| Ohio | 188(172) | 21 3 (1 52) | 23.8 (2.00) | 236(122) | †4 8 | -0.2 |
| Oklahoma | 17.6 (1.95) | 19.2 (2.09) | 14.4 (2.10) | 15 3 (1.92) | -2.3 | 0.9 |
| Oregon | 13.0 (1.55) | 21 3 (2 28) | 23 1 (2 54) | 24 2 (2.06) | ⁺ 11 2 | 1 1 |
| Pennsylvania | 14.1 (0.96) | 13.8 (1.45) | 178(122) | 194(137) | †5 3 | 1.6 |
| Rhode Island | 21.6 (2.28) | 18.3 (2.13) | 18.4 (2.27) | 14.0 (1.71) | [†] –7.6 | -4.4 |
| South Carolina | 23 5 (2 19) | 22 9 (2 43) | 20.8 (2.61) | 20.6 (2.21) | -2.9 | -0.2 |
| South Dakota | * | 11.9 (1.81) | 15.6 (2.28) | * | 2.9 | 0.2 |
| Tennessee | 21.1 (2.14) | 20.5 (2.22) | 21.2 (2.38) | 25.5 (2.22) | 4.4 | 4.3 |
| Texas | 12.9 (0.76) | 11.7 (0.66) | 10.4 (0.56) | 12.5 (0.70) | -0.4 | +2.1 |
| Utah | 8.8 (1.33) | 10.5 (1.51) | 8.8 (1.45) | 6.6 (1.14) | -2.2 | -2.2 |
| Vermont | * | 21.1 (2.64) | 20,7 (2,75) | * | | |
| Virginia | 17.5 (1 57) | 15.6 (1.81) | 17.2 (1 90) | 18.9 (1 69) | 1 4 | 17 |
| Washington | 13 5 (1 51) | 16.7 (1.86) | 21.8 (2 20) | 22 6 (2 00) | [†] 9 1 | 0.8 |
| West Virginia | 24 6 (2 19) | 27 8 (2 47) | 35 1 (2 81) | 28.9 (2.00) | 43 | -6.2 |
| Wisconsin | 16.5 (1.88) | 14.1 (2.04) | 18.5 (2.51) | 18.1 (1.83) | 1.5 | -0.4 |
| Wyoming | * | 10.0 (1.71) | 16.1 (2.23) | * | | |
| | | | • | | | |

⁺ Significant difference between years (p < 0.05).

* Estimates are considered unreliable. Data preceded by an asterisk have a relative standard error (RSE) greater than 30% and less than or equal to 50% and should be used with caution. Data not shown have an RSE greater than 50% or could not be shown due to considerations of sample size.

... Category not applicable.

¹Includes all 50 states and the District of Columbia.

NOTES: Public coverage includes Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), state-sponsored or other government-sponsored health plan, Medicare, and military plans. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories. These health insurance estimates are being released prior to final data editing and final weighting to provide access to the most recent information from the National Health Interview Survey. Occasionally, due to decisions made for the final data editing and weighting, estimates based on preliminary editing procedures may differ by more than 0.3 percentage points from estimates based on final files. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2013–2016, Family Core component.

Table XIX. Change in percentages (and standard errors) of adults aged 18–64 who private health insurance coverage at the time of interview, by selected states: United States, 2013–2016

| State | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | Difference between 2013 and 2016 (percentage points) | Difference between 2015 and 2016 (percentage points) |
|------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|
| | | | | | (F | (p = |
| All states' | 64.2 (0.38) | 67.3 (0.37) | 69.7 (0.44) | 69.2 (0.41) | 5.0 | -0.5 |
| Alabama | 67.1 (2.86) | 68.3 (3.10) | 69.8 (3.51) | 69.2 (3.23) | 2.1 | -0.6 |
| Alaska | * | 63.3 (3.11) | 67.5 (3.54) | * | | |
| Arizona | 58.9 (2.85) | 59.4 (2.87) | 60.9 (3.21) | 63.0 (3.31) | 4.1 | 2.1 |
| Arkansas | 56.0 (3.06) | 68.0 (3.10) | 68.8 (3.58) | 67.2 (3.44) | 11.2 | -1.6 |
| California | 60.7 (0.99) | 63.9 (1.10) | 65.1 (1.40) | 66.4 (1.30) | *5.7 | 1.3 |
| Colorado | 68.3 (2.75) | 75.1 (2.52) | 74.7 (2.84) | 65.0 (3.04) | -3.3 | ⁺–9.7 |
| Connecticut | 67.6 (2.78) | 70.3 (2.91) | 73.9 (3.13) | 69.8 (3.21) | 2.2 | -4.1 |
| Delaware | 70.3 (3.10) | 74.8 (2.79) | 75.0 (3.05) | 69.3 (3.50) | -1.0 | -5.7 |
| District of Columbia | 73.6 (2.72) | 69.6 (2.99) | 75.9 (3.09) | * | | |
| Florida | 54.5 (1.53) | 61.0 (1.32) | 66.0 (1.57) | 64.4 (1.34) | [†] 9.9 | -1.6 |
| Georgia | 58.6 (1.94) | 64.3 (1.96) | 71.5 (2.37) | 70.6 (3.04) | ⁺ 12.0 | -0.9 |
| Hawaii | * | 76.2 (2.89) | 74.2 (3.35) | 75.2 (2.81) | | 1.0 |
| Idaho | 66.3 (3.35) | 68.9 (2.84) | 66.9 (3.39) | 70.9 (3.00) | 4.6 | 4.0 |
| Illinois | 68.8 (1.81) | 69.2 (1.78) | 73.3 (2.27) | 74.3 (2.08) | [†] 5.5 | 1.0 |
| Indiana | 68.0 (2.77) | 68.8 (2.70) | 72.3 (2.92) | 72.4 (2.78) | 4.4 | 0.1 |
| lowa | 75.9 (2.65) | 79.2 (2.26) | 81.4 (2.54) | 78.2 (2.73) | 2.3 | -3.2 |
| Kansas | 71.1 (2.90) | 75.0 (2.43) | 79.0 (2.64) | 75.6 (3.04) | 4.5 | -3.4 |
| Kentucky | 57.7 (2.98) | 56.6 (2.80) | 60.8 (3.08) | 61.3 (3.54) | 3.6 | 0.5 |
| Louisiana | 63.9 (2.91) | 62.1 (2.85) | 70.0 (3.24) | 62.3 (3.53) | -1.6 | -7.7 |
| Maine | 65.4 (3.27) | 66.1 (2.82) | 64.6 (3.26) | 68.5 (3.79) | 3.1 | 3.9 |
| Maryland | 67.6 (2.83) | 70.9 (2.85) | 71.1 (3.15) | 74.4 (3.09) | 6.8 | 3.3 |
| Massachusetts | 69.4 (2.53) | 73.8 (2.63) | 75.5 (2.95) | 73.5 (3.17) | 4.1 | -2.0 |
| Michigan | 70.5 (1.93) | 69.8 (2.61) | 68.4 (2.11) | 68.6 (3.03) | -1.9 | 0.2 |
| Minnesota | 75.5 (2.58) | 79.4 (2.42) | 84.5 (2.40) | 82.9 (2.21) | ⁺ 7.4 | -1.6 |
| Mississippi | 56.1 (3.00) | 63.0 (3.02) | 66.6 (3.49) | 60.9 (3.58) | 4.8 | -5.7 |
| Missouri | 67.5 (2.84) | 70.4 (2.80) | 76.3 (3.16) | 75.9 (3.22) | ⁺ 8.4 | -0.4 |
| Montana | * | 64.8 (3.35) | 65.1 (3.53) | 65.3 (3.60) | | 0.2 |
| Nebraska | 72.1 (3.15) | 73.9 (2.67) | 76.7 (3.00) | 78.5 (2.73) | 6.4 | 1.8 |
| Nevada | 58.2 (3.10) | 66.4 (2.81) | 65.1 (3.07) | 66.8 (2.92) | [†] 8.6 | 1.7 |
| New Hampshire | 74.3 (2.98) | 80.5 (2.43) | 75.7 (2.99) | 78.0 (3.18) | 3.7 | 2.3 |
| New Jersev | 71.3 (2.16) | 76.3 (2.12) | 78.2 (2.33) | 71.1 (2.73) | -0.2 | ⁺ -7.1 |
| New Mexico | * | 55.7 (3.22) | 52.4 (3.41) | 50.8 (3.61) | | -1.6 |
| New York | 63.2 (1.61) | 63.3 (1.72) | 70.1 (1.57) | 71.9 (0.88) | *8.7 | 1.8 |
| North Carolina | 60.7 (2.41) | 62.5 (2.69) | 64.8 (3.29) | 69.3 (3.08) | [†] 8.6 | 4.5 |
| North Dakota | * | 83.7 (2.31) | 81.6 (2.76) | * | | |
| Ohio | 66.0 (2.08) | 69.6 (1.87) | 67.9 (2.13) | 69.0 (1.26) | 3.0 | 1.1 |
| Oklahoma | 56.0 (3.06) | 55 8 (2 88) | 65 3 (3 31) | 62 8 (3 36) | 6.8 | -25 |
| Oregon | 67 8 (2 82) | 67 1 (2.87) | 66 6 (3 30) | 66 9 (2 95) | -0.9 | 0.3 |
| Pennsylvania | 71 3 (1 69) | 756(173) | 73 2 (1 71) | 73 6 (2 38) | 23 | 0.4 |
| Rhode Island | 68.0 (3.11) | 747(263) | 77 9 (2 83) | 82 5 (2.45) | [†] 14 5 | 4.6 |
| South Carolina | 54 5 (3 10) | 57 7 (3 13) | 63 3 (3 60) | 66 7 (3 35) | †12.2 | 3.4 |
| South Dakota | * | 75 8 (2 63) | 74 0 (3 20) | * | 12.2 | 5.4 |
| Tennessee | 65 3 (3 01) | 66 8 (2.84) | 66.8 (3.19) | 64.2 (3.19) | _1 1 | -26 |
| Тоузс | 59.9 (1.52) | 63 5 (1 19) | 68.2 (1.16) | 63 2 (2 /11) | 3.3 | -5.0 |
| litab | 71 7 (2 55) | 75 0 (2 35) | 78 5 (2.45) | 83.0 (2.71) | 5.5 †12.2 | -5.0 5.4 |
| Vormont | /1./ (2.55) * | 70.0 (2.35) | 76.3 (2.43) | 83.9 (2.20) * | 12.2 | 5.4 |
| Virginia | 69 9 (7 21) | 70.0 (3.23) | 7,5,5,7,7) 7,5,7,7,5,7) | 60 1 (2 60) | ··· | A 6 |
| Virginia Washington | 00.0 (2.31) 61 9 (2.51) | 70.9 (2.49) 71 2 (2.47) | 1 J.1 (2.38) | 71 6 (2.00) | 0.5 | -4.0 |
| wasnington | 04.8 (2.54) | / I.Z (Z.4/) | 09.1 (2.80) | / I.O (2.81) | 0.ð †14.2 | 2.5 |
| Wisconsin | 49.3 (3.07) 72 9 (2 69) | 02.7 (2.92) 70 A (2.65) | 27.3 (3.30) 79 5 (2.00) | 03.2 (3.33) 74 4 (2.70) | 14.2 | 4.2 |
| Wisconsin | / 3.8 (2.68) | / 8.4 (2.65) | 78.5 (3.09) | /4.4 (2.70) * | 0.6 | -4.1 |
| wyoming | * | /0.3 (2.66) | 69.6 (3.23) | o ' | | |

⁺ Significant difference between years (p < 0.05).

* Estimates are considered unreliable. Data preceded by an asterisk have a relative standard error (RSE) greater than 30% and less than or equal to 50% and should be used with caution. Data not shown have an RSE greater than 50% or could not be shown due to considerations of sample size.

... Category not applicable.

¹Includes all 50 states and the District of Columbia.

NOTES: Private coverage includes any comprehensive private insurance plan (including health maintenance and preferred provider organizations). These plans include those obtained through an employer, purchased directly, purchased through local or community programs, or purchased through the Health Insurance Marketplace or a state-based exchange. Private coverage excludes plans that pay for only one type of service, such as accidents or dental care. A small number of persons were covered by both public and private plans and were included in both categories. These health insurance estimates are being released prior to final data editing and final weighting to provide access to the most recent information from the National Health Interview Survey. Occasionally, due to decisions made for the final data editing and weighting, estimates based on preliminary editing procedures may differ by more than 0.3 percentage points from estimates based on final files. Data are based on household interviews of a sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population.

SOURCE: NCHS, National Health Interview Survey, 2013–2016, Family Core component.



Health Care is Local: Impact of Income and Geography on Premiums and Premium Support

Trish Riley and Christina Cousart

The American Health Care Act (AHCA) proposes a change in how and to whom premium tax credits are dispersed, proposing a rate adjusted only by age. The Affordable Care Act (ACA) bases its premium tax credit calculation on three factors: age, income and local cost of insurance premiums. While there has been extensive discussion of the impact of eliminating premium support based on consumers' income, there has been relatively little on what happens when credits are not adjusted based on where a consumer lives. By failing to account for local variation, a premium tax credit structure could lead to increases in premiums and out-of-pocket costs paid by consumers while also potentially reducing plan availability for those who live in relatively high cost and rural areas of each state.

This issue brief provides an overview of the context and potential impact of changing the health insurance premium tax credit structure from one that factors for age, income, and local premium costs to one that considers only age. The brief underscores that, while cost variation is often framed as comparing costs between states, in reality costs vary widely within state borders leading to large differences in insurance premiums and out-of-pocket spending. An accompanying <u>State Chart Book</u>, leveraging data available from the Kaiser Family Foundation¹, further illustrates estimated variation in premiums, premium spending by consumers, and estimated tax credits organized by state and select counties. The analysis illustrates predicted differences between the ACA and AHCA's tax credit structures in 2020, showing stark examples of potential differences in consumer premium spending.

Map 1. Health Insurance Marketplace Second Lowest Cost Silver Plan, Monthly Premium by County, 2017 (Calculated for 40-year old individual, non-smoker)



Source: http://nashp.org/health-insurance-marketplace-second-lowest-cost-silver-plan-by-county-2017/

What is Geographic Rating?

Insurance rating allows insurers to adjust premiums to differences in the costs of care that vary by region, and for different age groups and populations. Historically the most "rating factor" has been health status or pre-existing conditions of insurance applicants. Under the ACA, however, a number of factors – such as prior health conditions – are not allowed to be used as a rating factor. In contrast, rating based on geography remains an allowable form of insurance rating.

The AHCA preserves regulation of geographic rating instituted under the Affordable Care Act which continues to provide states to the number and borders of their geographic rating areas. However, it eliminates any adjustment to the tax credits to offset higher health care costs in different rating areas. The AHCA also continues the current policy that states may opt to essentially negate geographic rating by g only a single rating area.² The majority of states opted to implement rating areas that aligned with methods used prior to passage of the Affordable Care Act, mostly based around counties.³ States have some discretion in the number of rating areas they apply. Seven states have a single rating area (DE, DC, HI, NH, NJ, RI, VT), while Florida has 67 (See Table 1).⁴

What Drives the Need for Geographic Rating?

Health care costs vary by geography. Market realities prohibit the ability of insurers to remain competitive and sustainable in a regionally-based market without accounting for geographic factors. , insurers must have some capacity to respond to regional disparities in the underlying cost of health care generated by:

 Variation in the cost of services within and between regions. Studies have documented wide variation in the cost of services, even when accounting for differences in income, demography and health status within regions.^{5,6} One likely driver is wide variation in the prices set for health care services (see map 2). ^{7, 8, 9, 10} Price

| Table 1. Number of Rating Areas by State | | | |
|--|---|--|--|
| # of rating areas | States | | |
| 1 | DE, DC, HI, NH, NJ, RI, VT | | |
| 2-5 | AK, WY, ME, MD, MT, NV, ND, NE, NM, OK, SD, WA | | |
| 6-10 | AR, AZ, CO, CT, IA, ID, KS, KY, LA, MA, MN, MO, MS, NY, OR, TN, UT, PA, | | |
| 11-15 | WV, AL, VA, IL | | |
| 16-20 | GA, MI, NC, WI, IN, OH, CA | | |
| 21+ | TX (26), SC (46), FL (67) | | |

variation – both within and between regions – is especially problematic for private insurance, which, in contrast to Medicare and Medicaid, has an array of health plans with differing market position negotiating with an array of providers. One study of employer-sponsored insurance found that the price of knee replacement surgery could range from \$21,300 to \$45,000 depending the hospital used in New York City.¹¹ A comparison of pricing of procedures in California found that in the Bay Area, the negotiated rate paid by insurance plans for knee replacement surgery ranged from \$47,600 to \$74,700; while the difference in Los Angeles was from \$26,200 to \$43,800.¹² A Blue Cross Blue Shield Association study of non-Medicare members found that the cost of hip-replacements could range from \$11,327 to \$73,987 nationally.¹³

- Lack of provider competition. Lack of provider competition in some geographic areas gives available providers market power to set rates for services. A study by the National Bureau of Economic Research found that prices charged by hospitals in monopoly markets was 15.3 percent higher than in markets with four or more hospitals.¹⁴
- Lack of health plan competition. In areas with more potential enrollment and higher interest by health plans to participate, there is more competition among health plans who seek lower rates and gain market share. Moreover, more enrollees means that health plans can spread risk across a greater population base, leading to reduced premiums.¹⁵
- Prevalence of rural communities. Health care costs are often notably higher in rural communities which experience all or some combination of the factors described above, especially lack of market competition from health plans and providers and challenges associated with unique health concerns of populations in these areas.^{16, 17, 18} Colorado, for example, has documented a nearly 36% differential in the annual cost of services for individuals in its "mountain communities" versus in the rating area including Boulder, its lowest-cost region¹⁹



Map 2. In-state variation of private insurance health insurance expenditures

Map based on employer sponsored health plan data collected from UnitedHealthCare, Aetna, and Humana by the Health Care Cost Institute. Data are estimated represent about 14 percent of the U.S. population.

Source: Kevin Quealy and Margot Sanger-Katz. "The Experts Were Wrong About the Best Places for Better Care and Cheaper Health Care." The New York Times. Published December 15, 2015. Accessible here: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/12/15/upshot/</u> the-best-places-for-better-cheaper-health-care-arent-what-experts-thought.html

How does Geographic Rating Affect Premiums?

Geographic rating differences in health care prices and thus allows large disparities in insurance premiums charged through the individual health insurance marketplaces. Effective geographic rating can provide incentives for insurers to enter markets where prices are higher and eligible populations more sparse, or bring greater competition into lower-cost, lower-risk regions of a state.

The gap between high- and low-cost regions is universal and exists in most states²¹, as detailed in the State Focus summaries. While some states have very large differentials – such as the seven states in which the highest cost regions are more than two times the costs of the lowest cost regions (AZ, FL, GA, IL, MI, PA, and TX) – in other states the costs may vary as little as ten percent between lowest and highest-cost regions.) (See Map 1).

Health care is local and allowing health plans to develop regional pricing goes hand in hand with enabling them to develop products with networks tailored to regional markets. For example, health plans can offer products organized around local provider networks and targeted toward Health plans that chose to have a regional focus also may promote local negotiations and work toward a geographic area rather than expending resources to execute contracts statewide.

Mitigating the Effects of Geographic Disparities

Geographic rating allows health plans to charge consumers in high cost areas more than those in low cost areas. As a result, consumers receive disparate value from dollars spent toward health care, including insurance premiums. The ACA partially addressed this issue, by using the "second lowest Silver Plan" in the regions where eligible individuals live as a factor in determining the amount of premium tax credit received. In short, tax credits are adjusted to areas with higher costs. The AHCA proposes a reduced and credit based on age. While this sets a national standard, this strategy means consumers in high-cost regions will experience higher costs. As illustrated by the State Chart Book, stark extremes could exist in changes to consumer premium spending between the AHCA's tax credit methodology and that of the ACA. For example, a 27-year old making \$30,000 a year living in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania could expect to pay \$1,210 per year more for premiums under the AHCA as compared with the ACA, while a similar individual living in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania could expect to save \$1,960 per year in premium expenses under the AHCA. A 60-year old making \$30,000 could expected to spend \$3,030 more in Allegheny County and \$14,980 more in Lancaster County under the AHCA (See Chart 1).

Chart 1. Estimated Premium Cost to Consumer after Tax Credit under the ACA and AHCA in High and Low Cost Counties in Pennsylvania, 2020 (estimated for individual making \$30,000 per year



Conclusion

Differences in health care costs, and insurer and provider competition drive regional variation in insurance premiums across and within states. Current law, through the ACA, accounts for these regional differences. Policymakers should carefully assess the impact of these differences as a key factor in analyzing proposals to change the ACA tax credit structure. Premium tax credit structures that do not account for regional premium variation will mitigate how effectively tax credits are able to improve affordability of insurance, especially for those in high-cost regions.

Endnotes

4

- 1. Kaiser Family Foundation, "Premiums and Tax Credits Under the Affordable Care Act vs. the American Health Care Act: Interactive Maps," Accessed on June 7, 2017. <u>http://www.kff.org/interactive/tax-credits-under-the-affordable-care-act-vs-replacement-proposal-interactive-map/</u>
- Rating areas may be set based on counties, three-digit zip-code, or Metropolitan Statistical of high-population density Seven states use the MSA method (TX, AL, VA, WY, ND, NM, OK), three use zip codes (AK, MA, NE), and one uses a combination method (CA).
- 3. New Jersey, for example, created a single rating area for its individual market pursuant to prevailing state law. Implementing the Affordable Care Act: State Approaches to Premium Rate Reforms in the Individual Health Insurance Market

Areas," Accessed on

June 7, 2017 https://www.cms.gov/cciio/programs-and-initiatives/health-insurance-market-reforms/state-gra.html

 ferences in age, sex, health status, demography, and insurance markets, a large amount of geographic variation remains unexplained.

Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, "Variation in Health Care Spending; Target Decision Making, Not Geography," accessed on June 7, 2017 http://www.nationalacademies.org/hmd/~/media/Files/Report%20Files/2013/Geographic-Variation2/geovariation_slides.pdf

- Committee on Geographic Variation in Health Care Spending and Promotion of High-Value Care; Board of Health Care Services; Institute of Medicine. "Variation in Health Care Spending: Target Decision Making, Not Geography," accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK201643/</u>
- Cooper, Z., Craig, S., Gaynor, M., Reenen, J., "The Price Ain't Right? Hospital Prices and Health Spending on the Privately Insured," accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>http://www</u>_____
- 8. Newman, D., Parente, S., Barrette, E., Kennedy, K., "Prices for Common Medical Services Vary Substantially Among the Commercially Insured,"

 $accessed \ on \ June \ 7, 2017 \ \underline{http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/35/5/923.full?keytype=ref&siteid=healthaff&ijkey=YtK26xXyamaVQ$

- Weinstein, J., Lurie, J., Olsen, P., et al., "United States' Trends and Regional Variation in Lumbar Spine Surgery: 1992-2003," accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17077740</u>
- 10. Skinner, J., Fisher
 ariations in U.S. Health Care," accessed on June 7, 2017 http://www.dartmouthatlas.org/

 downloads/press/Skinner_Fisher_DA_05_10.pdf
- 11. Quealy, K., Sanger-Katz, M., "The Experts Were Wrong about the Best Places for Better and Cheaper Health Care," accessed on June 7, 2017 https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/12/15/upshot/the-best-places-for-better-cheaper-health-care-arent-what-experts-thought.html
- 12. Cost estimates available from California Healthcare Compare. Data accessible at: <u>http://www.consumerreports.org/cro/2015/09/about-california-healthcare-compare/index.htm</u>
- 13. Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, "Blue Cross Blue Shied Association Study Reveals Extreme Cost Variations for Knee and Hip Replacement Surgeries," https://www.bcbs.com/news/press-releases/blue-cross-blue-shield-association-study-reveals-extreme-cost-variations-knee
- 14. Study focused on claims for private employer-sponsored coverage. Cooper, Z., Craig, S., Gaynor, M., Reenen, J., "The Price Ain't Right? Hospital Prices and Health Spending on the Privately Insured," accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>http://www.healthcarepricingproject.org/sites/default/</u>
- Barker, A., McBride, T., Kemper, L., Mueller, K., "Health Insurance Marketplaces: Early Findings on Changes in Plan Availability and Premiums in Rural Places, 2014-2015," accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>https://www.public-health.uiowa.edu/rupri/publications/policybriefs/2015/Health%20</u> <u>Insurance%20Marketplaces.pdf</u>
- 16. Rural Health Research Gateway. "Geographic Variation in Health Insurance Marketplaces: Rural and Urban Trends in Enrollment, Firm Participation, Premiums, and Cost Sharing in 2016," Presentation delivered on August 9, 2016. Accessible at: <u>https://www.ruralhealthresearch.org/webinars/geographic-variation-health-insurance-marketplace</u>
- 17. National Advisory Committee on Rural Health and Human Services, "Affordable Care Act Plans and Premiums in Rural America," accessed on June 7, 2017 https://www.hrsa.gov/advisorycommittees/rural/publications/plansruralamerica.pdf
- 18. National Association of Insurance Commissioners, "HCRAWG State Rate Review Subgroup Discussion Paper on Geographic Area Rating Factors." accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>http://www.naic.org/documents/committees_b_ha_tf_related_docs_aca_rating.pdf</u>
- 19. Colorado Division of Insurance. "Single Geographic Rating Area Study," accessed on June 7, 2017 <u>https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/0Bwgu</u> Xutc4vbpZjq5a2hPUW0tbjg
- 20. Excluding states that use a single rating area for health insurance premiums.

About the National Academy for State Health Policy:

The National Academy for State Health Policy (NASHP) is an independent academy of state health policymakers working together to identify emerging issues, develop policy solutions, and improve state health policy and practice. dedicated to helping states achieve excellence in health policy and practice, NASHP provides a forum on critical health issues across branches and agencies of state government. NASHP resources are available at: www.nashp.org.

Acknowledgments:

These products were made possible through generous support from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. We are also grateful for the work of the Kaiser Family Foundation whose data we leveraged for this analysis (available at: http://www.kff.org/interactive/tax-credits-under-the-affordable-care-act-vs-replacement-proposal-interactive-map/). We send special thanks to the policy teams at Covered California for their analytic assistance, especially Isaac Menashe, Andrew Feher and Katie Ravel.

NASHP is solely responsible for the content of these documents.



June 2017 | Issue Brief

How ACA Repeal and Replace Proposals Could Affect Coverage and Premiums for Older Adults and Have Spillover Effects for Medicare

Tricia Neuman, Karen Pollitz, and Larry Levitt

Now that the House has passed its bill to repeal and replace the Affordable Care Act (ACA), Senate negotiators face a number of policy decisions that could be of particular interest to older adults who are not quite old enough for Medicare. Prior to the ACA, adults in their fifties and early 60s were arguably most at risk in the private health insurance market. They were more likely than younger adults to be diagnosed with certain conditions, like cancer and diabetes, for which insurers denied coverage. They were also more likely to face unaffordable premiums because insurers had broad latitude (in nearly all states) to set high premiums for older and sicker enrollees.

The ACA included several provisions that aimed to address problems older adults faced in finding more affordable health insurance coverage, including guaranteed access to insurance, limits on age rating, and a prohibition on premium surcharges for people with pre-existing conditions.

The <u>House-passed American Health Care</u> Act (AHCA) would make a number of changes to current law that would result in a 5.1 million increase in the number of uninsured 50-64-year-olds in 2026, according to <u>CBO's updated analysis</u> (Figure 1).

These changes would disproportionately affect older adults with incomes below 200% of poverty. Adults age 50-64 with incomes below 200% of the poverty level would see the biggest loss of coverage under the AHCA – a 150% increase in the number of uninsured in 2026 relative to current law, compared to 90% for all



adults. CBO projects the share of low-income older adults who are uninsured would rise from 12% under current law to 29% under the AHCA by 2026.

The increase in the number and share of uninsured older adults would be due to the following provisions in the AHCA:

- 1. *Age Bands*. The AHCA broadens the limits on age bands established under the ACA, a change that is likely to lead to higher premiums for older enrollees. The ACA prohibits insurers from charging older adults more than 3-times the premium amount for younger adults. The House bill would allow insurers to charge older adults five times more than younger adults, beginning in 2018. States would have flexibility to establish different age bands (broader or narrower).
- 2. State Waivers. The AHCA allows states to seek waivers that, if approved, would allow insurers to opt out of the ACA's community rating and benefit requirements. Insurers in these states could charge a higher premium to an applicant with a pre-existing condition <u>who had a lapse in coverage</u> of 63 days or more. <u>Before the ACA</u>, insurers in nearly all states could deny non-group coverage for people with pre-existing conditions or charge them higher premiums. These waivers would lower premiums for people who are healthy, but raise premiums and out-of-pocket costs for people who are sick.

Because many health problems and pre-existing conditions tend to increase with age, the opt-out could particularly affect older adults. For example, 47% of adults age 60-64 have a pre-existing condition that would have led to a denial of coverage pre-ACA, compared to 27% of nonelderly adults overall **(Figure 2)**.

3. *Tax Credits*. The AHCA <u>changes the</u> way that premium tax credits are <u>calculated</u>, providing lower premium subsidies for low-income adults, relative to the ACA – a change that would have a particularly pronounced effect for low-income older adults.



The combination of higher premiums (due to wider age bands) and lower tax credits (especially for those with lower incomes) will result in higher out-of-pocket premiums for older adults.

CBO's updated analysis illustrates how these proposed changes to the non-group market result in substantially higher premiums for low-income older adults. According to CBO, a 64-year-old adult living on an income of \$26,500 would, on average nationwide, pay a premium of \$1,700 under current law in 2026, after receiving a tax credit of \$13,600. Under the AHCA, the tax credit for that 64-year-old would fall to \$4,900, resulting in an average out-of-pocket premium in states not seeking waivers of \$16,100. That premium would also be for a plan, according to CBO's estimates, with a higher deductible than under current law.

Even in states that waive federal market regulations for benefits and community rating, the out-of-pocket premium for this low-income 64-year-old would rise to \$13,600. The impact on higher income 64-year-olds relative to current law would be more modest, since AHCA tax credits do not phase out by income like the ACA.

The effects would <u>vary geographically</u>, since AHCA tax credits (unlike ACA credits) do not vary based on actual local premiums. For example, in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina (an area with particularly high premiums), a 60-year-old enrollee with income of \$20,000 would pay \$960 per year in premiums in 2020 for a mid-range plan under the ACA and would pay \$19,060 for equivalent coverage under the AHCA. The increased premiums would be less pronounced in areas with lower premiums. But, given the effects of changes under the AHCA in allowed premium variation due to age, low and middle income older adults would see increases in premiums in almost all areas of the country (as shown <u>here</u>). Older adults with higher incomes would fare better, since they would receive premium tax credits under the AHCA but not the ACA.

4. *Medicaid*. Changes to Medicaid could also affect coverage and costs for low-income older adults, depending on how states respond to new financial arrangements in the AHCA. The AHCA would limit federal funds for states that have elected to expand coverage under Medicaid, repealing the ACA's higher federal match for these expansion states as of January 2020. This provision – along with a cap on the growth in federal Medicaid funding over time on a per capita basis – is expected to result in 14 million people losing Medicaid coverage by 2026, some of whom would no doubt be older adults. In 2013, about 6.5 million 50-64-year-olds relied on Medicaid for their health insurance coverage.¹

The loss of coverage for adults in their 50s and early 60s could have ripple effects for Medicare, a possibility that has received little attention. If the AHCA results in a loss of health insurance for a meaningful number of people in their late 50s and early 60s, as CBO projects, there is good reason to believe that people who lose insurance will delay care, if they can, until they turn 65 and go on Medicare, and then use more services once on Medicare. This could cause Medicare to increase, and when Medicare spending rises, premiums and cost-sharing do too.

A <u>2007 study</u> published in the *New England Journal of Medicine* that looked at previously uninsured Medicare beneficiaries helps explain this dynamic. It showed a direct relationship between lack of insurance (pre-65) to higher service use and spending (post-65). Previously uninsured adults were more likely than those with insurance to report a decline in health, and a decline in health (pre-65) was associated with 23.4% more doctor visits and 37% more hospitalizations after age 65. Depending on the number of people who lose coverage and how long they remain uninsured, the impact for Medicare may initially be modest, but could compound with time.

In addition, <u>the AHCA would repeal the Medicare payroll tax</u> imposed on high earners, a change that would accelerate the insolvency of the Medicare Hospital Insurance Trust Fund and put the financing of future Medicare benefits at greater risk for current and future generations of older adults – another factor to consider as this debate moves forward.

This issue brief was funded in part by The Retirement Research Foundation.

Endnotes

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation Headquarters: 2400 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025 | Phone 650-854-9400 Washington Offices and Barbara Jordan Conference Center: 1330 G Street, NW, Washington, DC 20005 | Phone 202-347-5270

www.kff.org | Email Alerts: kff.org/email | facebook.com/KaiserFamilyFoundation | twitter.com/KaiserFamFound

Filling the need for trusted information on national health issues, the Kaiser Family Foundation is a nonprofit organization based in Menlo Park, California.

¹ Kaiser Family Foundation analysis of MSIS data, 2013.



June 2017 | Issue Brief

State Flexibility to Address Health Insurance Challenges under the American Health Care Act, H.R. 1628

Gary Claxton, Karen Pollitz, and Larry Levitt

The American Health Care Act, as passed by the House, (HR 1628 or AHCA) would make significant changes to the insurance market provisions established by the Affordable Care Act (ACA) and to the financial assistance provided to people who purchase non-group coverage. The proposal would reduce the federal role in health coverage and devolve authority to states over key market rules and consumer protections affecting access and affordability, albeit with federal back-up provisions if states fail to take action. This brief outlines the provisions in the AHCA providing flexibility for states and addresses some of the issues and tradeoffs they could face.

The AHCA would dramatically reduce federal spending on health coverage between 2018 and 2026, lowering federal contributions to Medicaid by \$834 billion and subsidies for non-group health insurance by an additional \$290 billion.¹ The AHCA also would eliminate the tax penalty for people who do not have health insurance, replacing it with a premium surcharge (30% for up to one year) for non-group enrollees who have a gap of insurance of at least 63 days in the previous year. The tax penalty for employers that do not offer coverage to full-time workers also would be repealed. Overall, CBO estimates that the AHCA changes would result in an additional 23 million people being uninsured in 2026.²

To offset a portion of the federal spending reductions, the AHCA would create a federal fund called the Patient and State Stability Fund ("Fund.") The bill appropriates up to \$123 billion between 2018 and 2026 that states could use for a number of designated purposes related to coverage and the costs of care, plus an additional \$15 billion for a federal invisible risk sharing program that states would have the option to administer. States also would have flexibility to modify important insurance provisions: through waivers, they could extend rate variation due to age, modify the essential health benefits, or permit insurers to use an applicant's health as a rating factor for individuals applying for coverage if they have had a coverage gap in the year prior to their enrollment.

In the next sections, we describe the Fund and the waiver authority in the AHCA. After that, we discuss some of the issues and tradeoffs that states would need to address with the flexibility and funds provided.

Patient and State Stability Fund

The AHCA creates a new grant program that makes up to \$123 billion available to states between 2018 and 2026. Of that, \$100 billion (\$15 billion for each of 2018 and 2019 and \$10 billion each year from 2020 to 2026) would be available for a number of purposes described below, although in its estimate, CBO assumed that most of the funds would be used to reduce premiums or increase benefits in the non-group market.³ An

additional \$15 billion would be available in 2020 for maternity coverage and newborn care and prevention, treatment, or recovery support services for individuals with mental or substance use disorders. An additional \$8 billion would be available between 2018 and 2023 to reduce premiums and other out-of-pocket costs for individuals paying higher premiums due to a waiver permitting insurers to use health status in setting premiums (discussed below).

Funds would be <u>allocated</u> among states through a formula that considers the total medical claims incurred by health insurers in the state, the number of uninsured in the state with incomes under poverty, and the number of health insurers serving, for 2018 and 2019, the state's exchange, and for 2020 to 2026, the state's insurance market.

States could apply for funding for any of the permitted purposes under an expedited process, with applications automatically approved unless the federal government denies the application within 60 days for cause. Starting in 2020, state matching funds would be required to draw down the allocated federal funds: states would be required to match 7% of the federal funds in 2020, phasing up to 50% in 2026.⁴ No funds would be appropriated for years after 2026.

States could seek funds for one or more of the specified purposes:

- Providing financial assistance to high-risk individuals not eligible for employer-based coverage who enroll in the individual market. The bill language is vague, but this provision appears to permit states to use their allocation to set up a high-risk pool or other mechanisms to provide or subsidize coverage for individuals with preexisting conditions without access to employer-sponsored coverage. By covering high-cost people in a separate pool, their costs are removed from the premium calculations of non-group insurers, lowering the premiums for other enrollees in private insurance. The AHCA does not address how people with preexisting conditions might be encouraged or required to participate in separate high-risk pools in states without waivers, because people with preexisting conditions generally would have access to non-group coverage at a community rate during open and special enrollment periods. A high-risk pool could be an option in states with a waiver to use health as a rating factor, where the pool could provide coverage to people with preexisting conditions who are offered coverage at very high premiums due to their health.
 - **Providing incentives to entities (e.g., insurers) to enter into arrangements with the state to stabilize premiums in the individual market**. This provision appears to permit states to use their allocation for a reinsurance program. Reinsurance programs lower premiums in a market because they reimburse health insurers for a portion of the claims for people with high-costs, reducing the premiums they need to collect from enrollees. A reinsurance program operated during the first three years of the ACA; the <u>Congressional Budget Office</u> estimated that the reinsurance program (\$10 billion in 2014) reduced non-group premiums by about 10% in 2014.
 - Reducing the cost of providing non-group or small-group coverage in markets to individuals facing high costs due to high rates of utilization or low population density. Premiums vary

significantly across and within states. This provision would allow states to use resources in higher cost or rural areas.

- Promoting participation in the non-group and small-group markets and increasing options in these markets. In the past, for example, <u>state based marketplaces</u> that devote resources to outreach and enrollment assistance have been able to help more applicants during open enrollment periods.
- Promoting access to preventive, dental and vision care services and to maternity coverage, newborn care, and prevention, treatment and recovery support services for people with mental health or substance disorders. This purpose was added to the bill as the House considered changes to the ACA essential health benefits standard. Fifteen billion dollars in Fund resources are dedicated for spending on maternity, newborn, mental health, and substance abuse services in the year 2020.
- Providing direct payments to providers for services identified by the Administrator of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). For example, states might use Fund resources to expand services provided by public hospitals, free clinics, and other safety net providers that offer treatment to residents who are uninsured or under-insured.
- **Providing cost-sharing assistance for people enrolled in health insurance in the state.** The AHCA would repeal current law cost sharing subsidies (\$97 billion between 2020 and 2026), which pay insurers for the cost of providing reduced cost sharing to low-income marketplace enrollees. States could use their fund allocation to offset some of this reduction or assist others with private health insurance (such as those with employer-based coverage) who have high out-of-pocket costs.

These categories are quite broadly specified, providing states with discretion about what policies they may want to pursue and how to how to design programs to address different health care needs in their state. The options include ways to reduce premiums (through reinsurance, for example), to make direct payments to health care providers, or to help insurance enrollees with high out-of-pocket costs. States could pursue one or more of these approaches, although they are constrained by the amount of funds available and by their need to match the federal funds after 2020.

CBO estimated that \$102 billion of the \$123 billion provided to states would be claimed by states by 2026. CBO assumed that states would use most of their Fund allocations to reduce premiums or increase benefits in the non-group market; it assumed \$14 billion of the available \$15 billion available for maternity coverage, newborn care, and mental health and substance abuse care would be used for direct payments for services.⁵

Federal default program. In states without an approved application for monies from the Fund for a year, the bill would authorize the CMS administrator, in consultation with the insurance commissioner for the state, to operate a reinsurance program in the state for that year. The program would reimburse insurers 75% of the cost of claims between \$50,000 and \$350,000 for years 2018 and 2019; the CMS Administrator would adjust these parameters for 2020 through 2026. To receive funds through the default program, the state would be

required to match the federal funds, with matching rates starting at 10% in 2018 and increasing to 50% by 2024, remaining at 50% through 2026.

Invisible risk sharing program. The AHCA also would create a separate reinsurance program as part of the Fund, called the Federal Invisible Risk Sharing Program (FIRSP). The FIRSP is not a grant program, but would make payments to health insurers in every state to offset a portion of the claims for eligible individuals (e.g., enrollees with high claims or with specified conditions). The CMS Administrator would determine the parameters of the program and would administer the program, although states would be authorized to assume operation of the program beginning in 2020. The bill appropriates \$15 billion to the FIRSP for 2018 through 2026. Additionally, at the end of each year, any unallocated monies in the Fund (which could occur if a state did not agree to match the federal funds) would be reallocated to FIRSP as well.

The AHCA does not specify how FIRSP would be coordinated with states that adopt a reinsurance program or for which the CMS Administrator is operating a federal default program. These issues could be addressed as the Administrator specifies the parameters of the FIRSP. CBO assumed that all of the \$15 billion in FIRSP funding would be used over the period.⁶

State Waiver Options

The AHCA would permits states to seek waivers to federal minimum standards for non-group and small-group coverage to (1) modify the limit for age rating,⁷ (2) modify the essential health benefit package, and (3) permit insurers to consider the health status of applicants for non-group coverage if they have had a coverage gap in the past year.

To obtain a waiver, state must show that the waiver would do one or more of the following: reduce average premiums, increase health insurance enrollment, stabilize the market for health insurance, stabilize premiums for people with preexisting conditions or increase choice of health plans. The waiver permitting health as a rating factor has an additional requirement, discussed below.

WAIVER TO PERMIT RATING BASED ON HEALTH

The AHCA generally would require non-group insurers to assess a premium surcharge of 30% to all applicants (regardless of their health) who have had a coverage gap of at least 63 consecutive days in the 12 months preceding enrollment. The surcharge would apply during an enforcement period (which ends at the end of a calendar year).

In lieu of the 30% premium surcharge, the bill also authorizes states to seek a waiver that would permit insurers to consider an applicant's health in determining premiums. Health status rating could apply for people with a coverage gap in the year preceding enrollment. States could seek a waiver for enrollments during special enrollment periods for 2018 and beyond, and for signups during open enrollment periods for 2019 and beyond. Insurers would not be permitted to deny coverage to an applicant based on their health, but the bill does not limit the additional amount that an applicant can be charged based on their health (the state could limit the amount of the health surcharge but is not required to do so). Similar to the rules regarding the 30% surcharge, insurers would be able to apply the health status rating through December 31 of the plan year for which the individual enrolled.

To be eligible for a community-rating waiver, in addition to the general waiver requirements, the state must have in place a program that either provides financial assistance to high risk individuals (e.g., a high risk pool) or provide incentives to help stabilize premiums in the individual health insurance market (e.g., reinsurance payments to insurers) or it must participate in the FIRSP. Because the FIRSP would operate in all states, with no requirement for state matching funds, it would appear that all states would be eligible for the community-rating waiver without having to set up a separate high-risk pool or reinsurance program. The bill imposes no additional requirements for the state programs. The bill would provide \$8 billion to the Fund over five years (2018 through 2022) for states with these waivers to help reduce the premiums out-of-pocket costs for people who have higher premiums due to waiver. State matching funds would seem to be required to draw down funds starting in 2020. CBO estimates that \$6 billion of the \$8 billion would be used.

Because there is no limit on the amounts by which insurers could vary premiums based on health, a premium surcharge for people with pre-existing conditions who have had gaps in coverage could provide a stronger incentive for people to maintain continuous coverage than the 30% surcharge that would otherwise apply. Before passage of the ACA, insurers <u>declined</u> applicants frequently, even when they could have charged a higher premium instead, suggesting that insurers would likely assess very high health premium surcharges for people with potentially costly preexisting conditions. While not an actual denial, very high surcharges would likely have in practice the same effect for many people subject to surcharges based on their health.

Under the bill, states with a waiver could also permit insurers to use health rating to charge healthy applicants with a coverage gap a lower than standard premium available to people with continuous coverage. Under this approach, healthy applicants would have an incentive to submit to health rating, even if they had continuous coverage. This could have a destabilizing effect on the market because healthy people could have an incentive to switch to new coverage at renewal, without submitting proof of continuous coverage, in hopes of finding a lower premium based on their good health, which would cause the standard rates generally available for people with continuous coverage to increase.

As a condition of receiving a community-rating waiver, the AHCA does not require that a state must assure access to non-group coverage or make an alternative source of coverage available to people subject to health rating if the rate they are offered is very high. For example, a state participating in the FIRSP is eligible for this waiver, and that program reimburses health insurers for people that become enrollees; a person offered a very high health status rate might never become covered. It is unclear how much authority the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) would have to address this issue in the waiver process, given the expedited waiver approval provisions in the bill.

WAIVER TO MODIFY THE ESSENTIAL HEALTH BENEFITS PACKAGE

Under current law, insurance policies offered in the non-group and small-group markets must cover a fairly comprehensive list of defined essential health benefits: ambulatory patient services, emergency services, hospitalization, maternity and newborn care, mental health and substance use disorder services, including behavioral health treatment, prescription drugs, rehabilitative and habilitative services and devices, laboratory

services, preventive and wellness services and chronic disease management, and pediatric services, including oral and vision care. The essential health benefits are a minimum that must be offered; insurers may offer additional benefits as well.

In addition to the list of essential health benefit categories, a number of constraints and consumer protections apply to their definition by the Secretary of HHS, including:

- that the scope of the essential health benefits offered in these markets is equal to the scope of benefits provided under a typical employer plan;
- that coverage decisions, determination of reimbursement rates, establishment of incentive programs, and design benefits cannot be made in ways that discriminate against individuals because of their age, disability, or expected length of life;
- that essential health benefits take into account the needs of diverse segments of the population, including women, children, and people with disabilities;
- that essential health benefits not be subject to denial to individuals against their wishes on the basis of the individuals' age or expected length of life or of the individuals' present or predicted disability, degree of medical dependency, or quality of life;
- that emergency services provided by out-of-network providers would be provided without prior authorization or other limits on coverage, and would be subject to in-network cost sharing requirements;

Current law also prohibits insurers from applying annual or lifetime dollar limits to essential health benefits.

The AHCA would authorize states, for years 2020 and beyond, to seek a waiver to modify the essential health benefits that insurers would need to offer in the non-group and small group markets. States also could seek to modify the provisions relating to the scope of the benefits and to their definition. There are no limits or parameters in the AHCA regarding the changes a state could make to the essential health benefit list or its definitions, although several provisions of current law could limit their discretion. For example, the current prohibition on applying annual and lifetime maximum dollar limits to essential health benefits may prevent states from using dollar limits in defining the scope of benefits they include as essential health benefits, and the application of mental health parity rules to qualified health plans may prohibit a state that includes mental health or substance abuse services as an essential health benefit from applying limits to the scope of those benefits that are not applicable to other benefits.

The waiver authority gives states wide latitude in defining essential health benefits that would be required in non-group and small group coverage. A state could remove one or more benefits from the list, which would mean that insurers could offer plans without those benefits or could offer them as an option in some policies or with limits. Maternity benefits, for example, were often not included in non-group policies prior to the ACA. A state also could limit the scope of a benefit; for example, determine that only generic drugs were essential health benefits or limit the scope of hospitalization to 60 days per year. Insurers would then be required to offer at least the limited scope of the benefit, with the option to cover a broader scope of the benefit (in our

example, hospital coverage without no day limit) in some or all of their policies in the state. A state could also eliminate the standard, defining essential benefits to mean whatever insurers in a competitive market offer. As discussed below, however, adverse selection concerns would make it difficult for insurers to offer coverage that is much more comprehensive than the defined minimum at a reasonable premium.

WAIVER TO MODIFY THE LIMIT ON AGE RATING

The AHCA would generally amend current law to expand the permissible premium variation due to age from 3 to 1 to 5 to 1, or any other ratio a State might elect. States also would be authorized to seek a waiver, for years 2018 and beyond, to put in place a higher rate permissible ratio. There are no limits in the AHCA on the ratio that a state could permit insurers to use. The waiver authority here appears to be redundant, as the underlying bill would authorize states to elect different ratios without seeking a waiver.

Issues and Tradeoffs that States May Need to Resolve

The AHCA would reduce the federal role and resources in providing health insurance coverage, particularly for people who are lower and moderate income and are covered though the Medicaid coverage expansion or through the non-group market. States would assume an expanded role, both financially and in making key decisions about the access and scope of benefits available to these people.

States would undertake this role facing some significant challenges.

COMPETING DEMANDS FOR REDUCED FEDERAL FUNDING

The AHCA, by reducing the overall amount of federal premium tax credits, eliminating cost-sharing subsidies, and reducing federal contributions for the Medicaid expansion population and overall, would significantly reduce federal health care payments received by insurers, providers and people, leaving fewer people covered and more people with higher out-of-pocket costs. CBO estimates that, between 2018 and 2026, the AHCA would reduce federal Medicaid spending by \$834 billion and federal spending on subsidies for non-group health insurance by \$290 billion (Figure 1).⁸ By 2026, 23 million fewer people would have health insurance. States would have access to grant money through the Fund to try to address some of the issues, but the resources available through the Fund would be far less than the spending reductions. CBO estimates that states would use \$102 billion from the Fund, with an additional \$15 billion being spent by the FIRSP.⁹ States would be faced with a number of competing demands for the federal grant money, including lowering premiums, helping people with high cost sharing, and helping people and providers address access and financial issues resulting from the greater number of people without insurance.



CHALLENGES IN REDUCING PREMIUMS AND MAINTAINING COVERAGE

A second challenge for states relates to the cost of non-group health insurance premiums. Proponents of the AHCA have identified lowering the cost of non-group health insurance as a significant goal of the proposed law, but the underlying federal portions of the bill do not really do that. In fact, replacing the individual requirement to have health coverage with the continuous coverage provision would initially increase premium rates as compared with current law.¹⁰ A few provisions, including the elimination of the health insurance and the medical device taxes, the FIRSP, and the elimination of standard cost-sharing tiers would offset some of the increase from repealing the individual coverage requirement. The most significant tools to potentially lower premiums, however, would be under state discretion: using Fund dollars for reinsurance to offset premiums and seeking waivers to modify the essential health benefits and to permit the insurers to use health as a rate factor for applicants with a coverage gap. Each of these options, however, would involve significant policy and political tradeoffs.

Applying the grant dollars from the Fund could have a significant additional impact on premium rates, particularly because fewer people would likely be covered than under current law. CBO has assumed in its cost estimates of the AHCA that states would use most of their grants from the Fund to reduce non-group premiums or increase benefits.¹¹ Based on a previous CBO cost estimate for the AHCA, <u>researchers</u> at the Brookings Institution estimated that the AHCA increased average premiums by about four percent when age is held constant (see box below). This suggests that states would need to use most of their grant Funds to bring premiums back to current levels. As just discussed, however, applying all or a large percentage of the grant funds to reduce premiums would mean that other potential needs might remain unaddressed.

Measuring Premium Change

Determining how much premiums would change due to changes in law is complicated because a number of factors affect what people pay and who would actually buy coverage. There are a few ways to look at this. One is the change in the average premium; this is the change in the average amount that people are expected to pay under current law and under the change. This is a good measure of how overall costs will change, but not a very good measure of how a particular person might see their premium change. Because premiums vary by things, such as where people live and what age they are, the average can change just because the distribution of enrollees changes; for example, if more young people enroll, the average premium goes down, but the premium that a person at any given age sees might remain the same. Looking at changes for people in certain rating classes, such as by age, comes closer to looking at what particular people may see, although the changes still may vary by location or by health status if insurers can use them in rating. Premiums for a person of a particular age or health also could vary due to changes in benefits or to the cost sharing they face.

WAIVING ESSENTIAL BENEFITS COULD REDUCE PREMIUMS BUT ALSO LIMIT AVAILABILITY

The waiver options would also pose difficult decisions for states. For example, a state could lower premium rates by using an essential health benefits waiver to reduce the required benefits in non-group or small-group policies. The argument for this approach is that some people could choose policies that cost less because they cover less, and others who want additional benefits could pay more for policies that covered those benefits. There are several difficulties with this, however.

One is that most claims costs fall into the basic insurance categories that would be hard to exclude. A recent report from Milliman based on their commercial claims database, found that claims from hospital care, outpatient care including physician costs, and prescription drugs accounted for around 70% of claims costs; adding emergency care and laboratory services brings that to over 80%. Redefining essential health benefits to meaningfully lower premiums would require either placing meaningful limits on these categories (for example, only including generic drugs as an essential benefit) or eliminating whole other categories. Looking at some of the categories that were sometimes excluded prior to the ACA: maternity coverage accounts for 3.4% of claims, mental health and substance abuse accounts for 4.2% of claims and preventive benefits account for 5.6% of claims.¹² To obtain policies with lower premiums, people would need to choose policies with important limitations. CBO also notes that, should such categories be dropped from the definition of essential health benefits, non-group enrollees who need such care could see their out-of-pocket medical care spending increase by thousands of dollars in any given year.

A second difficulty is that this approach would lead to significant adverse selection against plans with benefits that were more comprehensive than the minimum required. Because market rules permit applicants to choose any policy at initial enrollment, and change their level of coverage annually at renewal, people who have or develop higher needs for a benefit that is not a defined essential health benefit can enroll or switch a plan that

covers it without any impediment. For example, if a state were to determine that prescription drugs were not an essential health benefit, people without current drug needs would be more likely to take policies that did not provide drug coverage while people with current needs would be more likely to take policies that did. This would increase premiums for policies covering prescriptions to relatively high levels, discouraging people without drug needs from purchasing them, which would lead to even higher premiums. While the risk adjustment program could offset some of the impacts of selection, developing a risk adjustment methodology where there is substantial benefit variation is difficult.¹³ This dynamic would discourage insurers from offering coverage for important benefits not defined as essential health benefits, or if they were to offer it, they would do so at high premiums. People at average risk would likely not have reasonable options if they wanted to purchase coverage with significant benefits beyond those that were required for all policies. CBO also estimates that insurers generally would not want to sell policies that include benefits that were not required by state law.

The AHCA requires that \$15 billion of the money in the Fund be used for maternity coverage, newborn care, and prevention, treatment and recovery support services for mental health and substance abuse disorders. States that chose not to include any of these services as essential health benefits could use these funds to make these services available, for example, by subsidizing optional coverage or providing direct services. The funds would only be available in 2020, although it might be possible for a state to use them over a longer period. The \$15 billion was added to the Fund along with the authority to waive essential health benefits, which suggests that the sponsors may be anticipating that these services are at risk of not being defined as essential health benefits by states.

The second significant waiver option for states in the AHCA, allowing insurers to use health as a rating factor for applicants with a coverage gap within the previous year, would put states in the middle of one of the most contentious issues in this debate: how to provide access to coverage for people with preexisting health conditions. There are few specifics in the bill, but generally, as discussed above, a state could seek a waiver to allow insurers to use health in rating applicants with a coverage gap and to apply the health rate until the end of the calendar year (their enforcement period).

WAIVING COMMUNITY RATING VS. PROTECTING ACCESS FOR PEOPLE WHO ARE SICK

This provision has the potential to reduce non-group premiums overall because permitting health-based rates that exceed 30% penalty that otherwise would apply to applicants with a coverage gap rating would make it more expensive for them to buy non-group plans, either generating more premiums from them or, more likely, diverting them from enrolling in the non-group market. If the permitted health surcharges were sufficiently high, the effect would be very close to a denial. As noted above, the AHCA does not require states seeking this waiver to have any alternative method of access for people facing very high premiums based on their health. The state would at least have to participate in the FIRSP (and it appears that the program operates in all states), but that mechanism only assists insurers when high-risk or high-cost people enroll, and people assessed a very high premium might not have an opportunity to enroll.

States electing this waiver would have tools to protect access for people with coverage gaps and preexisting conditions. One option that has been mentioned by supporters would be to create a high-risk pool that could offer coverage to people facing a high health surcharge. The bill would permit states to use monies from the

Fund to support a high-risk pool, and the bill would appropriate an additional \$8 billion for 2018 through 2023 that could be used to reduce premiums or other out-of-pocket costs for people assessed a higher premium because of the waiver to use health status as a factor. States could use their share of the \$8 billion to reduce premiums for high-risk pool coverage as an alternative for people who could not afford the health status surcharge for non-group coverage, and could use their general allocation from the Fund to support the costs of the pool if the \$8 billion were to be insufficient or when it ends in 2023.

For states, the tradeoff would be balancing providing reasonable access to people with coverage gaps and preexisting conditions against the goal of lowering premiums for others. A state could have the biggest impact on premiums for non-group coverage by permitting insurers to assess a health surcharge without limits and not providing an alternative means of access. This would result in many people with coverage gaps and preexisting conditions being priced out of the market, which would not only lower claims costs immediately, but would also prevent them from establishing continuous coverage and migrating to non-group plans at regular rates after their enforcement periods end. Possibly more likely is that states would take some steps to assist people subject to health rating from being effectively declined through high premiums. Options could include establishing a high-risk pool with premiums that are more affordable than the health adjusted premiums people would be assessed under the waiver, limiting the health surcharges that insurers could assess, or using a portion of their share of the \$8 billion to reduce premium costs to a more affordable level. For states weighing these choices, as they improve access and affordability for people who would be subject to the health adjusted rates, they generally lessen the impact that the waiver would have on premiums overall.

Likely, the high-risk pool option would have the largest impact on non-group premiums of these options, because it would move the claims for some high-risk people outside of the non-group market, at least until the people established continuous coverage and moved to non-group plans with premiums not adjusted for their health. The bill does not establish any parameters for a high-risk pool, such as the premiums that could be charged, what the coverage and cost sharing would be, and whether there would be any limits on coverage. For example, it is not clear if a high-risk pool would need to offer essential health benefits, would be subject to provisions prohibiting dollar limits, or would be considered coverage for which people could receive a premium tax credit. States would need to establish parameters in all of these areas.

CBO estimated that about one-half of people live in states that would seek a waiver to modify the essential health benefits, use health as a rating factor, or both. About two-thirds of these people would live in states that would choose to make moderate changes to market regulations, which would result in a modest reduction in premiums. One-third of these people live in states that CBO assumed would choose to substantially modify the essential health benefits and allow health status rating in their non-group markets.¹⁴ In these states, CBO estimated that people in good health would face significantly lower premiums while people less healthy people would be unable to purchase comprehensive coverage at premiums similar to current law and might not be able to purchase coverage at all.¹⁵ Although the additional grant funds for states with waivers to use health status rating would lower premiums and out-of-pocket premiums, CBO found that the premium effects would be small because ". . . the funding would not be sufficient to substantially reduce the large increases in premiums for high-cost enrollees"¹⁶. CBO did not produce illustrative premiums for this scenario.
ADDRESSING FUNDING LIMITATIONS OVER TIME

A third challenge for states is that the annual appropriations to the Fund do not grow over time and end entirely after 2026, even though the underlying health care needs continue to grow. For example, the cost of health care would continue to increase over the period, while the number of uninsured would also increase. Adding to the increasing cost burden, the federal premium tax credits would grow more slowly than premium over time, shifting more costs to enrollees and reducing their impact on affordability. The appropriations for the Fund also end in 2023 (for the \$8 billion) and 2026 for the rest of the Fund. At the same time, the state matching requirements for money from the Fund grow over time, from 7% in 2020 to 50% in 2026. This means that states would need to invest an increasing amount of resources on policies and programs for which federal funds may end, perhaps abruptly, in the foreseeable future. Unless the federal government would agree to commit to appropriate funds several years in advance, states might be reluctant to make budget or program commits to programs that they may be unable to maintain without significant federal assistance.

Discussion

Overall, the AHCA would present states with a number of difficult problems and choices, and with limited resources with which to address them. The bill would reduce federal contributions for Medicaid and federal payments to subsidize non-group insurance by about \$1 trillion dollars, while repealing the federal tax penalty for not having health insurance would increase non-group premiums significantly above current levels. These provisions would disproportionately affect the affordability of coverage and care for lower income and older people, and would cause millions of people to become uninsured.

States would be eligible for \$123 billion in grant funds to help offset these impacts, but would face difficult tradeoffs. If states use most of their grant funds to reduce premiums, as CBO has assumed, there would not be funds left to address other needs, such as helping lower income and older people facing higher premium and out-of-pocket costs and health care providers who would be serving a growing number of uninsured people. States also would have the options of reducing covered benefits or allowing insurers to increase premiums for applicants with pre-existing conditions, each of which would lower premiums but would raise out-of-pocket costs for people with health problems.

State also would need to find an increasing amount of matching state funds to be eligible for the federal grant fund, and could face uncertainty if federal funds are not appropriated in advance. States choosing not to participate (by not providing matching funds) would be left without resources to address the higher premiums and affordability issues that would arise.

ENDNOTES

¹ Congressional Budget Office, cost estimate for the American Health Care Act as passed by the House of Representatives May 4, 2017 (May 24, 2017), ("CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate"), <u>https://www.cbo.gov/publication/52752</u>.

² CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, p. 4.

³ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, p. 14.

⁴ Required matching payments would be required for some states that want to participate in a partially state-funded reinsurance program that CMS would operate on their behalf.

⁵ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, pp. 13-14; Kaiser Family Foundation staff calculations.

⁶ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, pp. 14-15.

⁷ State age rating waivers would not appear to be necessary, however, as Section 135 of AHCA establishes new age rating limits of "5 to 1 for adults...or such other ratio for adults...as the State may provide."

⁸ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate.

⁹ CBO May 224, 2017 cost estimate, pp 13-15.

¹⁰ Congressional Budget Office, cost estimate for the American Health Care Act (March 13, 2017), http://www.cbo.gov/publication/52486.

¹¹ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, p. 14.

¹² Percentages provided by authors.

¹³ American Academy of Actuaries, "How Changes to Health Insurance Market Rules Would Affect Risk Adjustment," Issue Brief, May 2017, p. 6, <u>https://socialsecuritygame.actuary.org/files/publications/Acad_RA_brief_051017.pdf.</u>

¹⁴ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, p. 21.

¹⁵ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, p. 27.

¹⁶ CBO May 24, 2017 cost estimate, p. 29.

www.kff.org | Email Alerts: kff.org/email | facebook.com/KaiserFamilyFoundation | twitter.com/KaiserFamFound

Filling the need for trusted information on national health issues, the Kaiser Family Foundation is a nonprofit organization based in Menlo Park, California.



May 2017 | Issue Brief

Gaps in Coverage Among People With Pre-Existing Conditions

Larry Levitt, Anthony Damico, Gary Claxton, Cynthia Cox, and Karen Pollitz

The American Health Care Act (AHCA), which has passed the House of Representatives, contains a controversial provision that would allow states to waive community rating in the individual insurance market. In this brief we estimate the number of people with pre-existing conditions who might be affected by such a policy.

How the State Waiver Provision Works

Under the provision, insurers in states with community rating waivers could vary premiums by health status for enrollees who have had a gap in insurance of 63 or more consecutive days in the last year. The higher (or lower) premiums due to health status would apply for an entire plan year (or the remainder of the year in case of people signing up during a special enrollment period), at which point enrollees would be eligible for a community-rated premium unrelated to their health.

States waiving community rating would be required to set up a mechanism to subsidize the cost of high-risk enrollees, such as a high-risk pool, or participate in a reinsurance arrangement that makes payments directly to insurers. States are not required to set up an alternative source of coverage for people who face higher premiums based on their health.

The bill makes \$100 billion available to all states for a variety of purposes, including high-risk pools, reinsurance programs, and cost-sharing subsidies. An additional \$15 billion is made available for a federal invisible risk-sharing program, which would be similar to a reinsurance arrangement. Another \$15 billion is earmarked for spending on maternal and newborn care, mental health, and substance abuse services for the year 2020. The AHCA also allocates \$8 billion over five years to states that implement community rating waivers; these resources can be used to help reduce premiums or pay out-of-pocket medical expenses for people rated based on their health status.

Premiums <u>varied significantly</u> based on health status in the individual market before the Affordable Care Act (ACA) prohibited that practice beginning in 2014. Insurers in nearly all states were also permitted to decline coverage to people with pre-existing conditions seeking individual market insurance. We <u>estimate</u> that 27% of non-elderly adults have a condition that would have led to a decline in coverage in the pre-ACA market. While insurers would have to offer insurance to everyone under the AHCA, people with declinable pre-existing conditions would likely face very large premium surcharges under an AHCA waiver, since insurers were unwilling to cover them at any price before the ACA.

How Many People Might be Affected by Community Rating Waivers?

The effect of a community rating waiver would depend crucially on how many people with pre-existing conditions have gaps in insurance that would leave them vulnerable to higher premiums.

Using the most recent National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), we estimate that 27.4 million non-elderly adults nationally had a gap in coverage of at least several months in 2015. This includes 6.3 million people (or 23% of everyone with at least a several-month gap) who have a pre-existing condition that would have led to a denial of insurance in the pre-ACA individual market and would lead to a substantial premium surcharge under AHCA community rating waiver.¹



Among the 21.1 million people who experienced a gap in coverage and did not have a pre-existing condition that would have been considered declinable pre-ACA, some did have other pre-existing conditions (such as

asthma, depression, or hypertension) that would not have resulted in an automatic denial by individual market health insurers pre-ACA but that nonetheless could result in a premium surcharge.

In many cases, people uninsured for several months or more in a year have been without coverage for a long period of time. In other cases, people lose insurance and experience a gap as a result of loss of a job with health benefits or a decrease in income that makes coverage less affordable. Young people may have a gap in coverage as they turn 26 and are unable to stay on their parents' insurance policies. Medicaid beneficiaries can also have a gap if their incomes rise and they are no longer eligible for the program.

Through expanded Medicaid eligibility and refundable tax credits that subsidize premiums in insurance marketplaces, the ACA has substantially reduced coverage gaps. In 2013, before the major provisions of the ACA went into effect, 38.6 million people had a gap of several months, including 8.7 million with declinable pre-existing conditions.

Some people with a gap will ultimately regain coverage through an employer-based plan or Medicaid, and would not be subject to premium surcharges based on their health. However, anyone who has been uninsured for 63 days or more who tries to buy individual market insurance in a state with a community rating waiver would be subject to medical underwriting and potential premium surcharges based on their health.

Uncertainty Around the Estimate

There are a variety reasons why our estimates might understate or overstate number of people with preexisting conditions who could be subject to premium surcharges under the AHCA.

People with health conditions would have a strong incentive under an AHCA waiver to maintain continuous coverage in order to avoid being charged premiums that could potentially price them out of the insurance market altogether. The question is how many would be able to do so, given the fact that the premium tax credits provided for in the AHCA would be <u>36% lower</u> on average for marketplace enrollees than under the ACA and would grow more slowly over time. In 2013, before tax credits for individual insurance were available and the ACA's Medicaid expansion took effect, the number of people with pre-existing conditions who experienced a gap in coverage was 41% higher. Among people with individual market insurance in 2015, we estimate that 3.8 million adults (representing 25% of all adult enrollees) had a pre-existing condition that would have led to a decline before the ACA. These individuals would not be subject to premium surcharges under AHCA community rating waivers, so long as they maintain continuous coverage. Because individual market subsidies would be significantly reduced under the AHCA, these individuals could face added challenges remaining continuously covered.

About 49% of people with pre-existing conditions who had a gap in coverage in 2015 had incomes at or below 138% of the poverty level, and some of them could be eligible for Medicaid (depending on whether their state has expanded eligibility under the ACA and what eligibility rules are in states that have not expanded). They would not face any coverage restrictions associated with their health status in Medicaid. However, under the AHCA enhanced federal funding for expanding Medicaid would be repealed, and federal matching funds would be capped. The Congressional Budget Office projects that 14 million fewer people would be enrolled in Medicaid by 2026. So, while some people we identify as having a coverage gap would be eligible for Medicaid

under the AHCA, many more people currently enrolled in Medicaid would lose that coverage under the AHCA and be uninsured. They would be eligible for premium tax credits, but the AHCA's subsidies do not scale by income so individual market insurance would likely be unaffordable for people who are poor, including those with pre-existing conditions.

There is also significant uncertainty surrounding how many states would seek to waive community rating under the AHCA. Some states might do so to roll back what they consider to be excessive regulation of the insurance market initiated by the ACA and preserved under the AHCA. Other states might come under pressure to implement waivers from insurers who believe the market would be unstable, given that the AHCA repeals the ACA's individual mandate. What states decide to do may ultimately have the greatest effect on how many people with pre-existing conditions face potentially unaffordable insurance premiums.

Larry Levitt, Gary Claxton, Cynthia Cox, and Karen Pollitz are with the Kaiser Family Foundation. Anthony Damico is an independent consultant to the Kaiser Family Foundation.

Methods

To calculate nationwide prevalence rates of declinable health conditions, we reviewed the survey responses of nonelderly adults for all question items shown in Methods Table 1 using the CDC's 2015 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). Approximately 27% of 18-64 year olds, or 52 million nonelderly adults, reported having at least one of these declinable conditions in response to the 2015 survey. For more details on methods and a list of declinable conditions included in this analysis, see our earlier brief: <u>Pre-existing Conditions and Medical Underwriting in the Individual Insurance Market Prior to the ACA</u>.

The programming code, written using the statistical computing package R, is available upon request for people interested in replicating this approach for their own analysis.

Endnotes

¹ Note that coverage gaps identified in NHIS do not match up precisely to the 63-day threshold in the AHCA. People who were uninsured at the time they were surveyed were asked if they had been uninsured for at least the prior six months, a longer period than the AHCA threshold. People who were insured at the time of the survey were asked if they had experienced any gaps in coverage totaling at least three months during the past year. These coverage gaps identified in NHIS may not have been consecutive months, but that would typically be the case.

Filling the need for trusted information on national health issues, the Kaiser Family Foundation is a nonprofit organization based in Menlo Park, California.

U.S. Health Reform—Monitoring and Impact

Premium Tax Credits Tied to Age Versus Income and Available Premiums: Differences by Age, Income, and Geography

May 2017

By John Holahan, Linda J. Blumberg, and Erik Wengle



Support for this research was provided by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. The views expressed here do not necessarily reflect the views of the Foundation.



With support from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF), the Urban Institute is undertaking a comprehensive monitoring and tracking project to examine the implementation and effects of health reform. The project began in May 2011 and will take place over several years. The Urban Institute will document changes to the implementation of national health reform to help states, researchers and policymakers learn from the process as it unfolds. Reports that have been prepared as part of this ongoing project can be found at **www.rwjf.org** and **www.healthpolicycenter.org**.

INTRODUCTION

On May 4, 2017, House Republicans passed the American Health Care Act (AHCA) as a replacement for the Affordable Care Act (ACA). The bill would replace the income- and premium-related tax credits in the ACA with age-varying tax credits. The bill now moves to the Senate, where it is expected to be revised before formal consideration. While the bill's fate in the Senate is currently unclear, even a significantly revised version may include age-related tax credits because they are administratively simple and lack any possible work-disincentive effects of tax credits that phase out as income increases (although the AHCA's tax credits do phase out at relatively high incomes).

In this brief, we argue that age-related tax credits, as opposed to the ACA's tax credits that vary by income and the actual premiums faced, provide insufficient help to people with low incomes, people in high premium markets, and people as they near age 65.

Because age-related tax credits maintain political currency and are likely to be part of the Senate's adaptation of or alternative to the AHCA, we compare the value of tax credits under the ACA and the AHCA for individuals at three ages, four income groups, and 10 urban insurance markets. The ACA tax credits cover the difference between the second-lowest-cost premium for a silver plan and a percentage of income. Thus, people who are eligible for tax credits are protected against high-premium plans, whether premiums are high because the person is older or because the person lives in a high-cost geographic area. The AHCA tax credits increase not with income but with age (\$2,000 for people younger than age 30 and \$4,000 for people ages 60 and older); at higher incomes, the tax credits are phased out. The differences between the two types of tax credits are illustrated in Table 1.

We examine premiums for people at ages 25, 45, and 64, and the impact of tax credits on an example family. We present findings for the following income levels: 150 percent, 250 percent, 350 percent, and 450 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL), levels equivalent to \$17,820; \$29,700; \$41,580; and \$53,460 for a single adult, respectively in 2017. We include the following cities: Cleveland, OH; Detroit, MI; Seattle, WA; Providence, RI; Los Angeles, CA; Birmingham, AL; Oklahoma City, OK; Tucson, AZ; Charleston, WV; and Charlotte, NC. The first five markets have relatively low premiums because they have a large number of competing insurers and/or because they have Medicaid insurers (managed-care insurers that only provided coverage for Medicaid beneficiaries before the ACA was implemented), provider-sponsored insurers, or Blue Cross HMO insurers operating in their markets. The last five markets have relatively high premiums, largely because they have considerably less competition (e.g., only one or two insurers).

Two recent analyses modeled the effects of the proposed tax credits. The Kaiser Family Foundation created a tool comparing tax credits under the ACA with those in the proposed AHCA

Table 1: Comparison of ACA and AHCA Tax Credits

| | ACA | АНСА | | | |
|---|---|----------|------------|--|--|
| Income as percent of federal poverty level | Maximum percentage of income enrollee pays towards premium | Age | Tax credit | | |
| 100-133% | 2.04% | Under 30 | \$2,000 | | |
| 133-150% | 3.06-4.08% | 30-39 | \$2,500 | | |
| 150-200% | 4.08-6.43% | 40-49 | \$3,000 | | |
| 200-250% | 6.43-8.21% | 50-59 | \$3,500 | | |
| 250-300% | 8.21-9.69% | 60+ | \$4,000 | | |
| 300-400% | 9.69% | | | | |
| Over 400% | No cap | | | | |

Note: The ACA's tax credits are linked to benchmark premiums each year, and we have ACA premium data for 2017 but not for future years. The AHCA delineates its new tax credits beginning in 2020. As a consequence, we compare 2017 ACA tax credits with the 2020 AHCA tax credits. This comparison has the effect of making the AHCA tax credits look larger relative to ACA tax credits than would actually be the case. An apples to apples comparison would require deflating the AHCA tax credit amounts by CPI + 1 percentage point for each year between 2017 and 2020.

at three different ages and various incomes.¹ Kaiser's results are similar to ours in that they show how the AHCA would redistribute tax credits along the income scale, with lowerincome people receiving less financial assistance under the AHCA than under the ACA. *The New York Times* Upshot used Kaiser's data to illustrate the effects of a shift from the ACA to the AHCA for different geographic areas, but its analysis focused on the expected impacts for people who voted for Donald

Trump in the 2016 presidential election.² The *Times* found that Trump supporters were the group most likely to receive less assistance under the AHCA, given their age and location. We focus on 10 cities to show that marketplace competition and associated premiums in large part determine whether people would be better off under the ACA or the AHCA. There is nothing in the AHCA that would increase insurance market competition.

DATA AND METHODS

We present premium tax credit data for three different ages (25, 45, and 64) and four income levels (150, 250, 350, and 450 percent of FPL) in 10 different cities (five low-cost and five high-cost). We present a similar analysis for an example family. We use the benchmark plan premium in each city and the corresponding ACA percent-of-income cap to calculate the value of the ACA advanced premium tax credit for a person of that age and income living in that city. The data were drawn from Healthcare.gov public use files and relevant state-based marketplace websites. We compare the value of the refundable age-related tax credit in the AHCA with the ACA credit; the former does not vary by geographic location or income (at the incomes studied here), but it does vary by age. We present the deductible and out-of-pocket maximum for each city's benchmark silver plan as well as deductibles and out-ofpocket maximums under the three cost-sharing reduction plans (94 percent, 87 percent, and 73 percent actuarial value) associated with the benchmark. We show these to highlight the value of the ACA's cost-sharing reductions to consumers. The AHCA does not offer financial assistance to lower the cost of deductibles, co-payments, co-insurance, or out-of-pocket maximums, so Table 4 only includes cost-sharing information for the ACA. The ACA's tax credits are linked to benchmark premiums each year, and we have ACA premium data for 2017 but not for future years. The AHCA delineates its new tax credits beginning in 2020. As a consequence, we compare 2017 ACA tax credits with the 2020 AHCA tax credits. This comparison has the effect of making the AHCA tax credits look larger relative to ACA tax credits than would actually be the case. An apples to apples comparison would require deflating the AHCA tax credit amounts by CPI + 1 percentage point for each year between 2017 and 2020.

This analysis is a simple comparison of the sizes of tax credits that different people would receive. It does not take into account differences in the types of insurance that may be available under each policy (e.g., benefits, actuarial values), differences in unsubsidized premiums for people of different ages, potential differences in access to care for people of various health statuses, or any other rating factors that may be permitted in some states (e.g., health status). Thus, we cannot conclude that a person receiving a larger tax credit at a particular age or income under a particular option is better off than they would be under the alternative.

RESULTS

Premium Tax Credits: ACA versus AHCA

Our results show that younger people typically would receive larger premium tax credits under the AHCA, and older adults (64-year-olds in our analysis) typically would receive larger premium tax credits under the ACA. Lower-income people tend to be eligible for larger tax credits under the ACA, and higherincome people tend to receive larger tax credits under the AHCA. People in more competitive markets with low premiums generally receive larger tax credits under the AHCA, and people in less competitive markets with high premiums generally receive larger tax credits under the ACA. However, each case has a number of exceptions. We organize our results by age and show how tax credits under the two plans differ for people at three ages, four income levels, and ten geographic areas. The numbers in the tables are shaded to illustrate which premium tax credit approach, ACA or AHCA, offers larger premium tax credits to each person. The higher premium tax credit is shaded blue.

Figure 1. Premium Tax Credit for a 25-Year-Old, ACA v. AHCA, in Seattle and Charlotte



Age 25

Table 2 and Figure 1 show that whether a 25-year-old would receive a higher tax credit under the ACA or under the AHCA differs significantly based on his or her income and whether he or she lives in a high-premium or low-premium area. Twentyfive year olds at both 150 and 250 percent of FPL receive higher tax credits under the ACA if they live in high-premium areas (Birmingham, Oklahoma City, Tucson, Charleston, and Charlotte), but receive higher tax credits under the AHCA if they live in low-premium areas (Cleveland, Detroit, Seattle, Providence, Los Angeles). Young adults with incomes of 350 and 450 percent of FPL would receive large premium tax credits under the AHCA, regardless of the city they live in, because the AHCA's tax credits do not decrease for people in this higher income range.

For example, a 25-year-old with an income of 250 percent of FPL living in a low-cost market would be eligible under the ACA for a very small tax credit or none at all because the premium he or she faces would fall below the percentage-ofincome cap that applies to him or her. In Los Angeles, the ACA tax credit would be only \$7 per year, and in Seattle it would be \$0; compare this to the AHCA tax credit of \$2,000 in each market. In the high-premium markets, on the other hand, the ACA tax credits are greater than the AHCA tax credits for people at that same income level of 250 percent of FPL. For example, that same 25-year-old would receive \$2,891 in ACA tax credits in Charlotte versus \$2,000 in all markets under the AHCA. At income of 350 percent of FPL, the ACA tax credit in low-premium markets is \$0 as well because the benchmark premiums are less than the percentage-of-income cap of 9.69 percent; people at that income level would receive \$2,000 in credits under the AHCA. At 350 percent of FPL, the ACA tax credits are less than the AHCA credits even in high-cost markets since the former decrease with increasing income. At 450 percent of FPL, the ACA provides no financial assistance, while the AHCA would continue to provide \$2,000 in each market.

Age 45

Similar findings hold for 45-year-olds (Table 2). For people with incomes of 150 percent of FPL, the AHCA tax credits are greater than the ACA tax credits in the low-premium, more competitive insurance markets, but the ACA tax credits are far greater in the high-premium markets: ACA tax credits are \$5,937 in Birmingham and \$7,012 in Charlotte compared with \$3,000 AHCA tax credits in all. The same is true for those at 250 percent of FPL: people living in the low-premium markets would receive

larger tax credits under the AHCA than they do under the ACA (in Seattle, for example, the AHCA credits are \$3,000 versus \$753, respectively), while those in the high-premium markets receive larger ACA tax credits (in Charlotte, for example, \$5,274 under the ACA versus \$3,000 under the AHCA). For those at 350 percent of FPL, AHCA tax credits are greater in all but the two most expensive markets. At 450 percent of FPL, the AHCA would provide tax credits, but the ACA does not.

Age 64

The results (Table 2 and Figure 2) show that 64-year-olds generally receive higher tax credits under the ACA than they would under the AHCA; AHCA tax credits would have to be increased significantly for this to change. For 64-year-olds with incomes of 150 percent of FPL, the ACA provides substantially higher tax credits in all markets. The same is true for those with incomes of 250 percent of FPL in all but the least costly market studied (Cleveland). Premiums increase with age, and therefore the ACA's structure, which ties financial assistance to the size of the premium faced, provides protection to older adults that the AHCA does not. The AHCA tax credits vary by a factor of two to one from oldest to youngest adult, while premiums under it could vary by five to one (states could choose to have them vary by more or less than five to one, but the bill considers five to one standard). The ACA's premiums vary by a more limited factor, no more than three to one for oldest to youngest adults, but its premium tax credits keep up with that premium variation as people age. In a low-price market such as Seattle, the ACA tax credit for a 64-year-old with income of 150 percent of FPL is \$5,968; under the AHCA, that tax credit would be \$4,000. In a high-price market such as Charlotte, the ACA subsidy is \$15,362, while the AHCA tax credit would be \$4,000. For 64-year-olds with incomes of 250 percent of FPL, the ACA tax credits are modestly larger than the AHCA credits in low-premium markets (with the exception of Cleveland), but in the high-premium markets, the ACA credits are substantially greater (e.g. \$ 12,568 in Charleston and \$13,625 in Charlotte versus \$4,000 in both markets under the AHCA).

For 64-year-olds with incomes of 350 percent of FPL, the ACA tax credits are significantly lower than for those with lower incomes because the percentage of income that these higher-income individuals are expected to pay toward their coverage is higher. Importantly, however, ACA tax credits are still tied to the actual premiums faced by people at this income level, so their tax credits can still be quite large in high premium cities. For 64-year-olds, the AHCA tax subsidies are greater than the

Table 2. Comparison of ACA and AHCA Tax Credits by Age and Income for Selected Cities

| 25-year old | 150% | of FPL | 250% of FPL | | 350% of FPL | | 450% of FPL | |
|----------------|----------|---------|-------------|---------|-------------|---------|-------------|---------|
| | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA |
| Cleveland | \$1,412 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Detroit | \$1,483 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Seattle | \$1,497 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Providence | \$1,710 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Los Angeles | \$1,744 | \$2,000 | \$7 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Birmingham | \$3,885 | \$2,000 | \$2,148 | \$2,000 | \$533 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Oklahoma City | \$3,894 | \$2,000 | \$2,156 | \$2,000 | \$542 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Tucson | \$3,977 | \$2,000 | \$2,240 | \$2,000 | \$625 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Charleston, WV | \$4,276 | \$2,000 | \$2,539 | \$2,000 | \$924 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| Charlotte | \$4,629 | \$2,000 | \$2,891 | \$2,000 | \$1,277 | \$2,000 | \$0 | \$2,000 |
| 45-year old | 150% | of FPL | 250% | of FPL | 350% of FPL | | 450% of FPL | |
| | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA |
| Cleveland | \$2,366 | \$3,000 | \$629 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Detroit | \$2,470 | \$3,000 | \$733 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Seattle | \$2,490 | \$3,000 | \$753 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Providence | \$2,797 | \$3,000 | \$1,060 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Los Angeles | \$2,847 | \$3,000 | \$1,109 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Birmingham | \$5,937 | \$3,000 | \$4,200 | \$3,000 | \$2,585 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Oklahoma City | \$5,950 | \$3,000 | \$4,213 | \$3,000 | \$2,598 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Tucson | \$6,071 | \$3,000 | \$4,334 | \$3,000 | \$2,719 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Charleston, WV | \$6,503 | \$3,000 | \$4,766 | \$3,000 | \$3,151 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| Charlotte | \$7,012 | \$3,000 | \$5,274 | \$3,000 | \$3,660 | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$3,000 |
| 64-year old | 150% | of FPL | 250% | of FPL | 350% of FPL | | 450% of FPL | |
| | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA |
| Cleveland | \$5,711 | \$4,000 | \$3,973 | \$4,000 | \$2,359 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Detroit | \$5,926 | \$4,000 | \$4,189 | \$4,000 | \$2,574 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Seattle | \$5,968 | \$4,000 | \$4,231 | \$4,000 | \$2,616 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Providence | \$6,606 | \$4,000 | \$4,869 | \$4,000 | \$3,254 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Los Angeles | \$6,709 | \$4,000 | \$4,972 | \$4,000 | \$3,357 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Birmingham | \$13,131 | \$4,000 | \$11,393 | \$4,000 | \$9,778 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Oklahoma City | \$13,157 | \$4,000 | \$11,420 | \$4,000 | \$9,805 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Tucson | \$13,408 | \$4,000 | \$11,670 | \$4,000 | \$10,056 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Charleston, WV | \$14,306 | \$4,000 | \$12,568 | \$4,000 | \$10,954 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |
| Charlotte | \$15,362 | \$4,000 | \$13,625 | \$4,000 | \$12,010 | \$4,000 | \$0 | \$4,000 |

Note: The ACA's tax credits are linked to benchmark premiums each year, and we have ACA premium data for 2017 but not for future years. The AHCA delineates its new tax credits beginning in 2020. As a consequence, we compare 2017 ACA tax credits with the 2020 AHCA tax credits. This comparison has the effect of making the AHCA tax credits look larger relative to ACA tax credits than would actually be the case. An apples to apples comparison would require deflating the AHCA tax credit amounts by CPI + 1 percentage point for each year between 2017 and 2020.



Figure 2. Premium Tax Credit for a 64-Year-Old, ACA v. AHCA, in Seattle and Charlotte

Table 3. Comparison of Premium Tax Credits for a Family of Four under the ACA and the AHCA (Two 35-year-old adults and two children), for Selected Cities

| | 150% of FPL | | 250% of FPL | | 350% of FPL | | 450% of FPL | |
|----------------|-------------|---------|-------------|---------|-------------|---------|-------------|---------|
| | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA | ACA | AHCA |
| Cleveland | \$6,478 | \$9,000 | \$2,934 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Detroit | \$6,745 | \$9,000 | \$3,201 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Seattle | \$6,797 | \$9,000 | \$3,253 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Providence | \$7,586 | \$9,000 | \$4,043 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Los Angeles | \$7,714 | \$9,000 | \$4,171 | \$9,000 | \$877 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Birmingham | \$15,664 | \$9,000 | \$12,120 | \$9,000 | \$8,826 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Oklahoma City | \$15,697 | \$9,000 | \$12,153 | \$9,000 | \$8,859 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Tucson | \$16,007 | \$9,000 | \$12,463 | \$9,000 | \$9,169 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Charleston, WV | \$17,119 | \$9,000 | \$13,575 | \$9,000 | \$10,281 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |
| Charlotte | \$18,427 | \$9,000 | \$14,883 | \$9,000 | \$11,589 | \$9,000 | \$0 | \$9,000 |

Note: The ACA's tax credits are linked to benchmark premiums each year, and we have ACA premium data for 2017 but not for future years. The AHCA delineates its new tax credits beginning in 2020. As a consequence, we compare 2017 ACA tax credits with the 2020 AHCA tax credits. This comparison has the effect of making the AHCA tax credits look larger relative to ACA tax credits than would actually be the case. An apples to apples comparison would require deflating the AHCA tax credit amounts by CPI + 1 percentage point for each year between 2017 and 2020.

ACA tax credits in the low-premium markets, but in the highpremium markets, they would still receive much greater tax credits under the ACA than under the AHCA. In Charlotte, for example, the ACA tax credit at 350 percent of the FPL would be \$12,010, while the AHCA tax credit would be \$4,000. Again, the ACA does not provide tax credits to 64-year-olds with incomes over 400 percent of FPL, so people at 450 percent of FPL would receive a tax credit under the AHCA (\$4,000) but not under the ACA.

Families

In Table 3 we look at family premiums, using a family of four as an illustrative example (two 35-year-old adults and two children). At an income of 150 percent of FPL (\$36,450 in 2017), AHCA tax credits are greater for families in low-premium markets. In high-premium markets, the ACA tax credits are greater for families at that same income level. In Charleston, WV, for example, the ACA tax credit for a family with income of 150 percent of FPL would be \$17,119. A comparable family would receive \$9,000 in tax credits under the AHCA. This same pattern holds for incomes of 250 percent of FPL (\$60,750 in 2017): in the low-premium markets, the AHCA tax credits are higher, and the reverse is true in the high-premium markets, where the ACA tax credits are considerably greater than the AHCA ones. For families with incomes of 350 percent of FPL (\$85,050 in 2017), again the same pattern holds. Families who would receive no tax credits under the ACA (such as those in Cleveland, Detroit, Seattle, and Providence) would receive \$9,000 in AHCA tax credits. But in some high-price markets (such as Charleston and Charlotte), the ACA tax credits are substantially greater. In other markets, however, families with incomes of 350 percent of FPL or over 450 percent of FPL would receive higher tax credits under the AHCA.

Cost-Sharing Reductions: ACA Only

Under the ACA, each marketplace-participating insurer must offer at least one silver-level plan, and each silver-level plan must have cost-sharing reduction plans associated with it that accommodate the cost-sharing subsidies offered to eligible enrollees with incomes below 250 percent of FPL. Thus, each marketplace silver-level plan has a standard 70 percent actuarial value structure as well as variants with actuarial values of 94 percent, 87 percent, and 73 percent. In Table 4 we present deductibles and out-of-pocket maximums for coverage for a single adult associated with the benchmark plan in each of our 10 study cities, along with the deductibles and out-of-pocket maximums for the cost-sharing reduction plans associated with that benchmark plan.

Predicting the structure of health insurance plans that would be offered under the AHCA compared with those offered under the ACA is challenging, and we do not attempt to do that in this brief. However, because the AHCA would provide more flexibility to insurers in the design of their nongroup insurance plans and in the actuarial value of those plans, deductibles and out-of-pocket maximums can be expected to be significantly higher under the AHCA than those associated with silver-level plans under the ACA. The AHCA does not provide for any costsharing subsidies for lower-income enrollees. Thus, comparing the cost-sharing requirements of standard ACA silver-level plans to cost-sharing requirements in cost-sharing reduction plans very likely understates the difference in the out-of-pocket liabilities that people with modest incomes would face under the AHCA versus the ACA.

The deductibles and out-of-pocket maximums for benchmark plans vary across the study cities, as do co-payments and co-insurance; the latter are not shown for simplicity. There are many ways for an insurer to construct a plan with a particular actuarial value. It could use higher deductibles but lower out-of-pocket maximums, or it could offer no deductible but higher co-payments or co-insurance. Taking all cost-sharing requirements into account, however, each benchmark silver plan has a computed actuarial value within the range of 68 to 72 percent. Across the study cities, deductibles for single coverage in the benchmark silver-level plans under the ACA range from \$2,400 (in Detroit) to \$5,500 (in Cleveland), and out-of-pocket maximums range from \$6,500 (in Cleveland) to \$7,150 (in Detroit, Providence, Charleston, and Charlotte). As noted, these standard cost-sharing requirements are likely smaller than what would be typical for plans under the AHCA, but they provide a first-order sense of the increased out-ofpocket liability that low-income people would face under the AHCA compared with the ACA.

Eligible marketplace enrollees with incomes below 150 percent of FPL can receive a 94 percent actuarial value plan for the premium contribution required of a standard silver-level plan. The benchmark 94 percent actuarial value plans in Cleveland, Detroit, and Providence have no deductibles (Table 4). In the other markets, deductibles range from \$75 to \$575. These reduced requirements lower deductibles for this income group by \$2,400 to \$5,925 depending upon the city. Those with incomes between 150 and 200 percent of FPL are eligible for 87 percent actuarial-value plans, and these lower deductibles by \$1,850 to \$5,050 depending upon the city. Even the much more modest 73 percent actuarial-value plans offered to those with incomes between 200 and 250 percent of FPL can lead to substantially reduced deductibles (up to reductions of \$2,000) depending upon the city and the plan structure.

Out-of-pocket maximums are also much lower for lowincome marketplace enrollees under the ACA (Table 4). This is particularly true for those with incomes below 200 percent of FPL who are eligible for the largest cost-sharing reductions (i.e., the highest actuarial-value plans). Enrollees in 94 percent actuarial-value plans have their total yearly out-of-pocket liabilities reduced by \$4,400 to \$6,400 depending upon the city. Those enrolled in 87 percent actuarial value plans have their total yearly out-of-pocket liability reduced by \$4,400 to \$5,850, again depending upon the city. Even those eligible for 73 percent actuarial-value plans have their potential costs lowered by \$950 to \$2,600. Again, these lowered liabilities are most likely significant underestimates of the differences between ACA and AHCA out-of-pocket liabilities for these low-income people because the AHCA would permit lower actuarial-value plans than does the ACA, and the AHCA would provide no costsharing assistance.

Table 4. Comparison of ACA Marketplace Deductibles and Out-of-Pocket Maximums for Selected Cities' Benchmark Plan, 2017

| Deductibles | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|----------------------|---------|---------|---------|---|---|---|--|
| | 70% AV (standard) | 94% AV | 87% AV | 73% AV | Difference between standard and 94% AV | Difference between standard and 87% AV | Difference between standard and 73% AV | |
| Cleveland | \$5,500 | \$0 | \$450 | \$3,500 | \$5,500 | \$5,050 | \$2,000 | |
| Detroit | \$2,400 | \$0 | \$500 | \$2,275 | \$2,400 | \$1,900 | \$125 | |
| Seattle | \$6,500 | \$575 | \$1,750 | \$5,000 | \$5,925 | \$4,750 | \$1,500 | |
| Providence | \$3,000 | \$0 | \$500 | \$3,000 | \$3,000 | \$2,500 | \$0 | |
| Los Angeles | \$2,500 | \$75 | \$650 | \$2,200 | \$2,425 | \$1,850 | \$300 | |
| Birmingham | \$2,600 | \$100 | \$400 | \$1,750 | \$2,500 | \$2,200 | \$850 | |
| Oklahoma City | \$4,000 | \$250 | \$500 | \$3,800 | \$3,750 | \$3,500 | \$200 | |
| Tucson | \$4,000 | \$75 | \$1,000 | \$3,000 | \$3,925 | \$3,000 | \$1,000 | |
| Charleston, WV | \$3,500 | \$250 | \$700 | \$3,000 | \$3,250 | \$2,800 | \$500 | |
| Charlotte | \$5,000 | \$500 | \$1,000 | \$3,000 | \$4,500 | \$4,000 | \$2,000 | |
| Out of-Pocket Max | kimums | | | | | | | |
| | 70% AV (standard) | 94% AV | 87% AV | 73% AV | Difference between standard and 94% AV | Difference between standard and 87% AV | Difference between standard and 73% AV | |
| Cleveland | \$6,500 | \$700 | \$2,250 | \$5,450 | \$5,800 | \$4,250 | \$1,050 | |
| Detroit | \$7,150 | \$1,250 | \$2,250 | \$5,700 | \$5,900 | \$4,900 | \$1,450 | |
| Seattle | \$6,500 | \$515 | \$1,750 | \$5,000 | \$5,985 | \$4,750 | \$1,500 | |
| Providence | \$7,150 | \$1,150 | \$2,250 | \$5,500 | \$6,000 | \$4,900 | \$1,650 | |
| Los Angeles | \$6,800 | \$2,350 | \$2,350 | \$5,700 | \$4,450 | \$4,450 | \$1,100 | |
| Birmingham | \$6,850 | \$450 | \$1,000 | \$4,250 | \$6,400 | \$5,850 | \$2,600 | |
| Oklahoma City | \$6,850 | \$600 | \$2,000 | \$5,700 | \$6,250 | \$4,850 | \$1,150 | |
| Tucson | \$6,650 | \$2,250 | \$2,250 | \$5,700 | \$4,400 | \$4,400 | \$950 | |
| Charleston, WV | \$7,150 | \$1,250 | \$2,000 | \$5,700 | \$5,900 | \$5,150 | \$1,450 | |
| Charlotte | \$7,150 | \$800 | \$2,350 | \$5,700 | \$6,350 | \$4,800 | \$1,450 | |

Note: AV = actuarial value.

CONCLUSION

The AHCA tax credits are designed to be simple and easy to understand: they vary with age and are consistent across incomes until \$75,000 for single people and \$150,000 for families. The ACA tax credits are more complicated and are equal to the difference between the second-lowestcost (benchmark) silver-level plan premium and a defined percentage of income, with the percentage of income increasing as income rises and with no assistance for those with income of 400 percent of FPL or higher. We find that the AHCA tax credits tend to be higher than the ACA tax credits for higherincome people and younger adults living in low-premium areas. Lower-income older adults receive higher tax credits under the ACA than they would under the AHCA regardless of whether they live in high-premium or low-premium areas. The design of the ACA's credits means that they increase when needed: they are higher for low-income people, older adults, and for people living in higher-premium markets. Further, the cost-sharing assistance under by the ACA provides substantial additional financial protection for lower-income enrollees; the AHCA offers no such assistance.

Tax credits that vary with age alone (or, as under the AHCA, that only decrease once income crosses a high threshold) cannot target government assistance to those with the greatest need. To provide a tax credit that meets the needs of those living in higher-premium areas without varying credit amounts geographically, additional assistance would need to be provided across the country, leading to much more government spending than under the AHCA or the ACA. To provide age-related assistance across the income distribution (or across much of the income distribution) without varying the credits by income, larger tax credits would need to be provided to all if adequate coverage is to be affordable to the low-income population. That could be done, but the government costs would again be much higher than under the ACA or the AHCA.

High-premium insurance markets typically reflect limited insurer or provider competition.³ Nothing in the AHCA would change this dynamic, and therefore geographic premium differences like those under current law would remain. Further, reduced regulation of insurance plan standards under the AHCA would lead to different plans being offered by insurers than are offered under the ACA. Under the AHCA, benefits can be expected to be narrower and cost-sharing requirements greater. Although such changes in offered plans could lead to lower premiums (absent a worsening risk pool), the tradeoff would be higher out-of-pocket requirements and more services excluded entirely from insurance coverage and left for people to pay for fully when needed. The differences in financial assistance offered under the ACA and the AHCA could play out into much greater differences in financial burdens for people with health problems versus those without them and for those in states that regulate insurance to a greater extent than those in states that do not.

ENDNOTES

- Kaiser Family Foundation. Premiums and Tax Credits Under the Affordable Care Act vs. the American Health Care Act: Interactive Maps. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation, 2017. <u>http://kff.org/interactive/tax-credits-under-the-affordable-care-actvs-replacement-proposal-interactive-map/</u>.
- Cohn N. Trump Supporters Have the Most to Lose in the G.O.P. Repeal Bill. New York Times. March 10, 2017. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/03/10/upshot/why-trump-</u> supporters-have-the-most-to-lose-with-the-gop-repeal-bill.html. Accessed May 5, 2017.
- Holahan J, Blumberg LJ, Wengle E and Solleveld P. What Explains the 21 Percent Increase in 2017 Marketplace Premiums, and Why Do Increases Vary Across the Country? Washington, D.C.: Urban Institute, 2017. <u>http://www.urban.org/research/ publication/what-explains-21-percent-increase-2017-marketplace-premiums-andwhy-do-increases-vary-across-country</u>; and Holahan J, Blumberg LJ and Wengle E. Characteristics of Marketplaces with One or Two Insurers. Washington, D.C.: Urban Institute, forthcoming.

Copyright[©] May 2017. The Urban Institute. Permission is granted for reproduction of this file, with attribution to the Urban Institute.

About the Authors and Acknowledgements

John Holahan is an Institute Fellow, Linda Blumberg is a Senior Fellow, and Erik Wengle is a Research Associate in the Urban Institute's Health Policy Center. The authors appreciate the comments and suggestions of Stephen Zuckerman.

About the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

For more than 40 years the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation has worked to improve health and health care. We are working with others to build a national Culture of Health enabling everyone in America to live longer, healthier lives. For more information, visit <u>www.rwjf.org</u>. Follow the Foundation on Twitter at <u>www.rwjf.org/twitter</u> or on Facebook at <u>www.rwjf.org/facebook</u>.

About the Urban Institute

The nonprofit Urban Institute is dedicated to elevating the debate on social and economic policy. For nearly five decades, Urban scholars have conducted research and offered evidence-based solutions that improve lives and strengthen communities across a rapidly urbanizing world. Their objective research helps expand opportunities for all, reduce hardship among the most vulnerable, and strengthen the effectiveness of the public sector. For more information, visit **www.urban.org**. Follow the Urban Institute on **Twitter** or **Facebook**. More information specific to the Urban Institute's Health Policy Center, its staff, and its recent research can be found at **www.healthpolicycenter.org**.

OLIVER WYMAN HEALTH

The business of transforming healthcare

TRANSFORM CARE

New Analysis: Potential Impact of Defunding CSR Payments

May 12, 2017



Dianna Welch, FSA, MAAA Principal, Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting

У @owhealtheditor 🛛 🖂 email



Kurt Giesa, FSA, MAAA Practice Leader, Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting



ACTIONABLE INSIGHT

"Analysis: Defunding #CSR payments could lead to low-cost, nocost insurance for many exchange enrollees "

Share This 🕑

The House narrowly passed the American Health Care Act on May 4 and the bill now heads to the Senate. Regardless of what happens in the other chamber, payers are expecting ACA exchanges to continue at least through 2018. That leaves them setting 2018 rates and their individual market strategy for 2018 amidst much uncertainty.

One of the more immediate questions facing payers is whether cost sharing reduction (CSR) payments will continue. With no definitive answer from the Trump administration, it is expected that most payers will plan for CSR defunding. And, where permitted by their regulators, it is expected that payers will offset the potential loss of those payments by raising premium rates on silver exchange plans. (These are the only plans that provide CSR.)

New analysis from Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting finds that "loading" the lost payments onto silver plans in this way could grant millions of marketplace enrollees access to low- or no-cost health coverage.

Here, Dianna Welch, FSA, MAAA, and Kurt Giesa, FSA, MAAA, of Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting explain this possible impact of defunding CSR payments. And read summaries of the analysis on NPR and Vox.

About CSR

The ACA provides tax credits to individuals with low and moderate incomes to help make health insurance premiums more affordable. Under the ACA, premium subsidies are calculated using the difference between the cost of coverage (which is based on the second lowest-cost silver plan available in a market) and affordability (which is based on a percentage of an individual's income).

To help people with low and moderate incomes manage out-of-pocket costs, the ACA requires payers to provide cost sharing reductions (CSR), which serve to lower deductibles, copayments, and out-of-pocket limits. CSR are only available under silver-level exchange plans, and they are only available to people earning 250 percent or less of the federal poverty level (FPL). Nearly three-quarters of the people (6.8 million) who purchased 2017 health insurance via the federal exchanges had incomes meeting that threshold and thus could qualify for CSR.

Under the ACA, the federal government is supposed to reimburse payers for their cost of providing CSR. For the 2016 benefit year, the government provided \$7 billion; for the 2017 benefit year the payments are expected to hit \$10 billion, assuming funding continues through year-end. These payments are viewed by some as critical to payers' continued participation in the ACA exchanges.

Uncertainty of CSR funding

In 2014, House Republicans sued the Obama administration, claiming Congress never appropriated CSR funds. In 2016, a lower federal court agreed with House Republicans and ordered the government to stop making CSR payments, but it allowed the payments to continue while the government appealed the decision.

Industry groups lobbied Congress to incorporate permanent appropriation for CSR payments into the recent spending bill. And many cautioned that not including it would lead to a spike in premiums and seriously damage the exchange market.

However, the \$1 trillion spending bill passed by Congress last week did not include permanent appropriation. The decision to continue CSR payments now rests with the executive branch, and the administration has not stated definitively whether or not they will continue.

Payers' likely reaction to CSR defunding

Payers now find themselves approaching the rate-filing deadline not knowing if they will receive CSR payments in 2018. Many are likely to plan for CSR defunding and attempt to build that into their rates, or file two sets of rates where the regulators will allow it.

<u>Kaiser Family Foundation estimates that defunding CSR payments would</u> <u>cause premiums in silver plans to increase by 19 percent</u>. Payers could raise premiums across all plans, but we think that is unlikely because raising the price on other metal-level plans could price exchange plans out of the market and cause consumers to seek less-expensive off-exchange plans.

Of course, payer responses to CSR defunding will be influenced by local market dynamics. For example, payers that face a difficult regulatory environment, or are unwilling (or unable) to accept a large influx of new members if other insurers leave the market may choose to exit the exchanges themselves. So might those that view the overall uncertainty of this market as being too much risk to bear.

However, we can assume that some payers will respond to CSR defunding by significantly raising rates on their exchange silver plan premiums. For the purposes of this illustration, we have assumed that payers would price their silver plans using a weighted average of the 94 and 87 percent CSR plans an actuarial value (AV) of roughly 91 percent. This is based on the assumption that individuals eligible for CSR plans with a more moderate cost-sharing element (73 percent AV), as well as those who are enrolled in silver plans but not eligible for CSR, would move to bronze or gold plans rather than subsidize those enrollees eligible for higher CSR.

The twist

Because subsidies in 2018 will be based on the cost of the second lowest-cost silver plan, any increase in those premium rates will cause subsidies to increase in parallel.

In fact, according to our projections, subsidies could increase to the extent that they would actually exceed the cost of a bronze plan for many lowerincome enrollees. A substantial portion of the nearly 7 million marketplace enrollees eligible for CSR could receive a bronze-level plan for no cost, or upgrade to a gold-level plan at very low premiums.

Two market scenarios

In the table below, we show how premium levels could change using actual 2017 premiums for a 40-year-old and a 60-year-old in Phoenix, Arizona, a relatively high-cost area; and a 40-year-old and 60-year-old in Detroit, Michigan, a relatively low-cost area.

The projection shows that if CSR is defunded and payers load the cost onto silver plans assuming a 91 percent AV, the structure of the premium subsidies would translate to very low-cost or no-cost plans for most low- and middle-income consumers.



CLIVER WYMAN

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF DEFUNDING CSR

Premium costs in two sample markets, assuming CSRs are defunded and the cost is loaded onto exchange silver plans.

DETROIT MI

At every income level up through 300% FPL, enrollees will be able to obtain a gold plan for only a few dollars more than the silver plan.

| | FPL | BRONZE | SILVER | GOLD |
|-----|------|--------|--------|------|
| AGE | 150% | \$0 | \$57 | \$60 |
| 40 | 200% | 14 | 125 | 128 |
| | 250% | 91 | 202 | 205 |
| | 300% | 177 | 288 | 290 |
| | | | | |
| AGE | 150% | \$0 | \$53 | \$58 |
| 60 | 200% | 0 | 120 | 126 |
| | 250% | 0 | 197 | 203 |
| | 300% | 47 | 283 | 289 |

Monthly premium

AZ

At almost every income level up through 300% FPL, the bronze plan will be available at no cost.

| | FPL | BRONZE | SILVER | GOLD |
|-----|------|--------|--------|------|
| AGE | 150% | \$0 | \$20 | \$63 |
| 40 | 200% | 0 | 88 | 131 |
| | 250% | 0 | 165 | 208 |
| | 300% | 79 | 251 | 294 |
| | | | | |
| AGE | 150% | \$0 | \$0 | \$65 |
| 60 | 200% | 0 | 41 | 133 |
| | 250% | 0 | 118 | 210 |
| | 300% | 0 | 204 | 296 |

Monthly premium

#OWHEALTH

Source: Oliver Wyman analysis www.health.oliverwyman.com

☑ SHARE THIS GRAPHIC

According to our projections, a 40-year-old in Phoenix earning up through 250 percent of FPL would be able to obtain a bronze plan for no cost. Meanwhile, a 60-year-old in Phoenix earning up through 300 percent FPL would be able to get a bronze plan for no cost; and a 60-year-old earning 150 percent FPL could get a gold plan for just \$65 per month.

In Detroit, both 40-year-olds and 60-year-olds earning up through 300 percent FPL could obtain a gold plan at essentially the same cost of a silver

plan.

Market impact

With or without CSR payments, profitability and growth in today's complex market will only come from identifying key consumer segments and then targeting products that engage consumers in meaningful ways. The availability of no- or lower-cost bronze and gold plans could lead to a shift in enrollment between metal-level plans. It might also encourage some subsidyeligible people who have not previously purchased plans to enroll. Payers may want to revisit their product portfolio to ensure that the plans they will be bringing to market in 2018 reflect the possibility that CSR will not be funded. They should also be prepared for the possibility that competitors could react to defunding by raising rates on silver plans, and that could dramatically change consumers' preferences.

At the very least, payers will want to carefully consider how they build the cost of unfunded CSR into their own 2018 premiums.

As we noted, payers are facing tremendous uncertainty in setting premiums and strategy for the individual market. The potential lack of CSR funding and how a payer's enrollees *and* competitors will respond to it—is one of the greatest. Yet as our analysis shows, CSR defunding may also create opportunities, and payers should be prepared to capitalize on these.

It should be noted that if AHCA passes the Senate, it could have an impact on this analysis. If that bill passes, the ACA's individual mandate would go away immediately, and some enrollees might be expected to leave the market, regardless of the affordability of plans. In addition, the AHCA's Patient and State Stability Fund, which transfers money from the Treasury Department to states to help manage high-risk pools, would begin in 2018. That could help lower premiums across the board.



Join our community of innovators. Become a contributor to Oliver Wyman Health. Email your ideas to the Editor at OWHealth.Editor@oliverwyman.com.



TRANSFORM CARE

$\hfill \square$ Health Reform and Millennials: What Payers Need to Know Now

AHCA is betting big on millennials opting into the individual market. What payers need to know about AHCA's focus on the young, plus strategies for attracting this key demographic.

Todd Van Tol Head of Health & Life Sciences, North America, Oliver Wyman





John Rudoy Principal, Oliver Wyman

TRANSFORM CARE

Estimating State Allocations Under the AHCA's Patient and State Stability Fund

Inside the GOP proposal to shore up the individual insurance market.



Kurt Giesa, FSA, MAAA Practice Leader, Oliver Wyman Actuarial Consulting



Todd Van Tol Head of Health & Life Sciences, North America, Oliver Wyman

TRANSFORM CARE

New methods to improve health and lower costs



Infographic: Shoppable Healthcare Services and Future Pricing

Five types of hospital services and their expected progression of pricing.



Bryce Bach Principal, Oliver Wyman



Overcoming the Great Price Transparency Divide

While the healthcare consumer is increasingly seeking price information prior to seeking care, the industry lags behind in the provision of that information.



Parie Garg, PhD

Partner, Health & Life Sciences, Oliver Wyman



Next-Gen Utilization Management: Addressing Clinical Variation

Understanding clinical variation is key to identifying inappropriate care; addressing inappropriate care is key to reducing costs and improving quality.



Jim Fields

Global Head, Health Services, Oliver Wyman

Dr. Bruce Hamory Partner and Chief Medical Officer, Health & Life Sciences, Oliver Wyman



Featured Topics

Digital Health

DRIVE INNOVATION
Podcast: Livongo's Jennifer Schneider on Designing for Real Life
Jennifer Schneider, MD
Chief Medical Officer, Livongo

Executive Conversations

DRIVE INNOVATION

Video: 3 CEOs, 1 Age of Disruption, and a Conversation on the Way Forward

Michael Englehart President & CEO, Presence Health Dan Hilferty President & CEO, Independence Health Group

Glen Tullman Chairman and CEO, Livongo Å.

In the News

TRANSFORM CARE

In The Hill: America's Employers Play Vital Role in 'Repeal and Replace' Debate

Terry Stone Managing Partner, Health & Life Sciences, Oliver Wyman Tracy Watts

Senior Partner, Healthcare Reform Leader, Mercer



Infographics

ENGAGE CONSUMERS

Infographic: Healthcare Through the Ages

Oliver Wyman Health



See All Articles

TRANSFORM CARE

ENGAGE CONSUMERS

DRIVE INNOVATION

MAXIMIZE VALUE

About

Contact

Terms & Conditions of Use

Health and Life Sciences 🖸 Health Innovation Center 🗹

Insights in your inbox

Subscribe



© 2017 Oliver Wyman Group. All Rights Reserved

Effect of the Affordable Care Act on Health Care Access

Sherry Glied, Ph.D. Dean Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service New York University **Stephanie Ma, M.P.A.** Analyst Integrated Care Centers Village Health/DaVita Kidney Care

ABSTRACT

ISSUE: The Affordable Care Act's (ACA) coverage provisions have extended health insurance coverage to millions of Americans. While the effects of the Medicaid expansion and marketplace establishments on coverage have been well studied, the resulting effects of coverage on access to health care remain unclear.

GOAL: To examine how the 2014 coverage expansions affected health care access following the first open enrollment period of October 2013 to March 2014.

METHODS: Analysis of data from the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS).

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS: We find that gaining insurance coverage through the expansions decreased the probability of not receiving medical care by between 20.9 percent and 25 percent. Gaining insurance coverage also increased the probability of having a usual place of care by between 47.1 percent and 86.5 percent. These findings suggest that not only has the ACA decreased the number of uninsured Americans, but has substantially improved access to care for those who gained coverage.

Anaïs A. Borja Junior Researcher Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service New York University

KEY TAKEAWAYS

- Expanding Medicaid coverage and establishing state marketplaces has decreased the number of uninsured Americans and substantially improved access to care for those who gained coverage.
- Gaining insurance coverage through the ACA decreased the likelihood that a person will report not receiving medical care because of costs by between 20.9 percent and 25 percent.
- Becoming insured under the ACA also was associated with an increased probability of having a usual place of care.


BACKGROUND

One of the main goals of health reform like the Affordable Care Act (ACA) is to expand insurance coverage and, ultimately, to increase access to care. Among its reforms, the ACA expanded Medicaid coverage in participating states to all nonelderly adults with incomes below 133 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL), about \$16,000 for an individual or \$33,500 for a family of four, and provided subsidized insurance through the health care marketplaces for small businesses and individuals without access to employment-based insurance. Since the ACA's first open enrollment period in the fall of 2013, the number of uninsured Americans has fallen from 41 million to 27 million.¹

Many prior studies have examined the relationship between insurance coverage and access to care. Virtually all have found that people with health insurance, whether Medicaid or private coverage, have better access to services. However, studies that compare people with and without coverage can be biased; people who choose to participate in coverage may differ from those who do not.² For instance, people in poorer health may be more likely to sign up for care than healthy people.

A few studies have examined how access to care at the population level has improved since ACA implementation.^{3,4} One study, using the Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index, found that by the end of the second enrollment period in 2015, the proportion of Americans without a personal doctor decreased by 3.5 percentage points and the proportion reporting an inability to afford care decreased by 5.5 percentage points.⁵ These improvements were more pronounced in states that expanded Medicaid. Another study, using data from the Health Reform Monitoring Survey (HRMS), examined how various measures of access and affordability changed between the first and second open enrollment periods.⁶ Among all income groups, there were significant improvements, including increases in the proportion reporting a regular source of care and in those reporting decreases in unmet needs because of cost of care. A recent Commonwealth Fund survey found that 72 percent of those enrolled in a marketplace plan

or in Medicaid had used their insurance to visit a doctor, hospital, or other health care provider. More than half said they would not have been able to access or afford care before getting coverage through the ACA.⁷ There is also evidence to suggest that the ACA has significantly reduced health disparities between racial and ethnic groups.⁸

While these studies avoid the problems of selection in the prior literature, they do not fully disentangle improvements in access resulting from the ACA and those resulting from other contemporaneous changes, such as slower growth in health care costs and an improving economy.

In this study, we used two datasets— the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) restricted use data and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) to directly estimate the effect of the ACA's first open enrollment on health care access. The initial rollout of the ACA varied across states during that period, depending on how well state websites and enrollment processes operated in the early months of 2014, as well as whether states chose to participate in the Medicaid expansion. We use this variation to more accurately identify the effects of new coverage and capture the impact of the ACA. We measured access to medical care in the past year and access to a personal doctor or usual place of care.

FINDINGS

Effect of Increases in Marketplace Enrollment on Access to Care on a Population-Wide Basis

Before implementation of the ACA's coverage expansions, many Americans had inadequate access to care. A substantial share of the nonelderly population—from 9 percent to 19 percent, depending on the question asked went without care because of cost in the period before the ACA expansions were implemented. The percentage was somewhat higher among those in the income range that is eligible for marketplace subsidies and much higher among those with incomes in the Medicaid-eligible range (Exhibit 1). Many adults reported that they had no usual place of care.

| | Nonel adult po | derly pulation | Nonelderly marketpla | , eligible for ice subsidy | Nonelderly, Medi | , eligible for icaid |
|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|
| | NHIS | BRFSS | NHIS | BRFSS | NHIS | BRFSS |
| Did not get care because of cost | 9% | 19% | 11.6% | 24% | 18.3% | 33.4% |
| No usual place of care | 18.3% | 26.5% | 21.2% | 30.3% | 27.1% | 38.2% |

Exhibit 1. Access to Care Before Implementation of ACA's Coverage Expansions, by Income

Notes: Includes nonelderly adults ages 18 to 64. NHIS "cost" question: "During the past 12 months, was there any time when [you] needed medical care, but did not get it because [person] couldn't afford it?" BRFSS "cost" question: "Was there a time in the past 12 months when you needed to see a doctor but could not because of cost?" NHIS "usual place of care" question: "Is there a place that you USUALLY go to when you are sick or need advice about your health?" BRFSS "usual place of care" question: "Do you have one person you think of as your personal doctor or health care provider?"

Source: NHIS 2010–2013 annual survey data and BRFSS 2011–2013 annual survey data.

We examined how increases in marketplace enrollment affected how people in a state accessed care, controlling for states' decisions to expand Medicaid. In the NHIS data, we found that for each additional 1 percent of the nonelderly population enrolled in the marketplace, 0.23 percent fewer were likely to report not getting medical care because of cost. On average, 2.5 percent of the U.S. population was enrolled in the marketplaces in 2014. These data imply that enrollment in the marketplaces decreased the national rate of not getting medical care because of costs by 0.57 percentage points. Relative to the baseline level in Exhibit 1, this estimate suggests that marketplace enrollment in 2014 alone reduced the number of people facing costrelated barriers to access by 6 percent.

Similarly, for every 1 percent increase in the number of nonelderly people enrolled in the marketplaces, 0.51 percent more report having a usual place to get medical care (Exhibit 2). Given the national marketplace enrollment in 2014, this translates into a 1.3 percentage point increase in the rate of nonelderly adults who report a usual place to access medical care. The effects are larger in the BRFSS data. These estimates imply that enrollment in the marketplaces increased the rate of nonelderly population with a usual place of care by 2 percentage points.

Exhibit 2. Effect of a 1% Increase in the Marketplace Enrollment Rate on Health Care Access, Nonelderly Adult Population

| | Marketplace enrollmen rate effects | |
|----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------|
| VARIABLES | (1) NHIS | (2) BRFSS |
| Did not get care because of cost | -0.229%* | -0.212% |
| No usual place of care | 0.505%** | 0.782%*** |

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Notes: Includes nonelderly adults ages 18 to 64. Marketplace enrollment rates and Medicaid expansion decisions in same logistic regression model. Model controls for state Medicaid expansion decisions. Standard errors are robust and are clustered on state*month. Logistic regression models control for year, state, month, as well as for patient demographics such as age, income, gender, race, educational attainment, employment status, and marital status.

Source: NHIS 2010–2014 annual survey data and BRFSS 2011–2014 annual survey data.

Effects of Marketplace and Medicaid Coverage on Enrollees' Access to Care

The population-level effects described above show how access to care changed across a state's population. On an individual basis, gaining insurance coverage through the ACA decreases the probability that a person will report not receiving medical care because of costs by 20.9 percent (Exhibit 3), according to the NHIS data. In the BRFSS data, insurance coverage is associated with a 25 percent decrease in the probability of not receiving medical care because of cost. To put this figure in context, prior to implementation of the insurance expansions, about 47 percent of uninsured people reported that they were unable to access care because of cost. Gaining coverage cut that figure by half. Getting coverage through the ACA is also associated with very substantial increases in the probability of having a usual place of care—by 47.1 percent according to the NHIS data and 86.5 percent in the BRFSS data.9 These figures imply that people who gained coverage through the ACA's expansions were just as likely to have a usual source of care as were those who had held insurance prior to the coverage expansions.

Exhibit 3. Effects of Gaining Coverage Through the ACA on Access to Care

| VARIABLES | (1) NHIS | (2) BRFSS |
|----------------------------------|-------------|--------------|
| Did not get care because of cost | -20.9%* | -25%* |
| No usual place of care | 47.1%** | 86.5%*** |

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Notes: Includes nonelderly adults ages 18 to 64. Marketplace enrollment rates and Medicaid expansion decisions used as instruments for insurance coverage. Standard errors are robust and are clustered on state*month. Two-stage least squares (2SLS) IV regression models control for year, state, month, as well as for patient demographics such as age, income, gender, race, educational attainment, employment status, and marital status. Specification test results are reported in Appendix Table C.

Source: NHIS 2010–2014 annual survey data and BRFSS 2011–2014 annual survey data.

DISCUSSION

When the ACA was first introduced and debated, some opponents of the law argued that it was not needed because uninsured people already had adequate access to care.¹⁰ Since its passage, others have argued that the insurance coverage provided to people under the ACA provides insufficient protection against high costs or offers such limited networks that the newly insured cannot find care.^{11,12} These arguments imply that the ACA would not generate improvements in access to care.

Our analysis provides strong evidence that this implication is false. Expanding Medicaid coverage and establishing state marketplaces have not only decreased the number of Americans who are uninsured but has substantially improved access to care for those who gained coverage. People who are newly insured through the ACA are much less likely than uninsured people to report that they are unable to get care or delayed getting care because of cost. They are just as likely as those who have always been covered to report that they now have a usual place of care.

HOW THIS STUDY WAS CONDUCTED

Data Source and Sample

NHIS/BRFSS Data and Public Use Files

We used two datasets—the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) restricted use data and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)—to directly estimate the effect of insurance coverage on health care access. The NHIS is a national survey administered in person that is designed specifically to track trends in health and coverage over time.¹³ In 2014, the NHIS sample design included 87,000 individuals. The NHIS includes questions on whether a person is covered by health insurance and on the type of coverage held.

The BRFSS is a state-based telephone survey conducted by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that collects health-related data across all states in the country. The BRFSS includes a very large sample over 450,000 people are included in the 2014 BRFSS sample.¹⁴ The BRFSS was not designed to track health insurance and does not include information on the type of coverage held by an individual. It asks only whether or not the respondent is covered by health insurance at the time of interview.¹⁵ In 2011, BRFSS began surveying cell phone users in addition to landline users, and also shifted from a post-stratification statistical weighting method to an iterative proportional fitting method. As a result, data from the 2011 survey year and onward are not comparable to data prior to the 2011 survey year. Although the NHIS and BRFSS questions about access are similar, the wording is not exactly the same. A detailed comparison of the two datasets can be found in Appendix Table A.

The NHIS data include a set of questions about family income that allow interviewers to compute the ratio of family income to the poverty threshold, the basis of ACA subsidy allocation. The BRFSS does not report exact income and only asks respondents for household income ranges. We define those Medicaid-eligible as the nonelderly adult population (ages 18–64) with family income <125 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL) in the NHIS, or household income <\$35,000 in the BRFSS. We define the marketplace-eligible population as those with family income from 125 percent to 400 percent FPL in the NHIS, or household income from \$15,000 to \$75,000 in the BRFSS.

We use survey weights in both the NHIS and BRFSS to reflect national population estimates.

Non-NHIS/BRFSS Data

Monthly enrollment data were extracted from the Charles Gaba Blog, which uses state-level enrollment figures from monthly reports released by the CMS and HHS. Denominator data for rates were drawn from the March 2013 Current Population Survey (CPS) release. State Medicaid expansion decisions and their timing were taken from an online Kaiser table (see Appendix Table B).

For our purposes, a critical feature of both of these datasets is that they each include information on an individual's state of residence and on the month in which he or she was interviewed. We matched each interview to the enrollment rate in the marketplace or the status of the Medicaid expansion in the interviewee's state at the end of the month prior to the interview. For example, if John was interviewed in February 2014 in California, we matched John to the marketplace enrollment rate and Medicaid expansion status of California at the end of January 2014.

In prior work, we showed how increases in enrollment and Medicaid expansion decisions affected coverage.¹⁶ We used logistic regressions to estimate changes in the probability that an individual held health insurance coverage as the share of the population enrolled in the marketplace in his or her state increased and as states expanded or did not expand Medicaid. By combining these two sets of estimates, we can estimate how access to care changed for those who themselves gained coverage through the expansions. We report results combining marketplace and Medicaid populations and use a method called two-stage least squares.

We first assess how changes in the marketplace enrollment rate and in state Medicaid expansion

decisions affect our access outcome measures. We conduct these analyses for the total nonelderly adult population using both marketplace rates and Medicaid decisions in the same regressions, and then separately for the marketplace- and Medicaid-eligible populations, using marketplace enrollment rates and Medicaid expansion decisions, respectively. These analyses control for calendar month of interview, state, and year of interview, and for individual age, income, gender, race, educational attainment, employment status, and marital status. Standard errors are clustered at the state*month level.

Instrumental Variable Regressions

Enrollment in insurance coverage is not random—those who have coverage are likely to be different from those who do not have coverage. This makes it challenging to estimate the effects of coverage gained through the ACA on access. To address this, we use a method called two-stage least squares (2SLS) instrumental–variable regressions. We take advantage of the likelihood that state Medicaid expansion decisions and marketplace enrollment rates at a point in time are exogenous to an individual—that is, they do not depend on an individual's preferences. This is very likely in the case of Medicaid expansions, which are the product of state government decisions, not individual choices. As we showed previously, much of the variation in marketplace enrollment rates in 2014 likewise stemmed from the effectiveness of state rollouts of the coverage expansions, not individual preferences.

We use marketplace enrollment rates and Medicaid expansion status at a point in time as instruments to predict the insured people who were most likely to have gained coverage through the ACA expansions. We perform two tests to gauge the appropriateness of our strategy. First, we test to make sure that our instruments adequately predict coverage. Second, when using both instruments, we test to see whether they are both exogenous (assuming the Medicaid expansion is). In each case, the instruments adequately predict coverage (F statistic >10). In all specifications we fail to reject the hypothesis that both of the instruments are exogenous at the 5 percent level.¹⁷

NOTES

- ¹ R. Gareld, M. Majerol, Anthony Damico, *The Uninsured: A Primer—Key Facts about Health Insurance and the Uninsured in the Era of Health Reform* (Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, Nov. 2016).
- ² H. Levy and D. Meltzer, "The Impact of Health Insurance on Health," Annual Review of Public Health, April 2008 29:399–409.
- ³ S. L. Hayes, S. R. Collins, D. C. Radley, D. McCarthy, and S. Beutel, A Long Way in a Short Time: States' Progress on Health Care Coverage and Access, 2013–2015 (The Commonwealth Fund, Dec. 2016).
- ⁴ S. R. Collins, M. Z. Gunja, M. M. Doty, and S. Beutel, How the Affordable Care Act Has Improved Americans' Ability to Buy Health Insurance on Their Own: Findings from the Commonwealth Fund Biennial Health Insurance Survey, 2016 (The Commonwealth Fund, Feb. 2016).
- ⁵ B. D. Sommers, M. Z. Gunja, K. Finegold et al., "Changes in Self-Reported Insurance Coverage, Access to Care, and Health Under the Affordable Care Act," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, July 28, 2015 314(4):366–74.
- ⁶ A. Shartzer, S. K. Long, and N. Anderson, "Access to Care and Affordability Have Improved Following Affordable Care Act Implementation; Problems Remain," *Health Affairs* Web First, Jan. 2016 35(1):1–8.
- ⁷ S. R. Collins, M. Z. Gunja, M. M. Doty, and S. Beutel, *Americans' Experiences with ACA Marketplace and Medicaid Coverage: Access to Care and Satisfaction* (The Commonwealth Fund, May 2016).
- ⁸ S. L. Hayes, P. Riley, D. C. Radley, and D. McCarthy, *Closing the Gap: Past Performance of Health Insurance in Reducing Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Access to Care Could Be an Indication of Future Results* (The Commonwealth Fund, March 2015).

- ⁹ The range in coverage is wide because the surveys ask slightly different questions and use different baseline rates of coverage.
- ¹⁰ A. Terkel and S. Stein, "Mitt Romney, on 60 Minutes, Cites Emergency Room as Health Care Option for Uninsured," Huffington Post, Sept. 24, 2012.
- ¹¹ S. C. Dorner, D. B. Jacobs, and B. D. Sommers, "Adequacy of Outpatient Specialty Care Access in Marketplace Plans Under the Affordable Care Act," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Oct. 27, 2015 314(16):1749–50.
- ¹² R. Moffit, *Four Years of Obamacare: Early Warnings Come True* (Heritage Foundation, April 28, 2014).
- ¹³ The household response rate for the NHIS ranged from 73.8% to 82.0% for the 2010 to 2014 survey years.
- ¹⁴ The national telephone response rate for BRFSS ranged from 48.7% to 54.6% for survey years 2011 to 2014.
- ¹⁵ There is also considerably more month-to-month volatility in national average uninsurance rates measured in the BRFSS compared to the NHIS.
- ¹⁶ S. Glied, S. Ma, and S. Verbofsky, *How Much of a Factor Is the Affordable Care Act in the Declining Uninsured Rate?* (The Commonwealth Fund, Dec. 2016).
- ¹⁷ The overidentification J-test statistic for the BRFSS estimate of not getting care because of cost is 3.24, which is significant at the 10% level.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Sherry Glied, Ph.D., is dean of the Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service at New York University. From 1989 to 2013, she was professor of Health Policy and Management at Columbia University's Mailman School of Public Health. Dr. Glied served as assistant secretary for Planning and Evaluation at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services from July 2010 through August 2012. She is a member of the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences and of the National Academy of Social Insurance and is a research associate of the National Bureau of Economic Research. Dr. Glied's principal areas of research are in health policy reform and mental health care policy. She is the author of Chronic Condition (Harvard University Press, 1998), coauthor (with Richard Frank) of Better But Not Well: Mental Health Policy in the U.S. Since 1950 (Johns Hopkins University Press, 2006), and coeditor (with Peter C. Smith) of The Oxford Handbook of Health Economics (Oxford University Press, 2011).

Stephanie Ma, M.P.A., is an analyst on the integrated care centers team at Village Health, a strategic business initiative of DaVita Kidney Care. She was previously a junior research scientist at New York University's Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service, conducting research in the areas of health policy and health care reform. Ms. Ma holds a master of public administration degree in Health Policy and Management from the Wagner School.

Anaïs Borja is a junior researcher at the Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service of New York University. As a brand strategist and writer, she has worked with Fortune 500 companies, large nonprofits, and health care technology and fashion start-ups. Ms. Borja is currently pursuing a master of public administration degree with a health policy specialization at the Wagner School, where she holds a Tenney Fellowship.

Editorial support was provided by Deborah Lorber.

For more information about this brief, please contact: Sherry Glied, Ph.D. Dean

Robert F. Wagner Graduate School of Public Service New York University sherry.glied@nyu.edu

About The Commonwealth Fund

The mission of The Commonwealth Fund is to promote a high performance health care system. The Fund carries out this mandate by supporting independent research on health care issues and making grants to improve health care practice and policy. Support for this research was provided by The Commonwealth Fund. The views presented here are those of the authors and not necessarily those of The Commonwealth Fund or its directors, officers, or staff.

Vol. 13.

Appendix Table A. NHIS vs BRFSS Survey Comparison

| Panel A: Sample Design | | |
|---|--|--|
| | NHIS | BRFSS |
| Years included | 2010–2014 | 2011–2014 |
| Response rate | 73.8%-82.0% | 48.7%-54.6% |
| Sample in 2014 | 87,000 | 450,000 |
| Panel B: Survey Question Compariso | n | |
| | NHIS | BRFSS |
| Insurance Coverage | NOTCOV–Are you covered by any kind of health insurance or some other kind of health care plan? 1–Not covered 2–Covered | HLTHPLN1–Do you have any kind of health care coverage, including health insurance, prepaid plans such as HMOs, or government plans such as Medicare, or Indian Health Service? 1–Yes 2–No |
| Medicaid Income Eligible NHIS– Family income less than 125% BRFSS– Household income less than \$35,000 | RAT_CAT2-Ratio of family income to the poverty threshold: 1 <50% 2 50%-74% 3 75%-99% 4 100%-124% 5 125%-149% 6 150%-174% 7 175%-199% 8 200%-249% 9 250%-299% 10 300%-349% 11 350%-399% 12 400%-449% 13 450%+ 15 <100% (no further detail) 16 100%-199% (no further detail) 17 200%+ (no further detail) | INCOME2—Is your annual household income from all sources: 1 <\$10,000 2 <\$15,000 3 <\$20,000 4 <\$25,000 5 <\$335,000 6 <\$50,000 7 ≤\$75,000 8 >\$75,000 |
| Marketplace Income Eligible NHIS – Family income 125%–400% FPL BRFSS – Housebold income \$15,000–\$75,000 | RAT_CAT2—Ratio of family income to the poverty threshold: (see above) | INCOME2—Is your annual household income from all sources: (see above) |
| Did not get medical care because of costs? 0–No 1–Yes | PNMED12M–During the past 12 months, was there any time when [person] needed medical care, but did not get it because [person] couldn't afford it? 1–Yes 2–No | MEDCOST—Was there a time in the past 12 months when you needed to see a doctor but could not because of cost? 1—Yes 2—No |
| Usual place of care/personal doctor? 0–No 1–Yes | AUSUALPL–Is there a place that you USUALLY go to when you are sick or need advice about your health? 1–Yes 2–No 3–There is more than one place | PERSDOC2–Do you have one person you think of as your personal doctor or health care provider? 1–Yes, only one 2–More than one 3–No |

Appendix Table B. Medicaid Expansion Decisions and Timing, by State, 2014

| Alabama | No |
|----------------------|----------------------|
| Alaska | No |
| Arizona | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Arkansas | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| California | Yes, as of 11/1/2010 |
| Colorado | Yes, as of 4/1/2012 |
| Connecticut | Yes, as of 4/1/2010 |
| Delaware | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| District of Columbia | Yes, as of 7/1/2010 |
| Florida | No |
| Georgia | No |
| Hawaii | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Idaho | No |
| Illinois | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Indiana | No |
| lowa | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Kansas | No |
| Kentucky | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Louisiana | No |
| Maine | No |
| Maryland | Yes as of $1/1/2014$ |
| Massachusetts | Yes as of $1/1/2014$ |
| Michigan | Yes as of $4/1/2014$ |
| Minnesota | Yes as of $3/1/2010$ |
| Mississippi | No |
| Missouri | No |
| Montana | No |
| Nebraska | No |
| Nevada | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| New Hampshire | Yes, as of 8/15/2014 |
| New Jersey | Yes, as of 4/14/2011 |
| New Mexico | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| New York | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| North Carolina | No |
| North Dakota | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Ohio | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Oklahoma | No |
| Oregon | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Pennsylvania | No |
| Rhode Island | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| South Carolina | No |
| South Dakota | No |
| Tennessee | No |
| Texas | No |
| Utah | No |
| Vermont | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Virginia | No |
| Washington | Yes, as of 1/3/2011 |
| West Virginia | Yes, as of 1/1/2014 |
| Wisconsin | No |
| Wyoming | No |

Appendix Table C. First Stage Regression: Marginal Effects of State Enrollment Rates and Medicaid Expansion Decisions on Insurance Coverage, Nonelderly Adult Population, NHIS 2010–2014 and BRFSS 2011–2014

| | (1) NHIS | (2) BRFSS |
|--------------------------------------|-------------|--------------|
| Uninsured rate (Fall 2013) | 20.7% | 22.7% |
| % population enrolled in marketplace | 91.8%*** | 67.5%*** |
| State expanded Medicaid | 1.7%*** | 2.3%*** |
| Observations | 275,986 | 1,119,064 |

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Notes: Includes nonelderly adults ages 18 to 64. Standard errors are robust and are clustered on state*month. Logistic regression models control for year, state, month, as well as for patient demographics such as age, income, gender, race, educational attainment, employment status, and marital status. Source: NHIS 2010–2014 annual survey data and BRFSS 2011–2014 annual survey data.

commonwealthfund.org

Source: Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation.





June 2017 | Issue Brief

The Effects of Premiums and Cost Sharing on Low-Income Populations: Updated Review of Research Findings

Samantha Artiga, Petry Ubri, and Julia Zur

Key Findings

Recently, there has been increased interest at the federal and state level to expand the use of premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid as a way to promote personal responsibility, prepare beneficiaries to transition to commercial and private insurance, and support consumers in making value-conscious health decisions. This brief reviews research from 65 papers published between 2000 and March 2017 on the effects of premiums and cost sharing on low-income populations in Medicaid and CHIP. This research has primarily focused on how premiums and cost sharing affect coverage and access to and use of care; some studies also have examined effects on safety net providers and state savings. The effects on individuals, providers, and state costs reflect varied implementation of premiums and cost sharing across states as well as differing premium and cost sharing amounts. Together, the research finds:

- Premiums serve as a barrier to obtaining and maintaining Medicaid and CHIP coverage among low-income individuals. These effects are largest among those with the lowest incomes, particularly among individuals with incomes below poverty. Some individuals losing Medicaid or CHIP coverage move to other coverage, but others become uninsured, especially those with lower incomes. Individuals who become uninsured face increased barriers to accessing care, greater unmet health needs, and increased financial burdens.
- Even relatively small levels of cost sharing in the range of \$1 to \$5 are associated with reduced use of care, including necessary services. Research also finds that cost sharing can result in unintended consequences, such as increased use of the emergency room, and that cost sharing negatively affects access to care and health outcomes. For example, studies find that increases in cost sharing are associated with increased rates of uncontrolled hypertension and hypercholesterolemia and reduced treatment for children with asthma. Additionally, research finds that cost sharing increases financial burdens for families, causing some to cut back on necessities or borrow money to pay for care.
- State savings from premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP are limited. Research shows that potential revenue gains from premiums and cost sharing are offset by increased disenrollment; increased use of more expensive services, such as emergency room care; increased costs in other areas, such as resources for uninsured individuals; and administrative expenses. Studies also show that raising premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP increases pressures on safety net providers, such as community health centers and hospitals.

Introduction

Recently, there has been increased interest at the federal and state level to expand the use of premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid. Current rules limit premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid to facilitate access to coverage and care for the low-income population served by the program, who have limited resources to spend on out-of-pocket costs. Proponents of increasing premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid indicate that doing so will promote personal responsibility, prepare beneficiaries to transition to commercial and private insurance, and support consumers in making value-conscious health decisions.¹

This brief, which updates an earlier brief "*Premiums and Cost-Sharing in Medicaid: A Review of Research Findings*," reviews research on the effects of premiums and cost sharing on low-income populations in Medicaid and CHIP. It draws on findings from 65 papers published between 2000 and March 2017, including peer-reviewed studies and freestanding reports, government reports, and white papers by research and policy organizations. This research has primarily focused on how premiums and cost sharing affect coverage and access to care; some studies also have examined effects on state savings. The effects on individuals, providers, and state costs reflect varied implementation of premiums and cost sharing across states as well as differing premium and cost sharing amounts.

Premiums and Cost Sharing in Medicaid and CHIP Today

Currently, states have options to charge premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP that vary by income and eligibility group (Box 1). Reflecting these options, premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP vary across states and groups. As of January 2017, 30 states charge premiums or enrollment fees and 25 states charge cost sharing for children in Medicaid or CHIP.² Most of these charges are limited to children in CHIP since the program covers children with higher family incomes than Medicaid and has different premium and cost sharing rules. States generally do not charge premiums for parents in Medicaid, but 39 states charge cost sharing for parents and 23 of the 32 states that implemented the Affordable Care Act (ACA) Medicaid expansion to low-income adults charge cost sharing for expansion adults.³ Six states have waivers to charge premiums or monthly contributions for adults that are not otherwise allowed.⁴

Box 1: Medicaid and CHIP Premium and Cost Sharing Rules

Medicaid

- States may charge premiums for enrollees with incomes above 150% of the federal poverty level (FPL), including children and adults. Enrollees with incomes below 150% FPL may not be charged premiums.
- States may charge cost sharing up to maximums that vary by income (Table 1). States cannot charge cost sharing for emergency, family planning, pregnancy-related services, preventive services for children, or preventive services defined as essential health benefits in Alternative Benefit Plans in Medicaid. In addition, states generally cannot charge cost sharing to children enrolled through mandatory eligibility categories. The minimum eligibility standard for children is 133% FPL, although some states have higher minimums.
- Overall, premium and cost sharing amounts for family members enrolled in Medicaid may not exceed 5% of household income. This 5% cap is applied on a monthly or quarterly basis.

CHIP

• States have somewhat greater flexibility to charge premiums and cost sharing for children in CHIP, although there are limits on the amounts that states can charge, including an overall cap of 5% of household income.

| | <100% FPL | 100% 150% FPL | >150% FPL |
|--|---------------|-------------------|--|
| Outpatient Services | \$4 | 10% of state cost | 20% of state cost |
| Non-Emergency use of ER | \$8 | \$8 | No limit (subject to overall 5% of household income limit) |
| Prescription Drugs Preferred Non-Preferred | \$4 \$8 | \$4 \$8 | \$4 20% of state cost |
| Inpatient Services | \$75 per stay | 10% of state cost | 20% of state cost |

Table 1: Maximum Allowable Cost Sharing Amounts in Medicaid by Income

Notes: Some groups and services are exempt from cost sharing, including children enrolled in Medicaid through mandatory eligibility pathways, emergency services, family planning services, pregnancy related services, and preventive services for children. Maximum allowable amounts are as of FY2014. Beginning October 1, 2015, maximum allowable amounts increase annually by the percentage increase in the medical care component of the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U).

Effects of Premiums (Table 1)

A large body of research shows that premiums can serve as a barrier to obtaining and maintaining Medicaid and CHIP coverage among low-income individuals. Studies show that premiums in Medicaid and CHIP lead to a reduction in coverage among both children and adults.^{5,6,7,8,9,10} Numerous studies find that premiums increase disenrollment from Medicaid and CHIP among adults and children, shorten lengths of Medicaid and CHIP enrollment, and deter eligible adults and children from enrolling in Medicaid and CHIP.^{11,12,13,14,15,16,17,18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,4,35,36,37,38,39}

Although some individuals who disenroll from Medicaid or CHIP following premium increases move to other sources of coverage, others become uninsured and face negative effects on their access to care and financial security. Those with lower incomes and those without a worker in the family are more likely to become uninsured compared to those with relatively higher incomes or with a worker in the family, reflecting less availability of employer coverage.^{40,41,42,43,44,45,46,47,48,49} Studies also show that those who become uninsured following premium increases face increased barriers to accessing care, have greater unmet health needs, and face increased financial burdens.^{50,51,52,53,54} Several studies suggest that these negative effects on health care are largest among individuals with greater health care needs.^{55,56}

Premium effects are largest for those with the lowest incomes, particularly among those with incomes below poverty. Given that most states limit premium charges to children in CHIP, most studies of premium effects have focused on children in CHIP, who generally have incomes above 100% or 150% of the federal poverty level. A range of these studies show that premium effects are larger among children at the lower end of this income range, who have greater disenrollment and increased likelihood of becoming uninsured.^{57,58,59,60,61,62,63,64,65} Reflecting the more limited use of premiums among Medicaid enrollees with incomes below poverty, fewer studies have focused on this population. However, studies that have focused on poor Medicaid enrollees found substantial negative effects on enrollment from premiums.^{66,67,68,69} For example, in Oregon, nearly half of adults disenrolled from Medicaid after a premium increase with a maximum premium amount of \$20, with many becoming uninsured and facing barriers to accessing care, unmet health needs, and increased financial burdens.^{70,71,72} Similarly, a more recent study of the Healthy Indiana Plan waiver program for Medicaid expansion adults with incomes below 138% FPL, which requires premiums that range from \$1-\$100 to enroll in a more comprehensive plan, found that 55% of eligible individuals either did not make their

initial payment or missed a payment.⁷³ Research also finds that premium effects may vary by other factors beyond income. For example, one study finds larger effects of premiums among families without an offer of employer-sponsored coverage.⁷⁴ Some research also suggests that increases in Medicaid and CHIP premiums may have larger effects on coverage for children of color and among children whose families have lower levels of educational attainment.^{75,76,77}

Research finds varying implications of premiums for individuals with significant health needs.

Overall, individuals with greater health needs are less likely to disenroll from Medicaid or CHIP coverage and are more likely to have longer periods of Medicaid or CHIP coverage compared to those with fewer health needs.^{78,79,80,81} However, findings vary regarding how individuals with health needs respond to premium increases. Some studies show that individuals with greater health needs are less sensitive to premium increases compared to those with fewer health needs, reflecting their increased need for services.^{82,83} These findings suggest that individuals with greater health needs are more likely than those with less significant health needs to remain enrolled following premium increases, but then face increased financial burdens to maintain their coverage. Other studies find that children with increased health needs are as likely or more likely than those with fewer health needs to disenroll from coverage following premium increases, suggesting premiums may lead to children going without coverage despite ongoing health needs.^{84,85}

Effects of Cost Sharing (Table 2)

A wide range of studies find that even relatively small levels of cost sharing, in the range of \$1 to \$5, are associated with reduced use of care, including necessary services. The RAND health insurance experiment (HIE), conducted in the 1970s and still considered the seminal study on the effects of cost sharing on individual behavior, shows a reduction in use of services after cost sharing increased, regardless of income.⁸⁶ Since then, a growing body of research has found that cost sharing is associated with reduced utilization of services,⁸⁷ including vaccinations,⁸⁸ prescription drugs,^{89,90,91,92} mental health visits,⁹³ preventive and primary care,^{94,95,96,97,98} and inpatient and outpatient care,^{99,100} and decreased adherence to medications.^{101,102,103} In many of these studies, copayment increases as small as \$1-\$5 can effect use of care. Some studies find that lower-income individuals are more likely to reduce their use of services, including essential services, than higher-income individuals.^{104,105} Research also suggests that copayments can result in unintended consequences, such as increased use of other costlier services like the emergency room.¹⁰⁶ Two studies have found that copayments do not negatively affect utilization.^{107,108} In one case, the authors suggest that increases in provider reimbursement may have negated effects of the copayment increases, particularly if not all copayments were being collected by providers at the point of care.¹⁰⁹

Research points to varying effects of cost sharing for people with significant health needs. Some studies find that utilization among individuals with chronic conditions or significant health needs is less sensitive to copayments compared to those with fewer health needs. As such, these individuals face increased cost burdens associated with accessing care because of copayment increases.^{110,111} Other research finds that even relatively small copayments can reduce utilization among individuals with significant health needs.

Numerous studies find that cost sharing has negative effects on individuals' ability to access needed care and health outcomes and increases financial burdens for families.^{115,116,117,118,119,120,121,122} For example, studies have found that increases in cost sharing are associated with increased rates of uncontrolled hypertension and hypercholesterolemia¹²³ and reduced treatment for children with asthma.¹²⁴ Increases in cost sharing also increase financial burdens for families, causing some to cut back on necessities or borrow money to pay for care. In particular, small copayments can add up quickly when an individual needs ongoing care or multiple medications.^{125,126}

Findings on how cost sharing affects non-emergent use of the emergency room are limited. One study found that these copayments reduce non-urgent visits.¹²⁷ Other studies find that these copayments do not affect use of the emergency room.^{128,129}

Effects on State Budgets and Providers (Table 3)

Research suggests that state savings from premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP are limited. Studies find that potential increases in revenue from premium and cost sharing are offset by increased disenrollment; increased use of more expensive services, such as emergency room care; increased costs in other areas, such as resources for uninsured individuals; and administrative expenses.^{130,131,132,133,134,135,136} One state study found increased revenues from premiums without significant effects on enrollment, but authors note a range of program-specific factors that may have contributed to this finding, including it being limited to a Medicaid-buy in program for individuals with disabilities with incomes above 150% FPL who may be less price-sensitive to the increase and the state implementing administrative processes designed to minimize disenrollment.¹³⁷

Studies also show that increases in premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP can increase pressures on safety net providers, such as community health centers and hospitals.

Several studies show that coverage losses following premium increases lead to increases in the share of uninsured patients seen by providers^{138,139,140} and increased emergency department use by uninsured individuals.^{141,142} One study also found that increases in copayments led to community health centers having to divert resources for medications for uninsured individuals to help people who could not afford copayments and that copayments increased the rate of "no shows" for appointments at community health centers.¹⁴³

Conclusion

Recently, there has been increased interest at the federal and state levels to expand the use of premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid as a way to promote personal responsibility, prepare beneficiaries to transition to commercial and private insurance, and support consumers in making value-conscious health decisions. Current rules limit premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid to facilitate access to coverage and care for the low-income population served by the program, who have limited resources to spend on out-of-pocket costs. This review of a wide body of research provides insight into the potential effects of increasing premiums and cost sharing for Medicaid enrollees. It shows that premiums serve as a barrier to obtaining and maintaining coverage for low-income individuals, particularly those with the most limited incomes, and that even relatively small levels of cost sharing reduce utilization of services. As such, increases in premiums and cost sharing for families. Further, the research suggests that state savings from premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP are limited and that increases in premiums and cost sharing in Medicaid and CHIP can increase pressures on safety-net providers.

Endnotes

¹ See Maine Department of Health and Human Services, 1115 Waiver Application,

http://www.maine.gov/dhhs/oms/documents/Draft_MaineCare_1115_application.pdf; State of Wisconsin BadgerCare Reform Demonstration Project, Coverage of Adults Without Dependent Children with Income at or Below 100 Percent of the Federal Poverty Level, Draft 1115 Demonstration Waiver Amendment Application, <u>https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/badgercareplus/clawaiver-app.pdf;</u> Office of the Governor, Kentucky Health: Helping to Engage and Achieve Long Term Health, <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ky/ky-health-pa.pdf;</u> and Indiana Family and Social Services Administration, Health Indiana Plan (HIP) Section 1115 Waiver Extension Application, <u>https://www.in.gov/fssa/hip/files/HIP_Extension_Waiver_FINAL1.pdf</u>.

² Tricia Brooks, et. al., *Medicaid and HCIP Eligibility, Enrollment, Renewal, and Cost-Sharing Policies as of January 2017: Findings form a 50-State Survey,* (Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation, January 2017), <u>http://kff.org/report-section/medicaid-and-chip-eligibility-enrollment-renewal-and-cost-sharing-policies-as-of-january-2017-introduction/</u>.

³ Ibid.

4 Ibid.

⁵ Gery P Guy, et. al., "The Role of Public and Private Insurance Expansions and Premiums for Low-Income Parents: Lessons from State Experiences," Medical Care 55, 3 (March 2017):236-243.

⁶ Salam Abdus, et. al., "Children's Health Insurance Program Premiums Adversely Affect Enrollment, Especially Among Lower-Income Children," *Health Affairs* 33, no.8 (August 2014): 1353-1360.

⁷ Carole R Gresenz, Sarah E Edgington, Miriam J Laugesen and Jose J Escarce, "Income Eligibility Thresholds, Premium Contributions, and Children's Coverage Outcomes: A Study of CHIP Expansions," *Health Services Research* 48:2, Part II (April 2013):884-902.

⁸ Gery P Guy, Jr., E. Kathleen Adams, and Adam Atherly, "Public and Private Health Insurance Premiums: How do they Affect Health Insurance Status of Low-Income Childless Adults?" *Inquiry* 49 (Spring 2012):52-64.

9 Jack Hadley, et. al., "Insurance Premiums and Insurance Coverage of Near-Poor Children," Inquiry 43, 4 (Winter 2006/2007).

¹⁰ Genevieve Kenney, Jack Hadley, and Fredric Blavin, "Effects of Public Premiums on Children's Health Insurance Coverage: Evidence from 1999 to 2003," *Inquiry* 43 (Winter 2006/2007):345-361.

¹¹ The Lewin Group, Healthy Indiana Plan 2.0: POWER Account Contribution Assessment, Prepared for Indiana Family and Social Services Administration (FSSA), (Washington, DC: Lewin Group, March 2017).

¹² MaryBeth Musumeci, et. al., *An Early Look at Medicaid Expansion Waiver Implementation in Michigan and Indiana*, (Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation, January 2017), <u>http://kff.org/report-section/an-early-look-at-medicaid-expansion-waiver-implementation-in-michigan-and-indiana-key-findings/</u>.

¹³ James Marton et. al., "Estimating Premium Sensitivity for Children's Public Health Insurance Coverage: Selection but No Death Spiral," *Health Services Research* 50, 2 (April 2015): 579-598.

¹⁴ Laura Dague, "The Effect of Medicaid Premiums on Enrollment: A Regression Discontinuity Approach," *Journal of Health Economics* 37 (May 2014): 1-12.

¹⁵ Michael Hendryx, et al., "Effects of a Cost-Sharing Policy on Disenrollment from a State Health Insurance Program," *Social Work in Public Health*, 27, 7 (2012):671-686.

¹⁶ Michael M Morrisey, et.al., "The Effects of Premium Changes on ALL Kids, Alabama's CHIP Program," *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 2,3 (2012):E1-E17.

¹⁷ Bill J Wright, et. al., "Raising Premiums and Other Costs for Oregon Health Plan Enrollees Drove Many to Drop Out," *Health Affairs*, 29, 12 (December 2010):2311-2316.

¹⁸ Michael R Cousineau, Kai-Ya Tsai, and Howard A Kahn, "Two Responses to a Premium Hike in a Program for Uninsured Kids: 4 in 5 Families Stay In as Enrollment Shrinks by a Fifth," *Health Affairs* 31, 2 (February 2012):360-366.

¹⁹ James Marton, Patricia G Ketsche, and Mei Zhou, "SCHIP Premiums, Enrollment, and Expenditures: A Two State, Competing Risk Analysis," *Health Economics* 19 (2010):772-791.

²⁰ James Marton and Jeffery C Talbert, "CHIP Premiums, Health Status, and the Insurance Coverage of Children," *Inquiry* 47, 3 (Fall 2010):199-214.

²¹ Stephen Zuckerman, Dawn M Miller, and Emily Shelton Page, "Missouri's 2005 Medicaid Cuts: How Did they Affect Enrollees and Providers?" *Health Affairs* 28, 2, (2009):w335-w345.

²² Jill B Herndon, W Bruce Vogel, Richard L Bucciarelli and Elizabeth A Shenkman, "The Effect of Premium Changes on SCHIP Enrollment Duration," Health Services Research 43, 2 (April 2008):458-477.

²³ James Marton, "The Impact of the Introduction of Premiums into a SCHIP Program," *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 26 (2007):237-255.

²⁴ Genevieve Kenney, et. al., "Assessing Potential Enrollment and Budgetary Effects of SCHIP Premiums: Findings from Arizona and Kentucky," *Health Services Research* 42, 6 Part 2 (2007):2354-2372.

²⁵ Gina A Livermore, et. al., "Premium Increases in State Health Insurance Programs: Lessons from a Case Study of the Massachusetts Medicaid Buy-in Program," *Inquiry* 44 (Winter 2007):428-442.

²⁶ Genevieve Kenney, et. al., "The Effects of Premium Increases on Enrollment in SCHIP Programs: Findings from Three States," *Inquiry*, 43, 4 (Winter 2006/2007):378-92.

²⁷ Tricia J Johnson, Mary Rimsza, and William G Johnson, "The Effects of Cost-Shifting in the State Children's Health Insurance Program," *American Journal of Public Health*, 96, 4 (April 2006):709-715.

²⁸ Bill J Wright et. al., "The Impact of Increased Cost Sharing on Medicaid Enrollees," *Health Affairs* 24, no. 4 (Jul/Aug 2005):1106-1116.

²⁹ Matthew J Carlson and Bill Wright, "The Impact of Program Changes on Enrollment, Access, and Utilization in the Oregon Health Plan Standard Population," Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, *Sociology Faculty Publications and Presentations*, Paper 14 (March 2005).

³⁰ Rachel Solotaroff, et. al., "Medicaid Programme Changes and the Chronically Ill: Early Results from a Prospective Cohort Study of the Oregon Health Plan," *Chronic Illness* 1, (2005): 191-205.

³¹ Gene LeCouteur, Michael Perry, Samantha Artiga and David Rousseau, *The Impact of Medicaid Reductions in Oregon: Focus Group Insights*, (Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, December 2004).

³² Utah Department of Health Center for Health Data, *Utah Primary Care Network Disenrollment Report*, (Salt Lake City, UT: Utah Department of Health Center for Health Data, Office of Health Care Statistics, August 2004).

³³ Mark Gardner and Janet Varon, *Moving Immigrants from a Medicaid Look-Alike Program to Basic Health in Washington State: Early Observations*, (Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation, May 2004).

³⁴ Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, *Maryland Children's Health Insurance Program: Assessment of the Impact of Premiums*, (Baltimore, MD: Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, April 2004).

³⁵ John McConnell and Neal Wallace, *Impact of Premium Changes in the Oregon Health Plan*, Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, (Portland, OR: Oregon Health & Science University, February 2004.

³⁶ Norma I Gavin, et. al., *Evaluation of the BadgerCare Medicaid Demonstration*, Prepared by RTI International and MayaTech Corp. for the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, (Research Triangle Park, NC: RTI International and MayaTech Corporation, December 2003).

³⁷ Monette Goodrich, Joan Alker, and Judith Solomon, *Families at Risk: The Impact of Premiums on Children and Parents in Husky A, Policy Brief* (Washington, DC: Georgetown Center for Children and Families, November 2003), <u>http://ccf.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/Far%20-%20impact%200f%20premiums.pdf</u>.

³⁸ Elizabeth Shenkman, et. al., "Disenrollment and Re-Enrollment Patters in a SCHIP Program," *Health Care Financing Review* 23, 3 (Spring 2002):47-63.

³⁹ Leighton Ku and Teresa A Coughlin, "Sliding-Scale Premium Health Insurance Programs: Four States' Experiences," *Inquiry* 36, 4 (Winter 1999/2000).

⁴⁰ Gery P Guy, et. al., "The Role of Public and Private Insurance Expansions and Premiums for Low-Income Parents: Lessons from State Experiences," Medical Care 55, 3 (March 2017):236-243.

⁴¹ Salam Abdus, et. al., "Children's Health Insurance Program Premiums Adversely Affect Enrollment, Especially Among Lower-Income Children," *Health Affairs* 33, no.8 (August 2014): 1353-1360.

⁴² Carole R Gresenz, Sarah E Edgington, Miriam J Laugesen and Jose J Escarce, "Income Eligibility Thresholds, Premium Contributions, and Children's Coverage Outcomes: A Study of CHIP Expansions," *Health Services Research* 48:2, Part II (April 2013):884-902.

⁴³ Bill J Wright, et. al., "Raising Premiums and Other Costs for Oregon Health Plan Enrollees Drove Many to Drop Out," *Health Affairs*, 29, 12 (December 2010):2311-2316.

⁴⁴ James Marton, Patricia G Ketsche, and Mei Zhou, "SCHIP Premiums, Enrollment, and Expenditures: A Two State, Competing Risk Analysis," *Health Economics* 19 (2010):772-791.

⁴⁵ Genevieve Kenney, et. al., "Assessing Potential Enrollment and Budgetary Effects of SCHIP Premiums: Findings from Arizona and Kentucky," *Health Services Research* 42, 6 Part 2 (2007):2354-2372.

⁴⁶ Bill J Wright et. al., "The Impact of Increased Cost Sharing on Medicaid Enrollees," *Health Affairs* 24, no. 4 (Jul/Aug 2005):1106-1116.

⁴⁷ Matthew J Carlson and Bill Wright, "The Impact of Program Changes on Enrollment, Access, and Utilization in the Oregon Health Plan Standard Population," Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, *Sociology Faculty Publications and Presentations*, Paper 14 (March 2005).

⁴⁸ Gene LeCouteur, Michael Perry, Samantha Artiga and David Rousseau, *The Impact of Medicaid Reductions in Oregon: Focus Group Insights,* (Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, December 2004).

⁴⁹ Utah Department of Health Center for Health Data, *Utah Primary Care Network Disenrollment Report*, (Salt Lake City, UT: Utah Department of Health Center for Health Data, Office of Health Care Statistics, August 2004).

⁵⁰ Michael Hendryx, et al., "Effects of a Cost-Sharing Policy on Disenrollment from a State Health Insurance Program," *Social Work in Public Health*, 27, 7 (2012):671-686.

⁵¹ Bill J Wright et. al., "The Impact of Increased Cost Sharing on Medicaid Enrollees," *Health Affairs* 24, no. 4 (Jul/Aug 2005):1106-1116.

⁵² Matthew J Carlson and Bill Wright, "The Impact of Program Changes on Enrollment, Access, and Utilization in the Oregon Health Plan Standard Population," Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, *Sociology Faculty Publications and Presentations,* Paper 14 (March 2005).

⁵³ Gene LeCouteur, Michael Perry, Samantha Artiga and David Rousseau, *The Impact of Medicaid Reductions in Oregon: Focus Group Insights,* (Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, December 2004).

⁵⁴ Utah Department of Health Center for Health Data, *Utah Primary Care Network Disenrollment Report*, (Salt Lake City, UT: Utah Department of Health Center for Health Data, Office of Health Care Statistics, August 2004).

⁵⁵ Matthew J Carlson and Bill Wright, "The Impact of Program Changes on Enrollment, Access, and Utilization in the Oregon Health Plan Standard Population," Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, *Sociology Faculty Publications and Presentations*, Paper 14 (March 2005).

⁵⁶ Rachel Solotaroff, et. al., "Medicaid Programme Changes and the Chronically Ill: Early Results from a Prospective Cohort Study of the Oregon Health Plan," *Chronic Illness* 1, (2005): 191-205.

⁵⁷ Gery P Guy, et. al., "The Role of Public and Private Insurance Expansions and Premiums for Low-Income Parents: Lessons from State Experiences," Medical Care 55, 3 (March 2017):236-243.

⁵⁸ Genevieve Kenney, Jack Hadley, and Fredric Blavin, "Effects of Public Premiums on Children's Health Insurance Coverage: Evidence from 1999 to 2003," *Inquiry* 43 (Winter 2006/2007):345-361.

⁵⁹ Michael M Morrisey, et.al., "The Effects of Premium Changes on ALL Kids, Alabama's CHIP Program," *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 2,3 (2012):E1-E17.

⁶⁰ Jill B Herndon, W Bruce Vogel, Richard L Bucciarelli and Elizabeth A Shenkman, "The Effect of Premium Changes on SCHIP Enrollment Duration," Health Services Research 43, 2 (April 2008):458-477.

⁶¹ Genevieve Kenney, et. al., "The Effects of Premium Increases on Enrollment in SCHIP Programs: Findings from Three States," *Inquiry*, 43, 4 (Winter 2006/2007):378-92.

⁶² Bill J Wright et. al., "The Impact of Increased Cost Sharing on Medicaid Enrollees," *Health Affairs* 24, no. 4 (Jul/Aug 2005):1106-1116.

⁶³ Matthew J Carlson and Bill Wright, "The Impact of Program Changes on Enrollment, Access, and Utilization in the Oregon Health Plan Standard Population," Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, *Sociology Faculty Publications and Presentations,* Paper 14 (March 2005).

⁶⁴ Rachel Solotaroff, et. al., "Medicaid Programme Changes and the Chronically Ill: Early Results from a Prospective Cohort Study of the Oregon Health Plan," *Chronic Illness* 1, (2005): 191-205.

⁶⁵ John McConnell and Neal Wallace, *Impact of Premium Changes in the Oregon Health Plan*, Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, (Portland, OR: Oregon Health & Science University, February 2004.

⁶⁶ The Lewin Group, Healthy Indiana Plan 2.0: POWER Account Contribution Assessment, Prepared for Indiana Family and Social Services Administration (FSSA), (Washington, DC: Lewin Group, March 2017).

⁶⁷ Bill J Wright et. al., "The Impact of Increased Cost Sharing on Medicaid Enrollees," *Health Affairs* 24, no. 4 (Jul/Aug 2005):1106-1116.

⁶⁸ Matthew J Carlson and Bill Wright, "The Impact of Program Changes on Enrollment, Access, and Utilization in the Oregon Health Plan Standard Population," Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, *Sociology Faculty Publications and Presentations*, Paper 14 (March 2005).

⁶⁹ Office of the Executive Director, *2003 Utah Public Health Outcome Measures Report*, (Salt Lake City, UT: UT Department of Health, December 2003), <u>http://www.hpm.umn.edu/ ambul_db/db/pdflibrary/ DBfile_49007.pdf</u>

⁷⁰ Rachel Solotaroff, et. al., "Medicaid Programme Changes and the Chronically Ill: Early Results from a Prospective Cohort Study of the Oregon Health Plan," *Chronic Illness* 1, (2005): 191-205.

⁷¹ Gene LeCouteur, Michael Perry, Samantha Artiga and David Rousseau, *The Impact of Medicaid Reductions in Oregon: Focus Group Insights*, (Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, December 2004).

⁷² John McConnell and Neal Wallace, *Impact of Premium Changes in the Oregon Health Plan*, Prepared for the Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, (Portland, OR: Oregon Health & Science University, February 2004.

⁷³ The Lewin Group, Healthy Indiana Plan 2.0: POWER Account Contribution Assessment, Prepared for Indiana Family and Social Services Administration (FSSA), (Washington, DC: Lewin Group, March 2017).

⁷⁴ Salam Abdus, et. al., "Children's Health Insurance Program Premiums Adversely Affect Enrollment, Especially Among Lower-Income Children," *Health Affairs* 33, no.8 (August 2014): 1353-1360.

⁷⁵ Genevieve Kenney, Jack Hadley, and Fredric Blavin, "Effects of Public Premiums on Children's Health Insurance Coverage: Evidence from 1999 to 2003," *Inquiry* 43 (Winter 2006/2007):345-361.

The Effects of Premiums and Cost Sharing on Low-Income Populations

⁷⁶ Michael M Morrisey, et.al., "The Effects of Premium Changes on ALL Kids, Alabama's CHIP Program," *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 2,3 (2012):E1-E17.

⁷⁷ Genevieve Kenney, et. al., "The Effects of Premium Increases on Enrollment in SCHIP Programs: Findings from Three States," *Inquiry*, 43, 4 (Winter 2006/2007):378-92.

⁷⁸ James Marton et. al., "Estimating Premium Sensitivity for Children's Public Health Insurance Coverage: Selection but No Death Spiral," *Health Services Research* 50, 2 (April 2015): 579-598.

⁷⁹ Michael M Morrisey, et.al., "The Effects of Premium Changes on ALL Kids, Alabama's CHIP Program," *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 2,3 (2012):E1-E17.

⁸⁰ James Marton and Jeffery C Talbert, "CHIP Premiums, Health Status, and the Insurance Coverage of Children," *Inquiry* 47, 3 (Fall 2010):199-214.

⁸¹ Jill B Herndon, W Bruce Vogel, Richard L Bucciarelli and Elizabeth A Shenkman, "The Effect of Premium Changes on SCHIP Enrollment Duration," Health Services Research 43, 2 (April 2008):458-477.

⁸² Ibid.

⁸³ Rachel Solotaroff, et. al., "Medicaid Programme Changes and the Chronically Ill: Early Results from a Prospective Cohort Study of the Oregon Health Plan," *Chronic Illness* 1, (2005): 191-205.

⁸⁴ James Marton et. al., "Estimating Premium Sensitivity for Children's Public Health Insurance Coverage: Selection but No Death Spiral," *Health Services Research* 50, 2 (April 2015): 579-598.

⁸⁵ Michael M Morrisey, et.al., "The Effects of Premium Changes on ALL Kids, Alabama's CHIP Program," *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 2,3 (2012):E1-E17.

⁸⁶ Joseph P Newhouse and the Insurance Experiment Group, *Free For All? Lessons from the RAND Health Insurance Experiment*, (Arlington, VA, RAND, 1993).

⁸⁷ Amitabh Chandra, Jonathan Gruber and Robin McKnight, "The Impact of Patient Cost-Sharing on Low-Income Populations: Evidence from Massachusetts," *Journal of Health Economics* 33 (2014): 57-66.

⁸⁸ Charles Stoecker, Alexandra M Stewart, and Megan C Lindley, "The Cost of Cost-Sharing: The Impact of Medicaid Benefit Design on Influence Vaccination Uptake," *Vaccines* 5, 8, (March 2017).

⁸⁹ Bisakha Sen, et. al., "Can Increases in CHIP Copayments Reduce Program Expenditures on Prescription Drugs?" *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 4, 2 (May 2014).

⁹⁰ Bisakha Sen, et. al., "Did Copayment Changes Reduce Health Service Utilization among CHIP Enrollees? Evidence from Alabama," *Health Services Research* 47, 4 (September 2012):1303-1620.

⁹¹ Daniel M Hartung, et. al., "Impact of a Medicaid Copayment Policy on Prescription Drug and Health Services Utilization in a Fee-forservice Medicaid Population," *Medical Care* 46, 6 (June 2008):565-572.

⁹² Office of the Executive Director, *2003 Utah Public Health Outcome Measures Report*, (Salt Lake City, UT: UT Department of Health, December 2003), <u>http://www.hpm.umn.edu/ ambul db/db/pdflibrary/ DBfile 49007.pdf</u>

⁹³ Ibid.

⁹⁴ Bisakha Sen, et. al., "Did Copayment Changes Reduce Health Service Utilization among CHIP Enrollees? Evidence from Alabama," *Health Services Research* 47, 4 (September 2012):1303-1620.

⁹⁵ Bill J Wright, et. al., "Raising Premiums and Other Costs for Oregon Health Plan Enrollees Drove Many to Drop Out," *Health Affairs*, 29, 12 (December 2010):2311-2316.

⁹⁶ Leighton Ku, et. al., *The Effects of Copayments on the Use of Medical Services and Prescription Drugs in Utah's Medicaid Program*, (Washington, DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, November 2004).

⁹⁷ Gery P Guy Jr., "The Effects of Cost Sharing on Access to Care among Childless Adults." *Health Services Research*, 45, 6 Pt. 1 (December 2010): 1720-1739.

⁹⁸ Vicki Fung, et. al., "Financial Barriers to Care Among Low-Income Children with Asthma: Health Care Reform Implications," *JAMA Pediatrics* 168, 7 (July 2014):649-656.

⁹⁹ Office of the Executive Director, *2003 Utah Public Health Outcome Measures Report,* (Salt Lake City, UT: UT Department of Health, December 2003), <u>http://www.hpm.umn.edu/ ambul_db/db/pdflibrary/ DBfile_49007.pdf</u>

¹⁰⁰ Leighton Ku, et. al., *The Effects of Copayments on the Use of Medical Services and Prescription Drugs in Utah's Medicaid Program*, (Washington, DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, November 2004).

¹⁰¹ Deliana Kostova and Jared Fox, "Chronic Health Outcomes and Prescription Drug Copayments in Medicaid," *Medical Care*, published ahead of print (February 2017).

¹⁰² Marisa Elena Domino, et. al., "Increasing Time Cost and Copayments for Prescription Drugs: An Analysis of Policy Changes in a Complex Environment," *Health Services Research* 46, 3 (June 2011):900-919.

¹⁰³ Joel F Farley, "Medicaid Prescription Cost Containment and Schizophrenia: A Retrospective Examination," *Medical Care* 48, 5 (May 2010): 440-447.

¹⁰⁴ Bisakha Sen, et. al., "Can Increases in CHIP Copayments Reduce Program Expenditures on Prescription Drugs?" *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 4, 2 (May 2014).

¹⁰⁵ Michael Chernew, et. al., "Effects of Increased Patient Cost Sharing on Socioeconomic Disparities in Health Care," *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 23, 8 (August 2008):1131-1136.

¹⁰⁶ Sujha Subramanian, "Impact of Medicaid Copayments on Patients with Cancer," Medical Care 49, 9 (September 2011): 842-847.

¹⁰⁷ Office of the Executive Director, *2003 Utah Public Health Outcome Measures Report,* (Salt Lake City, UT: UT Department of Health, December 2003), <u>http://www.hpm.umn.edu/ ambul_db/db/pdflibrary/ DBfile_49007.pdf</u>

¹⁰⁸ James Marton, et. al., "The Effects of Medicaid Policy Changes on Adults' Service Use Patterns in Kentucky and Idaho," *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 2, 4 (February 2013).

¹⁰⁹ Ibid.

¹¹⁰ Bisakha Sen, et. al., "Can Increases in CHIP Copayments Reduce Program Expenditures on Prescription Drugs?" *Medicare & Medicaid Research Review* 4, 2 (May 2014).

¹¹¹ Amitabh Chandra, Jonathan Gruber and Robin McKnight, "The Impact of Patient Cost-Sharing on Low-Income Populations: Evidence from Massachusetts," *Journal of Health Economics* 33 (2014): 57-66.

¹¹² Deliana Kostova and Jared Fox, "Chronic Health Outcomes and Prescription Drug Copayments in Medicaid," *Medical Care*, published ahead of print (February 2017).

¹¹³ Sujha Subramanian, "Impact of Medicaid Copayments on Patients with Cancer," Medical Care 49, 9 (September 2011): 842-847.

¹¹⁴ Daniel M Hartung, et. al., "Impact of a Medicaid Copayment Policy on Prescription Drug and Health Services Utilization in a Fee-forservice Medicaid Population," *Medical Care* 46, 6 (June 2008):565-572.

¹¹⁵ Deliana Kostova and Jared Fox, "Chronic Health Outcomes and Prescription Drug Copayments in Medicaid," *Medical Care*, published ahead of print (February 2017).

¹¹⁶ Jessica Greene, Rebecca M Sacks, and Sara B McMenamin, "The Impact of Tobacco Dependence Treatment Coverage and Copayments in Medicaid," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 46, 4 (April 2014):331-336.

¹¹⁷ Vicki Fung, et. al., "Financial Barriers to Care Among Low-Income Children with Asthma: Health Care Reform Implications," *JAMA Pediatrics* 168, 7 (July 2014):649-656.

¹¹⁸ Leah Zallman, et. al., "Affordability of Health Care Under Publicly Subsidized Insurance After Massachusetts Health Care Reform: A Qualitative Study of Safety Net Patients," *International Journal for Equity in Health* 14 (October 2015):112.

¹¹⁹ Leah Zallman, et.al., "Perceived Affordability of Health Insurance and Medical Financial Burdens Five Years in to Massachusetts Health Reform," *International Journal for Equity in Health* 14 (October 2015):113.

¹²⁰ Bill J Wright, et. al., "Raising Premiums and Other Costs for Oregon Health Plan Enrollees Drove Many to Drop Out," *Health Affairs*, 29, 12 (December 2010):2311-2316.

¹²¹ Gene LeCouteur, Michael Perry, Samantha Artiga and David Rousseau, *The Impact of Medicaid Reductions in Oregon: Focus Group Insights,* (Washington, DC: Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, December 2004).

¹²² Office of the Executive Director, *2003 Utah Public Health Outcome Measures Report,* (Salt Lake City, UT: UT Department of Health, December 2003), <u>http://www.hpm.umn.edu/ ambul_db/db/pdflibrary/ DBfile_49007.pdf</u>

¹²³ Deliana Kostova and Jared Fox, "Chronic Health Outcomes and Prescription Drug Copayments in Medicaid," *Medical Care,* published ahead of print (February 2017).

¹²⁴ Vicki Fung, et. al., "Financial Barriers to Care Among Low-Income Children with Asthma: Health Care Reform Implications," *JAMA Pediatrics* 168, 7 (July 2014):649-656.

¹²⁵ Peter J Cunningham, *Affording Prescription Drugs: Not Just a Problem for the Elderly*, (Washington, DC: Center for Studying Health System Change, April 2002), <u>http://www.hschange.org/CONTENT/430/430.pdf</u>.

¹²⁶ Rachel Solotaroff, et. al., "Medicaid Programme Changes and the Chronically Ill: Early Results from a Prospective Cohort Study of the Oregon Health Plan," *Chronic Illness* 1, (2005): 191-205.

¹²⁷ Lindsay M Sabik and Sabina Ohri Gandhi, "Copayments and Emergency Department use Among Adult Medicaid Enrollees," *Health Economics* 25 (May 2016):529-542.

¹²⁸ Karoline Mortensen, "Copayments Did Not Reduce Medicaid Enrollees' Nonemergency Use of Emergency Departments," *Health Affairs* 29, 9 (September 2010): 1643-1650.

¹²⁹ Mona Siddiqui, Eric T Roberts, and Craig E Pollack, "The Effects of Emergency Department Copayments for Medicaid Beneficiaries Following the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005," *JAMA Internal Medicine* 175,3 (March 2015):393-398.

¹³⁰ Bisakha Sen, et. al., "Health Expenditure Concentration and Characteristics of High-Cost Enrollees in CHIP," *Inquiry* 53 (May 2016):1-9.

¹³¹ Marisa Elena Domino, et. al., "Increasing Time Cost and Copayments for Prescription Drugs: An Analysis of Policy Changes in a Complex Environment," *Health Services Research* 46, 3 (June 2011):900-919.

¹³² Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, *Estimated Medicaid Savings and Program Impacts of Service Limitations, Copayments, and Premiums,* (Baltimore, MD: Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, December 2010), <u>https://mmcp.dhmh.maryland.gov/Documents/medicaidsavingsJCRfinal12-10.pdf</u>.

¹³³ Health Management Associates, *Co-pays for Nonemergent Use of Hospital Emergency Rooms: Cost Effectiveness and Feasibility Analysis*, Prepared for the Texas Health and Human Services Commission, (Austin, TX: Health and Human Services Commission, May 2008).

¹³⁴ Neal T Wallace, et. al., "How Effective are Copayments in Reducing Expenditures for Low-Income Adult Medicaid Beneficiaries? Experience from the Oregon Health Plan," *Health Services Research* 43, 3 (April 2008):515-530.

¹³⁵ Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System, *Fiscal Impact of Implementing Cost Sharing and Benchmark Benefit Provisions of the Federal Deficit Reduction Act of 2005,* (Phoenix, AZ: Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System, December 2006), <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.482.6057&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u>.

¹³⁶ Steven Crawford and Garth L Splinter, *It's Health Care, Not Welfare: Appropriate Rate Structure for Services Rendered and Estimated Percent of Co-Pays Collected Under the Medicaid Program,* Prepared for the Oklahoma Health Care Authority, (Oklahoma City, OK: Oklahoma Health Care Authority, January 2004).

¹³⁷ Gina A Livermore, et. al., "Premium Increases in State Health Insurance Programs: Lessons from a Case Study of the Massachusetts Medicaid Buy-in Program," *Inquiry* 44 (Winter 2007):428-442.

¹³⁸ Stephen Zuckerman, Dawn M Miller, and Emily Shelton Page, "Missouri's 2005 Medicaid Cuts: How Did they Affect Enrollees and Providers?," *Health Affairs* 28, 2, (2009):w335-w345.

¹³⁹ Mark Gardner and Janet Varon, *Moving Immigrants from a Medicaid Look-Alike Program to Basic Health in Washington State: Early Observations*, (Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation, May 2004).

¹⁴⁰ Pamela Hines, et. al., *Assessing the Early Impacts of OHP2: A Pilot Study of Federally Qualified Health Centers Impact in Multnomah and Washington Counties*, Prepared for Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, (Salem, OR: Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, December 2003).

¹⁴¹ Robert A Lowe, et. al. "Impact of Medicaid Cutbacks on Emergency Department Use: The Oregon Experience," *Annals of Emergency Medicine* 52, 6 (December 2008):626-534.

¹⁴² Mark Gardner and Janet Varon, *Moving Immigrants from a Medicaid Look-Alike Program to Basic Health in Washington State: Early Observations*, (Washington, DC: Kaiser Family Foundation, May 2004).

¹⁴³ Pamela Hines, et. al., *Assessing the Early Impacts of OHP2: A Pilot Study of Federally Qualified Health Centers Impact in Multnomah and Washington Counties*, Prepared for Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, (Salem, OR: Office for Oregon Health Policy & Research, December 2003).

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation Headquarters: 2400 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025 | Phone 650-854-9400 Washington Offices and Barbara Jordan Conference Center: 1330 G Street, NW, Washington, DC 20005 | Phone 202-347-5270

www.kff.org | Email Alerts: kff.org/email | facebook.com/KaiserFamilyFoundation | twitter.com/KaiserFamFound

Filling the need for trusted information on national health issues, the Kaiser Family Foundation is a nonprofit organization based in Menlo Park, California.

By Benjamin D. Sommers, Bethany Maylone, Robert J. Blendon, E. John Orav, and Arnold M. Epstein

Three-Year Impacts Of The Affordable Care Act: Improved Medical Care And Health Among Low-Income Adults

DOI: 10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0293 HEALTH AFFAIRS 36, NO. 6 (2017): -©2017 Project HOPE--The People-to-People Health Foundation, Inc.

Benjamin D. Sommers

(bsommers@hsph.harvard.edu) is an associate professor of health policy and economics in the Department of Health Policy and Management, Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health, and an assistant professor of medicine at Brigham and Women's Hospital, both in Boston, Massachusetts.

Bethany Maylone is a project manager at the Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health.

Robert J. Blendon is the Richard L. Menschel Professor of Health Policy and Political Analysis, Department of Health Policy and Management, Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health.

E. John Orav is an associate professor of biostatistics at Harvard Medical School and in the Department of Medicine at Brigham and Women's Hospital.

Arnold M. Epstein is the John H. Foster Professor of Health Policy and Management, Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health.

ABSTRACT Major policy uncertainty continues to surround the Affordable Care Act (ACA) at both the state and federal levels. We assessed changes in health care use and self-reported health after three years of the ACA's coverage expansion, using survey data collected from low-income adults through the end of 2016 in three states: Kentucky, which expanded Medicaid; Arkansas, which expanded private insurance to low-income adults using the federal Marketplace; and Texas, which did not expand coverage. We used a difference-in-differences model with a control group and an instrumental variables model to provide individual-level estimates of the effects of gaining insurance. By the end of 2016 the uninsurance rate in the two expansion states had dropped by more than 20 percentage points relative to the nonexpansion state. For uninsured people gaining coverage, this change was associated with a 41-percentage-point increase in having a usual source of care, a \$337 reduction in annual out-of-pocket spending, significant increases in preventive health visits and glucose testing, and a 23-percentage-point increase in "excellent" self-reported health. Among adults with chronic conditions, we found improvements in affordability of care, regular care for those conditions, medication adherence, and self-reported health.

he Affordable Care Act (ACA) has produced the largest gains in insurance coverage in nearly fifty years,¹ but the results of the 2016 election left it with an uncertain future. Although the initial attempt to partially repeal the law fell short in March 2017, a revised bill passed the House in early May, and Senate debate is pending. Estimates are that as many as twenty million Americans have obtained insurance under the ACA,² with more than half via Medicaid and the remainder largely from health insurance Marketplaces.³ Meanwhile, several states that have not yet expanded Medicaid are in the midst of a renewed debate over this possibility.⁴ Understanding the impact of the ACA's coverage expansion on medical care and health is critical to

evaluating future policy efforts related to the law.

National studies of the full nonelderly population have detected improvements in trends in coverage, satisfaction with insurance, and access to care.^{5,6} Research specifically comparing populations in Medicaid expansion versus nonexpansion states has shown important clinical changes for these populations, including increased primary care visits,⁷ improved blood pressure control and Pap testing rates,⁸ and improved self-reported health status.^{9,10} However, published analyses have been limited to using data from 2014 or 2015.¹¹ Since insurance expansions extend their reach gradually,¹² updated analyses with more recent data could provide valuable insights.

Meanwhile, patients with chronic medical

conditions such as hypertension, depression, or diabetes may have the most to gain from coverage expansion. These conditions affect nearly half of all Americans—disproportionately those who have gained coverage under the ACA.¹³ Given the high costs of care for this group¹⁴ and the public health implications of these conditions,¹⁵ there is much policy interest in whether expanding coverage improves quality of care and health in this population.

Our objective was to assess ongoing changes in health care use and self-reported health among low-income adults, including those with chronic conditions, after three full years of the ACA's coverage expansion. Using survey data from three states collected through the end of 2016, we provide timely evidence of the law's ongoing impact on patient care.

Study Data And Methods

STUDY DESIGN We conducted a difference-indifferences analysis, which compares pre-versus post-expansion outcomes in two expansion states, with one non-expansion state as the control group. Our study states were Kentucky, which expanded coverage to low-income adults via Medicaid beginning in 2014; Arkansas, which used federal Medicaid funding to provide private insurance from the health insurance Marketplace to low-income adults beginning in 2014; and Texas, which did not expand coverage to low-income adults. Thus, our study captures elements of both private Marketplace insurance expansion and Medicaid expansion under the ACA; for brevity, we refer below to "ACA expansions" to describe Kentucky's Medicaid expansion and Arkansas's "private option" approach. In sensitivity analyses, we tested for differences between these two approaches.

We selected Texas as a comparison state for Kentucky and Arkansas because it is a nonexpansion state in the same census region that had a similarly restrictive set of Medicaid eligibility criteria before implementation of the ACA (Texas covered parents only up to 26 percent of poverty as of 2012, compared to 17 percent for Arkansas and 59 percent in Kentucky, versus the national median of 81 percent).¹⁶ Our study design relied on the assumption that if not for Medicaid expansion, trends in coverage and other outcomes would have been similar across these three states. Data from the Census Bureau show that coverage trends for our study population were similar in all three states during the period 2010-13 (see online Appendix Figure 1),¹⁷ offering support for this assumption.

For our primary difference-in-differences model, we identified the expansion effects sepa-

rately for each year of expansion—2014, 2015, and 2016—all compared to the pre-expansion 2013 data. This approach allowed us to trace out differential changes over time. We also tested a model that pooled 2015–16 together to increase statistical power.

We then conducted an instrumental variables analysis, to estimate individual-level changes in health care outcomes for uninsured people who acquired coverage under the ACA. We repeated this analysis among the subset reporting at least one chronic condition. The instrumental variables approach uses a quasi-experimental source of variation in a key predictor to identify the treatment effect of that predictor;¹⁸ in our case, the variation was the state ACA expansion policy, and the key predictor of interest was having health insurance. This approach builds on the underlying quasi-experimental design of our difference-in-differences model but provides more directly interpretable estimates of patient-level outcomes, similar to the local average treatment effect estimated using an instrumental variables model in the Oregon Health Insurance Experiment.¹⁹ This approach does not change the causal inference for our study, which still relies on the assumption that in the absence of the ACA expansion, trends in our outcomes would have been similar in Texas and the expansion states.

One key assumption for an instrumental variables analysis is that the instrument has a significant relationship with the predictor of interest; here, the state expansion decisions clearly had large effects on insurance coverage. The other key assumption is that the instrument (state expansion) affects outcomes only via the predictor of interest (insurance coverage). While this seems plausible in our case, other potential aspects of coverage expansions might affect access to care and health, even among people who did not gain insurance. For instance, there could be positive spillovers of expansion via better funding to safety-net institutions,²⁰ which would bias our instrumental variables estimates upward. There also could be negative spillovers via reduced health system capacity to care for populations that already had coverage when the expansions took place,²¹ which would have the opposite effect on our estimates. In addition, some people might not have gone from uninsured to insured but simply switched types of coverage because of expansion. These influences are likely swamped by the individual-level effects of gaining insurance, but they are nonetheless potential sources of bias.

DATA We contracted with a research firm to conduct a random-digit-dialing telephone survey from November to December each year, from 2013 to 2016. The survey sample contained US

Individual-level estimates indicate that people who gained coverage saw large, policy-relevant changes.

citizens ages 19–64, with family incomes below 138 percent of the federal poverty level—the ACA's Medicaid expansion eligibility threshold. The survey was available in Spanish and English, and the sample included cellphone and landline users. Each year we recruited a new sample split equally across our three study states. Annual sample sizes ranged from 2,209 to 3,011, for an overall total of 10,885. The study was exempted from review by the Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health's Institutional Review Board since the investigators had access to deidentified data only.

The overall response rate was 22 percent, which compares favorably to response rates of several other surveys that have been used to evaluate the ACA.²²⁻²⁴ Previous research demonstrates that the use of population weighting in random-digit-dialing telephone surveys can mitigate nonresponse bias and produce estimates similar to those from government surveys.²⁵⁻²⁷ Accordingly, our analyses were weighted to demographic targets for low-income adults in our study states based on age, sex, education, marital status, race/ethnicity, geographic region, population density, and cellphone use. Our survey has been previously validated against two large government-sponsored sources: the American Community Survey, conducted by the Census Bureau, and the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, conducted by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. In that validation, we compared estimates for low-income adults in our three study states for coverage and several measures of access to care in our survey and the government data sets. We found moderate-tostrong correlations and a range of absolute differences in estimates consistent with analogous differences between various federal surveys.9,22

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS For each outcome, we estimated a linear regression model including binary indicators for each year and state, plus interaction terms between "expansion state" and

each post-expansion year (2014, 2015, and 2016). These interaction terms captured the changes attributable to coverage expansion for each year of the expansion, compared to the nonexpansion state. All models adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, family size, income, urban versus rural residence, and state. Regression equations are in the Appendix Methods.¹⁷

Our study outcomes spanned seven domains: health insurance (uninsured, Medicaid, and private insurance, in which each individual was assigned a primary type of insurance [see the Appendix Methods],¹⁷ as well as any coverage changes within twelve months); access to care (having a personal doctor, usual location of care, difficulty obtaining primary care and specialty appointments, and reasons for emergency department [ED] use); affordability (skipping needed care or medications due to cost, trouble with medical bills, and medical out-of-pocket spending); utilization (outpatient, ED, and inpatient care in the prior twelve months); preventive care (receipt of a checkup, cholesterol test, or glucose test in the prior twelve months); quality of care (cholesterol and glucose testing for high-risk patients, regular care for chronic conditions, and self-rated quality of care); and health status (self-reported health on a five-point scale²⁸ and a two-item depression score²⁹).

We then examined the same outcomes (other than coverage) in an instrumental variables analysis. We used a two-stage least-squares regression,³⁰ in which the first stage predicted the likelihood of a person having any health insurance as a function of state expansion decisions and the year, using the difference-in-differences model described above (see Appendix Table 1).¹⁷ The second stage then provided an estimate of the impact of gaining insurance from the ACA expansion on individual-level health care outcomes. This method also has the advantage of using all four years of data simultaneously to produce a single estimated policy effect from expansion.

We used Stata 14.0 for all analyses. All regression models used county-level robust clustered standard errors to account for the nonindependence of observations within the same state and county.

SENSITIVITY AND SUBGROUP ANALYSES We repeated our instrumental variables analysis for the subset of respondents who reported having been diagnosed with any of nine chronic conditions: hypertension, coronary artery disease, stroke, asthma/chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), kidney disease, diabetes, depression, cancer (other than skin cancer), or substance abuse. We also tested whether the

prevalence of these conditions changed in association with expansion status.

We conducted several sensitivity analyses. We tested the impact of pooling 2015 and 2016 expansion state data together to increase statistical power. To account for multiple hypothesis testing within each domain or family of outcomes, we estimated "family-wise" p values using a stepdown bootstrapping approach similar to other recent analyses.^{11,31} We also tested a spatial correlation model described below.

Finally, we repeated our primary model with the expansion states divided into Kentucky's Medicaid expansion versus Arkansas's private option. This produced separate estimates for expansion effects in Arkansas and Kentucky.

LIMITATIONS Our analysis had several limitations. First, our study examined only three states. This means that our results might not generalize to the nation as a whole. It also affected our estimation of standard errors and the possibility of idiosyncratic changes in any given state exerting an outsize influence on our findings. In studies with a larger number of states, the use of state-clustered standard errors can limit this risk, but standard methods to estimate correlation within states are biased when there are only three states.³² Instead, we used countylevel clustering to estimate standard errors as in our previous work with this data set,⁹ and we also present results using spatial correlation across counties similar to other health care analyses using small numbers of states.³³ Our main findings were similar under both alternatives.

Second, as discussed earlier, the response rate for random-digit-dialing telephone surveys like ours is lower than that for government interview surveys. However, we believe that the trade-off of timeliness and the ability to design our own comprehensive survey outweighed those concerns, particularly given the previous validation of our survey instrument.⁹

Other limitations are inherent to our study's quasi-experimental design, which helps control for secular trends and takes advantage of a non-expansion state as a comparator but is still subject to unmeasured confounders that vary over time across states. Our instrumental variables analyses produced estimates with fairly wide confidence intervals, which means that the exact magnitudes of change should be interpreted cautiously. Finally, our data are all self-reported, which may be subject to errors in memory and other biases. However, our findings in several domains are consistent with ACA studies using nonsurvey data such as pharmacy claims,^{34,35} lab results,³⁶ and community health center reports.⁸

Our results offer insights into alternative state approaches to coverage expansion.

Study Results

Exhibit 1 presents descriptive statistics by state for our full sample and for those with chronic conditions. Respondents in Texas were disproportionately Latino and urban compared to those in Arkansas and Kentucky. Chronic conditions affected 69 percent in Arkansas, 72 percent in Kentucky, and 55 percent in Texas. Changes in disease prevalence between 2013 and 2016 by state were nonsignificant for all but kidney disease, which showed a small decline in expansion states (-2.2 percentage points, p = 0.06) (Appendix Table 2).¹⁷ People with chronic conditions were older and less likely to be male or Latino. Among those with a condition, the mean number of conditions ranged from 2.0 to 2.3 by state, with depression, hypertension, asthma/COPD, and diabetes the most common (Exhibit 1).

Exhibit 2 presents the percentages of respondents in each state that were uninsured during the period 2013–16. The three states began with similar pre-ACA uninsurance rates of approximately 40 percent among low-income adults in 2013. The rate dropped steeply in 2014 in Kentucky and Arkansas and declined more gradually in 2015 and 2016. Meanwhile, the rate fell moderately in 2014 in Texas and then plateaued. By the end of the study period, the uninsurance rate was 7.4 percent in Kentucky, 11.7 percent in Arkansas, and 28.2 percent in Texas.

Exhibit 3 presents regression-based estimates for differential changes in our study outcomes, comparing expansion to nonexpansion states (Appendix Table 3 presents unadjusted mean values for each outcome in each year, by state).¹⁷ Compared to the nonexpansion state, the coverage expansion to low-income adults in the expansion states was associated with an increase in coverage of 14.0 percentage points in 2014, 22.9 percentage points in 2015, and 20.7 percentage points in 2016 (all p < 0.01). By 2016, in our main model, the expansions had led to signifi-

Characteristics of the study sample in three states, 2013-16

| | Full sample (N | = 10,885) | | Adults with ch | ronic conditions (N | l = 7,734) |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|
| Variable | Arkansas (n = 3,623) | Kentucky (n = 3,639) | Texas (n = 3,623) | Arkansas (n = 2,666) | Kentucky (n = 2,825) | Texas (n = 2,243) |
| Female | 57% | 56% | 58% | 60% | 61% | 62% |
| Age (years) 19-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 | 41% 19 16 23 | 39% 20 17 24 | 46% 18 16 20 | 34% 19 19 28 | 31% 21 19 29 | 33% 18 20 29 |
| Race/ethnicity White non-Latino Latino Black non-Latino Other | 66% 4 25 5 | 84% 2 11 3 | 36% 40 19 5 | 66% 3 26 5 | 85% 1 11 3 | 41% 32 22 4 |
| Education Less than high school diploma High school graduate Some college/college graduate | 20% 47 33 | 25% 43 32 | 23% 40 38 | 22% 49 29 | 28% 44 28 | 25% 40 35 |
| Family income (percent of poverty) Under 50% 50%–100% 101%–138% Don't know/refused | 32% 36 25 7 | 33% 36 23 7 | 30% 37 25 8 | 33% 37 24 6 | 35% 36 22 7 | 32% 36 24 8 |
| Married or living with a partner | 41% | 42% | 40% | 40% | 40% | 37% |
| Family size (number) | 2.9 | 2.9 | 3.2 | 2.8 | 2.7 | 3.0 |
| Rural | 56% | 55% | 14% | 58% | 57% | 15% |
| Chronic conditions Hypertension Coronary artery disease Stroke Asthma/COPD Kidney disease Diabetes Depression Cancer Substance abuse ≥1 condition Moap po. of conditions | 37% 8 5 26 2 15 41 5 4 69 14 | 39% 11 6 31 4 17 46 6 5 72 | 28% 6 4 18 2 14 32 3 4 55 1 | 54% 12 7 37 4 22 60 7 6 100 21 | 54% 16 8 43 5 23 64 8 7 100 23 | 52% 12 8 32 4 26 57 6 7 100 20 |

SOURCE Authors' analysis of data from a telephone survey of US citizens ages 19-64 with family incomes below 138 percent of the federal poverty level, conducted each year from 2013 to 2016. **NOTES** The table reflects pooled estimates for the years 2013–16. Arkansas and Kentucky expanded coverage to low-income adults under the Affordable Care Act, and Texas did not.

cant increases in multiple measures of access to care and affordability, including having a personal doctor and reductions in cost-related delays in both care and medication use. Expansion was associated with a decline in difficulty paying medical bills but an increase in difficulty obtaining appointments with specialists in 2016.

Exhibit 3 also presents changes in utilization and preventive care. Coverage expansion in the expansion states in 2015 and 2016 was associated with a significantly reduced likelihood of any ED visits and an increased likelihood of a checkup within the prior twelve months, but no significant changes in hospitalizations. Our two measures of clinical screening tests—glucose screening and cholesterol monitoring—significantly increased in association with coverage expansion in 2015 or 2016, respectively. Perceived quality of care showed some improvement in 2015 (for example, a reduction in "fair/poor quality of care") that did not persist in 2016. Finally, coverage expansion led to improvements in self-reported health (for "excellent," p < 0.05 in 2015; for both "excellent" and "fair/poor," p < 0.10 in 2016).

Appendix Tables 4 and 5 present sensitivity analyses for our difference-in-differences model.¹⁷ When we used bootstrapped family-wise p values that accounted for multiple variables within each domain of outcomes, we continued

WEB FIRST

EXHIBIT 2





SOURCE Authors' analysis of data from a telephone survey of 10,885 US citizens ages 19–64, with family incomes below 138 percent of the federal poverty level, conducted each year from 2013 to 2016. **NOTES** The survey was conducted in November-December of each year with a new sample, divided evenly among the three states. Arkansas and Kentucky expanded coverage to low-income adults under the Affordable Care Act, and Texas did not.

to find significant changes in 2016 for outcomes related to coverage, access, affordability, and prevention (p < 0.05) and quality (p < 0.10), but not for utilization and self-reported health. Pooling 2015–16 data together strengthened the statistical significance of some 2016 findings such as private insurance gains, having a usual source of care, out-of-pocket spending, and excellent self-reported health; outcomes in five of seven domains were significant at p < 0.05 and in the other two at p < 0.10 using family-wise *p* values. Difficulty obtaining an appointment to see a specialist was no longer significant in the pooled model. In models using spatially correlated standard errors, several estimates were affected by the lack of weighting (which was not feasible with this method), but overall this approach yielded precision similar to that of the main model, which provides support for our primary method using county-level clustering.

Exhibit 4 presents individual-level estimates of changes in these outcomes for patients acquiring insurance, using our instrumental variables model. For the full sample, we estimated that expansion led to significant changes, including a 41-percentage-point increase in having a usual source of care among those gaining coverage, a \$337 reduction in medical out-of-pocket spending, a 28-percentage-point reduction in the likelihood of any ED visits, and a 25-percentagepoint increase in glucose testing. The proportion in excellent health increased by nearly 23 percentage points.

Exhibit 4 also shows instrumental variables results for adults with chronic conditions. While out-of-pocket spending and cholesterol and glucose testing among high-risk patients (those with diabetes, stroke, hypertension, or heart disease) did not change significantly, we otherwise found similar results for most outcomes as in the full sample, including a 51-percentage-point decrease in skipping medications because of cost and a 20-percentage-point increase in excellent health. In a question asked only of this subgroup, we estimated a 56-percentage-point increase in obtaining regular care for chronic conditions.

Comparisons of the 2016 effects of private (Arkansas) versus public (Kentucky) insurance approaches (Appendix Table 6) showed no significant differences for most outcomes.¹⁷ As expected, health insurance types differed, with more private coverage gains in Arkansas and more Medicaid in Kentucky. The only other significant difference was a greater decline in "fair/ poor quality of care" in Arkansas compared to Kentucky. Both expansions were associated with significant improvements in numerous outcomes compared to Texas, including access to a personal doctor and medications, trouble with medical bills, checkups and cholesterol testing, and self-reported health.

Discussion

In our analysis of survey data from low-income adults in three states, we note three key contributions to the growing body of research on the ACA. First, we provide the earliest published estimates using data through the law's third year of expansion (2016), allowing us to document the expansion's changing impact on health care outcomes over time. Second, we use an instrumental variables model to produce individual-level estimates of the ACA's coverage impacts, showing large improvements in self-reported health and other outcomes directly relevant to patients. Third, we document benefits in numerous previously unstudied outcomes for adults with chronic conditions—a vulnerable and high-cost population.

Our four years of data indicate that the ACA's coverage expansion to low-income adults was associated with significant improvements in access to primary care and medications, affordability of care, preventive visits, screening tests, and self-reported health. Though coverage gains in the two expansion states were largest in the first two years, with little additional change in 2016, the time course was more variable for access and utilization measures. Some changes were present in 2014 or 2015, while other changes such

EXHIBIT 3

Year-by-year changes in health care outcomes after the Affordable Care Act's coverage expansion in expansion states, compared to nonexpansion

| Outcome | 2014 expansion | 2015 expansion | 2016 expansion |
|--|---|--|---|
| COVERAGE | | | |
| Uninsured Medicaid Private insurance Coverage change within past year | 14.0*** 9.5*** 7.7** 5.8* | -22.9*** 12.2*** 8.5** 1.2 | -20.7*** 17.6*** 5.9* 1.9 |
| ACCESS TO CARE | | | |
| Has a personal doctor Usual source of care ^a Trouble obtaining primary care appointment Trouble obtaining specialist appointment ED is usual location of care ^a ED visit because office visit unavailable | 7.6* 3.8 3.6 2.5 -5.1* 4.9** | 12.1**** 10.4**** 0.1 1.1 -5.9**** 5.0* | 16.7*** 6.8 2.1 6.4** -3.7 3.5 |
| AFFORDABILITY | | | |
| Cost-related delay in care Skipped medication due to cost Trouble paying medical bills Annual out-of-pocket medical spending | -4.3 -9.9*** -8.9*** -\$33 | -18.4*** -12.0*** -14.1*** -\$88** | 12.8**** 10.5**** \$62* |
| UTILIZATION | | | |
| Any office visits in past year Any ED visits in past year Number of office visits in past year Number of ED visits in past year Any hospitalization in past year | 2.3 -1.8 0.51 -0.12 -1.6 | 2.7 -5.8*** 0.66*** -0.09 1.9 | 4.3 -6.6** 0.60 0.13 2.9 |
| PREVENTION | | | |
| Checkup in past year Cholesterol check in past year Glucose check in past year | 6.9* -1.1 2.2 | 16.0*** 1.4 6.3** | 11.1** 9.9*** 4.3 |
| QUALITY OF CARE | | | |
| Cholesterol check in high-risk patients ^b Glucose check in those with diabetes ^c Regular care for chronic condition ^d Excellent quality of care Fair/poor quality of care | 2.3 4.5 11.3** 4.1 -2.5 | 1.1 11.1** 11.5** 1.3 –7.3** | 2.7 6.3 11.2** 2.0 2.3 |
| HEALTH STATUS | | | |
| Excellent self-reported health Fair/poor self-reported health Positive depression screen (PHQ2 ≥2)° | 2.4 0.6 2.0 | 5.0** -3.7 -6.9* | 5.1* 6.0* 1.8 |

SOURCE Authors' analysis of data from a telephone survey of US citizens ages 19-64, with family incomes below 138 percent of the federal poverty level, conducted each year from 2013 to 2016. **NOTES** The sample contained 10,885 adults (minus item nonresponse for each specific outcome), except where otherwise noted below. Results show differences-in-differences estimates for two expansion states (Arkansas and Kentucky) versus the nonexpansion state (Texas), by year. All analyses adjusted for sex, age, race/ethnicity, marital status, family size, education, income, urban versus rural residence, county annual unemployment rate, state, and year. All estimates are reported as percentage-point changes for binary outcomes, other than number of office and emergency department (ED) visits and out-of-pocket spending. ^aUsual source of care was grouped into 3 categories: those reporting an office-based usual source of care, those without any usual source of care, and those using the ED as the usual source of care. ^bSample limited to patients reporting heart disease, stroke, diabetes, or hypertension (n = 5,611). ^cSample limited to patients reporting a history of diabets (n = 2,213). ^dSample limited to patients reporting at least one of the following conditions: hypertension, heart attack/coronary artery disease, stroke, asthma/chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), kidney disease, diabetes, depression, cancer, and substance abuse (n = 7,734). ^ePHQ2 is a two-item mental health screening questionnaire with total scores ranging from 0 to 6; see Note 29 in text. ^{*}p < 0.05 ^{***p < 0.01}

as increased cholesterol testing and reduced fair/poor health did not become evident until 2016.

Individual-level estimates indicate that people who gained coverage saw large, policy-relevant changes. The average newly covered adult experienced savings of \$337 per year in out-of-pocket medical spending, a 41-percentage-point increase in the likelihood of having a usual source of care, and a 23-percentage-point increase in

EXHIBIT 4

Instrumental variables analysis: individual-level change per person gaining insurance under the Affordable Care Act

| | Effect of any insurance | |
|--|---|--|
| Outcome | Full sample | Adults with chronic conditions ^a |
| ACCESS TO CARE | | |
| Has a personal doctor Usual source of care ^b Trouble obtaining primary care appointment Trouble obtaining specialist appointment ED is usual location of care ^b ED visit because office visit unavailable | 62.1*** 41.1** 3.3 13.7 -23.1** 20.2 | 40.9* 20.0 -6.5 25.1* -0.9 29.8 |
| AFFORDABILITY | | |
| Cost-related delay in care Skipped medication due to cost Trouble paying medical bills Annual out-of-pocket medical spending | –74.7*** –52.3*** –58.6*** –\$337** | -74.6*** -50.8** -66.6*** -\$361 |
| UTILIZATION | | |
| Any office visits in past year Any ED visits in past year Number of office visits in past year Number of ED visits in past year Any hospitalization in past year | 14.7 -27.6** 2.86* -0.05 10.5 | -8.2 -29.5* 2.68 -0.06 18.0 |
| PREVENTION | | |
| Checkup in past year Cholesterol check in past year Glucose check in past year | 64.7*** 20.2 25.4** | 56.8** 15.7 ^c 92.0 ^d |
| QUALITY OF CARE | | |
| Regular care for chronic condition Excellent quality of care Fair/poor quality of care | —e 9.7 −29.8 | 55.9*** 31.5 –27.2 |
| HEALTH STATUS | | |
| Excellent self-reported health Fair/poor self-reported health Positive depression screen (PHQ2 \geq 2) ^f | 22.7** 20.6 21.9 | 20.4** –38.3* –31.5 |

SOURCE Authors' analysis of data from a telephone survey of US citizens ages 19–64, with family incomes below 138 percent of the federal poverty level, conducted each year from 2013 to 2016. NOTES The sample contained 10,885 adults (minus item nonresponse for each specific outcome), except where otherwise noted below. Results show local average treatment effect from gaining coverage via expansion in two states that expanded coverage (Arkansas and Kentucky), compared one nonexpansion state (Texas) using two-stage least squares instrumental variables regression. All analyses adjusted for sex, age, race/ethnicity, marital status, family size, education, income, urban versus rural residence, state, and year. All estimates are reported as percentage-point changes for binary outcomes, other than number of office and emergency department (ED) visits and out-of-pocket spending. COPD is chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. ^aSample limited to patients (n = 7,734 adults) reporting at least one of the following conditions: hypertension, heart attack/coronary artery disease, stroke, asthma/chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), kidney disease, diabetes, depression, cancer, and substance abuse. ^bUsual source of care was grouped into 3 categories: those reporting an office-based usual source of care, those without any usual source of care, and those using the ED as the usual source of care. ^cSample limited to patients reporting heart disease, stroke, diabetes, or hypertension (n = 5,611). "Sample limited to patients reporting a history of diabetes (n = 2,213). "Question not asked of this group. PHQ2 is a two-item mental health screening questionnaire with total scores ranging from 0 to 6; see Note 29 in text. *p < 0.10**p < 0.05 ***p < 0.01

> the likelihood of being in excellent health. The validity of these estimates is supported by their similarity to those from the instrumental variables analyses in the randomized Oregon Health

Insurance Experiment, which showed an average reduction of \$390 in medical debt, a 34-percentage-point increase in having an office-based usual source of care, and a 13-percentage-point change in the share reporting excellent, very good, or good health.³¹

These latter results are particularly noteworthy given policy interest in the ACA's impact on health status. For context, prior research indicates that a self-reported health rating of fair or poor confers a mortality risk two to ten times higher than that of people in the healthiest category.²⁸ Our finding of improved self-reported health is consistent with results in the Oregon study and other pre-ACA Medicaid expansions,³⁷ though the evidence on similar changes under the ACA has been more mixed.^{6,10,11,38} In part, this likely reflects differences in sample frame and timing. Studies that have not found significant changes in self-reported health after the Medicaid expansion have typically used only one or two years of post-expansion data and have studied expansion-related coverage gains on the order of 3-8 percentage points.^{6,11,38} Here we assessed three full years of post-expansion data and studied a population experiencing a much larger coverage change of over 20 percentage points.

Adults with chronic conditions—often called "preexisting conditions" in the current policy debate—saw numerous improvements in both access to and quality of care, including more checkups, improved adherence to medications, higher rates of regular care for chronic disease, and—perhaps as a consequence of these changes—improved self-reported health. These findings build on a previous study using national data through 2014 that showed gains in two access measures for adults with chronic conditions (having a checkup and no cost-related delays in care).³⁹ However, our study included a much richer set of outcomes and two additional years of data.

We detected an increased rate of difficulty obtaining specialist appointments in 2016 in the expansion states, particularly in Kentucky. This is consistent with a recent national study that found an increase in appointment wait times after expansion,⁷ as well as some studies showing greater barriers in Medicaid to specialty care than primary care.⁴⁰ However, in part this may also reflect that patients without coverage are less likely to attempt to make appointments with specialists; thus, coverage expansion may increase the share who try but experience difficulties in doing so, even as their overall access to care has improved.

Our results also offer insights into alternative state approaches to coverage expansion. With increased interest under the Trump administration in state flexibility and innovation, we found that a private insurance expansion via Marketplace coverage (as in Arkansas) and a Medicaid expansion (as in Kentucky) produce similar benefits across most study outcomes. Consistent with prior comparisons,⁴¹ the results imply that coverage expansion is quite important for patients, but the type of coverage obtained is less critical.

Conclusion

Over three years of coverage expansion in two states, the ACA was associated with statistically

This project was supported by a research grant from the Commonwealth Fund. Benjamin Sommers's work on this project was supported in part by Grant

No. K02HS021291 from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). This study does not represent the views of the Commonwealth Fund or AHRQ. The authors appreciate the research assistance of Kathryn Clark at the Harvard T. H. Chan School of Public Health. [Published online May 17, 2017.]

significant and clinically relevant improvements

for low-income adults' access to care, use of pre-

ventive services, and self-reported health.

Among those with chronic conditions, coverage

expansion was linked to improved medication

adherence, more regular communication with

physicians, and improved perceived health sta-

tus. As policy makers debate the ACA's future and

additional states consider whether to expand Medicaid, our findings demonstrate the benefits associated with coverage expansion for two par-

ticularly vulnerable populations: low-income

adults and those with chronic conditions.

NOTES

- Cohen RA, Martinez ME, Zammitti EP. Health insurance coverage: early release of estimates from the National Health Interview Survey, 2015. Hyattsville (MD): National Center for Health Statistics; 2016.
- **2** White House Council of Economic Advisers. The economic record of the Obama administration. Reforming the health care system. Washington (DC): The Council; 2016.
- **3** Frean M, Gruber J, Sommers BD. Premium subsidies, the mandate, and Medicaid expansion: coverage effects of the Affordable Care Act. J Health Econ. 2017;53:72–86.
- 4 Fox M. Medicaid expansion becomes trendy with death of GOP health bill. NBC News [serial on the Internet]. 2017 Mar 31 [cited 2017 Apr 28]. Available from: http://www .nbcnews.com/health/health-care/ medicaid-expansion-becomestrendy-death-gop-health-billn740846
- 5 Collins SR, Gunja M, Doty MM, Beutel S. Americans' experiences with ACA Marketplace and Medicaid coverage: access to care and satisfaction. New York (NY): Commonwealth Fund; 2016.
- **6** Sommers BD, Gunja MZ, Finegold K, Musco T. Changes in self-reported insurance coverage, access to care, and health under the Affordable Care Act. JAMA. 2015;314(4):366–74.
- 7 Wherry LR, Miller S. Early coverage, access, utilization, and health effects associated with the Affordable Care Act Medicaid expansions: a quasiexperimental study. Ann Intern Med. 2016;164(12):795–803.
- 8 Cole MB, Galárraga O, Wilson IB, Wright B, Trivedi AN. At federally funded health centers, Medicaid expansion was associated with im-

proved quality of care. Health Aff (Millwood). 2017;36(1):40-8.

- 9 Sommers BD, Blendon RJ, Orav EJ, Epstein AM. Changes in utilization and health among low-income adults after Medicaid expansion or expanded private insurance. JAMA Intern Med. 2016;176(10):1501–9.
- 10 Simon K, Soni A, Cawley J. The impact of health insurance on preventive care and health behaviors: evidence from the first two years of the ACA Medicaid expansions. J Policy Anal Manage. 2017;36(2):390–417.
- 11 Miller S, Wherry LR. Health and access to care during the first 2 years of the ACA Medicaid expansions. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(10):947-56.
- 12 Sommers BD, Kenney GM, Epstein AM. New evidence on the Affordable Care Act: coverage impacts of early Medicaid expansions. Health Aff (Millwood). 2014;33(1):78–87.
- 13 Karaca-Mandic P, Jena AB, Ross JS. Health and health care use among individuals at risk to lose health insurance with repeal of the Affordable Care Act. JAMA Intern Med. 2017; 177(4):590–3.
- 14 Dieleman JL, Baral R, Birger M, Bui AL, Bulchis A, Chapin A, et al. US spending on personal health care and public health, 1996–2013. JAMA. 2016;316(24):2627–46.
- 15 Benjamin RM. Multiple chronic conditions: a public health challenge. Public Health Rep. 2010; 125(5):626–7.
- **16** Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Where are states today? Medicaid and state-funded coverage eligibility levels for low-income adults. Washington (DC): KFF; 2012.
- **17** To access the Appendix, click on the Appendix link in the box to the right of the article online.

- 18 McClellan M, McNeil BJ, Newhouse JP. Does more intensive treatment of acute myocardial infarction in the elderly reduce mortality? Analysis using instrumental variables. JAMA. 1994;272(11):859–66.
- 19 Baicker K, Taubman SL, Allen HL, Bernstein M, Gruber JH, Newhouse JP, et al. The Oregon experiment effects of Medicaid on clinical outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2013; 368(18):1713–22.
- **20** Pauly MV, Pagán JA. Spillovers and vulnerability: the case of community uninsurance. Health Aff (Millwood). 2007;26(5):1304–14.
- **21** Sabik LM. The effect of community uninsurance rates on access to health care. Health Serv Res. 2012; 47(3 Pt 1):897–918.
- **22** Skopec L, Musco T, Sommers BD. A potential new data source for assessing the impacts of health reform: evaluating the Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index. Healthc (Amst). 2014;2(2):113–20.
- 23 Long SK, Kenney GM, Zuckerman S, Goin DE, Wissoker D, Blavin F, et al. The Health Reform Monitoring Survey: addressing data gaps to provide timely insights into the Affordable Care Act. Health Aff (Millwood). 2014;33(1):161–7.
- 24 Finegold K, Gunja MZ. Survey data on health insurance coverage for 2013 and 2014. Washington (DC): Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation; 2014.
- **25** Pew Research Center. Assessing the representativeness of public opinion surveys. Washington (DC): The Center; 2012.
- **26** Davern M. Nonresponse rates are a problematic indicator of non-

response bias in survey research. Health Serv Res. 2013;48(3):905–12.

- **27** Keeter S, Kennedy C, Dimock M, Best J, Craighill P. Gauging the impact of growing nonresponse on estimates from a national RDD telephone survey. Public Opin Q. 2006; 70:759–79.
- 28 Miilunpalo S, Vuori I, Oja P, Pasanen M, Urponen H. Self-rated health status as a health measure: the predictive value of self-reported health status on the use of physician services and on mortality in the work-ing-age population. J Clin Epidemiol. 1997;50(5):517–28.
- **29** Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The Patient Health Questionnaire-2: validity of a two-item depression screener. Med Care. 2003;41(11): 1284–92.
- **30** Angrist J, Pischke J. Mostly harmless econometrics. Princeton (NJ): Princeton University Press; 2009.
- **31** Finkelstein A, Taubman S, Wright B, Bernstein M, Gruber J, Newhouse JP, et al. The Oregon Health Insurance Experiment: evidence from the first year. Q J Econ. 2012;127(3): 1057–106.

- **32** Cameron AC, Miller DL. A practitioner's guide to cluster-robust inference. J Hum Resour. 2015; 50(2):317–73.
- **33** Mazumder B, Miller S. The effects of the Massachusetts health reform on household financial distress. Am Econ J Econ Policy. 2016;8(3): 284–313.
- 34 Mulcahy AW, Eibner C, Finegold K. Gaining coverage through Medicaid or private insurance increased prescription use and lowered out-ofpocket spending. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(9):1725–33.
- 35 Ghosh A, Simon K, Sommers BD. The effect of state Medicaid expansions on prescription drug use: evidence from the Affordable Care Act. (NBER Working Paper No. 23044). Cambridge (MA): National Bureau of Economic Research; 2017.
- 36 Kaufman HW, Chen Z, Fonseca VA, McPhaul MJ. Surge in newly identified diabetes among Medicaid patients in 2014 within Medicaid expansion states under the affordable care act. Diabetes Care. 2015; 38(5):833–7.
- **37** Sommers BD, Baicker K, Epstein

AM. Mortality and access to care among adults after state Medicaid expansions. N Engl J Med. 2012; 367(11):1025–34.

- 38 Courtemanche C, Marton J, Ukert B, Yelowitz A, Zapata D. Early effects of the Affordable Care Act on health care access, risky health behaviors, and self-assessed health. (NBER Working Paper No. 23269). Cambridge (MA): National Bureau of Economic Research; 2017.
- **39** Torres H, Poorman E, Tadepalli U, Schoettler C, Fung CH, Mushero N, et al. Coverage and access for Americans with chronic disease under the Affordable Care Act: a quasiexperimental study. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(7):472–9.
- **40** Nguyen KH, Sommers BD. Access and quality of care by insurance type for low-income adults before the Affordable Care Act. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(8):1409–15.
- **41** Sommers BD, Blendon RJ, Orav EJ. Both the "private option" and traditional Medicaid expansions improved access to care for low-income adults. Health Aff (Millwood). 2016;35(1):96–105.

HEALTH CARE COST

Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Treatment Indices—Part 1: Spending and Price

Comparing spending and prices for three medical treatments within and across geographies

The Health Care Cost Institute (HCCI), with funding from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, calculated a set of measures of health care price, competition, and productivity, which collectively make up the Healthy Marketplace Index (HMI). This is the third HCCI issue brief in a series that reports HMI measures. In this issue brief, we report expenditure (e.g., spending) and price indices for three medical treatments: an injection to alleviate knee pain, arthroscopy and surgery to repair a torn ACL, and a full knee replacement.

The indices reported in this brief are intended to be used to compare total spending and prices for common collections of medical services related to specific treatments. These indices, consistent with all other HMI measures, were calculated and reported at the Core-Based Statistical Area (CBSA). The medical treatment indices can also be used to examine how the treatment specific prices are related to the medical service category price levels. Each of the three price indices reported in this brief generally falls within one of the three overall service categories price indices - inpatient (knee replacement), outpatient (ACL repair), and physician (knee injection) - reported in Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index.¹

The treatments selected for analysis were all specific to knees. The previously reported price indices for the categories of medical services are valuable in identifying potential drivers of spending in a CBSA. The treatmentlevel indices are specific examples that can be used to understand how services for various related medical treatments compare within and across CBSAs and how they relate to overall price indices.

This is the type of detailed price and spending information needed to evaluate how potential policy solutions targeting one aspect of health care services may have direct or indirect impacts on other areas. Examining only three treatments does not provide a comprehensive understanding, but the indices are useful in particular contexts and will hopefully inform future work.

The three treatments exhibited several differences in their patterns of spending and prices. Knee replacement treatments had the highest price on average, but had the least variation in spending and prices across CBSAs, compared to the other treatments. Knee injection, on the other hand, had the widest range of average prices across CBSAs, but was the lowest priced. While price appeared to be a large factor in total spending, there were numerous instances where evidence suggested other factors, such as utilization, likely influenced spending. Comparing the three treatments' price indices to their corresponding medical service category price indices, we found high correlations between knee injection and physician services prices and knee replacement and inpatient facility prices as expected. However, there was a substantially lower correlation between ACL repair and outpatient prices.

Issue Brief #15

May 2017

KEY FINDINGS

Considerable variation was found in spending and prices across all three treatments

ACL repair had the widest spending index distribution, while knee injection was the largest for prices.

Prices had strong positive correlations to spending for all three treatments

Each set of corresponding treatment indices had a correlation of 0.84 or higher.

Among the three paired treatment—service category correlations, only ACL Repair— Outpatient was not strongly correlated

At the CBSA level, the ACL price index values varied substantially from the outpatient price index trend.

Index calculations

The medical treatment spending and price indices were calculated using 2013 claims data from individuals under age 65, enrolled in an employer-sponsored insurance (ESI) plan from one of 61 CBSAs.² Spending and prices were calculated for the set of medical services commonly billed for a given a treatment.³ For example, the claims for a knee injection could include an office visit, the injection, and the cost of the drug administered. Identification of the medical treatments and associated claims used in constructing the HMI measures were based on the guroo.com "care bundles", but the methodology for calculating the medical treatment indices is specific to the HMI.

For each treatment, a single code indicating the main treatment (e.g., the trigger code) was used to identify instances of the relevant medical care. The knee injections and ACL repairs were identified by Current Procedur-

HEALTH CARE COST

al Terminology (CPT) codes in the professional and outpatient claims, respectively. The knee replacements were identified by Diagnosis Related Group (DRG) codes in the inpatient files. Using the trigger code date of service, all other services billed on the same day (or billed within the duration of the hospital stay for knee replacements) were identified. For example, knee injections were identified in the professional file, but if outpatient services with claims in the outpatient file were provided to a patient on the same day as the injection, they were also included. Additional detail regarding the services included in each medical treatment index are provided in the Data and Methods section.

For the spending indices, the allowed payments (the actual amount paid to the providers including any patient cost sharing) for all services that occurred on the day of the trigger code were averaged by CBSA and over the total study population. The average was calculated by dividing the sum of the allowed payments by the number of trigger code occurrences identified because some treatments could have been provided multiple times during a year. Each CBSA -level treatment spending average was divided by the treatment's total population average to create an index measure. A CBSA with an index greater than 1.00 implies that an average patient within that CBSA spent more than the average patient from the total population, for the same treatment. Conversely, an index less than 1.00 signifies that an average patient within a given CBSA spent less

than an average patient from the total population.

A standard set of services for each treatment was used to calculate the price index.^{4,5} An average price was calculated from the allowed payments for each procedure code, CPT or DRG, in the set. The average prices were calculated by CBSA and for the total population. If a CBSA did not have enough data to calculate an average for a given CPT code, the total population average value was substituted. The average prices for each code in the standardized treatment were summed to create a total treatment average price at the CBSA and total population levels. Each of the CBSAlevel prices were divided by the total population price to produce an index normalized to 1.00.

A spending and price index were calculated for each treatment to allow for the examination of the role of prices in overall spending. Variation in average spending could be due to a variety of factors, such as differences in the number of services (e.g., receiving an x-ray or not), utilization of different types services (e.g., a 3-view x-ray versus a 1-view xray), or price. By fixing the set, type, and number of services included in the price index, the impact of prices on spending can be identified. If spending and prices in a CBSA are both higher than average, it is likely that price contributes to the higher spending. However, if a CBSA has high spending but low prices, it is more likely the amount and types of services included in an average treatment result

in high spending.

Results

COMPARING INDICES ACROSS CBSAS WITHIN CARE BUNDLES

Summary statistics of the medical treatment spending indices are presented in Table 1. Although the CBSA-level index averages were generally consistent across the three treatment cohorts, there were differences between in the distributions of the CBSA-level index values. The ACL repair spending index had the largest interquartile range (the difference between the 75th and 25th percentiles) of 0.36. The interquartile ranges for the knee injection and knee replacement indices were similar, 0.23 and 0.21, respectively. ACL repair also had the largest difference between the maximum and minimum index values, 0.92. However, the range of knee injection spending index values was nearly as large, 0.89. Thus, for the approximately half of the CBSAs in the study, the range in spending for a knee injection is consistent with the range in spending for a knee replacement, but the overall range in spending for knee injections is similar to the range in spending for ACL repairs.

Price index summary statistics are presented in Table 2. Like the spending index, the middle 50% of CBSAs had similar variation in knee injection and knee replacement prices. The largest difference in prices between the 25th and 75th

Table 1. CBSA-level Spending Index Summary Statistics

| | Knee Injection | ACL Repair | Knee Replacement |
|---------------------------------|----------------|----------------|------------------|
| Average (Standard Deviation) | 0.99 (0.20) | 0.97 (0.22) | 0.97 (0.17) |
| Minimum | 0.71 | 0.55 | 0.65 |
| 25th Percentile | 0.85 | 0.80 | 0.85 |
| 50th Percentile | 0.93 | 0.95 | 0.99 |
| 75th Percentile | 1.08 | 1.16 | 1.06 |
| Maximum | 1.60 | 1.47 | 1.46 |

Source: HCCI, 2017.

Note: All indices were calculated using a 2013 baseline. The averages reported in the table were calculated using CBSA-level price indices and may not equal 1.00. To account for the distribution of members, the index baseline was calculated from full analysis sample rather than with CBSA-level measures.

Table 2. CBSA-level Price Index Summary Statistics

| | | - | |
|----------------------|----------------|------------|------------------|
| | Knee Injection | ACL Repair | Knee Replacement |
| Average | 1.05 | 0.95 | 0.97 |
| (Standard Deviation) | (0.26) | (0.20) | (0.17) |
| Minimum | 0.72 | 0.59 | 0.64 |
| 25th Percentile | 0.88 | 0.80 | 0.86 |
| 50th Percentile | 0.97 | 0.93 | 0.98 |
| 75th Percentile | 1.11 | 1.08 | 1.06 |
| Maximum | 1.95 | 1.46 | 1.48 |
| | | | |

Source: HCCI, 2017.

Note: All indices were calculated using 2013 claims. The averages reported in the table were calculated using CBSA-level price indices and may not equal 1.00. To account for the distribution of members, the index baseline was calculated from full analysis sample rather than with CBSA-level measures.

percentiles was also for ACL repair; the interquartile range was 0.28. However, the widest range in prices was for a knee injection. The difference between the maximum and minimum knee injection price indices was 1.23.

Comparing the distribution of spending and price indices is useful to identify patterns; however, the levels of spending and prices are masked by the indices. Although the knee injection price indices had the widest variation, they had the lowest average prices. Table 3 presents the total population average spending and prices relative to the knee injection price. Average spending for an ACL repair was over 30 times greater than for a knee injection, and 98 times greater for a knee replacement. The differences in prices were even larger; prices were over 51 and 163 times, for ACL repair and knee replacement, respectively, when compared to knee injections. These ratios provide context when interpreting the overall results and assessing the importance of particular results.

Table 4 shows the correlations between the CBSA-level spending and price indices within each treatment. All three measures had strong, positive correlations. The ACL repair indices had the lowest correlation of the three treatment cohorts, 0.8399. This suggests that ACL repair, relative to the other treatments, may be subject to the most variation in utilization across CBSAs. As expected, the highest correlation was for the knee replacement indices. This is due, in part, to the use of a DRG code as the trigger code – the price of the DRG accounted for the majority of total spending. However, physician and facility services provided during a hospital stay can be billed separately, resulting in differences between the spending and price indices. Hospitals may also provide differing levels of services during the stay, but that level of detail is difficult to ascertain from inpatient claims, which often aggregate allowed payments to a DRG code level.

KNEE INJECTION

The CBSA-level knee injection spending and price indices are presented in Table 5. Orlando-Kissimmee-Sanford, Florida had the lowest knee injection spending index, 0.71. Moreover, the five CBSAs with the lowest knee injection spending index values were all located in Florida, and all nine of the CBSAs in Florida had spending index values less than 1.00.

Table 3. Treatment Cohort Relative Prices

| | Spending | Price |
|------------------|----------|--------|
| Knee Injection | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| ACL Repair | 30.94 | 51.13 |
| Knee Replacement | 98.22 | 163.35 |
| | | |

Source: HCCI, 2017.

Note: Price ratios, rather than prices, were reported to facilitate comparisons while complying with HCCI's masking rules regarding price and utilization reporting.

Table 4. Expenditure Index—Price Index Correlations

| | Correlation |
|------------------|-------------|
| Knee Injection | 0.9127 |
| ACL Repair | 0.8399 |
| Knee Replacement | 0.9913 |

Source: HCCI, 2017.

Note: Price ratios, rather than prices, were reported to facilitate comparisons while complying with HCCI's masking rules regarding price and utilization reporting.

HEALTH CARE COST

Conversely, all five of the CBSAs in Wisconsin had index values above 1.23 (23% or more than the national average), and three of those CBSAs were among the five highest spending indices.

Comparing the spending index to the price index at the CBSA-level can provide insight into how much prices influence spending. For example, the Miami-Fort Lauderdale-West Palm Beach, Florida CBSA spending index was 0.74 and the price index was 0.72. This suggests that below average knee injection prices may be driving the below average spending results. In the Milwaukee-Waukesha-West Allis, Wisconsin area, the price index was the fifth highest price ratio studied, at 1.57 (prices 57%) above the national average), but the spending index was only 23% above the national average. This suggests that although both spending and prices were higher than average, utilization factors may have been comparatively lower, resulting in a spending index closer to the national average than the price index. This does not, however, imply that the Milwaukee-Waukesha-West Allis, Wisconsin CBSA had low spending relative to other CBSAs. The Milwaukee spending index was still among in the top 25% of spending index values.

ACL REPAIR

Table 6 presents the CBSA-level ACL repair spending and price indices. Only 26% of the CBSAs (16 total) had a spending index value within 10% of the national average. This was consistent with the summary statistics of the ACL repair having the largest overall and interquartile ranges (Table 2). It also supports the finding that, of the three treatments examined, the ACL repair had the most variation in spending between CBSAs.

The lowest spending index was in Knoxville, Tennessee, 0.55. The spending indices for the other two CBSAs in Tennessee—Nashville-Davidson-Murfreesboro-Franklin, Tennessee (0.86) and Memphis, TennesseeMississippi-Arkansas (0.80)—were also below the median index value (0.95). However, the three lowest index values, other than Knoxville, were geographically distributed: 0.57 in Colorado Springs, Colorado, and 0.61 in both Tucson, Arizona and Augusta-Richmond County, Georgia-South Carolina.

Like the knee injection spending indices, the highest ACL repair spending indices were clustered in Wisconsin. The three highest ACL spending index values were all Wisconsin CBSAs and all the Wisconsin CBSA spending indices were above 1.00. The Racine, Wisconsin CBSA, however, was barely over the national average at 1.01.

The ACL spending and price indices can also be used to study the role of utilization versus price in spending for ACL treatment. Some CBSAs, such as Baltimore-Columbia-Towson, Maryland or Green Bay, Wisconsin, had very similar spending and price indices. This suggests that the below and above average spending for those two CBSAs, respectively, were likely determined mostly by prices.

Conversely, the spending and price index values were not similar in CBSAs such as Charlottesville, Virginia or Corpus Christi, Texas. In Charlottesville, the spending index was 1.19 despite a price index of 0.76, and the Corpus Christi spending index was 0.86 with a price index of 1.08. Even CBSAs with both high spending and prices, like Trenton, New Jersey, did not necessarily have close index values. While the spending rate was 1.25 in Trenton, the price index was 15% higher at 1.44. The large differences between the index values suggest that, in CBSAs like these, additional factors on top of prices drive spending.

KNEE REPLACEMENT

CBSA-level knee replacement spending and price indices are shown in Table 7. Over half of the CBSAs (31) had spending index values within 10% of the national average. Additionally, only 5 CBSAs had a spending index 20% or more than the national average. These CBSA-level results are consistent with the summary statistics – there was relatively less variation across CBSAs in spending for knee replacements, compared to the other two treatment cohorts (Table 2).

Of the 5 spending ratios above 1.20, the highest was in El Paso, Texas, 1.46. The second highest spending index was also in Texas – Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington , 1.38. However, unlike the other two treatment spending indices, the presence of some high spending CBSAs in Texas was not indicative of an overall trend in Texas. Two CBSAs in Texas had values less than the national average: San Antonio-New Braunfels (0.99) and Corpus Christi (0.85) – the latter was in the lowest quartile of the knee replacement spending index.

As discussed previously, the knee replacement spending and price indices were nearly identical - the two indices had a correlation coefficient of 0.9913 (Table 3). The similarity was due to the knee replacement DRG code price making up, on average, 89% of the total care bundle's spending. It is possible that, during an inpatient stay, varying types or amounts of services could be provided at different hospitals, but this is difficult to discern in the data. The inpatient claims often only provide a DRG code. The DRG is based on groupings of diagnosis and procedure codes, but the separate codes are not always listed.

The differences that do exist between the spending and price indices within a CBSA are due to separately billable physician services provided during a knee replacement treatment. Although a CBSA-level comparison of the spending and price indices is a rudimentary measure of the role of separately billable services, it provides a reasonable starting place to determine if further investigation is warranted.

| Table 5. Knee Injection E | Expenditur | re and I | Price Indices | | |
|--|-------------|----------|--|-------------|-------|
| CBSA Name | Expenditure | Price | CBSA Name | Expenditure | Price |
| Appleton, WI | 1.58 | 1.66 | Lexington-Fayette, KY | 0.87 | 0.84 |
| Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell, GA | 0.96 | 1.03 | Louisville/Jefferson County, KY-IN | 0.85 | 0.78 |
| Augusta-Richmond County, GA-SC | 0.89 | 1.01 | Memphis, TN-MS-AR | 0.95 | 1.05 |
| Austin-Round Rock, TX | 1.07 | 1.01 | Miami-Fort Lauderdale-West Palm Beach, FL | 0.74 | 0.72 |
| Baltimore-Columbia-Towson, MD | 0.84 | 0.88 | Milwaukee-Waukesha-West Allis, WI | 1.23 | 1.57 |
| Baton Rouge, LA | 0.97 | 0.95 | Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington, MN-WI | 1.50 | 1.57 |
| Beaumont-Port Arthur, TX | 0.88 | 0.97 | Nashville-DavidsonMurfreesboroFranklin, TN | 1.02 | 1.07 |
| Boulder, CO | 0.89 | 1.10 | New Haven-Milford, CT | 1.23 | 1.35 |
| Bridgeport-Stamford-Norwalk, CT | 1.20 | 1.28 | New Orleans-Metairie, LA | 0.92 | 0.88 |
| Cape Coral-Fort Myers, FL | 0.96 | 0.80 | New York-Newark-Jersey City, NY-NJ-PA | 1.32 | 1.20 |
| Charlotte-Concord-Gastonia, NC-SC | 1.09 | 1.16 | North Port-Sarasota-Bradenton, FL | 0.84 | 0.85 |
| Charlottesville, VA | 1.10 | 1.22 | Norwich-New London, CT | 0.99 | 1.11 |
| Chicago-Naperville-Elgin, IL-IN-WI | 1.21 | 1.12 | Oklahoma City, OK | 0.82 | 0.88 |
| Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN | 0.89 | 0.94 | Omaha-Council Bluffs, NE-IA | 1.11 | 1.32 |
| Colorado Springs, CO | 0.97 | 0.98 | Orlando-Kissimmee-Sanford, FL | 0.71 | 0.83 |
| Columbus, OH | 0.95 | 0.94 | Palm Bay-Melbourne-Titusville, FL | 0.76 | 0.79 |
| Corpus Christi, TX | 0.84 | 0.80 | Peoria, IL | 1.08 | 1.16 |
| Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington, TX | 1.08 | 0.97 | Philadelphia-Camden-Wilmington, PA-NJ-DE-MD | 0.88 | 0.87 |
| Dayton, OH | 0.78 | 0.87 | Phoenix-Mesa-Scottsdale, AZ | 0.82 | 0.87 |
| Deltona-Daytona Beach-Ormond Beach, FL | 0.76 | 0.79 | Portland-South Portland, ME | 1.05 | 1.10 |
| Denver-Aurora-Lakewood, CO | 0.97 | 0.96 | Providence-Warwick, RI-MA | 0.97 | 1.09 |
| Des Moines-West Des Moines, IA | 0.93 | 1.11 | Racine, WI | 1.29 | 1.57 |
| El Paso, TX | 0.90 | 0.85 | San Antonio-New Braunfels, TX | 0.92 | 0.78 |
| Green Bay, WI | 1.60 | 1.95 | Sheboygan, WI | 1.42 | 1.83 |
| Greensboro-High Point, NC | 0.85 | 0.99 | St. Louis, MO-IL | 0.88 | 0.88 |
| Hartford-West Hartford-East Hartford, CT | 1.18 | 1.33 | Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater, FL | 0.74 | 0.79 |
| Houston-The Woodlands-Sugar Land, TX | 1.01 | 0.89 | Trenton, NJ | 1.06 | 1.09 |
| Jacksonville, FL | 0.88 | 0.94 | Tucson, AZ | 0.85 | 1.09 |
| Kansas City, MO-KS | 0.80 | 0.90 | Tulsa, OK | 0.93 | 0.95 |
| Knoxville, TN | 0.90 | 0.97 | Washington-Arlington-Alexandria, DC-VA-MD-WV | 0.89 | 0.94 |
| Lakeland-Winter Haven, FL | 0.84 | 0.88 | | | |

Source: HCCI, 2017.

HEALTH CARE COST
| Table 6. ACL Arthroscopy | Expendit | ture and | 1 Price Indices | | |
|--|-------------|----------|--|-------------|-------|
| CBSA Name | Expenditure | Price | CBSA Name | Expenditure | Price |
| Appleton, WI | 1.47 | 1.37 | Lexington-Fayette, KY | 66.0 | 1.02 |
| Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell, GA | 0.87 | 1.00 | Louisville/Jefferson County, KY-IN | 0.83 | 0.77 |
| Augusta-Richmond County, GA-SC | 0.61 | 0.71 | Memphis, TN-MS-AR | 0.80 | 0.76 |
| Austin-Round Rock, TX | 0.89 | 0.98 | Miami-Fort Lauderdale-West Palm Beach, FL | 0.77 | 0.82 |
| Baltimore-Columbia-Towson, MD | 0.83 | 0.84 | Milwaukee-Waukesha-West Allis, WI | 1.11 | 1.19 |
| Baton Rouge, LA | 0.70 | 0.66 | Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington, MN-WI | 1.01 | 0.93 |
| Beaumont-Port Arthur, TX | 0.85 | 0.70 | Nashville-DavidsonMurfreesboroFranklin, TN | 0.86 | 0.87 |
| Boulder, CO | 1.01 | 1.01 | New Haven-Milford, CT | 0.97 | 0.99 |
| Bridgeport-Stamford-Norwalk, CT | 1.20 | 1.30 | New Orleans-Metairie, LA | 1.26 | 1.02 |
| Cape Coral-Fort Myers, FL | 1.20 | 1.02 | New York-Newark-Jersey City, NY-NJ-PA | 1.27 | 1.21 |
| Charlotte-Concord-Gastonia, NC-SC | 1.29 | 1.05 | North Port-Sarasota-Bradenton, FL | 1.25 | 0.93 |
| Charlottesville, VA | 1.19 | 0.76 | Norwich-New London, CT | 1.14 | 1.09 |
| Chicago-Naperville-Elgin, IL-IN-WI | 0.97 | 0.96 | Oklahoma City, OK | 0.71 | 0.65 |
| Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN | 0.73 | 0.79 | Omaha-Council Bluffs, NE-IA | 1.01 | 1.09 |
| Colorado Springs, CO | 0.57 | 0.69 | Orlando-Kissimmee-Sanford, FL | 0.89 | 0.81 |
| Columbus, OH | 1.21 | 1.14 | Palm Bay-Melbourne-Titusville, FL | 0.92 | 0.78 |
| Corpus Christi, TX | 0.86 | 1.08 | Peoria, IL | 0.95 | 0.87 |
| Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington, TX | 1.26 | 1.16 | Philadelphia-Camden-Wilmington, PA-NJ-DE-MD | 1.00 | 1.00 |
| Dayton, OH | 1.20 | 1.02 | Phoenix-Mesa-Scottsdale, AZ | 0.80 | 0.92 |
| Deltona-Daytona Beach-Ormond Beach, FL | 0.76 | 0.80 | Portland-South Portland, ME | 1.02 | 1.05 |
| Denver-Aurora-Lakewood, CO | 1.12 | 1.10 | Providence-Warwick, RI-MA | 1.12 | 0.99 |
| Des Moines-West Des Moines, IA | 0.60 | 0.83 | Racine, WI | 1.01 | 1.10 |
| El Paso, TX | 0.95 | 0.88 | San Antonio-New Braunfels, TX | 0.79 | 0.90 |
| Green Bay, WI | 1.37 | 1.35 | Sheboygan, WI | 1.39 | 1.46 |
| Greensboro-High Point, NC | 1.16 | 1.11 | St. Louis, MO-IL | 0.75 | 0.80 |
| Hartford-West Hartford-East Hartford, CT | 0.94 | 0.91 | Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater, FL | 0.93 | 0.90 |
| Houston-The Woodlands-Sugar Land, TX | 1.22 | 1.10 | Trenton, NJ | 1.25 | 1.44 |
| Jacksonville, FL | 1.02 | 0.89 | Tucson, AZ | 0.61 | 0.61 |
| Kansas City, MO-KS | 0.73 | 0.76 | Tulsa, OK | 0.79 | 0.80 |
| Knoxville, TN | 0.55 | 0.59 | Washington-Arlington-Alexandria, DC-VA-MD-WV | 0.88 | 0.96 |
| Lakeland-Winter Haven, FL | 0.91 | 0.78 | | | |

www.healthcostinstitute.org

HEALTH CARE COST

Source: HCCI, 2017.

| Table 7. Knee Replaceme | ent Expen | diture á | and Price Indices | | |
|--|-------------|----------|--|-------------|-------|
| CBSA Name | Expenditure | Price | CBSA Name | Expenditure | Price |
| Appleton, WI | 0.89 | 0.91 | Lexington-Fayette, KY | 0.80 | 0.79 |
| Atlanta-Sandy Springs-Roswell, GA | 1.02 | 1.02 | Louisville/Jefferson County, KY-IN | 0.75 | 0.75 |
| Augusta-Richmond County, GA-SC | 0.85 | 0.86 | Memphis, TN-MS-AR | 0.79 | 0.77 |
| Austin-Round Rock, TX | 1.06 | 1.06 | Miami-Fort Lauderdale-West Palm Beach, FL | 0.86 | 0.86 |
| Baltimore-Columbia-Towson, MD | 0.81 | 0.81 | Milwaukee-Waukesha-West Allis, WI | 1.03 | 1.08 |
| Baton Rouge, LA | 0.91 | 0.91 | Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington, MN-WI | 1.00 | 0.96 |
| Beaumont-Port Arthur, TX | 1.10 | 1.06 | Nashville-DavidsonMurfreesboroFranklin, TN | 1.04 | 1.06 |
| Boulder, CO | 1.10 | 1.11 | New Haven-Milford, CT | 1.03 | 1.03 |
| Bridgeport-Stamford-Norwalk, CT | 1.06 | 1.03 | New Orleans-Metairie, LA | 0.86 | 0.86 |
| Cape Coral-Fort Myers, FL | 1.15 | 1.15 | New York-Newark-Jersey City, NY-NJ-PA | 1.20 | 1.20 |
| Charlotte-Concord-Gastonia, NC-SC | 1.24 | 1.25 | North Port-Sarasota-Bradenton, FL | 0.92 | 0.88 |
| Charlottesville, VA | 1.09 | 1.10 | Norwich-New London, CT | 0.85 | 0.84 |
| Chicago-Naperville-Elgin, IL-IN-WI | 1.00 | 1.03 | Oklahoma City, OK | 0.80 | 0.82 |
| Cincinnati, OH-KY-IN | 1.01 | 1.01 | Omaha-Council Bluffs, NE-IA | 1.00 | 1.02 |
| Colorado Springs, CO | 1.10 | 1.11 | Orlando-Kissimmee-Sanford, FL | 1.15 | 1.16 |
| Columbus, OH | 1.00 | 1.02 | Palm Bay-Melbourne-Titusville, FL | 1.28 | 1.28 |
| Corpus Christi, TX | 0.85 | 0.82 | Peoria, IL | 0.73 | 0.69 |
| Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington, TX | 1.38 | 1.39 | Philadelphia-Camden-Wilmington, PA-NJ-DE-MD | 1.14 | 1.16 |
| Dayton, OH | 0.99 | 1.00 | Phoenix-Mesa-Scottsdale, AZ | 0.88 | 0.87 |
| Deltona-Daytona Beach-Ormond Beach, FL | 1.00 | 1.00 | Portland-South Portland, ME | 0.94 | 0.96 |
| Denver-Aurora-Lakewood, CO | 1.01 | 0.98 | Providence-Warwick, RI-MA | 0.92 | 0.93 |
| Des Moines-West Des Moines, IA | 0.67 | 0.70 | Racine, WI | 1.01 | 1.06 |
| El Paso, TX | 1.46 | 1.48 | San Antonio-New Braunfels, TX | 0.98 | 0.99 |
| Green Bay, WI | 0.94 | 0.97 | Sheboygan, WI | 0.85 | 0.90 |
| Greensboro-High Point, NC | 0.94 | 0.98 | St. Louis, MO-IL | 0.66 | 0.68 |
| Hartford-West Hartford-East Hartford, CT | 0.93 | 0.91 | Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater, FL | 1.02 | 1.03 |
| Houston-The Woodlands-Sugar Land, TX | 1.14 | 1.10 | Trenton, NJ | 1.19 | 1.20 |
| Jacksonville, FL | 1.00 | 0.96 | Tucson, AZ | 0.65 | 0.64 |
| Kansas City, MO-KS | 0.83 | 0.85 | Tulsa, OK | 0.69 | 0.66 |
| Knoxville, TN | 0.71 | 0.72 | Washington-Arlington-Alexandria, DC-VA-MD-WV | 0.94 | 0.96 |
| Lakeland-Winter Haven, FL | 0.95 | 0.95 | | | |
| | | | | | |

Source: HCCI, 2017.

COMPARING INDICES WITHIN CBSAS ACROSS CARE BUNDLES

Interesting trends were also observed when the spending and price indices were examined across the three medical treatments, within the same CBSA. Some CBSAs, such as Corpus Christi, Texas or New York-Newark-Jersey City, New York, had spending indices that were fairly consistent across the three treatment cohorts. Corpus Christi's spending index rates ranged from 0.84 – 0.86, while New York's three ratios were between 1.20 – 1.32. However, when the price indices within these CBSAs were examined, the possible explanations for the consistency in spending differed by CBSA. In New York, all three price index levels were between 1.20 – 1.22. The uniformly above average prices likely drove the consistently high spending. In Corpus Christi, however, the price indices ranged from 20% less than the national average to 8% higher. Given that relative spending for all three treatments was consistently below the national average, there were likely differences in utilization, as well price, which influenced spending in Corpus Christi.

There were also many CBSAs with spending indices that differed across the three treatments with varying price influences. Some CBSAs, such as Green Bay, Wisconsin, had varying spending index values with correspondingly high and low price index values. Other CBSAs, such as Des Moines-West Des Moines, Iowa, had varying spending indices, but relative spending levels did not appear to be driven by prices. North Port-Sarasota-Bradenton, Florida is an example of a CBSA in which the spending indices differed across treatments, but the price indices were generally consistent. This suggests that, in this CBSA, price may have driven spending for some treatments, but not others.

COMPARING SERVICES TO SERVICE CATEGORIES

As discussed in Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price *Index*, the relative price levels of medical service categories—inpatient, outpatient, physician—can differ within a CBSA. The medical service category price indices are a weighted average prices of the most common services in a category, the top 100 DRGs for the inpatient service category and the top 500 CPTs for the outpatient and physician categories. The three knee related medical treatments were chosen to roughly parallel each of the three medical service categories.⁶ Although the services included in the medical treatment indices were not limited to services from only one medical service category, the trigger codes identifying the main procedure from each treatment were identified from a single category; knee injections are physician services, an ACL repair is an outpatient procedure, and a knee replacement is an inpatient surgery. Thus, the medical treatment price indices can be compared to the medical service category price indices.

To identify how the overall treatment category price indices were related, we first found the correlations between the treatment and the medical service category price indices. Of the three correlations of paired treatment and service category, both the knee injection and knee replacement price indices were

fairly similar to their overall service types' indices. The knee injection index had a correlation value of 0.953 with the physician price index, and the knee replacement index showed a 0.818 correlation with the inpatient price index. There was less similarity between CBSA -level ACL repair price index and outpatient price index. The correlation was still positive, but only had a magnitude of 0.4452. There was a stronger correlation between ACL repair price indices and the physician price indices (0.5888). This may be due to the large amount of physician services that were also billed as part of an ACL repair in an outpatient facility (approximately half of the claim lines included in the price index were physician services). The set of all medical treatment to medical service category correlations is presented in Table 8.

These CBSA-level relationships between each treatment price index and its respective service category index are graphed in Figures 1–3. The diamond shaped markers in all three figures represent the service category price index values; plotted left to right, from lowest to highest. The corresponding medical treatment price index values for each CBSA were indicated by circular markers on the same vertical line as each service category marker. In Figures 1 and 3, knee injection-physician services and knee replacement-inpatient services, the treatment price index values and the service category price index values have similar trends. The same did not hold true in Figure 2, in which the CBSA-level ACL repair price index values vary considerably from the outpatient price index trend.

Table 8. Care Bundle Price Index—Medical Service Category Price Index Correlations

| Care Bundle Price Index | Physician Index | Outpatient Index | Inpatient Index |
|--|-----------------|------------------|-----------------|
| Knee Injection | 0.9529 | -0.0266 | 0.0607 |
| ACL Repair | 0.5888 | 0.4452 | 0.3045 |
| Knee Replacement Source: HCCL 2017. | 0.1132 | 0.5945 | 0.8180 |

The similarity between the knee injection price index and the physician price index can be seen by the parallel, and at times overlapping, CBSA-level index values. For example, both indices for Greensboro-High Point, North Carolina are nearly 1.00. The similarity in most CBSAs, however, also lends itself to easily identifying CBSAs where the indices differed (e.g., Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington, Texas or Providence-Warwick, Rhode Island-Massachusetts). In these two CBSAs, one index was greater than the national average, while the other index value was below the national average. It also appears that there was more divergence in the two indices in CBSAs with higher physician prices, as the knee injection prices tended to be more above average than overall prices in those CBSAs.

In the graph of the ACL repair price indices, ordered by lowest to highest outpatient services prices, there is a slight noticeable upward trend in the knee repair index values, which aligns with

the pattern in outpatient facility prices across CBSAs. However, there is also noticeable variation in the relationships between pairs of indices at the CBSAlevel. For example, the Beaumont-Port Author, Texas ACL repair was substantially lower the outpatient price index, but it was not as low as knee repair indices for CBSAs on the far left of the graph. Appleton, Wisconsin was an example of the opposite case, where the knee repair price was substantially higher than the outpatient facility price index. There were also some instances of similarly priced treatment and service categories. such as Atlanta-Sandy Springs Roswell, Georgia, but there were fewer of these instances than the others.

The strong relationship between knee replacement and inpatient facility prices was like that of the relationship between knee injection and physician services prices. The knee replacement price indices generally increase left to right on the graph, across CBSAs, as the inpatient price index values increase. However,

the relationships within CBSAs appear to be opposite that of the knee injection -physician services relationship. As seen in Figure 1, the medical treatment index values tended to be less than the physician price index when the physician price index was below 1.00 and higher than the physician price index when the physician price index was greater than 1.00. In Figure 3, the knee replacement price index values tended to be lower in magnitude for CBSAs with above average inpatient prices, such as Portland-South Portland, Maine. And, CBSAs with below average inpatient prices more often have higher magnitude knee replacement price index values; for example, San Antonio-New Braunfels, Texas. There were also CBSAs, such as Greensboro-High Point, North Carolina, where the inpatient prices and knee replacement prices were both nearly 1.00, as they were for knee injection and physician services prices.



Figure 1. Knee Injection vs. Physician Services Price Indices

Source: HCCI, 2017. Note: The physician services price index was calculated in Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index.

Figure 2. ACL Repair vs. Outpatient Facility Price Indices



Note: The outpaitnet facility price index was calculated in Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index.



Figure 3. Knee Replacement vs. Inpatient Facility Price Indices

Note: The inpatient facility price index was calculated in Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index.

Data and Methods

The treatment cohort eligible populations included all ESI members under age 65 with a positive dollar claim for one the three trigger codes. There were additional inclusion criteria for each of the three medical treatments. Strictly stand alone knee injections were included, while knee injections that were a part of a larger surgery were removed. Only patients with a single outpatient ACL repair trigger code on a day were included (e.g., instances of more than one outpatient surgical ACL procedure on the same day for the same patient were excluded). If a patient had more than one knee replacement in the study year, only the first knee replacement for the patient was included.

The overarching methodology for calculating the spending and price indices was the same. Each of the 61 CBSA-level average payments were divided by the total study population average total payments. The main difference between the two indices was how the average payments were calculated. For the spending indices, the actual amounts paid for all procedures performed on an individual patient on the day of the trigger code procedure or, in the case of a knee replacement, the length of their inpatient admission, were summed and averaged by the number of treatments.

The price index is a total of the average prices of a fixed set of services specific to each treatment. The set of services includes the most common services for each treatment. The number of services included in each set was determined by the average number of services a patient received for a given treatment.⁷

The knee injection price index was composed of three services:

- the knee injection (trigger code)⁸
- a visit to the doctor, and
- a common injection drug (triamcinolone acetonide).

The six services that comprised the ACL

repair price were:

- ACL arthroscopy (trigger code),
- the injection of anesthesia,
- an anesthesia drug,
- ultrasonic guidance,
- an implantable anchor/screw, and
- a pain reliever drug injection.

The standard set of seven knee replacement services were:

- inpatient knee replacement surgery (trigger code),
- an anesthesia drug,
- diagnostic radiology/imaging
- initial inpatient care services
- repair, revision, and/or reconstruction procedures
- subsequent hospital care
- hematology. 9,10

Limitations

The limitations of the HMI medical treatment spending and price indices are comparable to the limitations of the HMI medical service category price indices.¹¹ First, the analyses were conducted with 2013 HCCI data, which were a convenience sample and may not be representative of the prices among the ESI population not included in the analysis sample. Second, CBSAs are not necessarily a relevant market boundary for all **End Notes** health care analyses. Furthermore, the results may not generalize to CBSAs not included in the study or to rural areas, in the US. Third, the analyses focused on only one population in a single year.

Unlike the medical service category price indices, the medical treatment indices are intended to provide insight in relative costs of specific medical treatments. However, both the spending and price indices are based on averages from the analysis sample and may not represent a particular patient's experience. Moreover, these indices cannot be used to assess or account for the necessity, appropriateness, or value of health care services.

Finally, caution is warranted when com-

paring the indices to make inferences about price and utilization. The indices alone cannot not be used to identify all of the causal factors that influence spending, price, and utilization. Additionally, care must be taken when comparing the medical treatment and service category price indices to make inferences about service category prices. Both types of comparisons, however, can be potentially useful in identifying areas for further investigation.

Conclusion

As noted in a previous HMI brief, the price levels for broad medical service categories can differ within the same geographic area. In this issue brief, we show that prices and spending for three different medical treatments related to the same joint can differ within geographic areas. This may be, in part, because the treatments studied were generally based within a specific medical category. However, we also found that there was not always similarity between treatment and service category price levels within a CBSA. These findings stress the need for specific research questions and subsequently targeted policy proposals.

1. Health Care Cost Institute. Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index. Health Care Cost Institute, Apr. 2016 Web.

2. Additional details regarding the population and geographic units of analysis are available in *Healthy Marketplace* Index: Medical Service Category Price Index. See. Health Care Cost Institute. Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index. Health Care Cost Institute, Apr. 2016 Web.

3. This could be referred to as an episode of care. The definition of an episode or course of treatment varies depending on the analysis. For example, a single session of chemotherapy could be

considered an episode or an episode of cancer treatment could include the first doctors visit where the biopsy was conducted through chemo, any surgery and subsequent follow-up visits.

4. Standard set of services were determined by finding the average number of services a patient received during each of the three care bundles. Using that number of services as a base, we then found the most frequently observed CPT codes within the claims data used for each care bundle.

5. The average patient experienced 3.1 procedures during a knee injection and 3 CPT services were selected for the standardized bundle. The average patient experienced 6.4 procedures during an ACL repair, 6 services were selected. The average knee replacement patient experienced 8.5 procedures, the 7 most common were used and selected.

6. Health Care Cost Institute. *Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Category Price Index*. Health Care Cost Institute, Apr. 2016 Web.

7. The average patient experienced 3.1 procedures during a knee injection and 3 CPT services were selected for the standardized bundle. The average patient experienced 6.4 procedures during an ACL repair, 6 services were selected. The average knee replacement patient experienced 8.5 procedures, the 7 most common were used and selected.

8. For the ACL arthroscopy CPT code, many patients were billed by a physi-

Authors

Eric Barrette and Kevin Kennedy ebarrette@healthcostinstitute.org 571-257-1584

Health Care Cost Institute, Inc.

1100 G Street NW, Suite 600 Washington, DC 20005 202-803-5200 cian and outpatient facility on the same day. There tended to be large differences in the average prices between the two. Thus, the ACL arthroscopy claims were first summed by patient day to find a "total price". The total price was then used to calculate the ACL repair price for the price index calculation.

9. Among the knee replacement treatments, 70 CPT codes were identified in the claims as billed during an inpatient stay for DRG 470 for at least one patient in over half of the study CBSAs. We grouped the 70 codes into like categories and found the percentage of all knee replacements with a claim for each code. The shares of codes were then summed by category. Seven of the categories had a total share of 30% or more of the total knee replacements. The most prevalent CPT code within six of the seven categories was used as a representative procedure in the standard set of services.

10. The seventh category of services billed during a knee replacement related to "hematology and coagulation procedures". These procedures were observed in over 30% of the knee replacements in total, but no one code within the category was more common than the others. For this service the average price of all six codes in the category was used as the average price of hematology service for the knee replacement price index calculation.

11. Health Care Cost Institute. *Healthy Marketplace Index: Medical Service Cate-*

gory Price Index. Health Care Cost Institute, Apr. 2016 Web.

Acknowledgements

This HCCI research project was independently initiated by HCCI and is part of the HCCI research agenda

Support for this project was provided in part by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. The views expressed here do not necessarily reflect the views of the Foundation.

Copyright 2017

Health Care Cost Institute, Inc. Unless explicitly noted, the content of this report is licensed under a <u>Creative</u> <u>Commons Attribution Non-Commercial No Derivatives 4.0 License</u>